Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Environment and Climate Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
Tuesday, 1 March 2022 at 2.00 pm
Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Ms. C. Tuohy (cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk)
0116 305 5483
Membership
Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC (Chairman)
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC Mr. B. Harrison-Rushton CC
Mr. N. Chapman CC Mrs. R. Page CC
Mrs. A. J. Hack CC Mr. M. Frisby CC

Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk
AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 26 January
2022.

2.

Question Time.

3.

Questions asked by members under Standing
Order 7(3) and 7(5).

4.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

5.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

6.

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule
16.

(Pages 5 - 10)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk

7.

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order
35.

8.

Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy
- Public Consultation.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 11 - 312)

9.

Environment and Waste Performance Report
to December 2021.

Chief Executive
and Director of
Environment and
Transport

(Pages 313 - 328)

10.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

11.

Date of next meeting.
The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on
Tuesday 14 June 2022 at 2.00pm.

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective
scrutiny. To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to
questioning, are available via the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny website
www.cfgs.org.uk. The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a
good starting point for developing questions:


Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and
quality of the consultation?



How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard?



What does success look like?



What is the history of the service and what will be different this time?



What happens once the money is spent?



If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated?



What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review?

Members are reminded that, to ensure questioning during meetings remains appropriately
focused that:
(a) they can use the officer contact details at the bottom of each report to ask
questions of clarification or raise any related patch issues which might not be best
addressed through the formal meeting;
(b) they must speak only as a County Councillor and not on behalf of any other local
authority when considering matters which also affect district or parish/town councils
(see Articles 2.03(b) of the Council’s Constitution).

This page is intentionally left blank

5

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Climate Change Overview and Scrutiny
Committee. held at County Hall, Glenfield on Wednesday, 26 January 2022.
PRESENT
Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC (in the Chair)
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC
Mr. N. Chapman CC
Mr. M. Frisby CC

Mrs. A. J. Hack CC
Mr. B. Harrison-Rushton CC
Mrs. R. Page CC

In attendance
Mr. N . Rushton, Leader of the Council
27.

Minutes.
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 November 2021 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.

28.

Question Time.
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
34.

29.

Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
7(3) and 7(5).

30.

To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

31.

Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No declarations were made.

32.

Declarations of the Party Whip.
There were no declarations of the party whip.

33.

Presentation of Petitions.

6
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order
35.
34.

To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

35.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2025/26
The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Environment and Transport
and the Director of Corporate Resources which provided information on the proposed
2022/23 to 2025/26 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it related to waste, the
environment and the green agenda. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item ‘9’ is filed
with these minutes.
The Chairman welcomed Mr. N. Rushton CC, Leader of the Council, to the meeting for
this item.
The Committee was advised that there was an error in the numbering of some of the
savings items within the report and the appendix, but that the references within the table
to the title of each saving were correct and comparable.
Arising from the discussion the following points were noted:
Growth
i.

Conversion of the County Council’s diesel fleet to Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil would
significantly reduce carbon emissions from the fleet. The Committee was assured
that the change would be done in a managed way to ensure resilience against any
unforeseen circumstance, in the new financial year, subject to approval of the MTFS
by Full Council.

ii.

Following the increase in kerbside collected waste as a result of the pandemic, it was
queried whether there was a corresponding decrease in commercial waste. In
response the Director informed the Committee that while the County Council was not
responsible for commercial waste, it did handle a low level through its waste transfer
stations. It was noted that commercial waste in that regard had recovered. The
Department would look to capitalise on any opportunities available to it.

Savings
iii. Through a contract renewal the existing contract for disposal of wood had been
renegotiated which delivered £0.4million of savings.
iv. The Authority had struggled for a number of years with its waste disposal resilience
following the closure of the Cotesbach Mechanical Biological Treatment facility, that
left it without a local all-weather solution to dispose of its waste, i.e. if a landfill site
was closed due to high winds. This meant the distance needed to travel to redirect its
residual waste could be greater. This would be managed through the reletting of
contracts and the new Bardon Waste Transfer Station which would provide further

7
resilience and increased holding capacity additional to Whetstone and Loughborough
Transfer Stations.
v.

The Director assured Members that the Department remained committed to
progressing reuse initiatives as part of its Recycling and Household Waste sites
service approach. It was noted progress had stalled as a result of staffing and market
issues related to the pandemic, but that infrastructure had been put in place at some
sites to facilitate it. Prior to the pandemic the item had been profiled over six years to
achieve £200,000 income, however the business case would need to be refreshed
and the savings reprofiled as the market recovered.

Capital Programme
vi. It was clarified that, in relation to the Kibworth site redevelopment, the total scheme
cost was £5.5million, a portion of which had already been funded, with the remaining
£2 million set out within the Capital Programme for 2022/23. The Site was expected
to open Autumn 2022.
.
RESOLVED:

36.

(a)

That the report and information now provided be noted;

(b)

That the comments now made be forwarded to the Scrutiny Commission for
consideration at its meeting on 31 January 2022.

Net Zero Carbon 2045: A Roadmap for Leicestershire
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which
updated Members on the Council’s response to the climate emergency, and advised on
the key findings from the Net Zero Carbon 2045 roadmap and an overview of the
approach to develop the Council’s Net Zero Strategy and Action Plan. A copy of the
report marked ‘Agenda Item ‘10’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from the discussion the following points arose:i.

The County Council’s pledge to achieve net zero across the county by 2045 could
not be achieved by the Council alone. As part of the development of the Net Zero
Strategy and Action Plan it needed to consider its own role in place leadership to
create a holistic approach to tackle climate change.

ii.

Members recognised that like the County Council, most districts had declared
climate emergencies and set aside funding, or at least aspired, to address climate
issues. In developing its roadmap, the Authority would work with existing
partnerships, and look to support organisations such as parish and town councils
that may not have the skills or experience available, which was welcomed by the
Committee.

iii.

Members were assured that the Authority would consider where gaps existed in its
partnership work and use other mediums, such as the potential development of a
Citizen’s Assembly, to engender awareness and action with the public as well as
local organisations.

8
iv.

Ongoing initiatives were highlighted and welcomed by the Committee, such as
wildflower verges and the development of a tree nursery, as well as positive
partnership work with the City Council following the funding the City had received
from Government for their electric bus fleet.

v.

It was recognised that the County Council had limited resource available to it
alone. Instead it needed to focus on working with other organisations and the
public to show it was in their best interests financially and environmentally to take
positive action towards carbon neutrality.

vi.

A member emphasised that the drive to net zero was not only about carbon
reduction, but had overall health benefits too. Further commenting on the
importance of a joined up approach and messaging, having noted the balance
between coronavirus measures to ventilate schools and the need to heat them,
which resulted in increased energy consumption.

vii.

The Committee welcomed local initiatives and good practice reported by
Members, such as the local Brooksby Melton College’s free Climate Change and
Environmental Awareness Course, that promised to plant a tree for every course
completed.

viii.

As part of the Authority’s pledge to become a carbon neutral county by 2045 the
County Council had promised to plant 700,000 trees, recognising their importance
in providing positive benefits for the environment, clean air and biodiversity. To
enable the public to monitor its progress the Council had developed an interactive
tree map and form where individuals could record trees that had been planted.
Members noted the Council’s website also included further information on tree
species and planting advice and how to get involved.

ix.

It was projected that the county could lose up to half a million Ash trees due to Ash
Dieback. Of those, 140,000 were on highway verges under the Authority’s
ownership. To manage the disease the County Council had launched its own
Action Plan through work with the Tree Council, and undertook monitoring and
annual surveys whilst taking appropriate action following its risk based approach.
The Director informed Members that officers also supported private landowners to
help ensure they were aware of the condition of their trees and had access to
relevant information on the matter.

x.

In response to a query regarding water leakage, Members were informed that the
County Council had no powers to enforce water companies to resolve leakages
faster and that it was the duty of the regulatory body and to scrutinise and enforce
standards.

xi.

The County Council was limited in how it could respond as a consultee to planning
applications to district and borough councils by the National Planning Policy
Framework.

RESOVLED:
a) That the report and information now provided be noted;
b) That the comments now made be considered by Cabinet as part of its report on 29
March 2022.

9

37.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Report 2020-21.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which
provided details of the Council’s greenhouse gas emissions 2020-21. A copy of the report
marked ‘Agenda Item ‘11’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from the discussion the following points were raised:i.

A Member questioned the exclusion of data related to schools under local authority
control, or other Council buildings such as Sure Start centres. In response the
Committee noted that the report included direct emissions and purchased electricity
resultant from the owned and leased assets and operations where the Council was
responsible for the purchase of energy or fuel. Schools or Sure Start centres that
had alternative energy arrangements were not included due to the complexity in
procurement and funding arrangements. Such cases would be covered as scope 3
emissions and would be addressed as part of the Council’s unmeasured emissions
and wider Leicestershire emissions roadmap. The Director agreed to take away the
issue and consider how potential data gaps on local authority maintained schools
could be addressed as part of future reports.

ii.

Around 5,000 recycled tyres had been used as part of highway maintenance road
surfacing, as a carbon friendly alternative to landfill. The initiative had been funded
using cash from the Department for Transport’s challenge fund to assist with Covid19 recovery. The Council had researched the benefits which would be evidenced
over the life of the scheme and were expected to last at least a decade. The County
Council would continue to look where innovative low carbon technologies were
possible in any major reconstructions it undertook.

The Leader of the County Council concluded the item highlighting the importance of the
Authority’s place leadership role in empowering organisations such as parish councils to
support reduction in greenhouse gases, and evidencing benefits to residents. It was
emphasised that if the County Council were to receive a County Deal it could further build
on its green agenda and carbon reduction programme through its innovative enterprises.

RESOLVED:
That the Committee note the Greenhouse Gas Report 2020-21.
38.

Environmental Performance Report 2020-21.

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport which
provided details of the Council’s environmental performance for 20201-21. A copy of the
report marked ‘Agenda Item ‘12’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from the discussion the following points arose:i.

The Director reported that electricity consumed per m2 in County Council buildings
was ahead of target, yet gas and biomass consumption had increased and was
behind target. Members noted that savings in electricity were driven by the closure

10
of some smaller council buildings, however, County Hall remained open and staff
worked throughout the building which was heated through its centralised system.
ii.

Members noted that districts had their own dispensations in relation to waste
collected. In response to a query regarding Casepak not allowing comingled
collection of textiles, officers would circulate figures for recycling rates, though it
was recognised there were other outlets for those items.

iii. Recycling from Leicestershire County Council office buildings had reduced as a
result of the pandemic as less staff were in offices, meaning there was less waste,
and the proportion of waste had changed.
iv. In response to a query on the reduction of the percentage of household waste
reused, recycled or composted it was noted over the years levels had plateaued
and reduced slightly, and that work was ongoing with districts. Members noted that
the Council was developing its Resources and Waste Strategy to be delivered by
the Leicestershire Waste Partnership, which would include Government’s target of
65% municipal waste recycled by 2035.
v.

Government intended to implement Extended Producer Responsibility for all
producers of packages, putting onus on the manufacturers that packaging was
recyclable, which was expected to change the dynamic of the market. The County
Council would continue to monitor its own position and any impact it may have and
report back to the Committee.

vi. In response to a question on the 7% reduction in household waste per household
the Director advised that reduced tonnage was likely due to gaps in service
provision, as a result of the pandemic. For instance, the closure of all 14 Recycling
and Household Waste Sites for a period, and districts bulky waste and garden
waste collection hiatuses.
vii. The Authority awaited indicative funding allocation from Government for the
Council’s bus service improvement plan, however early indications led to the view
that city areas could be the main focus for funding. It was hoped any funding would
help the Authority influence a reduction in traffic alongside its fourth iteration of its
Local Transport Plan, and the Department for Transport’s decarbonising transport
plan.
RESOLVED:
That the Committee note the Environmental Performance Report 2020-21.
39.

Date of next meeting.
RESOLVED:
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 1 March 2pm.

2.00-3.50
26 January 2022

CHAIRMAN

11

Agenda Item 8

ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 1 MARCH 2022
LEICESTERSHIRE RESOURCES AND WASTE STRATEGY – PUBLIC
CONSULTATION
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to seek the views of the Environment and Climate
Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the draft Leicestershire
Resources and Waste Strategy, a copy of which, along with supporting
documents, is appended to this report. The Leicestershire Resources and
Waste Strategy (LR&WS) sets out how the Leicestershire Waste Partnership
intends to manage municipal waste up to 2050. A 12-week public consultation
commenced on 31 January 2022.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Leicestershire Waste Partnership (LWP) comprises of the County Council
and the seven district councils in Leicestershire. The Leicester City Council is
an associate member and manages its waste via separate arrangements as a
Unitary Authority.

3.

Under the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003, all two-tier authorities are
required to have in place a Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for the
management of municipal waste within their areas. The Leicestershire
Municipal Waste Management Strategy (LMWMS), originally agreed in 2002,
was last updated in 2011. The 2011 LMWMS was approved by the County
Council on 23 May 2012 and covered the period up to 2020.

4.

Government guidance suggests that municipal waste management strategies
should be completely reviewed every five years to ensure they remain current.
Due to the lack of national guidance published for the period beyond 2020,
consultants were commissioned during 2016 to appraise the Strategy
development options and identified that a Waste Disposal Authority Plan was
the most appropriate action to be taken forward by the County Council. The
Plan was needed by the County Council to provide an updated strategic basis
to support the Council’s waste management procurement plans and other
decisions ahead of a full review of the LMWMS.

12

5.

The new Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy (LR&WS) supports the
objectives of the Environment Strategy 2018-2030 and the strategic outcome of
a Clean, Green Future within the proposed Council’s Strategic Plan 2022-2026.
The change of name to LR&WS reflects the ambition to use resources more
efficiently and reduce the amount of waste created.

6.

The proposed approach to the public consultation was approved by Cabinet at
its meeting on 14 December 2021.

Background
7.

The first LMWMS was adopted by the LWP in 2002. In 2006 it was
comprehensively reviewed including a public consultation and full Strategic
Environmental Assessment. The Strategy was subsequently updated in 2011 to
reflect changes in performance and the economic climate since 2006 but
maintained the objectives of the 2006 Strategy.

8.

The LWP have commissioned Frith Resource Management to undertake a full
review of the Strategy.

9.

The national Resources and Waste Strategy (RWS) was released in 2018. It
focuses on reducing reliance on single use plastics, cutting confusion over
household recycling and tackling the problems of packaging and end food
waste.

10. The RWS outlines how the Government aims to make the UK more resource
efficient and to move towards a circular economy which keeps resources in use
for longer. The RWS covers the period until 2050 and includes the Circular
Economy Package target of 65% recycling of municipal solid waste by 2035.
11. Following on from the publication of the national RWS, two rounds of
Government consultations were released with local authorities identified as key
stakeholders. These included proposals that are expected to affect local waste
services including mandatory weekly food waste collections, free garden waste
collections, the introduction of a deposit return scheme for single use drinks
containers, extended producer responsibility for packaging (this is in essence
where the full cost of collection, recycling and disposing of packaging is met by
the producers of the packaging), and a move towards consistent waste
collections by all local authorities. The results of the second round of
consultations have not yet been published.
12. Legislation to enable the policy changes within the RWS are contained within
the Environment Act which received Royal Assent on 9 November 2021.
13. The review of the LMWMS has considered the potential forthcoming legislative
changes and these are reflected accordingly. It is important to note the Strategy
is high-level and therefore non-site specific.
Strategy Structure and Contents

13

14. The full suite of documents for public consultation, appended, comprise:
a) Appendix A - the Draft Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy,
b) Appendix B - the Draft Options Appraisal Report – evidence behind
service changes/pledges within the Strategy,
c) Appendix C - the Draft Environmental Report – from the Strategic
Environmental Assessment process,
d) Appendix D - Summary document.
Draft Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy
15. The draft Strategy is the main focus of the consultation and is accompanied by
a series of consultation questions. The draft Strategy describes the approach
that the Leicestershire Waste Partnership will take in delivering recycling and
waste management services from 2022 to 2050. The vision of the Strategy is:
“To work towards a circular economy and contribute to achieving net zero
carbon by 2050 in Leicestershire. This means fully embracing the waste
hierarchy by preventing waste and keeping resources in circulation for as long
as possible through reuse, repair and recycling, to realise their maximum value
whilst minimising environmental impacts”.
16. The vision is supported by specific Strategy objectives and a range of pledges
that sit alongside forthcoming national changes, setting a direction for long-term
management of material resources for the benefit of Leicestershire residents
and communities.
17. The pledges contained in the draft Strategy are:
1) All councils within the Partnership will review their purchasing activities
and internal waste management services to seek to promote waste
prevention, reuse and recycling to support the objectives of this Strategy
and lead by example.
2) The Partnership will support and encourage waste prevention activity
across LWP. This will include working with stakeholders, residents and
communities to prevent unnecessary waste arising, for example through
food waste reduction campaigns such as Love Food Hate Waste.
3) The Partnership will continue delivering reuse services and expand
activities where practicable, working in partnership with other stakeholders
and to signpost to places that advocate for waste prevention and reuse, in
support of developing a circular economy. This includes a pledge to
continue to improve the collection of items for reuse at Household Waste
Recycling Centres and explore the development of reuse shops at
suitable sites.

14

4) The Partnership will implement and promote separate food waste
collections to all households, subject to confirmation of the Government’s
policy, legislation and the provision of funding. This will be as soon as
possible when contracts and circumstances dictate. The County Council
will procure anaerobic digestion capacity to treat the collected food waste
in a manner that contributes to effective carbon emissions reduction
across the County and improves soil quality.
5) The Partnership will explore the use of alternative fuels for collection
vehicles and the transportation of waste and resources to further reduce
carbon emissions of the service and improve air quality.
6) The Partnership will continue to offer a garden waste collection system to
Leicestershire residents and will follow the Government’s guidelines as to
the form of the collection and will be subject to legislation and total
Government funding. The Partnership will continue to procure composting
capacity to treat the collected garden waste in a manner that supports
carbon reduction and improves soil quality.
7) The Partnership shall ensure that the full range of recyclables (as
specified by the Government and subject to funding) are collected from
residents (and businesses where applicable) across Leicestershire by
2025, or as soon as possible when contracts and circumstances dictate.
8) The Partnership shall continue to explore the viability of adding extra
materials to recycling collections (e.g. for batteries, small electric goods or
clothing) aiming to keep Leicestershire performance above the national
average.
9) The Partnership will put in place collection systems to contribute towards
the achievement of the national 65% recycling target by 2035. This may
include restricting residual waste capacity to encourage greater materials
separation, carbon savings and resource recovery. Improvements in
materials recovery at Household Waste Recycling Centres will also
contribute towards the national target.
10) The Partnership will continue to allocate a communications budget
sufficient to help promote good recycling behaviour and maximise
resource recovery to support the circular economy and low-carbon
objectives of this Strategy.
11) The County Council will reduce waste sent to landfill to less than 5% by
2025, well in advance of the 10% national target by 2030. The County
Council will undertake future procurement processes for residual waste
treatment (alternatives to landfill) in line with the vision and objectives of
this Strategy.
Options Appraisal
18. In developing the draft Strategy, nine options were modelled, seven of which
take account of anticipated service changes following the Government
consultations and are set out below along with further details including the
chosen assessment criteria and the overall results.

15

19. The options modelled in the appraisal are as below:
Option

Description

Baseline
Option 1: Waste minimisation

Current service
Focus on waste awareness/ education/ waste
reduction/ recycling and prevention initiatives
Focus on facilitating or promoting reuse/ repair
activities
As Baseline kerbside collection service, except:
 Recycling collection consistent with materials
indicated in national consistent collections
consultation (e.g. plastic film, glass, metal,
paper and card)
 Free garden waste collection for all districts
 Separate weekly food waste collection for all
households
 New national measures (extended producer
responsibility and a deposit return scheme)
come into effect
 Sensitivity on recycling to include batteries,
textiles, small Waste Electronic and Electrical
Equipment collections
As Option 3, except:
 Garden waste collection is retained as a
charged service for all districts that currently
operate a subscription service
As Option 3, plus:
 A: Residual waste collected fortnightly in 140L
wheeled bins OR
 B: Residual waste collected three-weekly in
240L/180L wheeled bins
Option 3, plus fortnightly twin stream collection
of dry recycling: paper and card in one box,
plastics, glass and cans in wheeled bin
Option 3, plus fortnightly kerbside sort collection
of dry recycling
Option 3, plus fortnightly three-stream collection
of dry recycling: paper and card in box 1, glass
in box 2, plastic and cans in box 3.

Option 2: Reuse and repair
Option 3: Revised Baseline with
Consistent Collection measures,
Extended Producer Responsibility
(EPR) and Deposit Return Scheme
(DRS)

Option 4: Retained charged garden

Option 5: Restricted residual waste (A
and B)

Option 6: Twin stream recycling, fibre
out
Option 7: Kerbside sort
Option 8: Three-stream recycling

20. Options 1 and 2 (waste prevention and reuse) were subject to a qualitative
assessment as they are activities that all councils should undertake and can
vary in their outputs and inputs. Good practice and initiatives that the
Partnership could deliver are contained within the draft Strategy.
21. The other options were evaluated against a number of criteria agreed by the
Partnership at a workshop in June 2021 (attended by officers and councillors
from all LWP authorities). The criteria and the relative weightings are outlined in
the table below:

16

Criteria
Carbon
Recycling performance / reuse performance / waste prevention
performance
Cost
Residual waste arisings
Educational / awareness raising
Alignment with national policy
Public acceptability
Social value
Operational flexibility
Resource use

Weighting
4.7
4.3
4.3
4.1
4.1
4
3.9
3.5
3.4
3.2

22. The recycling collections were modelled using the Kerbside Analysis Tool
which gives comparative annualised costs for different systems. All options
modelled incur an additional cost for the Partnership when considering total net
costs. Service changes are required in order to contribute towards achieving
the national recycling target of 65% by 2035. Reaching these higher targets
means more investment is required and the Government has stated a
commitment to covering additional costs to local authorities for the new
required measures. Furthermore, the Government is also intent on introducing
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR).
23. The collection options were also modelled using the Waste and Resources
Assessment Tool for the Environment to determine the carbon impact as kg
CO2-eq savings.
24. Public acceptability, operational flexibility, alignment with regulations and social
value indicators are more qualitative judgements and are scored using a 1 – 5
scoring system.
25. The overall results of this evaluation are presented below:

Criteria

Weighting

Carbon
Recycling
performance

4.7

Cost
Residual waste
arisings
Educational /
Awareness
Raising
Alignment with
National Policy

4.3

4.3

4.1

Revised
As Option As Option 3, Option 3, plus
Baseline with
3, with
plus
restricted
Business as Consistent
retained restricted residual (3Usual
Collection
charged
residual
weekly
measures,
garden (140L WHB) collection)
EPR & DRS

As Option 3, As Option 3,
As Option
plus
plus kerbside
3, plus
fortnightly
sort
threetwin stream collection of
stream
collection of
dry
recycling
dry recycling recycling

Baseline

Option 6

Option 3

Option 4

Option 5A

Option 5B

Option 7

Option 8

3

3

3

5

5

1

1

1

1

4

3

5

5

4

4

4

5

1

4

2

2

1

2

2

1

4

4

5

5

4

4

4

1

4

3

4

4

3

4

4

2

3

2

3

2

4

5

5

4.1
4.0

17

Public
Acceptability
Social Value
Operational
Flexibility

3.9
3.5
3.4

Resource Use
3.2
Total Score (with weighting
applied)
Highest Number = Best Option

3

5

4

2

1

4

3

3

2

4

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

5

5

5

2

3

2

4

2

3

3

5

5

3

3

3

94.8

140.5

133.6

153.8

135.7

120.3

125.4

132.2

Key
1

2

3

4

5

26. The option which performed the best overall was Option 5A which is the revised
baseline with the further anticipated Government measures included as well as
the inclusion of restricted residual waste collected fortnightly in 140L wheeled
bins.
Strategic Environmental Assessment
27. An assessment of how a strategy meets the aims of sustainable development
can be delivered though an approach known as Strategic Environmental
Assessment. It is a framework for ensuring that environmental and
sustainability impacts are integrated into high-level policy, planning and
programme making.
28. The first stage of this process was to scope out the key sustainability issues
relevant to the LR&WS and the geographical area of Leicestershire. There
were two workshops held with officers from the partner authorities where key
sustainability issues were agreed along with sustainability objectives and
assessment criteria. These elements were captured in a Strategic
Environmental Assessment scoping report.
29. The Statutory consultees (the Environment Agency, Natural England and
Natural Heritage) were consulted on the Strategic Environmental Assessment
scoping report over a five-week period between 2 August and 6 September
2021. The comments received from these organisations were addressed and
the draft Environmental Report was updated. The draft Environmental Report
identifies, describes and evaluates the likely significant effects on the
environment from the LR&WS.
Consultation and Timetable for Decisions
30. A 12-week public consultation began on 31 January 2022 and will close on 25
April 2022.
31. Residents, community groups and businesses are invited to provide feedback
on the draft Strategy through a variety of methods including a questionnaire
which is available via the County Council’s ‘Have your Say’ webpage and
partners’ websites. In addition, there will also be targeted communications such
as articles in relevant County and district council publications.

18

32. Findings from the consultation will be used to inform the development of the
final Strategy and it is intended that, in late summer, a report will be presented
to the Cabinet outlining the outcome of the consultation and seeking agreement
on the adoption of the final Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy. The
district councils will also take the final Strategy through their approval
processes. Any future waste service changes recommended by partners
following the adoption of the LR&WS will be subject to separate approval
processes.
Resource Implications
33. The public consultation exercise is being funded from a pre-existing
Leicestershire Waste Partnership budget.
34. The future adoption of the vision, objectives and pledges will not result in any
direct financial implications for the County Council at this stage. However,
implementation of the Strategy options which mirror Government regulations
and legislative policies, will have a financial implication which will be considered
as part of the budget management process.
35. At present cost implications remain uncertain although the Government has
stated that it is committed to funding new burdens placed on local authorities.
36. The Director of Law and Governance and the Director of Corporate Resources
have been consulted on the content of this report.
Conclusions
37. It is recommended that the Committee provides its views on the draft Strategy
and appended associated documents, including the content highlighted in this
report.
Background papers
Report to the County Council on 23 May 2012: Leicestershire Municipal Waste
Management Strategy Update 2011:
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=31065&PlanId=0&Opt=3#AI31186
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None
Equality and Human Rights Implications
38. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Screening has
been undertaken and concludes that the review of the LMWMS will be subject
to a full EHRIA, the findings of which will be included in the Cabinet report
scheduled for summer 2022.

19

Appendices
Appendix A: Draft Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy
Appendix B: Draft Options Appraisal
Appendix C: Draft Environmental Report
Appendix D: Draft Summary Document
Officers to Contact
Ann Carruthers
Director of Environment and Waste
Email: Ann.Curruthers@leics.gov.uk
Tel: 0116 305 7000
Joanna Guyll
Assistant Director Environment and Waste
Email: Joanna.Guyll@leics.gov.uk
Tel: 0116 305 8101

This page is intentionally left blank

21

Appendix A

1

22

Executive Summary
How we view ‘waste’ has changed; it is no longer only something to get rid of, but is considered a
valuable resource, to be retained and reused, or avoided at all where possible. Using waste as a
resource can help to reduce the raw materials needed for producing new goods, which has
environmental, social and financial benefits. This updated draft Leicestershire Resources and Waste
Strategy (LR&WS / the ‘Strategy’) reflects this global current thinking and describes the recycling and
waste management services which will be delivered by the Leicestershire Waste Partnership (LWP)1
from 2022 up to 2050. The Vision of the draft LR&WS is:

To work towards a circular economy and contribute to achieving net zero carbon by 2050 in
Leicestershire. This means fully embracing the waste hierarchy by preventing waste and
keeping resources in circulation for as long as possible, through reuse, repair and recycling,
to realise their maximum value whilst minimising environmental impacts.
This vision is supported by specific Strategy objectives and a range of pledges and measures that sit
alongside national policy changes - setting a direction for long term management of material
resources for the benefit of the residents and communities of Leicestershire2. In addition, the
Strategy includes:
•

•

The policy framework - the current and future context for resources and waste
management, considering local issues e.g. air quality, and global issues such as carbon
reduction or greenhouse gas reduction and climate change
Strategy delivery - how resources and waste will be managed to achieve the vision and
objectives, through the services provided by the LWP to its residents and communities and
11 pledges regarding commitments, actions and performance.

The draft LR&WS includes a focus on waste prevention (avoiding waste generation in the first place)
and developing more initiatives on reuse of goods - both at the Household Waste and Recycling
Centres and in the community. There are challenging targets around recycling and reuse, aiming to
enhance Leicestershire’s performance from current levels (around 44% recycling rate) to 65% by
2035, with the majority of progress made over the next five years through the Countywide
implementation of weekly food waste collections, more consistent and effective recycling collections
and, subject to Government guidelines, funding and potential changes to garden waste collections.
If the national 65% recycling rate is to be met the amount of residual waste (all general mixed
‘rubbish’) managed by Councils will need to fall from around 620kg per household to around 360kg
per household by 2035. Furthermore, the management of residual waste in Leicestershire is also set
to change with a pledge to reduce the amount of waste landfilled from current levels (of around
30%) down to 5% by 2025. This is substantially ahead of the new national target of 10% landfilled
waste by 2030.
The net effect of the measures within the draft LR&WS is a reduction in the amount of carbon (as
measured in CO2 equivalents) in the range of 5,000 -10,000 tonnes of CO2 eq. each year from the
collection and management of wastes and resources in the County. This is equivalent to taking
between 1,800 – 3,600 cars off the road, in terms of annual emissions savings.

1

Leicestershire Waste Partnership comprises Leicestershire County Council and the seven District and Borough Councils.
Leicester City Council is an associate member.
2
Note that this Strategy does not cover Leicester City Council which is a unitary authority with its own waste collection and
disposal arrangements

2

23

This document is the ‘consultation draft’ of the Strategy. The LWP are asking for views and feedback
from residents and communities, including businesses that use, or are affected by, the proposed
resource and waste services in this Strategy by 25th April 2022.

3

24

Contents
Executive Summary................................................................................................................................. 2
1.

Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 5
What is a Resources and Waste Strategy? ......................................................................................... 5
How is the service delivered? ............................................................................................................. 6
What is in your bins?......................................................................................................................... 10

2.

What is the proposed Strategy for Leicestershire? ...................................................................... 12
Our Strategic Vision .......................................................................................................................... 12
Our objectives to deliver the vision .................................................................................................. 12
National Policy & Influences ............................................................................................................. 13
Resources & Waste Strategy for England ..................................................................................... 13
Waste Prevention Programme for England .................................................................................. 14
Net Zero Carbon ............................................................................................................................ 14
Circular Economy .......................................................................................................................... 14
Clean Growth Strategy .................................................................................................................. 15
Air Quality ..................................................................................................................................... 15
Local Policies and Influences............................................................................................................. 15
Supporting Documents ..................................................................................................................... 15

3.

How can the Strategy be delivered? ............................................................................................. 17
This section identifies LWP’s commitments required to deliver the Strategy. These are divided into
the topic areas needed to meet the overall vision. .......................................................................... 17
Working in partnership ..................................................................................................................... 17
Preventing waste and preparing items for reuse ............................................................................. 17
Collecting food waste and garden waste .......................................................................................... 19
Expanding recycling for homes and businesses ................................................................................ 20
Avoiding landfill as much as possible................................................................................................ 23
Contributing to Net Zero Carbon in Leicestershire ........................................................................... 24

4.

Where will the Strategy take us? .................................................................................................. 25
Projecting ahead to 2050 .................................................................................................................. 25

5.

Consultation and Next Steps ......................................................................................................... 28

4

25

1. Introduction
What is a Resources and Waste Strategy?
This document is the consultation draft of the Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy (LR&WS)
for the Leicestershire Waste Partnership (LWP). The partnership comprises Leicestershire County
Council (the Waste Disposal Authority) and the seven Leicestershire Waste Collection Authorities
(the District and Borough Councils). Leicester City Council manages its waste via separate
arrangements as a Unitary Authority.
This LR&WS is an update to the Leicestershire Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2020 which
has been in place since 2002 and was reviewed and updated in 2006 and 2011 respectively.
The LR&WS describes the recycling and waste management services which will be delivered by the
LWP up to 2050. The Strategy sets outs:
•

•
•

The policy framework - the current and future context for resources and waste
management, considering local issues e.g. air quality, and global issues including carbon/
greenhouse gas reduction and climate change
The vision, aims, and objectives - what the LWP wants to achieve in terms of resources and
waste management; and
Strategy delivery - how resources and waste will be managed to achieve the aims and
objectives, through the services provided by the LWP to its residents and communities.

How we view ‘waste’ has changed; it is no longer only something to get rid of, but is now considered
a valuable resource, to be retained and reused, or avoided at all where possible. Also, the adverse
impacts of raw material inputs e.g. the resources we use, are becoming increasingly apparent,
meaning now more than ever raw materials need to be used efficiently and conserved. Using the
resources from waste can help to reduce the raw materials needed for producing new goods, which
has environmental, social and financial benefits. This updated LR&WS reflects this global current
thinking.
The Strategy covers services for managing municipal solid waste (MSW). MSW is all the waste
collected by the local authorities in the LWP3. This includes household, commercial and street
cleansing wastes, and wastes taken to the Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRCs).
As Waste Collection Authorities, the District and Borough councils have a legal duty to collect
municipal waste and Leicestershire County Council, as the Waste Disposal Authority (WDA), has a
legal duty to treat, manage and dispose of MSW. The WCAs and WDA work in partnership,
recognising that joint working on planning the collection, treatment (composting, recycling, and
recovery) and disposal of waste supports efficient service delivery for residents and communities,
including businesses.
This Strategy runs up to 2050, however it will be reviewed regularly at appropriate periods during
this time. Reviews are needed to make sure the Strategy remains current and in line with national
guidance.
This Strategy is a ‘Consultation Draft’. For the next steps during and after the consultation, see
section 5 ‘Consultation-Next Steps’ in this document.

3

It also applies to similar wastes collected by other parties; however this is not under the control of the local authorities.

5

26

How is the service delivered?
All districts in Leicestershire currently have household collections of recycling, residual4 and garden
waste. Food waste is not currently collected district wide by any WCA, however some have either
collected this in the past or have trialled weekly food waste collections over the last few years,
including Harborough District Council, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council and Oadby & Wigston
Borough Council. North West Leicestershire District Council have been successfully trialling a food
waste collection since November 2019, and continue to do so.
Recycling
How recycling is collected is broadly consistent across the LWP. Six of the Districts collect all
recycling material together in one container (typically a wheeled bin), this is often referred to as a
‘commingled collection’ and is collected every two weeks. Residents in North West Leicestershire
District on the other hand, are provided with a mixture of bags and boxes to separate out key
recyclable materials, which are then placed in different compartments on a specialist vehicle. This is
often referred to as a ‘kerbside-sort’ or ‘multi-stream’ collection. Examples of the containers for
each District and Borough council are shown below.

Commingled collections for:
Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough
Council, Harborough District Council,
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council,
Melton Borough Council and Oadby &
Wigston Borough Council.

Kerbside sort or multi-stream’ collections for North
West Leicestershire District Council
(Image: NWLDC website)

All of the commingled recyclable materials collected from residents are currently sent to a Materials
Recycling Facility (MRF) in Leicester. At this facility, recycling is separated using a combination of
manual and automatic sorting processes to sort material streams before being baled and sent for
reprocessing.
North West Leicestershire District Council has its own arrangement for processing recycling (which is
already separated on the vehicle as it collects from households). Their recycling is transported to a
depot in Coalville. Here, the materials are unloaded from the collection vehicles and tipped into
dedicated bays where further separation is used where needed. For example, magnets are used to
separate the metals from the plastic. Once baled, the collected recyclables are sold on, and this can
be directly to reprocessors.

4

‘Residual’ waste is ‘black bin’ waste that is not separated, so is mixed waste or ‘general rubbish’

6

27

Garden waste
Unlike recycling and residual waste, the collection of garden waste is a non-statutory service and is a
discretionary service provided by Local Authorities. As such, Local Authorities are able to provide this
service for free, or to ask residents to pay for its collection. All authorities in the LWP charge for the
collection of garden waste, except for North West Leicestershire District Council who offer this
service for free. Residents wishing to have their garden waste collected typically pay an annual
subscription fee which covers the cost of a wheeled bin, vehicles and crew that collect garden waste.
Residents are also encouraged to use other methods to dispose of garden waste. Firstly, via home
composting garden waste (cuttings, trimmings, plants, branches and other garden waste which can
be composted). Alternatively, residents can also take their garden waste to any of the Household
Waste and Recycling Centres.
Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRCs)
Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRCs)5 are provided for residents to dispose of any bulky
or additional waste and recycling which cannot be collected through the kerbside collection. There
are fourteen HWRCs located across Leicestershire, as shown in the image below. These sites are
managed by Leicestershire County Council.

5

Locally in Leicestershire known as Recycling and Household Waste Sites (RHWS) or historically known as ‘the tip’

7

28

North West
Leicestershire District

Charnwood Borough

Melton
Borough

Leicester City
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Borough

Oadby and
Wigston
Borough

Blaby District
Harborough District
Figure 1: HWRCs across Leicestershire

The HWRCs take a wide range of items which can be sent for reuse, recycling or disposal. Opening
hours and the waste accepted varies across each site. Leicestershire residents are generally able to
use these sites for free. Some charges may apply for specific materials, including hardcore and
rubble, tiles, plasterboard and asbestos. Vans, pick-ups and cars with trailers, and any vehicle
bringing asbestos, chemicals or liquid paint, require a permit to visit the sites.
In 2019/20, the combined reuse, recycling and composting performance was 45.5% for household
waste from collections at the kerbside and from the HWRCs. This is lower than the UK’s target to
recycle 50% of household waste by 2020. The average for England within the same period was
43.8%, meaning that Leicestershire did perform above national average, despite the fall in overall
performance shown below. A key reason for the fall, shown in Figure 2, was not that householders
were recycling less, but that a facility which was extracting extra material for recycling from residual
waste had closed.

8

29

65%

Percentage (%)

60%
55%
50%
45%
40%
2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Blaby
Hinckley and Bosworth
Oadby and Wigston

Charnwood
Melton
Leicestershire County Council

Harborough
North West Leicestershire

Figure 2: Current and historic recycling rates for Leicestershire Councils 2010/11 – 2019/20

Although the recycling rate is above the national average, the amount of waste sent to landfill (the
least desirable outcome) was 31.8% in 2019/20, this is much higher than the average landfill rate for
local authorities in England, for the same time period (8.5%). Both reducing the waste sent to landfill
and increasing recycling are key elements of this Strategy (see section 3).
Who delivers the collection services?
The collection of waste and recycling is the responsibility of the District and Borough Councils. The
delivery of this service can be managed in several ways; in-house (the Council run the collections using
their staff), via a Local Authority Trading Company (a type of publicly owned ‘arms length’ company),
or by outsourcing the service to a private contractor (also known as contracting out the service). At
present, four of the District and Borough Councils operate this service in house (Blaby, Hinckley &
Bosworth, North West Leicestershire and Oadby & Wigston) and three are outsourced to the private
sector (Charnwood, Harborough and Melton). Collection service contracts typically last between 7 and
10 years.
Bulky Waste
Across the County, residents can arrange for the collection of larger items - this is known as a bulky
waste collection. Each District and Borough Council has its own service in place for its residents. This
service is chargeable (price varies per Council), often with a minimum collection fee. The types of
items that can be collected include domestic furniture, appliances (televisions, fridges, freezers,
washing machines), beds etc.
Trade Waste
Some District and Borough Councils also offer a collection service from businesses in their area, this
is known as a trade waste collection. An overview of the trade waste services is provided below.
Council
Blaby District Council

Waste types
collected
General Waste
Mixed Recycling

Other characteristics
Customers can choose from a range of
options for both the frequency of
9

30

Glass Only
Charnwood Borough Council

General Waste

Harborough District Council

General Waste
Mixed Recycling

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough
Council

General Waste
Mixed Recycling

Leicestershire County Council

N/A

North West Leicestershire
District Council

General Waste
Mixed Recycling

collection and the size of containers
provided.
Weekly (or multiples of weekly) collections
of residual waste. Intention to start mixed
recycling collection soon.
Customers can choose from a range of
options for both the frequency of
collection and the size of containers
provided.
Customers can choose from a range of
options for both the frequency of
collection and the size of containers
provided.
LCC run a trade service at Whetstone
Waste Transfer Station (WTS) which
includes an outlet for general waste and
also source separated waste such as
cardboard, green waste, wood and inert
waste.
Customers can choose from a range of
options for both the frequency of
collection and the size of containers
provided.

What is in your bins?
The average composition of what a Leicestershire resident puts in their bins each year is shown in
the pie chart below. What this illustrates is that the vast majority of items that are disposed of can
be prevented, reduced, reused or recycled in some way. This isn’t just the materials that we are
familiar with recycling like paper, card, metals, glass and plastic, but also other materials like food
waste and waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE), which can be collected separately and
have their resource value recovered.
Separating these additional materials for recycling can help contribute towards achieving 65%
recycling, the national recycling target for 2035, set by Government 6.
Furthermore, other items may be reused to prevent them becoming waste at all. This is preferable
to recycling, and options such as using washable nappies, reusable water bottles for drinks and
refilling containers with goods from a refill shop or station to avoid new packaging all help conserve
resources and avoid packaging and other wastes. There is more on this in sections 3 and 4 of this
Strategy.

6

This is included in the 2020 Circular Economy Package (CEP)

10

31

Waste electrical and
electronic equipment Non combustibles
(stones, soil etc.), 1%
Non-ferrous metals (WEEE), 1%

Leicestershire
Household
Waste

Ferrous metals (Steel),
2%

(Aluminium), 1%

Plastic film, 4%

Fines (small particles
of waste, dust etc.),
1%

Textiles, 4%

Card & Cartons, 7%

Garden & other
organic (e.g. animal
bedding etc), 24%

Combustibles (sanitary
items, wood, rubber
etc.), 8%

Other plastics (bottles,
trays, pots etc.), 8%

Food waste, 16%

Glass, 9%
Paper, 13%

Figure 3: Waste composition of all bins (residual, recycling and garden) combined - 2019/20 data7

7

Data may not add up to 100% due to rounding

11

32

2. What is the proposed Strategy for Leicestershire?
This section explains the direction envisaged for the LR&WS and includes a summary of influences
(both national and local) that have shaped its development.
The Strategy focuses on municipal waste that is waste generated by households and similar wastes
from businesses and commerce. It explores different options to reduce the amount of waste arising
in the first place (see ‘the waste hierarchy’ described later in this section), and then to manage the
remaining material in a way that gives benefit from its resource value.
The management of the residual waste (the remaining waste left for disposal) is managed by long
term contracts. Whilst there are different ways to manage this waste, the Strategy takes the position
that the prime aim is to avoid waste going to landfill. When new contracts are to be let for managing
residual waste, they should review the latest options available and adhere to the principles of this
Strategy for subsequent decision making on residual waste management technologies.
The vision and objectives of the LR&WS are explained below.

Our Strategic Vision
The overarching vision of the draft LR&WS is:

To work towards a circular economy and contribute to achieving net zero carbon by 2050 in
Leicestershire. This means fully embracing the waste hierarchy by preventing waste and
keeping resources in circulation for as long as possible, through reuse, repair and recycling,
to realise their maximum value whilst minimising environmental impacts.
Key aspects of this vision, like what we mean by a circular economy and the waste hierarchy are
explained in more detail later in this section of the Strategy.

Our objectives to deliver the vision
To achieve the vision outlined above, the following objectives have been developed, and grouped
into themes. These are all important guiding principles for the service as a whole and are not in
order of priority.
Deliver services in accordance with circular economy principles
Objective 1: Manage materials in accordance with circular economy principles, except where costs
are prohibitive, or where the environmental consequences can be demonstrated to be negative.
Objective 2: As local authorities, set an example by preventing, reducing, reusing, recycling and
composting our own waste and use our buying power to positively encourage sustainable resource
use.
Reduce the climate change / carbon / air quality impact of waste services in Leicestershire
Objective 3: Reduce carbon emissions from Leicestershire’s waste management services.
Deliver services that are financially sustainable and equitable across the Partnership
Objective 4: Consider the whole life financial, social and environmental impact, and deliver quality
services designed to allow flexibility, innovation and improvement.
Objective 5: Promote the economic and employment opportunities of sustainable waste
management where this is consistent with circular economy principles. Consider local / regional
supply chain and markets for recyclate and other secondary raw materials.
12

33

Delivery of high quality waste services for the residents of Leicestershire
Objective 6: Work together to adapt and deliver coordinated services and infrastructure for waste
services with lower environmental impacts.
Objective 7: Aim to reduce and manage residual waste within the County where this is consistent
with the proximity principle and to manage all other waste at the nearest appropriate facility by the
most appropriate method or technology.
Work in partnership with local communities across Leicestershire
Objective 8: Work with the community and businesses to raise awareness about environmental
matters (including climate change, energy and resource management) and increase participation in
waste prevention, reuse and recycling initiatives and link to national campaigns.
Objective 9: Lobby and work with others, in pursuit of the Partnership’s vision of sustainable waste
and resource management.
The Strategy also includes a number of pledges setting out specific actions to support and achieve
these objectives, these are presented in Section 3.

National Policy & Influences
A guiding principle of managing waste and resources is the ‘waste hierarchy’, this is shown below
with definitions as to the meaning of each level. The most beneficial method is ‘prevention’ of waste
and the least beneficial ‘disposal’. This Strategy sets out Leicestershire’s intentions on each level.

Figure 4: The Waste Hierarchy (2011)

Resources & Waste Strategy for England
“Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England” (2018), is focussed on improving recycling
quality and increasing recycling rates from households and businesses. It includes substantial
reforms to municipal waste collection and management services, including requiring the separate
collection of food waste from households. It also puts a greater responsibility on producers of goods
13

34

and packaging to play their part in dealing with the products at the end of their life. New measures
proposed include Extended Producer Responsibility for packaging materials (EPR)8 and the
introduction of a deposit return scheme (DRS) for single use drinks containers. This is explained in
more detail in section 3. These measures are likely to have a significant impact on the services
delivered in Leicestershire and who pays for them. The direction of the national Strategy has had a
major influence on the LR&WS.

Waste Prevention Programme for England
Waste prevention activity reduces the amount of waste which is generated, and the Government’s
view on how this can be achieved is set out in the Waste Prevention Programme for England,
“Prevention is better than cure: the role of waste prevention in moving to a more resource efficient
economy” (2013). Key actions for Central Government include setting a clear direction, leading by
doing, driving innovation, and ensuring that information regarding waste prevention is available to
all. In March 2021, a consultation on a revised Waste Prevention Programme for England was held.
The consultation document outlines how waste prevention could be achieved through transforming
product design, making it easier for consumers to make sustainable choices or purchases and
aligning policy with a circular economy approach (see below).

Net Zero Carbon
Climate change is the greatest environmental challenge facing the world and is driven by rising levels
of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere (which include gases such as carbon dioxide and methane).
This results in global heating, rising sea levels and changing patterns of rainfall. These changes can
increase the risk of flooding, heatwaves, droughts, and wildfires. To overcome this, the Government
has committed the UK to achieving net zero by 2050. This means that there will be an equal balance
between the amount of greenhouse gas emissions produced and the amount removed from the
atmosphere, through planting trees or using technology such as carbon capture. The waste
management sector is estimated to have contributed around 4% of greenhouse gas emissions in the
UK in 20199. These emissions can be addressed through minimising the quantity of waste sent to
landfill (which is a large contributor of methane emissions), and by applying the waste hierarchy
(prioritising prevention, reuse, recycling and recovery).

Circular Economy
In a Circular Economy, we see a transition away from a take-make-dispose ideology to a more
circular system in which we keep resources in use for as long as possible. This is achieved through
maintaining the maximum value when in use, and then recovering and repurposing material at the
end of its life. The EU Circular Economy Package (CEP) introduces a revised legislative framework,
identifying steps for the reduction of waste and establishing an ambitious and credible long-term
path for waste management and recycling. This has been largely incorporated into UK Government
strategy and policy and key elements within “Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England”
(2018).

8

The National Strategy also raises the potential for further producer responsibility measures including for
textile wastes (e.g. to help tackle ‘fast fashion’ impacts), bulky waste (e.g. mattresses, carpets) and other waste
streams.
9
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (2021). 2019 UK Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Final
Figures.

14

35

Clean Growth Strategy
The Clean Growth Strategy was published in 2017 by HM Government, which aims to increase
national income while reducing greenhouse gas emissions in order to meet the UK’s 2050 net zero
goal. The Strategy highlights that the UK waste sector has contributed to significant falls in carbon,
with the large reduction in waste being sent to landfill resulting in lower greenhouse gas emissions.
12.5% of the UK’s energy was generated from ‘renewable sources and waste’ in 2019. The
incineration of waste (Energy from Waste or ‘EfW’) made up 13.3%10 of the renewable energy
generated.

Air Quality
Air quality is used to describe the condition of our air, it can be negatively impacted by a number of
pollutants including sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxide. Road transport is a contributor to poorer air
quality, demonstrated by the fact that it accounted for 33% of nitrogen oxide emissions across the
UK in 2019. The impact of waste management activity on air quality is most likely to arise through
transport impacts, for example, when collecting household waste and recycling and the transport of
this to transfer, recycling, treatment and disposal facilities. However, alternative fuels for Refuse
Collection Vehicles (RCVs, or ‘bin lorries’) are coming into the market which will help to reduce the
impact that the waste management sector has on air quality, this is because these fuels are cleaner
and have a lower environmental impact in comparison to diesel. A pledge on alternative (low
emission) vehicle fuels is included in section 3.

Local Policies and Influences
The LR&WS will be implemented in the context of local policies, which both shape and affect it. The
proposals in this draft Strategy have been developed in consideration of these policies, in order to
check that the Strategy can be practically implemented and that it either complements or does not
diverge from the wider aims of the LWP member authorities, as set out in other relevant policies.
The types of policies influencing the Strategy include the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local
Plan (the Local Plan). For waste, the Local Plan aims to provide adequate facilities for waste
management and mineral extraction/processing facilities within Leicestershire to meet identified
needs. The current plan runs from 2019 to 2031. The Local Plan includes Leicester City; Leicester City
Council is not within the LWP, but both parties cooperate to deliver plans which affect a wide
geographic area.
Further policies and plans considered during the Strategy update cover a wide range of
environmental and social issues, such as carbon management, climate emergency declarations and
net zero ambitions, community strategies, air quality management, biodiversity and transport. It is
important that, to the extent possible, the LR&WS is aligned with these other documents. This is
specifically addressed by an Environmental Report (see below) which gives more consideration to
the local policy influences.

Supporting Documents
This draft LR&WS is not developed in isolation; it is supported by research, analysis and consultation.
This has been undertaken through the following processes.

10

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/datasets/ukenvironmentalaccountsenergyconsumptionfromre
newableandwastesources

15

36

Firstly, an Options Appraisal was prepared. This is an assessment of alternative resource and waste
service delivery options, analysing combinations of factors such as waste collection methods,
recycling options, or treatment approaches. The outcome was a selection of possible approaches to
meet the Strategy aims and objectives.
Secondly, a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) was undertaken. SEA considers wider policy
influences and assesses the Strategy options against important environmental effects and proposed
mitigation. An Environmental Report is the outcome of the SEA; the assessment and mitigation
measures in the Environmental Report have influenced the final selected strategy option(s).
Thirdly, an Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) was conducted. This assesses,
at a strategic level, if the proposed resource and waste services are accessible to the entire
community, regardless of characteristics such as age, gender, health, disability, race, or socioeconomic status. The EHRIA also includes a public consultation which helps identify any additional
unknown barriers the community may have in accessing services in the Strategy. The EHRIA
influences the Strategy, identifying if any proposed options need adjusting in order for everyone to
have access to the services.
Lastly, there is a consultation questionnaire on key elements within the draft Strategy to gain
feedback from the residents and communities of Leicestershire.

16

37

3. How can the Strategy be delivered?
This section identifies LWP’s commitments required to deliver the Strategy. These are divided into
the topic areas needed to meet the overall vision.

Working in partnership
The draft LR&WS has been developed jointly by LWP members, and it will be implemented by the
LWP members working together. The Strategy update has included consultation with officers and
elected members from all the LWP authorities. The LWP also recognise that waste issues cross
administrative boundaries, and therefore it works with Leicester City Council. Leicester City Council
is a Unitary Authority, which makes its own independent waste collection and disposal
arrangements, but it co-operates with the LWP on strategic waste issues.
The LWP also works in partnership with residents and communities as they are central to the
Strategy. The Strategy objectives are to deliver resource and waste services in which residents and
communities can participate effectively. This requires clear and effective communication between
the LWP and its residents. Residents are encouraged to maximise resource recovery by using the
wide range of recycling services provided by the LWP; in turn, the LWP is required to provide
accessible services for the residents, responding to their needs and aspirations.
In the near future, the LWP will also be working with private sector ‘Producers’ of waste under new
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) legislation. EPR is intended to promote packaging11 design
which considers resource inputs and easier end of life recovery (e.g. reuse or recycling) of the
resources within the products. Once finalised, EPR regulations will require the LWP members to
participate in its implementation with possible service changes.
The Partnership is also aware of its role in managing wastes and conserving resources from materials
generated in Council buildings and activities and makes the following pledge:
Strategy Pledge no. 1:
All Councils within the partnership will review their purchasing activities and internal waste
management services to seek to promote waste prevention, reuse and recycling to support the
objectives of this Strategy and lead by example

Preventing waste and preparing items for reuse
Waste prevention is the highest priority of the waste management hierarchy and is an integral part
of any R&WS. Waste prevention measures ensure that the quantity of waste is reduced (either
through the avoidance of waste creation in the first place, reuse of products and services, or the
extension of its useful life). It therefore reduces the adverse impacts on the environment of waste
generation and management, and subsequently prevents impact on human health.
It also eases our demand on finite natural resources and as such, reduces the carbon emissions
associated with waste management activity.
The most effective waste prevention activities are often focused on particular waste streams or
products. Over recent years, LWP members have implemented a number of initiatives in support of
waste prevention and reuse. These projects have included food waste reduction training through
11

Government has indicated that EPR may be expanded beyond packaging into other goods and products

17

38

Adult Learning Services, supporting the use of reusable nappies by offering free trials of reusable
nappies, encouraging home composting via compost bin subsidies and training, and providing
guidance on reducing unnecessary waste such as contamination or junk mail.
As part of the options appraisal supporting this draft Strategy, we have explored the impact of waste
prevention measures and make the following pledge:
Strategy Pledge no. 2:
The Partnership pledge to support and encourage waste prevention activity across LWP. This will
include working with stakeholders, residents and communities to prevent unnecessary waste arising,
for example through food waste reduction campaigns such as Love Food Hate Waste
The second highest priority of the waste hierarchy is ‘preparing items for reuse’, the aim of repair
and reuse is to extend the useful life of a product or service. This has wide ranging benefits which
include saving money, conserving the Earth’s limited resources and lowering carbon emissions.
Reuse activities often support social and economic development, through skills training,
employment and community volunteering.
Recent examples of reuse activity across Leicestershire include:
-

-

-

Adult Learning Service – Furniture reuse workshops are available to all Leicestershire
residents, free of charge. These workshops take place regularly and teach individuals how to
fix and upcycle items of furniture.
Textiles repair – An online guide is available on the Less Waste website, which aims to
reduce clothing waste. It encourages more sustainable purchasing habits, gives advice about
how to care for and repair clothes, how items can be upcycled and where clothing can be
donated/sold. Free classes are also available for residents to learn sewing skills, such as how
to make new items out of existing fabric at home.
Give or Take Day toolkit – A Give or Take Day is an event where people can exchange
unwanted goods for items which they may need. A toolkit is available on the Less Waste
website to help individuals set up their own event.

Leicestershire residents are also able to engage in reuse activities at the HWRCs across the County.
Leicestershire County Council have been investing in developing its provision for reuse at its HWRCs,
creating signage and designated deposit areas called ‘ReHome Zones’, for items which residents
deem eligible for reuse or repair. This currently includes bric-a-brac and bicycles however
Leicestershire County Council have a vision to expand and enhance the range of materials which can
be saved from going into the ‘waste’ stream, retaining the definition as a ‘product’ thereby
extending its useful life.
LWP also run the ‘Less Waste’ website which serves as an online platform for the Partnership to
provide information on recycling and waste management to its residents, focusing on themes of
‘reduce’, ‘reuse’ and ‘recycle’. The website also includes links and information on many of the
initiatives quoted above12.

12

www.lesswaste.org.uk

18

39

As part of the options appraisal supporting this draft Strategy, we have explored the role of reuse in
developing a waste strategy and as such make the following pledge:
Strategy Pledge no. 3:
The Partnership pledge to continue delivering reuse services and expand activities where
practicable, working in partnership with other stakeholders and to signpost to places that advocate
for waste prevention and reuse, in support of developing a circular economy. This includes a pledge
to continue to improve the collection of items for reuse at Household Waste Recycling Centres and
explore the development of reuse shops at suitable sites.

Collecting food waste and garden waste
After preventing food waste occurring (see Love
Food Hate Waste example referred to previously),
the next most important method of reducing
carbon emissions from food waste is to separately
collect and treat it. The most effective way of
doing this is to collect food waste from
households and businesses on a weekly basis, as a
separate material stream, and to process the food
waste in Anaerobic Digestion (AD) facilities.
The Government has recognised that a key
method of avoiding damaging methane emissions
from landfill (methane is a powerful greenhouse
gas 28 times more potent than CO2), is to remove
food waste from the residual waste stream,
through a dedicated collection service. The
Government is requiring (through the
Environment Act) all households to have a
separate collection of food waste, on a weekly
basis, from the mid 2020’s.
Food waste collections have been trialled in parts
of the County and there are increasing numbers
of councils implementing them across the UK.
They tend to use small, dedicated collection vehicles and the carbon benefits from separating and
effectively managing the food waste far outweigh the carbon emissions of the collection fleet. An
image of the collection trial in North West Leicestershire is shown in Figure 4. More separation of
waste for recycling can mean additional mileage to operate the collection service and this can add to
local air pollution if not appropriately managed. Electric Refuse Collection vehicles, and some fuelled
by hydrogen have been trialled and implemented in the UK, and these have the potential to
dramatically reduce local air emissions and save significant amounts of carbon emissions. Vehicles
running on alternative fuels are currently much more expensive and require new infrastructure
around refuelling / charging, however this is an important area to be evaluated by the Partnership as
new vehicles are procured and the cost of technology falls.
Figure 5: Food waste collection trial taking place in
North West Leicestershire DC

19

40

The separately collected food waste is usually sent to an AD process. Anaerobic digestion is a
process that takes place in sealed vessels in the absence of oxygen. Food waste is fed into the
vessels which act like a digestion process, breaking down the food waste using bacteria (in a similar
way and a slightly higher temperature than your stomach digesting food). The waste degrades and
releases a flammable biogas (which is roughly half methane and half carbon dioxide), this gas is then
usually combusted in a gas engine to generate electricity, which can be fed back into the national
grid as renewable electricity. The gas can alternatively be used to fuel vehicles with ‘biomethane’ or,
after further processing, as an input into the gas grid. The remaining residue from the food waste is
reduced to a slurry and can be, after some further ‘maturation’ (like a composting process), applied
to land as a soil conditioner or fertiliser. As part of the options appraisal supporting this draft
Strategy, we have modelled the introduction of separate food waste collections across the County
and make the following pledges:
Strategy Pledge no. 4:
The Partnership will implement and promote separate food waste collections to all households,
subject to confirmation of Government policy, legislation and the provision of funding. This will be as
soon as required and when contracts and circumstances dictate. The County Council will procure
Anaerobic Digestion capacity to treat the collected food waste in a manner that contributes to
effective carbon emissions reduction across the County and improves soil quality.
r

Strategy Pledge no. 5:
The Partnership will explore the use of alternative fuels for collection vehicles and the transportation
of waste and resources to further reduce carbon emissions of the service and improve air quality
A garden waste collection is offered to all residents in Leicestershire on a fortnightly basis, as
described in section 2. There is currently no duty on WCAs (the Districts / Borough Councils) to
collect garden waste, however the Government is considering making a free garden waste collection
a mandatory requirement (or introducing a maximum charge), through the National Resources and
Waste Strategy for England, this is subject to separate consultation.
The collected garden waste from the County is sent to composting facilities and the resulting
compost applied to land to improve soil quality and add nutrient value.
As part of the options appraisal supporting this draft Strategy, we have modelled both free of charge
and subscription based garden waste collection systems and make the following pledge:
Strategy Pledge no. 6:
The Partnership will continue to offer a garden waste collection system to Leicestershire residents.
This will follow Government guidelines as to the form of the collection and will be subject to
legislation and total Government funding. The Partnership will continue to procure composting
capacity to treat the collected garden waste in a manner that supports carbon reduction and
improves soil quality.

Expanding recycling for homes and businesses
The residents and communities of Leicestershire already have a wide range of materials collected for
recycling. This mirrors the Government intention to have a standardised set of materials collected

20

41

for recycling from each house and business across the Country. This will include food waste (as
described previously) and each of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Metals (cans, foil trays, foil, aerosols)
Plastics (plastic film, bottles, trays, pots, tubs)
Cartons (e.g. Tetra Pak)
Card
Paper
Glass

The aim is that all of England has the same range of materials collected (by 2023) and that this will
enable more targeted nationwide messages and standardised product labelling for recyclability to be
established. Furthermore, residents moving from one area to another will know what materials can
be separated for recycling (although there might be different colours or types of containers in which
to separate them).
In addition to these changes, Government are seeking to introduce a deposit return scheme (DRS)
for all single use drinks containers (excluding bottles made of High-Density Polyethylene plastic,
primarily milk bottles). This is likely to place an additional 20p charge (the deposit) onto bottles and
cans containing drink, which then may be redeemed (returned) when the bottle / can is placed in an
authorised collection point. The collection points are likely to be at shops / supermarkets and are
known as reverse vending machines, although alternative methods of redeeming deposits are also
being investigated. The DRS scheme is still undergoing consultation but is due to be implemented in
2024. This could have the effect of changing consumer behaviour to an extent, also potentially
reducing the amount of littering of containers (covered by the DRS) and may reduce the amount of
recyclables and waste handled by the local authorities.
As part of the wide-ranging national changes and to encourage greater resource recovery from
waste, the Government are also intending to implement Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) for
all producers of packaging. EPR means that all packaging producers will need to pay for the costs of
dealing with their packaging at the end of its life (e.g. when it is recycled or thrown away). In future
(and this is intended to be implemented from 2024), packaging producers will be responsible for the
net costs of collecting, handling, recycling, treating and disposing of packaging waste, by providing
monies to local government equivalent to that cost. This, together with the DRS scheme, will also
provide an incentive to product and packaging producers to consider how their products can be
designed better for their resource recovery, for example by making them easier to recycle.
Packaging that is hard to recycle will cost more for disposal which will ultimately cost the producer
of that packaging. This approach helps the role of the Councils and should assist in improving
resource recovery and recycling over the medium and long term.
The appraisal of different collection systems (see supporting Options Appraisal document)
demonstrated a preference for maximising recycling through the establishment of a food waste
collection. This would be alongside maintaining similar recycling collection systems as at present but
increasing participation and use of the recycling service by restricting the residual waste. The
preferred method of restricting residual waste was by providing smaller wheeled bins whilst still
allowing for plenty of space in the recycling containers. The addition of a weekly food waste
collection should also reduce the need for the current levels of residual waste capacity. The Options
Appraisal also demonstrated the benefit of providing collection services for other materials like
batteries and textiles from households. As part of the modelling for this draft Strategy we have

21

42

considered EPR and DRS in addition to different recycling collection systems across the County and
make the following pledges:

22

43

Strategy Pledge no. 7:
The Partnership shall ensure that the full range of recyclables (as specified by Government and
subject to funding) are collected from residents (and businesses where applicable) across
Leicestershire by 2025, or as soon as possible when contracts and circumstances dictate
Strategy Pledge no. 8:
The Partnership shall continue to explore the viability of adding extra materials to recycling
collections (e.g. for batteries, small electric goods or clothing) aiming to keep Leicestershire
performance above the national average
Strategy Pledge no. 9:
The Partnership will put in place collection systems to contribute towards the achievement of the
national 65% recycling target by 2035, this may include restricting residual waste capacity to
encourage greater materials separation, carbon savings and resource recovery. Improvements in
materials recovery at Household Waste Recycling Centres will also contribute towards the national
target
Strategy Pledge no. 10:
The Partnership will continue to allocate a communications budget sufficient to help promote good
recycling behaviour and maximise resource recovery to support the circular economy and low
carbon objectives of this Strategy

Avoiding landfill as much as possible
At present, Leicestershire landfills more waste than the national average. This is explained in section
2 of this draft Strategy and is an area that the County Council are working to reduce. A recent
procurement process to secure alternative residual waste treatment capacity should enable
Leicestershire to exceed national targets for landfill. The Government has set a target for England,
that no more than 10% of municipal waste should be sent to landfill by 2030.
The County Council, over the period of this draft Strategy (to 2050), are likely to procure further
contracts for waste treatment capacity. The technologies and options available to utilise for residual
waste treatment change over time, but they should be assessed in the light of the vision and
objectives of the final form of this LR&WS, to ensure that they are consistent with the direction
expressed in this document, and wider (local and national) objectives.
Leicestershire County Council makes the following pledge:
Strategy Pledge no. 11:
The County Council will reduce waste sent to landfill to less than 5% by 2025, well in advance of the
10% national target by 2030. The County Council will undertake future procurement processes for
residual waste treatment (alternatives to landfill) in line with the vision and objectives of this
Strategy.

23

44

Contributing to Net Zero Carbon in Leicestershire
The measures throughout this Strategy will make significant reductions to carbon emissions from the
municipal waste management service. Modelling undertaken for the Options Appraisal and Strategic
Environmental Assessment process indicates that by implementing all of the measures within this
Strategy, carbon savings of the range of 5,000 – 10,000 tonnes of CO2 equivalent would be delivered
each year, compared against the current situation. This is the equivalent (in carbon emissions terms)
of taking approximately 1,800 – 3,600 cars off the road.

24

45

4. Where will the Strategy take us?
Projecting ahead to 2050
Although it is impossible to predict the future for resource and waste management, we can be sure
that 2050 will be very different from today; consider how we manage waste in our households now,
compared with 20 years ago. The need to reduce carbon emissions to achieve net zero will require
many changes to our current lifestyles and to our environmental impacts. This lifestyle change is
part of the global movement towards a circular economy model, essential to reduce our demands on
limited resources and to dramatically decrease our carbon impacts. These influences will affect the
future amount and type of resources and waste in Leicestershire.
Already, Leicestershire has seen major changes in its resources and waste. Recently, increasing
digitisation means residents and communities produce less paper. By contrast, more on-line
shopping has increased quantities of household cardboard; this was exacerbated by the lifestyle
changes resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Also, over the last 20 years, although each person is
now producing less waste because of lighter weight packaging, the waste they do produce includes
far more plastic. Because plastic is usually oil based (fossil carbon), this conflicts with the aims of a
low carbon future, unless we can recycle that material multiple times.
Dealing with these uncertainties and changes to resource and waste arisings needs a responsive and
flexible LR&WS, which tackles new challenges with a broad range of solutions. We have set out a
range of pledges and measures to support national changes and set a direction for long term
resource recovery for the benefit of residents and communities of Leicestershire. We recognise
however that there will be many substantial changes impacting on materials and wastes over the
next five years, as the national Strategy takes effect. There is likely to be a need to review or update
this Strategy before the end of the 2020’s.
A projection of future waste growth rates, informed by housing forecasts, is shown in Figure 6, with
High, Low and Core projections shown. This projection is also affected by the waste prevention and
reuse activities, discussed in section 3. We are basing the core waste growth projection (the grey
line) on an assumption of 0.1% reduction in waste per household each year across the Strategy
period. This would be delivered by a variety of local waste prevention and reuse activities and also
national changes driven by packaging producers affected by the Extended Producer Responsibility
(EPR) measures (see section 3 for national and local influences) 13.

13

High projection: Assumes short term Covid impacts to 2021/22 with static arisings per household from 2022/23 based on
2019/20 kg per household data.
Low projection: Assumes short term Covid impacts to 2021/22, static total arisings based on 2019/20 tonnages
Core projection: Assumes short term Covid impacts to 2021/22 arisings revert to 2019/20 levels as kg per household with a
waste reduction (kg per household) of 0.1% per annum.
All projections have adjustments to kerbside from DRS & EPR (2025) and adjustments to kerbside and HWRCs from free
garden waste collections (2023).
Trade waste tonnages are assumed to be the same as 2020/21 in 2021/22 and return to 2019/20 arisings (tonnage) in
2021/22 and remain static thereafter for all projections.

25

46

Total Partnership waste arisings (tonnes per annum)

500,000
450,000
400,000
350,000
300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000
50,000

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050

-

High growth projection

Low growth projection

Core growth projection

Figure 6: Waste growth projections for wastes collected by Local Authorities, 2019 – 2050

The increase in waste shown around 2020 and 2021 is the extra arisings generated by the Covid-19
pandemic (and associated behavioural changes such as home working, use of Personal Protective
Equipment and internet shopping), this is assumed to revert back to 2019 levels in the following
years, albeit influenced by rising numbers of households and other factors. The subsequent sharp
dip in waste arisings is the estimated result of the implementation of a national Deposit Return
Scheme (DRS) and Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) in the period 2023 – 2025 (this is
described in section 3).
Figure 7 shows delivery in Leicestershire of the national target for 65% of municipal waste to be
recycled and prepared for reuse by 2035.

26

70%

300

60%

250

50%

200

Recycling Rate

40%
150
30%
100

20%

50

10%

-

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043
2044
2045
2046
2047
2048
2049
2050

0%

National municipal waste recycling target
Leicestershire collected waste recycling rate (left axis)
Residual waste collected by LA's per capita (right axis)
Figure 7: Recycling rate & residual waste per household projections for wastes collected by Local Authorities,
2019 – 2050

The modelling which informs this Strategy shows that c.62% recycling can be achieved through
combinations of the options described in section 3, such as expanding recycling and food waste
collections (Pledges 4, 6, 7, 8 & 9). In addition to these options, recycling and reuse will be further
enhanced to reach the 2035 target by:
•
•
•
•
•

The LWP continuing to promote and develop systems for reuse of usable goods and
packaging (Pledge 3)
the LWP promoting ongoing education and awareness raising for its residents and
communities (Pledge 10)
the County Council aiming to increase recovery from the Household Waste Recycling Centres
(Pledge 9)
the national changes around product labelling, and extended producer responsibility
(making products and packaging easier to recycle); and
residual waste treatment procurement, which may also deliver additional recycling (Pledge
11)14.

Figure 7 also shows that the actions set out within this draft Strategy, supported by national policy,
should also reduce the amount of Council collected residual waste (general rubbish not separated
for recycling). If the national 65% recycling rate is to be met the amount of residual waste (all
general mixed ‘rubbish’) managed by Councils will need to fall from around 620kg per household to
around 360kg per household by 2035. Furthermore, the management of residual waste in
Leicestershire is also set to change with a pledge to reduce the amount of waste landfilled from
current levels (of around 30%) down to 5% by 2025. This is substantially ahead of the new national
target of 10% landfilled waste by 2030.
14

Subject to clarifications on how recycling performance is calculated in the future

27

Residual Council collected waste per capita
(kg/person/year)

47

48

5. Consultation and Next Steps
This document presents a ‘consultation draft’ of the Strategy. The LWP are asking for views and
feedback from residents and communities, including businesses that use, or are affected by, the
proposed resource and waste services in this Strategy. The feedback obtained from a Public
Consultation Questionnaire and other consultation mechanisms will be used to develop the final
LR&WS. The Consultation Questionnaire is available at www.leicestershire.gov.uk/have-yoursay/current-engagement, until the consultation closes on 25th April 2022.
If you have further comments or wish to request another format, please email
lesswaste@leics.gov.uk or call 0116 305 7005.
Following the consultation, the LWP aim to adopt the Strategy in late summer 2022. Once the
Strategy is in place, the individual member authorities in the LWP will implement the services in a
way that is appropriate to their context, residents and communities.

28

49

26-Jan-22

Appendix B

50

Acknowledgements:
Frith Resource Management would like to thank the essential contributions from waste management officers at each of
Leicestershire’s District and Borough Councils (Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough Council, Harborough District Council,
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council, Melton Borough Council, North West Leicestershire District Council and Oadby and
Wigston Borough Council) and Leicestershire County Council throughout these modelling phases.

Disclaimer:
Frith Resource Management Ltd (FRM) is an independent waste and resource management consultancy providing advice in
accordance with the project brief. FRM has taken all reasonable care and diligence in the preparation of this report to ensure
that all facts and analysis presented are as accurate as possible within the scope of the project. However, no guarantee is
provided in respect of the information presented, and FRM is not responsible for decisions or actions taken on the basis of the
content of this report.

Consultation Draft v.0.12

i

51

Executive Summary
Leicestershire Waste Partnership (LWP or Partnership1) are undertaking a review of the Leicestershire
Municipal Waste Management Strategy (LMWMS) and developing a new Leicestershire Resources &
Waste Strategy (LR&WS) to set the direction of the recycling and waste management services for the
Partnership from 2022 up to 2050. The updated LR&WS presents a vision for the Partnership of
developing the circular economy and achieving net zero carbon by 20502 in Leicestershire “embracing
the waste hierarchy by preventing waste and keeping resources in circulation, through reuse, repair and
recycling, to realise their maximum resource value whilst minimising environmental impacts.” The
circular economy is, as implied above, keeping resources in use for as long as beneficial, and to use less
raw materials in the first place. Net zero carbon is the target to achieve balance between the amount of
carbon dioxide we emit as a country and the amount we absorb or store (through trees and carbon
capture technologies for example).
As part of the Strategy review, following the analysis of the current services, Frith Resource
Management have modelled alternative waste collections for the Partnership. A number of collection
options were selected (through a workshop with officers and councillors) for modelling against a set of
agreed evaluation criteria to inform the development of a new LR&WS for the Partnership. This
modelling exercise is the focus of this report.
The Resources and Waste Strategy for England (2018) proposes key forthcoming changes that are
anticipated to impact on local services, these are: mandatory separate food waste collections; free
garden waste collections; the introduction of a deposit return scheme (DRS) for single use drinks
containers; extended producer responsibility (EPR) for packaging; and a move towards ‘consistent’
collections for all Local Authorities across England. The service implications of these policies have been
included in the modelling. The options modelled are summarised in the following table:
ES Table 1: Overview of options

Option
Baseline
Option 1
Waste minimisation
Option 2
Reuse and repair
Option 3:
Revised Baseline with Consistent
Collection measures, EPR & DRS

Description
Current Service
Focus on waste awareness / education / waste reduction /
recycling and prevention initiatives.
Focus on facilitating or promoting reuse / repair activities
across Leicestershire
As Baseline (current collection), except:
• Recycling collection to include materials indicated in
national consistent collections consultation (e.g.
plastic film, cartons etc.) where not currently
collected .
• ‘Free’ garden waste collection

1

The Leicestershire Waste Partnership comprises Leicestershire County Council (the Waste Disposal Authority) and the seven
District and Borough Councils ( Waste Collection Authorities). Leicester City Council is a Unitary Authority and sits outside of the
Strategy and associated supporting documents
2 This is in line with the national target.

ii

52

Option

Option 4
Retained charged garden

Option 5A
Restricted residual waste by
container size
Option 5B
Restricted residual waste by
frequency
Option 6
Twin stream recycling, fibre out
(paper and card)
Option 7
Kerbside sort
Option 8
Three-stream recycling

Description
• Separate weekly food waste collection introduced
across the Partnership (with food waste sent to
Anaerobic Digestion, AD).
• A national Extended Producer Responsibility3 and
Deposit Return Scheme4 come into effect as set out in
Government consultation.
• Sensitivity on recycling to include batteries, textiles
and small waste electrical and electronic equipment
(WEEE) collections
As Option 3, except:
• Garden waste collection is retained as a charged
service for all WCAs that currently operate a
subscription service
As Option 3, except:
• Residual waste collected fortnightly in 140L wheeled
bins.
As Option 3, except:
• Residual waste collected three-weekly in 180L / 240L
wheeled bins.
As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly twin stream collection of dry recycling.
Paper & card in one box, and plastics, glass and cans
in wheeled bin.
As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly kerbside sort collection of dry recycling.
As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly three-steam collection of dry recycling.
Paper and card in box 1, glass in box 2, and plastic and
cans in box 3.

Options 1 and 2 (waste prevention and reuse) are activities that all partners should undertake and vary
widely in terms of their outputs and impacts. We have explored different initiatives that the Partnership
currently undertake and additional ideas that could be considered. The best reuse and prevention
initiatives will be subject to the resource available and the need in a particular area or point in time. We
have therefore not scored options 1 and 2 within the options Appraisal report but have identified good
practice and the types of initiative that the Partnership could deliver which are included in the draft
Headline Strategy.

3

EPR is a policy approach which places responsibility (financial or physical) for the treatment of post-consumer products on
producers. EPR incentivises producers (typically through the fees they pay) to ensure the products placed on the market are
recyclable and that any unnecessary packaging material is reduced.
4 A recycling system whereby consumers pay a small deposit on packaging items (plastic and glass bottles and cans) which can
be refunded once returned via a designated recycling deposit site.

iii

53

The recycling options have been modelled using the Kerbside Analysis Tool (KAT5) which gives
comparative annualised costs for different collection systems. The summary table (ES Table 2) and graph
(ES Figure 1) below show a comparison of the collection cost and kerbside recycling rate for the Baseline
and options 3 – 8 that would affect the LWP as a whole.6 It should be noted that ES Table 2 is the cost of
the collection operation only. Other aspects like recyclate revenue, garden waste subscription income,
gate fees and disposal costs are summarised in ES Table 3 which has the total net costs of the service to
the Partnership including both collection and treatment and disposal costs.
All of the alternative options have an increase in annual gross collection costs, in comparison to the
baseline. This ranges from c.£5 million (options 4 and 5B) to over £10 million (option 8).
ES Table 2: Modelled kerbside collection cost and performance

Annual gross
collection cost7

Kerbside recycling
rate8

Indicative
collection cost
increases relative
to baseline

Collection cost per
1% increase in
kerbside recycling
performance9

Baseline (current
service)
Option 3

£18,428,500

46.4%

-

-

£24,441,700

57.12%

£6,013,200

£559,400

Option 4

£23,549,900

54.47%

£5,121,300

£632,300

Option 5A

£24,758,800

61.97%

£6,330,200

£405,800

Option 5B

£23,604,300

61.32%

£5,175,700

£346,200

Option 6

£27,914,100

56.76%

£9,485,500

£912,900

Option 7

£27,468,000

55.76%

£9,039,400

£962,700

Option 8

£28,509,300

55.76%

£10,080,700

£1,073,600

5

The Kerbside Analysis Tool (KAT) is a publicly available model developed by WRAP for comparing the costs of different
household waste collection systems. More information is Section provided in 2.1.
6
Options 1 and 2 are not comparable against the other options and so is evaluated separately in the report.
7 There will be some variation from the actual budget costs, the KAT model is designed to compare systems on a ‘like for like’
basis, not account for every budget element, however they should be of a similar order to actual budget costs for these service
elements, and are guided by cost data provided by the WCAs
8 The total WCA recycling rate would also include the waste flows from the Bring Banks and other household waste streams not
collected via the standard kerbside collection service. Therefore, for example, if a system in this report shows a +5% uplift in
‘kerbside recycling rate’, it would be envisaged that this would be a lower uplift in the total WCA recycling rate (e.g. it could be
+3 or +4% depending on other factors within the WCA). For 2019/20 the household waste recycling rate for Leicestershire was
45.5%.
9 An estimate of the cost increase for every 1% improvement in kerbside recycling, relative to the baseline cost and recycling
performance

iv

54

There will be some variation from the actual budget costs as the KAT model is designed to compare
systems on a ‘like for like’ basis, not account for every budget element. However, they should be of a
similar order to actual budget costs for these service elements and are guided by cost data provided by
the WCAs.
All options result in an increase in kerbside recycling rate for the Partnership as shown in ES Figure 1.
The annualised collection cost (left-axis, coloured bars) shows the combined gross annualised costs for
the WCAs, to illustrate the total Partnership costs of each option. The Partnership kerbside recycling
rate is presented on the right-axis (yellow marker) in comparison to the baseline kerbside recycling rate
(dotted line). Option 5A provides the highest recycling rate for the Partnership (61.97%), with an
increase of 15.6% from the baseline (46.4%). Option 5A models a residual waste restriction whereby all
collection authorities use 140L wheeled bins, collected fortnightly. Dry recycling is collected as per the
baseline i.e. commingled for all authorities except North West Leicestershire District Council (NWLDC)
which operates a kerbside sort collection.
£30,000,000

61.97%

56.76%

55.76%

55.76%

70%
60%

54.47%

£25,000,000

50%
£20,000,000
40%
£15,000,000
30%
£10,000,000
20%
£5,000,000

10%

£-

0%
Option 3

Option 4

Option 5A

Option 5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

Blaby DC collection costs

Charnwood BC collection costs

Harborough DC collection costs

Hinckley & Bosworth BC collection costs

Melton BC collection costs

NW Leicestershire DC collection costs

Oadby & Wigston BC collection costs

Baseline Partnership KS recycling rate

Partnership KS recycling rate
ES Figure 1: Modelled kerbside collection costs and performance

v

Kerbside recycling rate

Annualised gross collection cost

57.12%

61.32%

55

ES Table 3: Total Partnership costs

Total
Partnership
cost

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option
5A

Option
5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

£29.4
million

£38.3
million

£31.9
million

£37.9
million

£36.9
million

£39.9
million

£36.8
million

£37.9
million

As shown in ES Table 3 above, all options incur an additional cost for the Partnership when considering
the total net costs (including collection, treatment and disposal). Overall, the total net cost to the
Partnership (including collection, treatment and disposal) of moving to a twin-stream collection system
(option 6), with free garden waste collections results in the highest total cost of all options modelled
(£39.9 million). Alignment of a twin-stream against the Resources and Waste Strategy for England is
likely to be determined through a TEEP10 (or equivalent) assessment. Option 5A results in the 2nd highest
overall net cost to the Partnership (including collection, treatment and disposal) at £37.9 million, £8.5
million over the baseline (closely followed by option 8). This option does, however, result in the highest
kerbside recycling rate. Option 5B (three-weekly residual) is considered in recycling terms the most cost
effective, as it has the lowest additional cost per 1% improvement in kerbside recycling rate.
Each alternative option models the impact of DRS and EPR on the kerbside collection. Our analysis
indicates that at the kerbside, the Partnership could see an average reduction of c.21% in dry recycling
yields11, and c.3% reduction on residual waste per annum, primarily driven by the DRS removing glass,
plastic bottles and cans from the collection service. The changing composition as a result of DRS and EPR
also has an impact on the carbon performance of the kerbside dry recycling collection service as there
are less dry recyclable materials being collected (by the Local Authorities) and sent for reprocessing.
However, the poorer carbon performance of each option as a result of DRS / EPR is often outweighed by
savings from separate food and free garden waste collection. The aims of a DRS are to encourage
recycling at a wider (national) level; therefore it is important to recognise that there will be additional
carbon benefits when evaluating the environmental performance of these policy measures, outside of
the Local Authority service.
Service changes are required to help Local Authorities work towards the national municipal solid waste
(MSW) recycling target of 65% by 2035. Reaching these higher targets means more investment is
required, and the Government has stated a commitment to covering the additional costs to Local
Authorities for both capital and operational costs from new required measures. Furthermore,
Government is also intent on introducing EPR on packaging materials, as modelled in all options in this
appraisal. A requirement of EPR is that the producers would be accountable for 100% of the collection /
recycling / disposal cost of the packaging handled by Local Authorities. The detail of this aspect is yet to
be determined but could go some way to support Local Authorities with the additional cost burden of
new policy measures (referred to as ‘New Burdens’). Central Government has indicated that the net cost
of other new collections burdens will be met through central government funding arrangements, and
10
11

A Technical, Economic and Environmental assessment of Practicability (TEEP) for alternative collection approaches.
So if a WCA recycled 100 tonnes of dry recycling prior to DRS / EPR, this would be 79tonnes afterwards.

vi

56

there is also the potential for an income stream to local government via unredeemed DRS deposits,
although both of these aspects are unclear at present.
The collection options have also been modelled using the Waste and Resources Assessment Tool for the
Environment (WRATE) to determine the carbon impact as kg CO2-eq savings. The WRATE modelling
represents Life Cycle Assessment results, and so considers the impact of containers, vehicles, operations
and infrastructure as a proportion of their use and their life.12 The results of the WRATE modelling
(carbon assessment) are presented for each option in ES Table 4 below in kg CO2-eq savings.
ES Table 4 – Carbon assessment (WRATE) results

Carbon
savings
(kg CO2-eq)
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough
DC
Hinckley &
Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW
Leicestershire
DC
Oadby &
Wigston BC
HWRC
Total

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option 5A

Option 5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

42,623

210,112

283,576

-360,018

-549,009

324,246

542,482

544,794

-740,830

-734,457

-664,378

-2,193,429

-1,822,558

824,445

1,188,254

568,289

18,538

-330,592

-226,508

-654,093

-799,191

-86,313

106,073

69,813

570,265

705,789

878,264

-341,969

-89,660

1,342,573

1,653,038

1,149,312

628,716

616,850

662,354

33,098

159,459

730,700

791,359

758,541

1,342,287

1,122,455

1,122,455

888,465

752,707

1,446,303

1,122,455

1,327,255

-144,818

-163,561

-34,585

-370,884

-485,567

7,136

134,423

86,772

-6,086,548

-6,011,223

-6,086,548

-6,011,223

-6,011,223

-6,011,223

-6,011,223

-6,011,223

-4,369,767

-4,584,627

-4,065,370

-9,010,053

-8,845,042

-1,422,133

-473,139

-1,506,447

Option 5A results in the largest carbon saving of all collection options with c.9,000tonnes CO2
equivalents per annum, over double the baseline emission savings. This is due to both increased carbon
savings from enhanced dry recycling and food waste capture and a corresponding decrease in treatment
and landfill emissions.
Option 7 results in the highest carbon emissions of all the options within this appraisal with only a
modest saving in carbon emissions of c. 470 tonnes CO2 eq. per annum. The lower performance is due to
increased transport emissions associated with a kerbside sort option and decreased total recycling
(although some recycling such as glass has higher carbon benefits per tonne as it has higher quality and
so can be sent to remelt applications). There are also higher impacts from the residual waste treatment
and disposal options when compared to the other options.
In all options the emissions from landfill and waste treatment are reduced due to the separate collection
of food waste, and in the majority of options moving from a charged garden waste collection to a free
service.

12

Figures may not add up due to rounding.

vii

57

As part of the Partnership’s LR&WS development, it is important to consider additional factors beyond
cost and performance when assessing options for future waste management and recycling. For the
purposes of this project, FRM have considered each option in turn and evaluated using criteria agreed
by the Partnership namely: public acceptability; operational flexibility; alignment with regulations, and
social value indicators. These are more qualitative judgements and are scored using a 1-5 scoring
system. This score has then been applied to an agreed weighting for each option. The scoring method is
included in Appendix A.
In terms of public acceptability, it is assumed that option 3 (baseline with separate food, free garden
waste collection and expanded recycling) is the most widely accepted, as it requires no change to the
household but also provides additional services. Although the baseline (business as usual) requires no
change to the household, it does not have food waste collection and residents must subscribe to a
garden waste collection (for 6 out of 7 of the WCAs) to have their garden waste collected. Options 5A
and 5B require a smaller residual waste bin container or a change of collection frequency (to 3 weekly)13
for all WCAs and as such are considered to score lowest in terms of public acceptability. Option 7 and 8
are considered moderate scoring as they require the most significant change from households in terms
of dry recycling collection configuration (with the exception of NWLDC).
As regards alignment to regulations, option 7 and 8 are scored highest as it is anticipated that these
options would be fully aligned to the Resources and Waste Strategy for England (free garden waste
collection, consistent collections via a kerbside sort collection, food waste collection). Option 6 has been
ranked below option 7 and 8 as this is technically aligned with the national R&WS, however this is
subject to a TEEP14 (or equivalent) assessment, as would all other options that contain commingled
recycling collections.
The creation (and retention) of jobs, community well-being and wider health benefits have all been
considered when evaluating the social value of each option. Options 3, 6, 7 and 8 score most highly in
terms of community well-being as these options provide collection of the greatest range of recyclables,
enabling residents and businesses to contribute more. In terms of employment, all options require more
staff than the baseline. However, the creation of a jobs is a trade-off for more general health impacts
(e.g. air quality) as typically where those services provide a higher number of jobs this is due to more
resource being required to operate the kerbside collection service (i.e. more vehicles require more
drivers and crew, however this generally means more transport miles are required and higher levels of
air pollution).
The results of this evaluation are presented below.

13

It is understood that within some of the WCAs, there is some flexibility for larger households / different property types (e.g.
student housing) which may require additional capacity.
14
A Technical, Economic and Environmental assessment of Practicability (TEEP) for different recycling collection approaches.

viii

ES Table 5: Options Appraisal

Criteria

Weighting

As Option 3,
with retained
charged
garden

As Option 3,
plus restricted
residual (140L
WHB)

Option 3, plus
restricted
residual (3weekly
collection)

As Option 3,
plus
fortnightly
twin stream
collection of
dry recycling

As Option 3,
plus kerbside
sort collection
of dry
recycling

As Option 3,
plus threestream
recycling

Baseline
3

Option 3
3

Option 4
3

Option 5A
5

Option 5B
5

Option 6
1

Option 7
1

Option 8
1

1

4

3

5

5

4

4

4

5

1

4

2

2

1

2

2

1

4

4

5

5

4

4

4

1

4

3

4

4

3

4

4

2

3

2

3

2

4

5

5

3

5

4

2

1

4

3

3

2

4

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

5

5

5

2

3

2

4

2

3

3

5

5

3

3

3

94.8

140.5

133.6

153.8

135.7

120.3

125.4

132.2

4

5

Key
1
Worst performing

2

3

Best performing

58

Carbon
4.7
Recycling performance
4.3
Cost
4.3
Residual waste arisings
4.1
Educational /
Awareness Raising
4.1
Alignment with National
Policy
4.0
Public Acceptability
3.9
Social Value
3.5
Operational Flexibility
3.4
Resource Use
3.2
Total Score (with weighting applied)
Highest Number = Best Option

Business as
Usual

Revised
Baseline with
Consistent
Collection
measures,
EPR & DRS

59

Sensitivity analysis has been carried out on a number of aspects within this Options Appraisal including
replacing the kerbside collection vehicles with electric equivalent vehicles. Our high-level modelling
estimates that replacing the current fleet of vehicles with electric equivalents could save c.6,800 tonnes
of CO2 per annum. Exploring the use of alternative fuels will be part of the Leicestershire Resources &
Waste Strategy. Other sensitivity analysis includes assessing alternative residual waste treatment
options; the estimated impact of potential funding mechanisms arisings from the reforms to EPR and
new burdens funding.
Finally, the costs/savings and recycling figures estimated in this report are indicative and are based on a
number of assumptions for modelling purposes only. They provide a reasonable guide to the magnitude
of changes that might be expected and are subject to forthcoming legislation and future funding
mechanisms. Therefore they should not be used directly to justify specific costs of service change. They
are modelled in comparison to the Partnership’s estimated baseline costs, on an annualised basis. If the
Partnership is minded to pursue any of the above changes, they are advised to undertake a more
bespoke assessment of any particular option, potentially including re-routing and asset reallocation, in
order to satisfy themselves that any modelled improvements in recycling or efficiencies can be realised
in practice.

60

Contents
Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................................... ii
Contents..........................................................................................................................................................
Glossary of terms and abbreviations ............................................................................................................ 1
1

2

Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 5
1.1

Project Brief .................................................................................................................................. 5

1.2

Summary of the current waste collection system ........................................................................ 5

Collection modelling ............................................................................................................................. 7
2.1

KAT modelling methodology ......................................................................................................... 7

2.2

Alternative Options ....................................................................................................................... 8

2.2.1

Alternative Options assumptions.......................................................................................... 9

2.2.2

DRS/EPR assumptions ........................................................................................................... 9

2.3
3

Carbon (WRATE) assessment ...................................................................................................... 10

Options Appraisal results .................................................................................................................... 10
3.1

Baseline service ........................................................................................................................... 11

3.2

Option 1 – Waste minimisation (prevention) ............................................................................. 14

3.3

Option 2 – Reuse and repair ....................................................................................................... 17

3.4

Option 3 – Revised baseline with Consistent Collection measures, EPR & DRS ......................... 20

3.4.1

Kerbside Collection ............................................................................................................. 20

3.4.2

Treatment & Disposal ......................................................................................................... 23

3.4.3

Carbon (WRATE) analysis .................................................................................................... 24

3.5

Option 4 – As Option 3, with garden waste collected as per baseline ....................................... 26

3.5.1

Kerbside Collection ............................................................................................................. 26

3.5.2

Treatment & Disposal ......................................................................................................... 28

3.5.3

Carbon (WRATE) analysis .................................................................................................... 29

3.6

Option 5A – 140L residual collected fortnightly ......................................................................... 31

3.6.1

Kerbside Collection ............................................................................................................. 31

3.6.2

Treatment & Disposal ......................................................................................................... 34

3.6.3

Carbon (WRATE) analysis .................................................................................................... 35

3.7

Option 5B – 180L/240L residual waste collected three-weekly ................................................. 37

3.7.1

Kerbside Collection ............................................................................................................. 37

61

3.7.2

Treatment & Disposal ......................................................................................................... 40

3.7.3

Carbon (WRATE) analysis .................................................................................................... 40

3.8

3.8.1

Kerbside Collection ............................................................................................................. 42

3.8.2

Treatment & Disposal ......................................................................................................... 44

3.8.3

Carbon (WRATE) analysis .................................................................................................... 45

3.9

Kerbside Collection ............................................................................................................. 47

3.9.2

Treatment & Disposal ......................................................................................................... 49

3.9.3

Carbon (WRATE) analysis .................................................................................................... 50

Option 8 – Three-steam recycling ............................................................................................... 52

3.10.1

Kerbside Collection ............................................................................................................. 52

3.10.2

Treatment & Disposal ......................................................................................................... 54

3.10.3

Carbon (WRATE) analysis .................................................................................................... 55

3.11

5

Option 7 – Kerbside sort ............................................................................................................. 47

3.9.1

3.10

4

Option 6 – Twin stream recycling, fibre out ............................................................................... 42

Sensitivity Analysis ...................................................................................................................... 57

3.11.1

Residual waste treatment sensitivity .................................................................................. 57

3.11.2

Electric vehicles fleet sensitivity ......................................................................................... 59

3.11.3

Estimated impacts of Policy Reforms.................................................................................. 64

Comparison of headline results across all options ............................................................................. 71
4.1

Carbon ......................................................................................................................................... 73

4.2

Recycling performance ............................................................................................................... 76

4.3

Costs ............................................................................................................................................ 78

4.4

Residual waste arisings ............................................................................................................... 79

4.5

Educational / awareness raising ................................................................................................. 80

4.6

Alignment with National Policy................................................................................................... 81

4.7

Public Acceptability ..................................................................................................................... 82

4.8

Social Value ................................................................................................................................. 82

4.9

Operational flexibility.................................................................................................................. 83

4.10

Resource Use............................................................................................................................... 83

Conclusions ......................................................................................................................................... 85

Appendix A – Scoring System..................................................................................................................... 90

i

62

Table 1: Current waste collection system for the seven WCAs within Leicestershire ...................................................5
Table 2: Household waste recycling performance (2010/11 - 2019/20) .......................................................................6
Table 3: Alternative Options to be modelled for all WCAs ............................................................................................8
Table 4: Baseline annualised collection costs for each of the seven WCAs.................................................................11
Table 5: Baseline total kerbside collected tonnage .....................................................................................................12
Table 6: Total annual gross collection cost per household - baseline .........................................................................12
Table 7: Total Partnership costs (2019/20) .................................................................................................................13
Table 8: Option 3 container requirements and collection frequency .........................................................................20
Table 9: Option 3 annualised collection costs and recycling performance .................................................................21
Table 10: Option 3 total kerbside collected tonnage ..................................................................................................22
Table 11: Total annual gross collection and cost per household - Option 3................................................................23
Table 12: Option 3 total net costs (Partnership) .........................................................................................................24
Table 13: Option 4 container requirements and collection frequency .......................................................................26
Table 14: Option 4 annualised collection costs and recycling performance ...............................................................27
Table 15: Option 4 total kerbside collected tonnage ..................................................................................................28
Table 16: Total annual gross collection and cost per household - Option 4................................................................28
Table 17: Option 4 total net costs (Partnership) .........................................................................................................29
Table 18: Option 5A container requirements and collection frequency .....................................................................31
Table 19: Option 5A annualised collection costs and recycling performance .............................................................32
Table 20: Option 5A total kerbside collected tonnage ................................................................................................33
Table 21: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 5A ....................................................................34
Table 22: Option 5A total net costs (Partnership) .......................................................................................................35
Table 23: Option 5B container requirements and collection frequency .....................................................................37
Table 24: Option 5B annualised collection costs and recycling performance .............................................................38
Table 25: Option 5B total kerbside collected tonnage ................................................................................................39
Table 26: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 5B ....................................................................39
Table 27: Option 5B total net costs (Partnership) .......................................................................................................40
Table 28: Option 6 container requirements and collection frequency .......................................................................42
Table 29: Option 6 annualised collection costs and recycling performance ...............................................................43
Table 30: Option 6 total kerbside collected tonnage ..................................................................................................44
Table 31: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 6.......................................................................44
Table 32: Option 6 total net costs (Partnership) .........................................................................................................45
Table 33: Option 7 container requirements and collection frequency .......................................................................47
Table 34: Option 7 annualised collection costs and recycling performance ...............................................................48
Table 35: Option 7 kerbside collected tonnage ...........................................................................................................49
Table 36: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 7.......................................................................49
Table 37: Option 7 total net costs (Partnership) .........................................................................................................50
Table 38: Option 8 container requirements and collection frequency .......................................................................52
Table 39: Option 8 annualised collection costs and recycling performance ...............................................................53
Table 41: Option 8 kerbside collected tonnage ...........................................................................................................53
Table 41: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 8.......................................................................54
Table 42: Option 8 total net costs (Partnership) .........................................................................................................55
Table 43: Residual treatment carbon sensitivity .........................................................................................................58
Table 44: Residual waste treatment gate fee comparison, 2019/20 ..........................................................................59
Table 45: Cost benefit analysis – eRCV vs diesel RCV. Source: Eunomia (2020) Ditching Diesel .................................60
Table 46: Electric vehicle sensitivity results.................................................................................................................63
Table 47: New burdens calculations –garden waste collections .................................................................................65

ii

63

Table 48: New burdens calculations – food waste collections ....................................................................................66
Table 49: EPR sensitivity – Total Partnership costs .....................................................................................................68
Table 50: Breakdown of EPR Sensitivity ......................................................................................................................68
Table 51: Estimated value of unredeemed deposits ...................................................................................................70
Table 52: Agreed criteria and associated weighting ....................................................................................................71
Table 53: Evaluation of Options...................................................................................................................................72
Table 54: Summary of WRATE modelled (carbon equivalent savings), Baseline – plus Options 3 – 8. .......................73
Table 55: Comparison of recycling performance, Baseline and Option 3 – 8..............................................................77
Table 56: Total Partnership costs ................................................................................................................................79
Table 57: Comparison of results: Residual waste arisings ...........................................................................................80
Table 58: Total waste arisings......................................................................................................................................80
Table 59: Comparison of results: Educational / awareness raising .............................................................................81
Table 60: Comparison of results: Alignment with National Policy ..............................................................................82
Table 61: Comparison of results: Public Acceptability.................................................................................................82
Table 62: Comparison of results: Social Value .............................................................................................................83
Table 63: Comparison of results: Operational flexibility .............................................................................................83
Table 64: Comparison of results: Resource Use ..........................................................................................................84
Table 65: Evaluation of Options...................................................................................................................................86

Figure 1: Baseline kerbside recycling rates for each WCA, relative to the LWP recycling rate ...................................11
Figure 2: Baseline carbon emissions per WCA (and the HWRCs) ................................................................................13
Figure 3: Community kitchen volunteers in training ...................................................................................................16
Figure 4: Community kitchen attendees .....................................................................................................................16
Figure 5: The ReHomeZone at Loughborough HWRC ..................................................................................................18
Figure 6: The paint storage area at Whetstone HWRC ................................................................................................19
Figure 7: Option 3 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance ...........................................................22
Figure 8: Option 3 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service ............................................................................25
Figure 9: Option 4 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance ...........................................................27
Figure 10: Option 4 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service ..........................................................................30
Figure 11: Option 5A annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance .......................................................33
Figure 12: Option 5A carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service ........................................................................36
Figure 13: Option 5B annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance .......................................................39
Figure 14: Option 5B carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service ........................................................................41
Figure 15: Option 6 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance .........................................................43
Figure 16: Option 6 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service ..........................................................................46
Figure 17: Option 7 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance .........................................................48
Figure 18: Option 7 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service ..........................................................................51
Figure 19: Option 8 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance .........................................................53
Figure 20: Option 8 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service ..........................................................................56
Figure 21: Electric vehicle sensitivity modelling (WRATE) – Option 3 .........................................................................63
Figure 22: Summary of WRATE modelled (carbon equivalent savings), Baseline against Options 3 – 8 ....................74
Figure 23: Comparison of headline results across all scenarios ..................................................................................77

iii

64

Glossary of terms and abbreviations
Term
Anaerobic Digestion

Abbreviation
AD

Blaby District Council
Capital expenditure

BDC
CAPEX

Charnwood Borough
Council
Circular Economy

CBC

Deposit Return
Scheme

DRS

Equality and Human
Rights Impact
Assessment

EHRIA

Extended Producer
Responsibility

EPR

Glossary term
Anaerobic digestion is a process by which microorganisms break
down biodegradable material in the absence of oxygen to
produce biogas (consisting of methane and carbon dioxide)
which can be used to generate energy. It is a common treatment
method used for food waste collected by Local Authorities.
Capital expenditure (CAPEX) is the money spent to purchase
fixed assets relating to an organisation or corporate entity. For a
Local Authority waste service this includes the purchase of
vehicles and potentially containers.

A circular economy aims to reach maximum efficiency in the use
of resources and materials. This means moving away from an
economic model of ‘take-make-dispose’ and ensuring the life of
a product is extended by as much as reasonably possible.
Examples of good circular economy practice include sharing,
leasing, reusing, repairing, refurbishing and recycling existing
materials and products for as long as possible to reduce and
avoid waste.
A Deposit Return Scheme involves paying a deposit for an item
(added to the retail price at point of purchase) which is then
redeemed when it is returned to a designated point.
Through the National Resources and Waste Strategy for
England, the Government has announced that a DRS for
England, Wales and Northern Ireland will be introduced from
2025 for drinks containers.15 The aim of the scheme is to boost
recycling rates, reduce littering and improve the quality of
material collected for recycling.
An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment is a process
designed to ensure that a policy, project or scheme does not
unlawfully discriminate against any protected characteristic.
These are as follows:
Age
Disability
Gender reassignment
Marriage and civil partnership
Pregnancy and maternity
Race
Religion or belief
Sex
- Sexual orientation
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) is a policy tool which
requires producers to be responsible for the packaging they
place on the market at the end of its life. It is intended to

15

Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) in England, Wales and Northern Ireland: Executive summary and next steps GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

1

65

promote packaging design which considers resource inputs and
easier end of life recovery (e.g. reuse or recycling) of the
resources within the products. The new EPR system announced
in the National Resources & Waste Strategy for England (which
is intended to be implemented from 2024) will require packaging
producers to pay for the full net costs of collecting, handling,
recycling and disposing of packaging waste.
Harborough District
Council
Hinckley and
Bosworth Borough
Council
Household Waste
recycling Centre

HDC

Kerbside Analysis
Tool

KAT

Leicestershire
County Council
Leicestershire
Resources and
Waste Strategy

LCC
LR&WS

Describes the recycling and waste management services which
will be delivered by LWP.

Leicestershire Waste
Partnership

LWP

Referred to as ‘the Partnership’, LWP comprises Leicestershire
County Council (the Waste Disposal Authority) and the seven
Leicestershire Waste Collection Authorities (the District and
Borough Councils – Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough
Council, Harborough District Council, Hinckley & Bosworth
Borough Council, Melton Borough Council, North West
Leicestershire District Council and Oadby & Wigston Borough
Council). Leicester City Council is an associate member and
manages its waste via separate arrangements as a Unitary
Authority.

Melton Borough
Council
Materials Recycling
Facility

MBC
MRF

A facility which receives mixed recyclate and separates it into
recyclable materials.

Municipal Solid
Waste

MSW

Consists of waste from households and similar waste from
businesses.

Net Zero

HBBC
HWRC

Household Waste Recycling Centres are facilities operated by
Local Authorities to provide a site for residents wanting to
dispose of and recycle a wide range of materials, further to the
service provided at the kerbside. Commonly referred to as ‘tips’.
A modelling tool which provides a comparative assessment of
cost and operational requirements of the kerbside collection
service.

Net Zero means achieving a balance between the total
greenhouse gas emissions released into the atmosphere, and the
total emissions removed from the environment (for example
through natural carbon sinks such as forest and oceans).

2

66

The net zero target for the UK is defined as the total greenhouse
gas emissions released into the atmosphere being equal to or
less than the emissions removed from the environment.16
North West
Leicestershire
District Council
Operating
expenditure

NWLDC

Oadby and Wigston
Borough Council
Participation rate

OWBC

OPEX

Residual Waste
Strategic
Environmental
Assessment

SEA

Set out rate

Technical, Economic
and Environmental
assessment of
Practicability
Waste Hierarchy

TEEP

Waste Collection
Authority

WCA

Waste Disposal
Authority

WDA

16
17

An operating expenditure (OPEX) relates to an ongoing cost for
running a service, system or business. For Local Authority waste
collection services this includes maintenance costs for vehicles,
staffing (driver, loader and supervision roles) and fuel.

Participation rate is the number of households (or percentage)
that set out their waste or recycling at least once in three
consecutive collection opportunities.
The waste remaining after the separation of materials for reuse,
recycling, composting and/or anaerobic digestion.
A Strategic Environmental Assessment is a systematic decision
support process, aiming to ensure that environmental and
possibly other sustainability aspects are considered effectively in
policy, plan and program making.17
The set out rate is the percentage of households which set out
their waste or recycling on collection days (a percentage of the
total number of households served during that day).
A method applied to determine compliance with separate
collection requirements set out under statute, and currently
being redefined.
The waste hierarchy indicates an order of preference for action
to reduce and manage waste.
It suggests how waste should be managed with the primary goal
to prevent and minimise waste, followed in turn by reuse,
recycling and composting, disposal with energy recovery and
ending with disposal without energy recovery (i.e. landfill) as the
least preferred option.
A Waste Collection Authority is a local authority responsible for
the collection of municipal waste. The WCA passes on the waste
and recycling to the Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) that is
tasked with the ultimate treatment and disposal of that waste.
The Leicestershire County Council have a ‘two-tier’
administration whereby the WCAs are Blaby District Council,
Charnwood Borough Council, Harborough District Council,
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council, Melton Borough Council,
North West Leicestershire District Council and Oadby & Wigston
Borough Council and Leicestershire County Council is the Waste
Disposal Authority.
A Waste Disposal Authority is responsible for the management
and treatment of municipal waste in its area.

Net zero and the different official measures of the UK's greenhouse gas emissions - Office for National Statistics
Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

3

67

WasteDataFlow

WDF

Waste Electrical and
Electronic
Equipment

WEEE

WRAP Ready
Reckoner
Waste and
Resources
Assessment Tool for
the Environment

WRATE

Leicestershire County Council is the Waste Disposal Authority for
Leicestershire.
A web based system for municipal waste data reporting by UK
local authorities to government. Information can be downloaded
by the public.
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment is end of life Electrical
and Electronic Equipment, i.e. items that require electric
currents of electromagnetic fields in order to operate. This
includes (but is not limited to) small household appliances (irons,
toasters, vacuum cleaners), large household appliances (fridges,
cookers, washing machines), IT equipment (computers,
telephones), TVs, lighting, electronic tools, medical devices,
monitoring equipment.
A tool used to estimate projected food waste tonnages. The
formula is based on indices of deprivation and is the most
accurate data set available.
A tool used to determine the carbon impact as kg CO2-eq
savings. The WRATE modelling represents Life Cycle Assessment
results, and so considers the impact of containers, vehicles,
operations and infrastructure as a proportion of their use and
their life.

4

68

1 Introduction
1.1 Project Brief
Leicestershire County Council (LCC or the County Council) are working in partnership with the 7
Leicestershire Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) through the Leicestershire Waste Partnership (LWP)
to review the current Leicestershire Municipal Waste Management Strategy (LMWMS)18 and develop
the Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy (LR&WS). The WCAs are:
-

Blaby District Council (BDC)
Charnwood Borough Council (CBC)
Harborough District Council (HDC)
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council (HBBC)
Melton Borough Council (MBC)
North West Leicestershire District Council (NWLDC)
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council (OWBC)

A Municipal Waste Management Strategy requires an Options Appraisal to prioritise between
alternative options for the purposes of service delivery, procurement and planning. The methodology
for the Options Appraisal was discussed at a workshop with representatives from each council and was
held on 9th June 2021. Nine options were agreed covering the span of the waste hierarchy. Six of the
options address different kerbside collection configurations.

1.2 Summary of the current waste collection system
The current waste collection systems across the WCAs are outlined in Table 1 below. All WCAs have a
kerbside collection service in place for dry recycling, residual and garden waste. The majority of WCAs
have implemented a commingled collection method for dry recycling (collecting cans, plastics, cartons,
paper, card and glass in a single wheeled bin) and a subscription-based garden waste collection service.
The exception is NWLDC who operate a kerbside sort system (recyclable materials are collected in
several boxes / bags and separated into different compartments on a specialised vehicle) and collect
garden waste free of charge. Residual waste (mixed rubbish, usually presented in a black bin) is collected
from all WCAs using a range of bin sizes, including 140L, 180L and 240L wheeled household bins (WHB).
All WCAs collect residual waste fortnightly, except for OWBC who collect it weekly.
Table 1: Current waste collection system for the seven WCAs within Leicestershire

District
Blaby DC

Charnwood BC

Collection

Container

Comments

Residual
Dry Recycling
(commingled)

Frequency
Fortnightly

140/240L WHB

Fortnightly

140/240L WHB

Garden (charged)

Fortnightly

140/240L WHB

- In-house
- Batteries bagged separately
- Textiles and electrical items
separately collected by Mind Charity

Residual
Dry Recycling
(commingled)
Garden waste
(charged)

Fortnightly

180L/240L WHB

- Operated by Serco (Outsourced)

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

18

Leicester City Council are an associate member of the LWP and have their own waste management. arrangements As a
Unitary Authority they are responsible for their own collection and disposal services.

5

69

District

Collection

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

North West
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

Frequency

Residual
Dry Recycling
(commingled)
Garden waste
(charged)
Residual
Dry Recycling
(commingled)
Garden waste
(charged)
Residual
Dry Recycling
(commingled)
Garden waste
(charged)
Residual
Dry Recycling
(kerbside sort)
Garden waste
(free)
Residual
Dry Recycling
(commingled)
Garden waste
(charged)

Container

Comments

Fortnightly

180L/240L WHB

- Operated by FCC (Outsourced)

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

180L/240L WHB
2 x boxes
3 x bags

Fortnightly
Fortnightly

240L WHB

Weekly

140L WHB

Weekly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

2 x 140L or
240L WHB

- Operated in-house
- Textiles bagged separately

- Operated by Biffa (Outsourced)
- Textiles and electricals bagged
separately

- Operated in-house
- Currently trialling separate food
waste collections with 4,000
households
- Operated in-house

As outlined in Table 2 below, the recycling rates of all the authorities within LWP have decreased
between 2010/11 and 2019/20, with the exception of NWLDC who have stayed relatively static.
Table 2: Household waste recycling performance (2010/11 - 2019/20)19

Household waste recycling (%)

District
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Blaby DC
Charnwood
BC
Harborough
DC
Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

45.7%

51.3%

49.9%

50.6%

48.8%

49.1%

47.9%

42.4%

42.0%

42.3%

46.1%

49.0%

48.7%

49.1%

48.8%

48.4%

48.4%

45.5%

44.9%

43.7%

58.1%

61.6%

56.7%

57.3%

57.5%

57.5%

53.6%

47.3%

45.7%

47.3%

50.6%

53.9%

55.5%

56.1%

52.7%

51.6%

49.4%

43.9%

42.2%

43.9%

Melton BC
North West
Leicestershire
DC
Oadby &
Wigston BC

50.3%

49.9%

44.7%

46.6%

46.6%

47.6%

47.7%

46.0%

44.0%

44.7%

45.7%

46.1%

46.5%

46.4%

46.6%

46.5%

46.7%

45.9%

45.0%

46.2%

19

45.3%

51.1%

52.7%

50.3%

48.8%

48.6%

48.3%

45.1%

43.4%

44.3%

Defra Municipal Solid Waste Statistics

6

70

2 Collection modelling
2.1 KAT modelling methodology
The Kerbside Analysis Tool (KAT) was utilised to provide a comparative assessment of cost and
operational requirements for the baseline (current) service and will be used to model the agreed
alternative collection scenarios. KAT data proformas were originally completed by council officers and
further clarifications were provided on request.
The baseline models are designed to reflect the current service operation, at the time of modelling, and
are therefore a good representation of the service. All cost elements are annualised, including existing
bins, vehicles etc and consist of a mixture of actual and standardised costs so should be considered to be
indicative (only). This approach allows a ‘like for like’ comparison against alternative collection systems
but would not be reflective of the differential capital investment required to install a new system
straight away. In order to calculate actual costs of an alternative system that takes account of existing
infrastructure and vehicles, a more bespoke analysis should be undertaken including practical aspects of
service implementation (e.g. swapping bins for different elements of the service, transferring/ selling
redundant vehicles etc.).
The year 2019/20 has been chosen as the baseline year20, and tonnage input data has been provided by
LCC, as per information required for input into WasteDataFlow, a national online data reporting system
accessible to the public. Small WEEE and textiles have been included within the kerbside modelling,
however any additional materials such as bulky, or large domestic WEEE are not accounted for within
KAT.
Please note that the costs identified by KAT for each scenario are annualised as noted above and the
recycling rates outlined within this section are ‘kerbside recycling rates’ of the core21 service rather than
the total recycling rate of the council22.

20

This year was chosen for the purposes of a representative set of waste arisings and operational performance data, without
the distorted effects of Covid-19 and the impacts of lockdowns on municipal waste arisings.
21 This does not include ‘niche’ elements of the collection service such as bring banks, bulky waste and certain specialist
collections such as potentially from flats or clinical waste.
22
The total WCA recycling rate would also include the waste flows from bring banks and other household waste streams not
collected via the standard kerbside collection service.

7

71

2.2 Alternative Options
The alternative options which have been modelled as part of the Options Appraisal are outlined in Table
3 below. These options have been agreed by the Partnership.
Table 3: Alternative Options to be modelled for all WCAs

Option
Baseline
Option 1
Waste minimisation
Option 2
Reuse and repair
Option 3
Revised Baseline23 with Consistent
Collection measures, EPR & DRS

Option 4
Retained charged garden

Option 5A
Restricted residual waste by
container size
Option 5B
Restricted residual waste by
frequency
Option 6

Description
Current Service
Focus on waste awareness / education / waste reduction /
recycling and prevention initiatives.
Focus on facilitating or promoting reuse / repair activities in
both Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs) and Waste Disposal
Authority (WDA).
As Baseline, except:
• Recycling collection to include materials indicated in
Consistent Collections consultation (e.g. plastic film
etc.) where not currently collected by the WCA.
• ‘Free’ garden waste collection implemented for all
WCAs.
• Separate weekly food waste collection introduced
across the Partnership (with food waste sent to
Anaerobic Digestion, AD).
• A national Extended Producer Responsibility24 and
Deposit Return Scheme25 come into effect as set out
in Government consultation.
• Sensitivity on recycling to include batteries, textiles
and small waste electrical and electronic equipment
(WEEE).
As Option 3, except:
• Garden waste collection is retained as the current
service for all WCAs (subscription based for all except
NW Leicestershire).
As Option 3, except:
• Residual waste collected fortnightly in 140L WHB.
As Option 3, except:
• Residual waste collected three-weekly in 180L / 240L
WHB.
As Option 3, except:

23

The ‘Baseline’ is the current collection service as delivered in Leicestershire, the dry recycling collection configuration and
residual waste collection frequency as per current service, see Table 1
24 EPR is a policy approach which places responsibility (financial or physical) for the treatment of post-consumer products on
producers. EPR incentivises producers (typically through the fees they pay) to ensure the products placed on the market are
recyclable and that any unnecessary packaging material is reduced.
25 A recycling system whereby consumers pay a small deposit on packaging items (plastic and glass bottles and cans) which can
be refunded once returned via a designated recycling deposit site.

8

72

Option
Twin stream recycling, fibre out
(this means the card and paper are
kept separate from the remaining
recyclables, collected in a box and
put in a separate compartment on
the vehicle26).
Option 7
Kerbside sort recycling collection
(each household has several boxes
& bags for putting different
recyclables in, and they are sorted
by collection crew into different
compartments on a specialist
vehicle)
Option 8
Three-stream recycling (households
have three containers for dry
recycling, which are collected in
separate compartments on a
vehicle or in a separate vehicle)

Description
• Fortnightly twin stream collection of dry recycling.
Paper & card in one box, and plastics, glass and cans
in a WHB.

As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly kerbside sort collection of dry recycling.

As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly three-steam collection of dry recycling.
Paper and card in box 1, glass in box 2, and plastic and
cans in box 3.

2.2.1 Alternative Options assumptions
When undertaking the modelling of different options within KAT, both common assumptions and
specific option assumptions were applied, as agreed with the Partnership.
The WRAP27 ‘ready reckoner’ for food waste yields was applied as a basis to consider tonnages of food
waste that could potentially be collected. The ready reckoner formula is based on indices of deprivation
and is the most accurate data set available to estimate projected food waste tonnages. The yield
selected in each option is influenced by the average weekly residual waste capacity for each WCA, and
the level of set out and participation are based on evidence from WRAP food waste collection trials. The
specific assumptions made for each option are defined in the option descriptions.
In the current food waste trial in NLWDC, initial results indicate that the 4000 households offered the
scheme are currently presenting approx. 55kg of food waste, per household, per year. However it’s
worth noting that currently 1 in 3 present their container so the amount collected from participating
households is much higher at approx. 160 kg of food waste, per household, per year.

2.2.2 DRS/EPR assumptions
It was agreed that the potential impact of the introduction of a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) and
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR), as per the Resources and Waste Strategy for England, will be

26

This preserves the quality of the paper and card which can be affected if mixed with glass in particular.
The Waste & Resources Action Programme (WRAP) was set up by Government initially and is now a Charity providing
guidance on waste and recycling issues.
27

9

73

modelled in all options. The implications of EPR and DRS were both modelled using the ‘Resource and
Waste Policy Impact Calculator’ (RAWPIC)28.
The RAWPIC tool uses a series of assumptions to model the impact of a DRS and EPR, some inbuilt
within the model and others which are ‘user defined’. For the purposes of this project, the RAWPIC tool
was used to calculate the percentage tonnage change on each WCA’s kerbside dry recycling (by
material) and residual collection services. These new tonnages were then run through the KAT model to
determine the impact on collection operations.
Reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility (EPR) system aims to achieve better design of
packaging (e.g. through increasing recycled material content, improving recyclability of packaging
products, light weighting of material or producing refillable packaging). It is therefore assumed that
more packaging items are able to be recycled and/or diverted from the residual waste stream.
A Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) aims to improve overall recycling and resource recovery by placing a
redeemable deposit on ‘in scope’ materials. For the purposes of this report, it has been assumed that
the DRS system implemented for England will mirror the proposed DRS system for Scotland. This DRS
model is classified as an ‘all in’ system which means it applies to all single use drinks containers
(excepting HDPE plastics, primarily milk bottles). The deposit is modelled as a 20p value added to plastic,
glass and metal beverage containers.

2.3 Carbon (WRATE) assessment
The results of the WRATE modelling are presented for each option within this report. The WRATE
modelling represents the Life Cycle Assessment results, and so considers the impact of containers,
vehicles, operations and infrastructure as a proportion of their use and their life.
As a waste management model, one of the key outcomes is the avoided environmental impact as a
result of effective management of resources. For example, emissions from extracting / processing of
virgin materials are avoided by effective secondary materials recovery for recycling, often providing a
negative figure in the results (meaning a beneficial impact on the environment from the recycling
activity).
It should be noted that, the lower the emissions figure, the lower the impact (in the case of negative
numbers, a -1000 is better than a -800). Negative numbers arise where recycling and energy recovery, as
noted above, has offset more damaging, carbon intensive processes, such as primary resource
extraction and burning of fossil fuels. This therefore represents a carbon ‘saving’ as a result of the
resource management activity.

3 Options Appraisal results
This section summarises the total annual gross collection costs and recycling performance for the
Partnership for the current service and the seven alternative options. The costs are presented as
indicative annualised gross costs, and don’t reflect the changes from the current system (which in some
cases would be substantial and others negligible).

28

This is a product developed by Suez and Anthesis with support from LARAC and Kent Waste Partnership

10

74

3.1 Baseline service
As outlined in Table 4 below, the total annualised collection cost for the WCAs within Leicestershire for
the current core collection service (baseline) is c. £18.4 million. For LWP, the current kerbside recycling
rate is 46.4%. The kerbside recycling rate for each WCA is shown, relative to the LWP rate, in Figure 1.
Table 4: Baseline annualised collection costs for each of the seven WCAs

Annualised gross
collection cost
£2,332,700
£4,425,500
£2,290,800
£3,136,700
£1,400,900
£3,138,700
£1,703,100
£18,428,500

Local Authority
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
North West Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC
Leicestershire (all WCAs)

Total

Kerbside
recycling rate29
44.4%
47.8%
49.2%
44.9%
46.2%
45.4%
46.1%
46.4%

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

60%
50%

47.81%

49.15%

44.37%

44.89%

46.15%

45.18%

46.10%

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

North West
Leicestershire

Oadby &
Wigston BC

40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
Blaby DC

Charnwood BC Harborough DC
Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Partnership recycling rate

Figure 1: Baseline kerbside recycling rates for each WCA, relative to the LWP recycling rate

Table 5 outlines the annual kerbside collected tonnages, as per the Baseline service. These tonnages
provide the basis for which all the alternative options have been modelled against.

29

Note that this is not the total Local Authority Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks, bulky waste
and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the core kerbside collection systems from households.

11

75

Table 5: Baseline total kerbside collected tonnage

Baseline
Residual
Dry
recycling30
Food
Garden
Kerbside
recycling rate

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth
BC

Melton
BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston
BC

WCA
total

18,789

30,085

16,804

23,047

10,506

21,307

8,915

129,453

8,614

16,649

9,285

9,646

5,358

7,033

4,556

61,141

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6,373

10,915

6,954

9,127

3,647

10,702

3,068

50,787

44.37%

47.81%

49.15%

44.89%

46.15%

45.43%

46.10%

46.37%

The total annualised gross collection cost per household is illustrated in Table 6. The gross collection
costs include the annualised operational and capital costs of vehicles, crew and containers, including
fuel and maintenance. It excludes any revenues accrued from garden waste charges and recyclates
sales. These are accounted for separately in the treatment and disposal costs. It also excludes any costs
associated with trade waste or tipping away fees. Annual costs per household range from £55.32 in BDC
to £72.94 in OWBC which could be attributed to a number of factors including the weekly residual and
recycling collections (OWBC) and household numbers.
Table 6: Total annual gross collection cost per household - baseline

Baseline

Blaby
DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

North West
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

LCC are responsible for all the dry recycling collected across the County, in which they direct the
majority of the WCAs to a MRF in Leicester. This is with the exception of NWLDC who have a contractual
arrangement in place where LCC directs them to their own transfer / bulking facility, where NWLDC
process their own recycling. This provides an income to NWLDC as the materials are separated on the
vehicle so require limited additional sorting costs. £6 million of revenue is accrued across the WCAs per
annum; £5.5 million of this is from the charged garden service, and c.£500K from material revenues
achieved by NWLDC for their kerbside sort dry recycling collection.
It is estimated to cost LCC c. £17 million to manage the treatment and disposal of the waste and
recycling collected from the kerbside across the Partnership. This represents the cost for the treatment
of kerbside collected material based on gate fees for the processing of dry recycling, garden and residual
waste streams. It excludes any additional haulage or transfer costs.
The total combined collection, with associated treatment and disposal costs for managing dry recycling,
garden and residual waste from the kerbside, is estimated at just below £30 million, as shown in Table 7.

30

This includes contamination (e.g. incorrect material collected within the recycling collections, that is not sent for recycling)

12

76

Table 7: Total Partnership costs (2019/20)

Baseline
£18,428,600
-£6,012,000
£16,987,700
£29,404,300

Gross Collection Cost (KAT) (WCA)
WCA revenues
Treatment & Disposal Cost (WDA)
Whole System Cost

As shown in Figure 2, the baseline waste management services across LWP, including the operation of
the Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs, previously Recycling & Household Waste Sites) is
modelled to result in a carbon saving of c. 4,427t CO2-equivalent31 emissions per annum. This suggests
that the recycling activity within the Partnership currently more than offsets the detrimental emissions
from collection, transport, infrastructure development and the residual waste treatment process. This
was considered on a ‘per authority’ basis and CBC and OWBC in the baseline scenario more than offset
their emissions through recycling activity. However, all other WCAs within the Partnership emit more
emissions than they offset, with the value of this ranging from c.18.5t of CO2-eq to c.1,342t of CO2-eq
per annum. The variation is as a result of the amount of recycling activity within respective council areas
and the detrimental impacts of vehicle emissions and residual waste management.

Total Partnership
Climate change: GWP 100a
2,000
1,000

tCO2 eq-emissions

-1,000
-2,000
-3,000
-4,000
-5,000
-6,000
Total Partnership
-7,000
GWP 100a refers to the Global Warming Potential over a 100-year time frame. This is a recognised unit of
measurement for reporting the global warming impact of different emissions.
Figure 2: Baseline carbon emissions per WCA (and the HWRCs)

31

Climate change impacts are typically measured in carbon dioxide equivalents (CO2 eq). For example methane has an impact
on climate change (over a 100 year timeframe) of c. 28 times that of carbon dioxide, so 1 tonne of methane is 28 tonnes of CO2
equivalent.

13

77

3.2 Option 1 – Waste minimisation (prevention)
Option 1 focuses on the highest priority of the waste hierarchy32; waste prevention. For the purposes of
this Options Appraisal, waste prevention encompasses all actions that prevent materials (items,
products, substances) from becoming waste. This can be achieved, for example, by:
1) Reducing the quantity of materials used in products
2) Increasing efficiency with which products are used (i.e. leasing instead of purchases)
3) Extending the lifespan of products
As such, this option considers the value of raising awareness and education on resource and waste
management and delivering waste prevention, reduction and recycling initiatives, with the overall aim of
reducing total waste arisings across the County.
Waste prevention and recycling initiatives are prevalent at both a District and County level across
Leicestershire. Over the last ten years, the following waste prevention projects have been initiated
across Leicestershire:
•

•

•

•

•

Food waste prevention campaign
including classes, Community Kitchens
(see case study below) and competitions.
Campaign to reduce contamination in
recycling collections, aiming to reduce
the amount that is spoiled and thus
cannot be recycled by advising on what
materials are recyclable, how to present
recycling at the kerbside, and informing
residents of what happens to materials
after they’re collected.
Encouraging home composting via
compost bin subsidies and training from
skilled composters (Master Composters)
Love Your Clothes campaign providing
advice on purchasing, care and disposal
options for clothing and textiles
Grant scheme to enable community
groups to conduct their own waste
prevention activities.

•

•

•

•
•
•
•

Presence at local events e.g.
Loughborough Market (Charnwood),
‘Recycle More…the tour’ (NWLDC),
citizens’ forums plus around 75
roadshows delivered annually (preCovid-19) by LCC and volunteers
Production and distribution of resources
and tools for residents to support the
above
Seasonal campaigns targeting times
waste arisings can increase e.g.
Christmas and Halloween
Reusable nappy lending scheme
Social media presence across several
platforms
Visits to schools and community groups
A large group of expert volunteers to
provide advice and guidance to residents

32

Article 4 of the Waste Framework Directive (WFD; Directive 2008/98/EC on waste and repealing certain Directives)
established the waste hierarchy as the overarching principle of waste policies in the EU and EU Member States. In order of
priority, waste prevention has the highest priority, followed by reuse, recycling and other recovery, with disposal as the least
desirable option.

14

78

LWP also manage the ‘Less Waste’ website33 which serves as an online platform for the Partnership to
provide information on recycling and waste management to its residents, focusing on themes of
‘reduce’, ‘reuse’ and ‘recycle’. The website includes links and information on many of the initiatives
quoted above.
Case Study - ‘Recycle More…The Tour’
NWLDC adopted their ‘Recycle More…’ plan in April 2019. As part of its launch for a week the
Council ran ‘Recycle More…The Tour’ which included eight roadshows across the district engaging
with over 700 people regarding recycling advice, initiatives and tips.
21 recycling tours, talks and visits were carried out within the first year. Other initiatives included
running a competition to name six recycling vehicles, trialling a food waste collection and
introducing a battery and mobile phone recycling collection.

Case Study – Subsidised compost bins
Since 2008, nearly 20,000 subsidised compost bins have been sold to Leicestershire residents
through the partnership with Straight Recycling Ltd. These bins can accept a wide range of uncooked
fruit and vegetable waste, garden waste and other household waste such as paper and cardboard to
break down into compost that can then be added straight into the garden.
In addition to a saving of approximately 150Kg/year of waste per bin that would have either
required collection and treatment as residual waste, garden waste or recycling, home composting
produces a significant reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by diverting food waste from landfill
where it would break down anaerobically, releasing methane.

33

https://www.lesswaste.org.uk/

15

79

Case Study – Leicestershire Community Kitchens
Leicestershire Community Kitchens provide spaces for residents to learn and practice practical food
waste prevention skills in a friendly, supportive environment. The community kitchens are run by
volunteers who deliver free or low-cost cooking classes and courses that, when possible, make use
of surplus food that would otherwise go to waste. A cascade training model is used, and attendees
are empowered to go on to volunteer and deliver their own household food waste prevention
themed cooking classes at the community kitchens. Attendees typically reduce the amount of food
they waste at home by about a third (by weight) after six weeks of involvement. Their food shopping
bills reduce by 10% or more on average.
Figure 3: Community kitchen volunteers in training

Attendees and volunteers also report a range of personal benefits such as a growth in skills and
confidence, making friends and a reduction in feelings of social isolation. Some also said they saw
improvements in their diet, fitness levels and general wellbeing.
There are currently nine Leicestershire community kitchens in a growing network. In a typical year
the community kitchens collectively deliver over 250 household food waste prevention themed
cooking classes and engage around 800 residents in the 6-week waste prevention courses.
Leicestershire County Council has made a grant fund available to help establish more community
kitchens in Leicestershire. Funding is also available to provide support for existing community
kitchens in the county looking to expand their reach.
Figure 4: Community kitchen attendees

16

80

3.3 Option 2 – Reuse and repair
Option 2 focuses on the 2nd highest priority of the waste hierarchy, preparing for reuse. As such, this
option aims to highlight the impact of facilitating and promoting reuse and repair activities across
Leicestershire. The aim of repair and reuse is to extend the useful life a product or service with wide
ranging benefits from cost savings, enhancing resource efficiency, improving security of critical material
supply, enhancing the local economy, less material consumption and fewer carbon emissions. This can
be achieved by:
•
•
•
•

Repairing
Refurbishing
Reusing
Remanufacturing (or other related intervention measures)

Recent examples of reuse activity across Leicestershire include:
•

•

•

•

•

Furniture repair – Furniture reuse workshops are available to all Leicestershire residents, free of
charge, through the Adult Learning Service. These workshops take place regularly and teach
individuals how to fix and upcycle items of furniture. Classes in crafting waste wood have also
recently become available.
Textiles repair – Free classes are available through the Adult Learning Service for residents to
learn sewing basics, as well as how to make new items out of existing fabric at home. An online
guide is also available on the Less Waste website giving advice about how to care for and repair
clothes, how items can be upcycled and where clothing can be donated/sold.
Give or Take Day toolkit – A Give or Take Day is an event where people can exchange
unwanted goods for items which they may need. A toolkit is available on the Less Waste
website to help individuals set up their own event. Similar events have also been held for LCC
staff at offices.
Reusable nappies – Leicestershire residents can borrow a washable (reusable) nappy trial kit
free of charge for a period of 4 weeks. A selection of different nappies in a range of sizes are
available, and volunteer Nappy Advisors are available to give advice throughout the trial.
Fixer groups - Support has been given through the Shire Environment Grant Scheme to help
establish and support local groups that perform repairs on domestic appliances that would
otherwise be thrown away (see case study below for more detail).

Leicestershire residents are also able to engage in reuse activities at the Household Waste and Recycling
Centres (HWRCs) across the County. Across all HWRCs, c.300 tonnes of material was collected for reuse
(bicycles and bric-a-brac) in 2019/20. Since 2020, there have been dedicated reuse collections, known as
ReHome Zones, at four of the HWRCs. The main aim of these collection points is to encourage additional
donations for reuse. One of the key aspects of the ReHome Zones is to retain items coming into the
HWRCs as products, avoiding them from being classified as ‘waste’ items. This means that items must
meet quality checks.

17

81

Figure 5: The ReHomeZone at Loughborough HWRC

It is noted that a number of the WCAs promote reuse activities through the bulky waste section of their
websites. Many of them encourage residents to re-sell the items on second hand websites or to donate
unwanted items to local charity-run reuse shops. Some WCAs have also engaged with the third sector to
promote reuse and repair activity. One example of this is NWLDC, who promote the Marlene Reid
Centre, Coalville which is a charity selling reusable items (furniture). Any proceeds from the sale of
donated items helps to support the charity’s work in the local community. Future projects include wood
reuse classes from 2021.
LCC are trialling a paint reuse scheme from their Whetstone HWRC as part of a ‘Community Paint Reuse
Scheme.’ Through the scheme, residents are able to deposit useable paint at the site. This ensures that
leftover paint can be reused by community groups in need and prevents it from going to waste.

18

82

Figure 6: The paint storage area at Whetstone HWRC

Case Study - ‘Fixers’
The SHIRE Environment Grant scheme has funded three ‘Fixers’ group projects since the scheme was
launched. The first grant was awarded to the Leicester Fixers during 2018/19.
The group consists of amateur and professional repairers and non-repairers that work together to
mend broken items and learn more about repairs. The grant has supported the Leicester Fixers to run
a Leicestershire Outreach Programme to enable communities across the county to run their own
Restart Parties. These parties are organised by volunteers to inspire people to mend their broken
gadgets, buy for longevity and prevent electronics waste.
The aim of the project is to enable groups to self-organise and bring Restart Parties to their own
community. This is done by providing support, insurance and toolkits to enable new groups to run
these events throughout the year. Following the successful completion of the project, repair events
have taken place and groups set up in Lutterworth, Hinckley, Loughborough, Melton Mowbray,
Market Harborough and Coalville.
Following the success of this, funding has since been awarded to the Market Harborough and
Hinckley Fixers groups.

19

83

3.4 Option 3 – Revised baseline with Consistent Collection measures, EPR &
DRS
3.4.1 Kerbside Collection
Option 3 models the current service but with additional measures which are outlined in the EPR34, DRS35
and Consistent Collection36 Government consultations. This includes the potential introduction of a free
garden waste service and a separate weekly food waste collection to all households.
In Table 8 below, blue italics are used to signify changes from the current collection in types of
containers used and green italics are used to show where the frequency of collections have changed.
Where both the containers and the frequency have changed, black italics are used.
A sensitivity analysis is also applied in this option to include small WEEE, batteries and textiles within the
dry recycling collection. Note that BDC currently work with the charity MIND to collect textiles and small
WEEE. It has been assumed that this arrangement would continue, as such it has not been modelled as
collected at the kerbside.
Table 8: Option 3 container requirements and collection frequency

Frequency
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC

Dry recycling

Food waste

Garden waste

Residual

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
2 x box, 2 x bag38
240L WHB

Weekly

Fortnightly

Small kerbside
food waste bin +
kitchen caddy

240L WHB (free)

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB37
240L WHB
240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
140L WHB

This option is in line with the proposed introduction of Consistent Collections, which would mean that
the collection of materials such as plastic film and cartons would now be mandatory. All WCAs, with the
exception of NWLDC, currently collect both of these materials. For NWLDC, it has been assumed that
215 tonnes of plastic film will be captured annually39, and that 0.7% of dry recycling will comprise
cartons40. For the introduction of the free garden waste service, it is assumed that the service will result

34

Consultation on reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility system - Defra - Citizen Space
Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) in England, Wales and Northern Ireland - Defra - Citizen Space
36 Consultation on Consistency in Household and Business Recycling Collections in England - Defra - Citizen Space
37
There are some 360L wheeled bins, however these are historical and the number of bins still in circulation is unknown
38 Includes the collection of plastic film and cartons.
39
This is based on the average % plastic film captured at Casepak (the current MRF) through commingled collection.
40
This is based on average dry recycling composition data from 9 benchmark authorities.
35

20

84

in a set out41 rate of 60% and participation rate42 of 65%. The modelling of a free garden waste service is
based on a fortnightly collection which operates for 40 weeks of the year.
The implications of EPR and DRS were modelled using the ‘Resource and Waste Policy Impact Calculator’
(RAWPIC)43. Reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility system (EPR) aims to achieve better
design of packaging (e.g. through increasing recycled material content or improving recyclability of
packaging products). It is therefore assumed that more packaging items are able to be recycled and
diverted from the residual waste stream.
A DRS aims to improve overall recycling and resource recovery by placing a redeemable deposit on ‘in
scope’ materials. The assumptions are described in section 2.3.
For this option, we have assumed either a ‘low’ or ‘medium’ yield from the WRAP ready reckoner. This is
determined based on the average weekly residual waste capacity for each WCA (i.e. if the Authority has
120 litres of residual waste capacity it has been given a low yield, if it is 90 litres a medium yield has
been applied). Based on evidence from WRAP food waste collection trials, a set out rate of between 45%
and 55% and a participation rate of between 55% and 65% was applied. For all WCAs, it is assumed food
waste is collected by dedicated 7.5t food waste vehicles44.
The impact of the introduction of additional measures in line with EPR, DRS and Consistent Collections,
which includes a weekly food waste service and free garden waste collection, is estimated to cost
(collectively) approximately £6 million per annum in addition to the baseline. This results in a total
indicative annual kerbside collection cost of approximately £24.4 million, as shown in Table 9 below.
Table 9: Option 3 annualised collection costs and recycling performance

Total gross collection cost for Option 3
Baseline gross collection cost
Difference in collection costs compared to baseline
Kerbside recycling rate45
Cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling performance

£24,441,700
£18,428,500
+£6,013,200
57.1% (+10.7%)
£559,400

Through all WCAs introducing a weekly food waste collection and six of the WCAs moving to a free
garden waste service, LWP’s ‘kerbside’ recycling rate is modelled to increase by 10.7% to 57.1%,
although a significant improvement, this is short of the national target of 65% by 203546. A breakdown

41

The set-out rate is the percentage of households which set out their waste or recycling on collection days (a percentage of
the total number of households served during that day).
42 Participation rate is the number of households (or percentage) that set out their waste or recycling at least once in three
consecutive collection opportunities.
43 This is a product developed by Suez and Anthesis with support from LARAC and Kent Waste Partnership
44 It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.
45 Note that this is not the total Local Authority Household Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks,
secondary recycling (e.g. from treatment) and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the main collection
systems from households
46
This is a national municipal waste target; however it is recognised that improving kerbside recycling rate will play an
important role in achieving the national target.

21

85

£6,000,000

70%

£5,000,000

60%
50%

£4,000,000

40%
£3,000,000
30%
£2,000,000

20%

£1,000,000

Kerbside recycling rate

Annual gross collection cost

of the kerbside recycling rates (blue dot, axis on right) for each WCA is provided in Figure 7, alongside
the annualised gross collection cost (green bar, axis on left).

10%

£0

0%
Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough Hinckley &
DC
Bosworth BC

Annualised gross collection cost

Melton BC

NW
Oadby &
Leicestershire Wigston BC
DC

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Figure 7: Option 3 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance
Table 10: Option 3 total kerbside collected tonnage

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston
BC

WCA total

17,444

7,741

15,152

6,160

90,783

7,219

7,365

4,242

5,920

3,758

48,471

5,144

3,783

3,318

1,530

4,003

1,556

22,294

7,967

13,644

8,692

11,409

4,559

10,702

3,835

60,809

1,244

2,751

1,194

744

552

904

597

7,986

54.42%

58.37%

62.44%

54.85%

55.47%

56.23%

57.52%

57.12%

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Residual

13,475

20,155

10,655

Dry recycling

6,645

13,322

Food

2,960

Option 3

Garden
47

Contamination
Kerbside
recycling rate

Table 10 summarises the estimated collection tonnage and kerbside recycling rate for each of the WCA
for option 3. This illustrates the combined impact of expanding the breadth of material collected at the
kerbside and the introduction of DRS and EPR measures. Based on our modelling, it is estimated that
introducing a DRS and EPR measure could reduce the amount of dry recycling collected at the kerbside
by c.21%, and the amount of residual waste by 4%.

47

This tonnage relates to the contamination collected across the dry recycling, food and garden collections.

22

86

The capture of food waste and increased capture of garden waste results in the requirement of
additional vehicles for the WCAs within LWP, including a fleet of dedicated 7.5t food waste collection
vehicles48.
The cost per household is presented in Table 11, where all WCAs see an increase in cost per household
from the baseline. This is in part driven by the introduction of a food waste service, as well as higher
collection costs for garden waste, as a result of this being free49 and as such provided for all households,
instead of only those subscribed to the service.
Table 11: Total annual gross collection and cost per household - Option 3

Option 3 total
annualised
gross
collection cost

Option 3 cost
per HH
Baseline cost
per HH

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£3,380,800

£5,413,300

£3,001,200

£3,867,700

£1,906,300

£4,541,500

£2,330,900

£80.18

£70.98

£74.82

£76.88

£80.91

£95.95

£99.83

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

3.4.2 Treatment & Disposal
LCC are responsible for allocating the treatment / disposal point for the dry recycling, garden and
residual waste collected. Under the current arrangement, the commingled dry recycling is processed at
a Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) for sorting into individual materials for onward sale to third parties.
The exception to this is NWLDC who operate under a direction from LCC but process their own recycling.
Through their current arrangement, NWLDC go out to the market every two months for materials
collected at the kerbside (commonly referred to as ‘spot pricing’). In this option, there are no changes
to these arrangements for dry recycling assumed. Garden waste collected across the WCAs and from the
HWRCs is sent for composting. Residual waste is currently treated by a combination of energy recovery
(mainly incineration with some refuse derived fuel (RDF) processing) and landfill, this assumption is
applied to all options in this appraisal50. It is assumed that the separately collected food waste will be
sent for processing at an Anaerobic Digestion facility51.
Table 12 shows a breakdown of the total costs to the Partnership. In this option, garden waste is
collected free of charge; as such the annual revenue received by each of the WCAs charging for garden
48

It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.
49
The free garden waste service is based on a fortnightly collection which operates for 40 weeks of the year.
50
There is also a sensitivity analysis undertaken which is used to determine the impacts of moving to a higher level of energy
recovery
51
Not site specific. Anaerobic Digestion is the breakdown of organic material (e.g., food waste, farm waste, sewage sludge) in
the absence of oxygen to produce biogas or biofertiliser. The biogas is used as a fuel to generate renewable electricity and heat
in a combined heat and power (CHP) unit.

23

87

waste is lost, collectively equivalent to £5.5 million per annum. NWLDC retain their kerbside sort
collection with its estimated annual income of £465K from sale of recyclable materials.
The total treatment and disposal costs are reduced from nearly £17 million in the baseline to £14.5
million per annum. The introduction of a DRS is estimated to reduce the amount of dry recycling
collected at the kerbside by c.21%. Based on a gate fee per tonne arrangement with the MRF, this in
turn results in lower MRF costs for LCC. However, in the case of NWLDC this results in a lower revenue
for their kerbside sort system. In this option it is assumed that the gate fee for processing the
commingled recycling is paid by LCC and is included within the WDA treatment and disposal costs
presented below.
There are also savings on disposal costs achieved through the introduction of a food waste collection on
account of lower gate fees associated with anaerobic digestion (AD) treatment of the separately
collected food waste than this tonnage going for residual waste disposal (a combination of landfill and
EfW). However, savings on waste treatment and disposal do not outweigh the increase in collection
costs across LWP in this option. As a total cost to LWP, this option is estimated to cost c. £38.3 million
per annum to operate a service which accommodates the majority of the national policy reforms
(assuming the current recycling collection schemes can be retained).
Table 12: Option 3 total net costs (Partnership)

Gross Collection Cost
Garden Waste Income
Dry Recycling Income
Treatment & Disposal Cost
Whole System Cost

Baseline

Option 3

£18,428,500
-£5,528,500
-£483,500
£16,987,700
£29,404,300

£24,441,700
£0
-£465,000
£14,367,500
£38,345,000

Within the latest round of consultations on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England was a
commitment from Government to cover the net cost of any ‘new burden’ faced by Local Authorities as a
result of any proposed (and implemented) reforms to recycling and waste management services.
Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to estimate the potential cost to the LWP of meeting the
requirements of the national R&WS where packaging producers contribute to the cost of managing
packaging waste and central Government covers the costs of free garden waste collections and separate
food waste collections. See Section 3.11.3 for more detail.

3.4.3 Carbon (WRATE) analysis
The Baseline waste management services across LWP, including the operation of the HWRCs, is
modelled to result in a carbon saving of c. 4,370t CO2-eq emissions per annum. This suggests that the
recycling activity within the Partnership currently more than offsets the detrimental emissions from
collection, transport, operations, infrastructure development and the residual waste treatment and
disposal process.
The model uses life cycle assessment to consider the impact of all elements of the service including
provision of containers, vehicles, transport movement and the emissions / offsets from recycling and
disposal. The lower the score the more beneficial (or less detrimental) the impacts.
24

88

Option 3 incurs a small additional carbon saving in comparison to the baseline, saving c. 4,585t CO2-eq
emissions per annum. This additional saving is the equivalent of taking 100 average cars off the road
each year52, in emission terms. This demonstrates the impact of DRS and EPR and including the
collection of small WEEE, batteries and textiles at the kerbside combined with a move to a free garden
waste collection service. The removal of dry recycling from the kerbside (on account of implementing a
DRS) reduces the amount of emissions savings associated with the Partnerships recycling activity53,
however free garden waste collection is also introduced in this option which results in reduced
treatment emissions (i.e. there is a better carbon performance from garden waste moving from the
residual streams to composting). The results of the WRATE modelling for each WCA and the HWRCs for
option 3 are shown in Figure 8.
There is also a slight reduction in carbon performance from the HWRCs in this scenario as some of the
increased garden waste is assumed diverted from the HHWRCs into the kerbside collection scheme.
2,000,000
1,000,000

kg CO2-eq

0
-1,000,000
-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000

Option 3

Baseline

Figure 8: Option 3 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service

52

carbonfootprint.com - Carbon Footprint Calculator
It should be noted that although material is removed from the kerbside, recyclable materials will be sent for recycling and
reprocessing through the DRS supply chain and so although this reduces the WCA’s carbon emission savings, the environmental
benefit will be captured at a wider level.
53

25

89

3.5 Option 4 – As Option 3, with garden waste collected as per baseline
3.5.1 Kerbside Collection
Option 4 is the same model as option 3, however in this case, the garden waste is retained in a
subscription arrangement as per the Baseline. For NWLDC, who currently provide garden waste
collections free of charge, it is assumed that this will continue within their existing arrangement.
Within Table 13, blue italics are used to signify changes from the current collection in types of containers
used and green italics are used to show where the frequency of collections have changed. Where both
the containers and the frequency have changed, black italics are used.
Table 13: Option 4 container requirements and collection frequency

Dry recycling

Food waste

Garden waste

Residual

Weekly

As per current service

Blaby DC

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB

Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC

240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
2 x box, 2 x bag54
240L WHB

Frequency

Small kerbside
food waste bin +
kitchen caddy

140L/240L WHB
(charged)
240L WHB (charged)
240L WHB (charged)
240L WHB (charged)
240L WHB (charged)
240L WHB (free)
240L WHB (charged)

180L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
140L WHB

This option is broadly in line with the proposed introduction of Consistent Collections and would
introduce the mandatory collection of dry recycling materials such as plastic film and cartons. All WCAs,
with the exception of NWLDC, currently collect both of these materials. For NWLDC, it has been
assumed that 215 tonnes of plastic film will be captured annually55, and that 0.7% of dry recycling will
comprise cartons56. Unlike option 3, it is not assumed that the garden waste service for all WCAs will be
free as described above. It is assumed that the WCAs will keep their current service.
Separate food waste collection is introduced across the Partnership. As per option 3, for this option, we
have assumed either a ‘low’ or ‘medium’ yield from the WRAP ready reckoner. This is determined based
on the average weekly residual waste capacity for each WCA (i.e. if the Authority has 120 litres of
residual waste capacity it has been given a low yield, if it is 90 litres a medium yield has been applied).
Based on evidence from WRAP food waste collection trials, a set out rate of between 45% and 55% and
a participation rate of between 55% and 65% was applied. For all WCAs, it is assumed food waste is
collected by dedicated 7.5t food waste vehicles57.

54

Includes the collection of plastic film and cartons.
This is based on the average % plastic film captured at the current MRF through commingled collection.
56
This is based on average dry recycling composition data from 9 benchmark authorities.
57
It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.
55

26

90

The estimated total annualised cost of collection for all of the WCAs for option 4 is £23.5 million (Table
14), an additional c.£5.1 million per annum compared to the cost of the current service. This is largely
due to the number of food waste vehicles required to operate this service.
Table 14: Option 4 annualised collection costs and recycling performance

Total gross collection cost for Option 4
Baseline gross collection cost
Difference in collection costs compared to baseline
Kerbside recycling rate58
Cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling performance

£23,549,900
£18,428,500
+ £5,121,300
54.5% (+ 8.1%)
£632,300

The kerbside recycling rate increases to 54.5% in option 4. This is an 8.1% uplift in comparison to the
baseline (46.4%), approximately £632k per 1% increase in kerbside recycling performance. This increase
is largely driven by the separate collection of food waste at the kerbside, as this material is now recycled
rather than going into the residual waste stream.

£6,000,000

70%

£5,000,000

60%
50%

£4,000,000

40%

£3,000,000

30%

£2,000,000

20%

£1,000,000

10%

£0

Kerbside recycling rate

Annual gross collection cost

A breakdown of the predicted kerbside recycling rates (right axis) for each WCA is provided in Figure 9,
alongside the modelled annualised gross collection cost (left axis). The tonnages of waste and
recyclables for each WCA are included in Table 15.

0%

Annualised gross collection cost

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Figure 9: Option 4 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance

58

Note that this is not the total Local Authority Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks, the HWRCs
and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the main collection systems from households

27

91

Table 15: Option 4 total kerbside collected tonnage

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston
BC

WCA total

18,048

7,972

15,187

6,412

93,839

7,181

7,354

4,240

5,879

3,738

48,292

5,144

3,783

3,318

1,530

4,003

1,556

22,294

6,373

10,915

6,954

9,127

3,647

10,702

3,068

50,786

1,164

2,606

1,104

720

551

903

556

7,606

51.38%

55.34%

59.26%

51.34%

52.49%

56.13%

54.54%

54.47%

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Residual

13,953

21,051

11,216

Dry recycling

6,646

13,254

Food

2,960

Garden
Contamination59
Kerbside
recycling rate

Option 4

The total tonnage collected at the kerbside in option 4 is shown in Table 15 . In this option, the garden
waste tonnage is lower than option 3 (but same as the baseline) due to the majority of WCAs retaining
the charged garden waste collections. As with all options, the impact of DRS and EPR has also been
taken into account. This reduces the total dry recycling yield by c. 21 % and the residual waste yield by
c.4%.
Table 16 illustrates the total annualised gross collection cost per household for option 4, relative to the
baseline. The cost per household increases for all WCAs due primarily to the requirement to separately
collect food. For all WCAs this requires a dedicated fleet of vehicles and operators. KAT modelling
calculates an annualised capital cost of containers and does not consider the additional cost burden of
purchasing small kerbside food waste bins and kitchen caddies for all households.
Table 16: Total annual gross collection and cost per household - Option 4

Option 4 total
annualised
gross
collection cost

Option 4 cost
per HH
Baseline cost
per HH

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£3,244,000

£5,079,700

£2,857,900

£3,818,300

£1,867,400

£4,541,000

£2,141,000

£76.93

£66.60

£71.25

£75.90

£79.26

£95.95

£91.69

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

3.5.2 Treatment & Disposal
It is estimated that option 4 will cost LWP an additional £5.1 million per annum on collection costs,
primarily as a result of introducing a separate food waste collection. However, there are treatment and
disposal savings of approximately £2 million. There are a variety of influencing factors here. As with all

59

This tonnage relates to the contamination collected across the dry recycling, food and garden collections.

28

92

options in this appraisal it is assumed that DRS and EPR measures are introduced. This removes
approximately 21% of dry recycling from the kerbside (consisting of packaging items such as plastic and
glass bottles and cans) and approximately 4% from residual waste. EPR measures support in this
reduction of residual waste tonnages as packaging producers are incentivised to produce readily
recyclable packaging, moving material from residual streams into the recycling stream.60
The introduction of a dedicated food waste collection also incurs a lower gate fee than the current
residual waste disposal route reducing the overall treatment and disposal costs. In this option as the
charged garden service is retained by the majority of authorities, each WCA with a charged garden
service retains the annual revenue from subscription charges. This equates to c£5.5m. In this option
NWLDC retain their kerbside sort collection of dry recycling and as such gain revenue from the sale of
recyclable material. This is estimated at £461K per annum.
It is assumed that food waste will be sent for processing at an Anaerobic Digestion facility61. All other
treatment and disposal processes are as per the current arrangements. The total net cost for the
Partnership is c. £32 million per annum, indicating that whilst there are savings of c. £2.4 million on
treatment and disposal estimated, these do not outweigh additional collection costs.
Table 17: Option 4 total net costs (Partnership)

Garden Waste Income

Baseline
£18,428,500
-£5,528,500

Option 4
£23,549,900
-£5,528,500

Dry Recycling Income

-£483,500

-£460,200

Treatment & Disposal Cost

£16,987,700

£14,381,800

Whole System Cost

£29,404,300

£31,943,000

Gross Collection Cost

Within the latest round of consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England was a
commitment from government to cover the net cost of any ‘new burden’ faced by Local Authorities as a
result of any proposed (and implemented) reforms to recycling and waste management services.
Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to estimate the potential cost to LWP of meeting the
requirements of the national R&WS where packaging producers contribute to the cost of managing
packaging waste and central Government covers the costs of free garden waste collections and separate
food waste collections. See Section 3.11.3 for more detail.

3.5.3 Carbon (WRATE) analysis
The results of the WRATE modelling for option 4 are shown in Figure 10. This option results in a smaller
carbon emission saving than the baseline, saving 4,065t of CO2 equivalent emissions (300 tonnes less the
baseline, an equivalent addition of c.106 average petrol cars on the road). Although there are decreased
emissions from the treatment and landfill primarily driven by the separate food waste collection, this is
outweighed by increased emissions on recycling, containers and transport. Recycling emissions benefits
are reduced due to DRS materials being captured outside of the kerbside system. The charged garden

60
61

This impact is subtle when combined with DRS impacts.
Not site specific

29

93

service is retained for authorities in this option. As will all other options, there are increased transport
emissions associated with the introduction of a dedicated food waste collection service.
2,000,000
1,000,000
0

kg CO2-eq

-1,000,000
-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000
Blaby

Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley &
Bosworth

Melton

NW
Leicestershire

Oadby &
Wigston

HWRC

District
Option 4

Baseline

Figure 10: Option 4 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service

30

94

3.6 Option 5A – 140L residual collected fortnightly
3.6.1 Kerbside Collection
Option 5A is one of two options within this appraisal which model a restricted residual waste collection
for the WCAs within the LWP. In this option, the residual waste is collected fortnightly, via a 140L WHB
as shown in Table 18. This equates to c.70L weekly capacity available for households, less than all
residents have available at present, however it will be combined with increased capacity for recycling
through a new weekly food waste collection and incentivise greater separation of materials from
residual waste into other streams. The waste composition for Leicestershire (see Headline Strategy)
shows that over 70% of the contents of the typical household bin could be recycled through the
schemes proposed. Dry recycling is collected as per the baseline, however with the expanded breadth of
recyclables. The garden waste is collected free of charge (operating fortnightly over 40 weeks of the
year).
Blue italics are used to signify changes from the current collection in types of containers used and green
italics are used to show where the frequency of collections have changed. Where both the containers
and the frequency have changed, black italics are used.
Table 18: Option 5A container requirements and collection frequency

Frequency
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC

Dry recycling

Food waste

Garden waste

Residual

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
2 x boxes, 2 x bag62
240L WHB

Weekly

Fortnightly

Fortnightly

Small kerbside
food waste bin +
kitchen caddy

240L WHB (free)

140L WHB
140L WHB
140L WHB
140L WHB
140L WHB
140L WHB
140L WHB

As noted above, restricting the residual waste container sizes decreases the total available weekly
capacity for household residual waste. OWBC already have 140L WHB in place for residual waste and
this is collected on a weekly basis, however within this option they move to a fortnightly collection,
which halves the capacity available for its residents. BDC currently have 140L WHB for their residual
waste63 and this is collected fortnightly, so the configuration of their residual waste service does not
change; all other WCAs will experience a reduction in their residual waste capacity. As a result of this, a
2% increase was applied to the participation rate and a 5% increase to the capture rate64 from the
baseline for the dry recycling streams of those WCAs. This is because it is assumed that householders
will more effectively use their recycling containers when presented with restricted capacity in the
residual bin.

62

To include the collection of plastic film and cartons.
It is noted that BDC has a split of 140L and 240L WHB for residual, however for the purposes of the modelling, 140L WHB
have been assumed.
64
Capture rate refers to the amount of material that households are putting out for collection.
63

31

95

As per other options with a free garden waste service, it is assumed that all households within the
County will be covered, and the service will result in a set out rate of 60% and participation rate of 65%.
For this option, due to the residual waste restriction we have assumed a midpoint between the medium
and high yield from the WRAP ready reckoner. This is determined based on the average weekly residual
waste capacity, which is in this option is 70L per week. A set out rate of 60% and a participation rate of
70% was applied. For all WCAs, it is assumed food waste is collected by dedicated 7.5t food waste
vehicles65.
The total gross collection cost of this option is approximately £6.3 million per annum more than the
baseline, resulting in a total indicative annual collection cost of £24.7 million, as shown in Table 19
below. This is slightly higher in kerbside collection cost terms than option 5B which restricts residual
collection by waste frequency (3-weekly).
Table 19: Option 5A annualised collection costs and recycling performance

Total gross collection cost for Option 5A
Baseline gross collection cost
Difference in collection costs compared to baseline
Kerbside recycling rate66
Cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling
performance

£24,758,800
£18,428,500
+£6,330,200
62.0% (+15.9%)
£405,800

Reducing the residual waste capacity to 140L is modelled to increase LWP’s ‘kerbside’ recycling rate by
15.9% to 62%. This is the highest kerbside recycling rate of all options modelled and approaching the
2035 national target of 65%. The increased capture of dry recyclables and food waste results in the
requirement of additional vehicles for the Partnership. Any collection savings associated with reducing
the residual waste capacity restriction does not offset the additional cost to operate the dry recycling
and food waste collection services.
A breakdown of the kerbside recycling rates (right axis) for each WCA is provided in Figure 11, alongside
the annualised gross collection cost (left axis). The tonnages of waste and recyclables for each WCA are
included in Table 20.

65

It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.
66 Note that this is not the total Local Authority Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks, the HWRCs
and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the main collection systems from households

32

£6,000,000

70%

£5,000,000

60%
50%

£4,000,000

40%
£3,000,000
30%
£2,000,000

20%

£1,000,000

Kerbside recycling rate

Annual gross collection cost

96

10%

£0

0%
Blaby DC

Charnwood BC Harborough DC Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Annualised gross collection cost

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Figure 11: Option 5A annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance
Table 20: Option 5A total kerbside collected tonnage

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

WCA total

Residual

11,769

16,075

9,988

14,944

6,451

14,405

5,238

78,870

Dry recycling

6,939

14,715

7,497

8,166

4,709

6,137

3,902

52,064

Food

4,275

7,524

4,133

4,888

2,265

4,496

2,285

29,865

Garden
Contamination

7,967

13,644

8,692

11,409

4,559

10,702

3,835

60,809

67

1,341

3,060

1,234

873

641

935

645

8,728

59.40%

65.22%

64.43%

60.73%

61.92%

58.17%

63.01%

61.97%

Option 5A

Kerbside
recycling rate

The total tonnage collected at the kerbside in option 5A is shown in Table 20. The amount of food waste
and dry recycling collected is increased in comparison to the option 3 and 4 due to the restriction on
residual waste capacity. The total tonnage of contamination reported includes contamination arising in
the dry recycling, food and garden waste streams.
The total gross collection cost per household for option 5A is presented in Table 21. For all authorities,
restricting the residual capacity, introducing a weekly food waste collection and moving garden waste to
a free service increases the cost per household (ranging from approximately £11 to £34)68.

67
68

This tonnage relates to the contamination collected across the dry recycling, food and garden collections.
The free garden waste service is based on a fortnightly collection which operates for 40 weeks of the year.

33

97

Table 21: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 5A

Option 5A
total
annualised
gross
collection cost

Option 5A
cost per HH
Baseline cost
per HH

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£3,379,400

£3,930,100

£3,134,500

£4,071,700

£1,925,900

£5,357,000

£2,221,300

£80.14

£69.31

£78.15

£80.93

£81.75

£100.14

£95.13

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

3.6.2 Treatment & Disposal
LCC are responsible for allocating the treatment / disposal point for the dry recycling, garden and
residual waste collected. Under the current arrangement, the commingled dry recycling is processed at
a MRF in Leicester for sorting into individual materials for onward sale to third parties. The exception to
this is NWLDC who operate under a direction from LCC but process their own recycling. Through their
current arrangement NWLDC go out to the market every two months for materials collected at the
kerbside (commonly referred to as ‘spot pricing’). In this option, there are no changes to this
arrangement assumed. Garden waste collected across the WCA is sent for composting. Residual waste is
currently treated by a combination of energy recovery (mainly incineration with some refuse derived
fuel (RDF) processing) and landfill, this assumption is applied to all options in this appraisal69. It is
assumed that the separately collected food waste will be sent for processing at an Anaerobic Digestion
facility70.
Table 22 shows a breakdown of the total costs to LWP in option 5A. More restriction on the residual
waste capacity incentivises householders to use alternative collections, increasing participation (and
yield) of dry recycling and food waste. This in turn results in lower disposal costs as processing dry
recycling through the MRF and separately collected food waste through AD facilities incurs lower gate
fees than the residual waste disposal arrangements. In this scenario garden waste is modelled as a free
service, as such the annual revenue received by the WCAs of the Partnership is reduced by c.£5.5 million
due to the loss of income from subscription fees. There is an estimated £480K revenue for the sale of
NWLDC’s kerbside sort dry recycling.

69

There is also a sensitivity analysis undertaken which is used to determine the impacts of moving to a higher level of energy
recovery
70
Not site specific.

34

98

Table 22: Option 5A total net costs (Partnership)

Gross Collection Cost

Baseline
£18,428,500

Option 5A
£24,758,800

Garden Waste Income

-£5,528,500

£0

Dry Recycling Income

-£483,500

-£479,900

Treatment & Disposal Cost

£16,987,700

£13,652,100

Whole System Cost

£29,404,300

£37,931,000

Within the latest round of consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England was a
commitment from government to cover the net cost of any ‘new burden’ faced by Local Authorities as a
result of any proposed (and implemented) reforms to recycling and waste management services.
Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to estimate the potential cost to LWP of meeting the
requirements of the national R&WS where Packaging producers contribute to the cost of managing
Packaging waste and central Government covers the costs of free garden waste collections and separate
food waste collections. See Section 3.11.3 for more detail.

3.6.3 Carbon (WRATE) analysis
The results of the WRATE modelling for option 5A is shown in Figure 12. This option has the highest
carbon saving of all the options modelled in this appraisal with c.9,000t CO2 equivalents per annum, over
double the baseline emission savings. This saving of 4,640 t CO2 eq emissions is equivalent to taking a
further 1,600 average petrol cars off the road. There is a combination of factors attributed to this
reduction. As previously mentioned, there are reduced treatment and landfill emissions on account of
additional garden waste diverted from the residual waste to composting. Additionally, the restriction on

35

99

residual capacity incentivises households to recycle more which has a significant carbon benefit where
this material is diverted from energy recovery or landfill.
There is also a slight reduction in carbon performance from the HWRCs in this scenario as some of the
increased garden waste is assumed diverted from the Household Waste Recycling Centres into the
kerbside collection scheme.
2,000,000
1,000,000
0

kg CO2-eq

-1,000,000
-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000
Blaby

Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley &
Bosworth

Option 5a

Melton

NW
Leicestershire

Oadby &
Wigston

HWRC

Baseline

Figure 12: Option 5A carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service

36

100

3.7 Option 5B – 180L/240L residual waste collected three-weekly
3.7.1 Kerbside Collection
Option 5B is the second of the options which restrict the capacity of the residual waste stream. As
opposed to option 5A which restricts the container size, option 5B maintains current residual waste
containers but restricts the average weekly capacity of residual waste by reducing the collection
frequency. The weekly capacity for residual waste will therefore be less than all residents have at
present, however it will be combined with increased capacity for recycling through a new weekly food
waste collection and incentivise greater separation of materials from residual waste into other streams.
The waste composition for Leicestershire (see Headline Strategy) shows that over 70% of the contents of
all household bins (residual, recycling and garden) could be recycled through the schemes proposed.
More information regarding the required containers and collection frequency can be seen in Table 23.
The weekly capacity of each bin varies depending on whether the WCA uses a 180L or 240L WHB (or a
combination of both71), and therefore the WCAs have a range of between 60L and 80L weekly kerbside
capacity.
Blue italics are used to signify changes from the current collection in types of containers used and green
italics are used to show where the frequency of collections have changed. Where both the containers
and the frequency have changed, black italics are used.
Table 23: Option 5B container requirements and collection frequency

Frequency
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC

Dry recycling

Food waste

Garden waste

Residual

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB

Weekly

Fortnightly

3- weekly

240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
2 x boxes, 2 x bag72
240L WHB

180L WHB
Small kerbside
food waste bin +
kitchen caddy

240L WHB (free)

240L WHB
180L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
180L WHB
180L WHB

Option 5B is similar to 5A in principle, however instead of restricting the residual waste stream through
container size, in this option it is restricted through the three-weekly collection frequency. With the
exception of BDC and OWBC who move to 180L WHB, all other WCAs keep their current residual bin size
and only experience changes to the frequency in which this is collected. As a result of this, a 2% increase
was applied to the participation rate and a 5% increase to the capture rate from the baseline for the dry
recycling streams for appropriate WCAs. This is because it assumed that householders will more
effectively use their recycling containers when presented with a reduced collection frequency for the
residual bin.

71
72

Some WCAs have a policy of replacing 240L WHB with 180L WHB
To include the collection of plastic film and cartons.

37

101

For the free garden waste service, it is assumed that all households within the WCA will be covered, and
the service will result in a set out rate of 60% and participation rate of 65%. The free garden waste
service is based on a fortnightly collection which operates for 40 weeks of the year.
For this option, the assumed food waste yield from the WRAP ready reckoner varies based on the size of
the container used for the three-weekly residual waste collection. We have assumed between a
‘medium’ and ‘medium-high’ yield from the WRAP ready reckoner. This is determined based on the
average weekly residual waste capacity, whether that be 60L or 80L per week. A set out rate of 55-60%
and a participation rate of 65-70% was applied. For all WCAs, it is assumed food waste is collected by
dedicated 7.5t food waste vehicles73.
Reducing the frequency of residual collections to three-weekly, as well as introducing a weekly food
waste service and moving to a free garden waste service is estimated to cost LWP an additional c. £5.2
million to the baseline, as seen in Table 24. This is a slightly lower collection cost than the alternative
restricted residual option (option 5A) which restricts by container size rather than frequency.
Table 24: Option 5B annualised collection costs and recycling performance

Total gross collection cost for Option 5B
Baseline gross collection cost
Difference in collection costs compared to baseline
Kerbside recycling rate74
Cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling
performance

£23,604,300
£18,428,500
+ £5,175,700
61.3% (+15.2%)
£346,200

The KAT modelling suggests that this option would increase the kerbside recycling rate by c. 15.2%,
costing LWP approximately £346k per 1% increase in kerbside recycling performance, making this the
most cost effective of all the alternative options. This increase is driven by a restriction in the residual
collection frequency which encourages better use of the recycling service, as well as a food and garden
waste service which is available to all residents. This is the second highest kerbside recycling
performance of all options modelled, after option 5A.
A breakdown of the kerbside recycling rates (right axis) for each WCA is provided in Figure 13: Option 5B
annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance, alongside the annualised gross collection cost
(left axis). The tonnages of waste and recyclables for each WCA are included in Table 25.

73

It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.
74 Note that this is not the total Local Authority Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks, the HWRCs
and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the main collection systems from households

38

£6,000,000

70%

£5,000,000

60%
50%

£4,000,000

40%
£3,000,000
30%
£2,000,000

20%

£1,000,000

Kerbside recycling rate

Annual gross collection cost

102

10%

£0

0%
Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough Hinckley &
DC
Bosworth BC

Annualised gross collection cost

Melton BC

NW
Oadby &
Leicestershire Wigston BC
DC

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Figure 13: Option 5B annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance
Table 25: Option 5B total kerbside collected tonnage

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston
BC

WCA total

15,651

6,805

14,259

5,144

80,464

7,671

8,018

4,622

6,278

3,989

52,124

6,730

4,133

4,365

2,020

4,496

2,285

28,302

7,967

13,644

8,692

11,409

4,559

10,702

3,835

60,809

1,358

2,983

1,247

837

619

939

653

8,637

59.90%

63.29%

64.98%

59.06%

60.14%

58.56%

63.56%

61.32%

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Residual

11,592

17,213

9,800

Dry recycling

7,100

14,447

Food

4,275

Garden
Contamination75
Kerbside
recycling rate

Option 5B

Table 26 illustrates the total annualised gross collection cost per household for option 5B, relative to the
baseline. The cost per household increases for all WCAs, by between £5 and £29.
Table 26: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 5B

Option 5B
total
annualised

75

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£3,243,100

£5,164,500

£2,998,900

£3,381,100

£2,070,100

£4,525,300

£2,221,300

This tonnage relates to the contamination collected across the dry recycling, food and garden collections.

39

103

gross
collection cost

Option 5B
cost per HH
Baseline cost
per HH

£76.91

£67.71

£74.77

£67.21

£87.86

£95.61

£95.13

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

KAT modelling calculates an annualised capital cost of containers and does not consider the additional
cost burden of purchasing new 140L bins.

3.7.2 Treatment & Disposal
As per option 5A, more restriction on the residual waste capacity incentivises householders to use
alternative services, increasing participation (and yield) of dry recycling and food waste. This in turn
results in lower disposal costs as the MRF and AD gate fees are lower than the residual waste disposal
arrangements. This option has slightly more restriction (overall, not uniform across each WCA) and as
such has marginally lower WDA costs than option 5A.
Similarly, there is a loss of the garden waste income on account of free garden waste collection.
Revenues shown below illustrate the material revenue for NWLDC’s dry recycling.
Table 27: Option 5B total net costs (Partnership)

Baseline

Option 5B

Gross Collection Cost

£18,428,500

£23,604,300

Garden Waste Income

-£5,528,500

£0

Dry Recycling Income

-£483,500

-£491,100

Treatment & Disposal Cost

£16,987,700

£13,747,000

Whole System Cost

£29,404,300

£36,860,000

Within the latest round of consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England was a
commitment from Government to cover the net cost of any ‘new burden’ faced by Local Authorities as a
result of any proposed (and implemented) reforms to recycling and waste management services.
Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to estimate the potential cost to LWP of meeting the
requirements of the national R&WS where Packaging producers contribute to the cost of managing
Packaging waste and central Government covers the costs of free garden waste collections and separate
food waste collections. See Section 3.11.3 for more detail.

3.7.3 Carbon (WRATE) analysis
The results of the WRATE modelling for option 5B is shown in Figure 14. This option has the second
highest carbon saving of all the options modelled in this appraisal with c.8,800 CO2 equivalents saved
per annum, equivalent to double the baseline emission savings (i.e. a further saving of 1,600 cars). As
with option 5A, there is a combination of factors attributed to this reduction, including the dedicated
food waste collection, free garden waste collection and enhanced recycling performance that all also
40

104

reduced treatment and landfill / EfW emissions. The average weekly capacity to household is slightly
higher in option 5B than option 5A hence the slight difference in carbon emission savings between the
two restricted residual options.
2,000,000
1,000,000
0

kg CO2-eq

-1,000,000
-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000
Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley &
Bosworth

Option 5b

Melton

NW
Leicestershire

Oadby &
Wigston

HWRC

Baseline

Figure 14: Option 5B carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service

41

105

3.8 Option 6 – Twin stream recycling, fibre out
3.8.1 Kerbside Collection
Option 6 is the first of the alternative collection options to change the collection service for dry
recycling. In this option all WCAs move to a twin stream collection system, with paper and card forming
the separated fraction from the other dry recyclables, both of which are collected on a fortnightly basis.
More details of this can be seen in Table 28.
Blue italics are used to signify changes from the current collection in types of containers used and green
italics are used to show where the frequency of collections have changed. Where both the containers
and the frequency have changed, black italics are used.
Table 28: Option 6 container requirements and collection frequency

Frequency
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC

Dry recycling

Food waste

Garden waste

Residual

Fortnightly

Weekly

Fortnightly

Small kerbside
food waste bin +
kitchen caddy

240L WHB (free)

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
180L/240L WHB

240L WHB and box
240L WHB and box
240L WHB and box
240L WHB and box
240L WHB and box
240L WHB and
box76
240L WHB and box

140L WHB

Split-back (70:30) collection vehicles will be used to operate the twin stream dry recycling. Mixed dry
recycling will be collected via the 240L WHB and emptied into the larger compartment on the vehicle
and a box will be used to collect paper and card, emptied into the smaller compartment. For all WCAs,
the dry recycling contamination rate for this option decreases by a third in comparison to their baseline
position. For all WCAs, with the exception of NWLDC, dry recycling yields decrease by 2% as a result of
the move from a commingled to a twin-stream recycling service. For NWLDC, the yield of dry mixed
recycling increases by 7%.
For the free garden waste service, it is assumed that all households within the WCA will be covered, and
the service will result in a set out rate of 60% and participation rate of 65%. The free garden waste
service is based on a fortnightly collection which operates for 40 weeks of the year.
As per option 3, for this option, we have assumed either a ‘low’ or ‘medium’ yield from the WRAP ready
reckoner. This is determined based on the average weekly residual waste capacity for each WCA. Based
on evidence from WRAP food waste collection trials, a set out rate of between 45% and 55% and a
participation rate of between 55% and 65% was applied. For all WCAs, it is assumed food waste is
collected by dedicated 7.5t food waste vehicles77.

76

Includes the collection of plastic film and cartons.
It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.
77

42

106

The gross collection cost of operating a twin-stream service is modelled to cost, in total, approximately
£27.9 million per annum in collection costs. This is an increase of £9 million to the baseline, as shown in
Table 29.
Table 29: Option 6 annualised collection costs and recycling performance

Total gross collection cost for Option 6
Baseline gross collection cost
Difference in collection costs compared to baseline
Kerbside recycling rate78
Cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling performance

£27,941,100
£18,428,500
+£9,485,500
56.8% (+10.7%)
£912,900

The kerbside recycling rate increases by approximately 10.7%, bringing the overall ‘kerbside’ recycling
rate for LWP to 56.8%. This equates to c. £913k per 1% increase in kerbside recycling performance to
the baseline. A summary of the kerbside recycling rate (right axis) for each WCA in this option is shown
in Figure 15, alongside the annualised gross collection cost (left axis).
70%

£6,000,000
65%

£5,000,000
£4,000,000

60%
£3,000,000
£2,000,000

55%

£1,000,000
£0

Kerbside recycling rate

Annual gross collection cost

£7,000,000

50%

Annualised gross collection cost

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Figure 15: Option 6 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance

78

Note that this is not the total Local Authority Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks, the HWRCs
and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the main collection systems from households

43

107

Table 30: Option 6 total kerbside collected tonnage

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston
BC

WCA total

17,777

8,008

14,797

6,376

93,032

7,038

7,208

4,159

6,073

3,664

47,644

5,144

3,783

3,318

1,530

4,003

1,556

22,294

7,967

13,644

8,692

11,409

4,559

10,702

3,835

60,808

1,002

2,069

976

568

368

1,100

475

6,558

54.01%

57.76%

61.86%

54.46%

55.03%

56.65%

56.93%

56.76%

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Residual

13,848

21,171

11,055

Dry recycling

6,514

12,989

Food

2,960

Option 6

Garden
79

Contamination
Kerbside
recycling rate

The total tonnage collected at the kerbside in option 6 is shown in Table 30. The amount of
contamination collected in this option is reduced in comparison to the previous option where the
majority of households have a commingled collection.
The gross annualised collection cost per household is presented in Table 31. For option 6, all WCAs see
an increase in the cost per household in comparison to the baseline. For the majority of WCAs this
increase is in the region of £40 per household. This is primarily driven by increased costs associated with
operating a twin-stream dry recycling service (both in terms of CAPEX of split-back vehicles, and an
increase in the number of recycling vehicles required), alongside elevated garden collection costs and
dedicated food waste collections. The exception to this is HBBC which sees a smaller increase in cost of
£12 per household. Our modelling indicates HBBC would be able to deliver a twin-stream service with a
similar no. of split-back vehicles to their current recycling fleet.
Table 31: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 6

Option 6 total
annualised
gross
collection cost

Option 6 cost
per HH
Baseline cost
per HH

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£3,793,500

£6,688,700

£3,697,800

£3,760,500

£2,444,800

£5,111,800

£2,414,800

£89.96

£87.70

£92.19

£74.75

£103.77

£108.04

£103.42

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

3.8.2 Treatment & Disposal
In this option dry recycling is collected via a twin-stream collection, with paper and card presented
separately from the remaining recyclable material (e.g. metals, plastics, cartons, glass; also referred to
79

This tonnage relates to the contamination collected across the dry recycling, food and garden collections.

44

108

as dry mixed recycling ‘DMR’). As such, there is the potential to receive an income from the onward sale
of the paper/card. Based on current arrangements, it is assumed that the LCC will receive any income
associated with this, whilst also bearing the cost of the gate fee for sorting the remaining DMR collected.
Table 32 shows a breakdown of the total costs to LWP in option 6. For the purposes of this Options
Appraisal it is assumed that LCC would receive the revenue (income) for the separately collected paper
and card80. This is based on the assumption that WCAs would tip both the commingled recyclates (glass,
metals, plastics) and the separated paper and card fraction at a County Council facility, where LCC
receive the revenue. As NWLDC will also change their collection service in this scenario, it is assumed
that this would also be the case. As a result, there are no direct revenues for the WCAs in this option.
LCC would still pay a MRF gate for the commingled material.
On balance, between paying for the MRF gate fee and receiving revenue for the paper and card fraction,
LCC could receive c. £600k of revenue. This option is modelled to reduce LCC’s treatment and disposal
cost to c. £12.6 million. The revenue would also offset higher transfer costs which are not modelled.
Table 32: Option 6 total net costs (Partnership)

Gross Collection Cost

Baseline
£18,428,500

Option 6
£27,914,100

Garden Waste Income

-£5,528,500

£0

Dry Recycling Income

-£483,500

-£602,500

Treatment & Disposal Cost

£16,987,700

£12,614,800

Whole System Cost

£29,404,300

£39,926,300

Within the latest round of consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England was a
commitment from Government to cover the net cost of any ‘new burden’ faced by Local Authorities as a
result of any proposed (and implemented) reforms to recycling and waste management services.
Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to estimate the potential cost to LWP of meeting the
requirements of the national R&WS where packaging producers contribute to the cost of managing
packaging waste and central Government covers the costs of free garden waste collections and separate
food waste collections. See Section 3.11.3 for more detail.

3.8.3 Carbon (WRATE) analysis
The results of the WRATE modelling for the twin-stream collection option is shown in Figure 16. Our
WRATE modelling suggests that this option has an overall net saving of c.1,422 tonnes of CO2-eq
emissions. This is however, approximately 2,950 t CO2-eq emissions worse than the baseline; the 3rd
highest Partnership carbon emissions.
There is a slight reduction in carbon performance from the HWRCs in this scenario as some of the
increased garden waste is assumed diverted from the HWRCs into the kerbside collection scheme.
However, there is increased transport emissions and the option has the 2nd lowest saving from recycling
emissions.
80

This assumption has been made for the purposes of this options appraisal and would be subject to forthcoming legislation
and funding mechanisms.

45

109

2,000,000
1,000,000
0

kg CO2-eq

-1,000,000
-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000
Blaby

Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley &
Bosworth

Option 6

Melton

NW
Leicestershire

Oadby &
Wigston

HWRC

Baseline

Figure 16: Option 6 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service

46

110

3.9 Option 7 – Kerbside sort
3.9.1 Kerbside Collection
In option 7, all WCAs move to a kerbside sort system which requires the resident to sort recyclables into
two boxes and a bag, this is collected on a fortnightly basis as shown in Table 33. The exception to this is
NWLDC, where it is assumed that the current containers (3 boxes and 2 bags are retained). The
materials are collected as follows:
-

Box 1 – Plastics (bottles, PTT and film), cartons and metals
Box 2 – Glass
Bag 1 – Paper and Card

Blue italics are used to signify changes from the current collection in types of containers used and green
italics are used to show where the frequency of collections have changed. Where both the containers
and the frequency have changed, black italics are used.
Table 33: Option 7 container requirements and collection frequency

Frequency
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC

Dry recycling

Food waste

Garden waste

Residual

Fortnightly

Weekly

Fortnightly

2 x boxes, 1 x bag
2 x boxes, 1 x bag
2 x boxes, 1 x bag
2 x boxes, 1 x bag
2 x boxes, 1 x bag
3 x boxes, 2 x bag81
2 x boxes, 1 x bag

Small kerbside
food waste bin +
kitchen caddy

240L WHB (free)

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
140L WHB

Within option 7, all WCAs move to a kerbside sort collection, which is assumed to be collected via a
large, compartmentalised vehicle82, and therefore all WCAs implement a change in the required
containers. The WCAs implement a change of service from commingled to kerbside sort, with the
exception of NWLDC who are retaining their current collection configuration. As well as having a change
of service, OWBC also change the frequency of their dry recycling collection from weekly to fortnightly.
A common contamination rate is assumed for all WCAs at 2% (a significant drop for all except NW
Leicestershire) and yields of dry recycling decrease by 7% for all WCAs, except for NWLDC where this
remains the same.
For the free garden waste service, it is assumed that all households within the WCA will be covered, and
the service will result in a set out rate of 60% and participation rate of 65%. The free garden waste
service is based on a fortnightly collection which operates for 40 weeks of the year.
As per option 3, for this option, we have assumed either a ‘low’ or ‘medium’ yield from the WRAP ready
reckoner. This is determined based on the average weekly residual waste capacity. Based on evidence
from WRAP food waste collection trials, a set out rate of between 45% and 55% and a participation rate
81
82

To include the collection of plastic film and cartons.
Also referred to as a kerbsider, or Romaquip vehicle

47

111

of between 55% and 65% was applied. For all WCAs, it is assumed food waste is collected by dedicated
7.5t food waste vehicles83.
Moving to a common, weekly kerbside sort collection system is estimated to cost LWP (in collection
terms) an additional £9 million to the baseline, as shown in Table 34, resulting in a total gross collection
cost of approximately £27.5 million.
Table 34: Option 7 annualised collection costs and recycling performance

Total gross collection cost for Option 7
Baseline gross collection cost
Difference in collection costs compared to baseline
Kerbside recycling rate84
Cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling
performance

£27,468,000
£18,428,500
+£9,039,500
55.8% (+9.7%)
£962,700

£7,000,000

70%

£6,000,000

60%

£5,000,000

50%

£4,000,000

40%

£3,000,000

30%

£2,000,000

20%

£1,000,000

10%

£0

0%
Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough Hinckley &
DC
Bosworth BC

Annualised gross collection cost

Melton BC

NW
Oadby &
Leicestershire Wigston BC
DC

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Figure 17: Option 7 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance

83

It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.
84 Note that this is not the total Local Authority Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks, the HWRCs
and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the main collection systems from households

48

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Annual gross collection cost

KAT modelling suggests that the kerbside recycling rate increases by 9.7% when a kerbside sort system,
free garden waste service and separate food waste collection is introduced across the Partnership,
costing approximately £963k for every 1% increase in recycling performance that is achieved. A
breakdown of the kerbside recycling rates (right axis) for each WCA is provided in Figure 17, alongside
the annualised gross collection cost (left axis). The total tonnage collected at the kerbside in option 7 is
shown in Table 35.

112

Table 35: Option 7 kerbside collected tonnage

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston
BC

WCA total

18,296

8,435

15,187

6,700

97,470

6,684

6,840

3,944

5,879

3,475

45,335

5,144

3,783

3,318

1,530

4,003

1,556

22,294

7,967

13,644

8,692

11,409

4,559

10,702

3,835

60,809

670

1,186

757

417

155

903

339

4,428

52.99%

56.56%

60.74%

53.54%

53.88%

56.13%

55.75%

55.76%

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Residual

14,511

22,714

11,626

Dry recycling

6,183

12,329

Food

2,960

Option 7

Garden
85

Contamination
Kerbside
recycling rate

It is noted that the total dry recycling yields are lowest in this option in comparison to the baseline and
alternative collection options. However, the levels of contamination are lowest where material is sorted
at the kerbside.
The total gross collection cost per household for option 7 is presented in Table 36. The gross cost per
household is higher for all WCAs and increases by between £22 and £37.
Table 36: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 7

Option 7 total
annualised
gross
collection cost

Option 7 cost
per HH
Baseline cost
per HH

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£3,793,500

£6,527,100

£3,687,000

£4,233,400

£2,257,00

£4,541,500

£2,294,700

£93.13

£85.58

£91.92

£84.15

£95.80

£95.95

£98.28

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

3.9.2 Treatment & Disposal
LCC are responsible for allocating the treatment / disposal point for the dry recycling, garden and
residual waste collected. Under the current arrangement, the commingled dry recycling is processed at
a MRF in Leicester for sorting into individual materials for onward sale to third parties. The exception to
this is NWLDC who operate under a direction from LCC but process their own recycling. Through their
current arrangement NWLDC go out to the market every two months for materials collected at the
kerbside (commonly referred to as ‘spot pricing’).

85

This tonnage relates to the contamination collected across the dry recycling, food and garden collections.

49

113

In this option, there are no changes to this arrangement assumed for NWLDC. However, in this option it
is assumed that all WCAs within the Partnership will go out to market to sell the separately collected dry
recycling in the same way that NWLDC currently do. As per the other options, residual waste is treated
by a combination of energy recovery (mainly incineration with some refuse derived fuel (RDF)
processing) and landfill, this assumption is applied to all options in this appraisal86. It is assumed that the
separately collected food waste will be sent for processing at an Anaerobic Digestion facility.
For the purposes of the Options Appraisal, it is assumed that WCAs will gain revenue for the kerbside
sort dry recycling, much as is the case with NWLDC at present.87 It is assumed that no material will be
processed at the MRF. Material revenues for the kerbside sort material is based on 3-year averages
market prices88.
Table 37 shows a breakdown on the total costs to LWP in option 7. In this scenario, it is estimated that
the sale of dry recyclables could provide a combined income of nearly £3.5 million. Should this income
go to the WCAs, this could offset over a third of the increase in gross collection costs, which are
modelled at nearly £9 million above the baseline. The treatment and disposal costs are estimated at
approximately £12.8 million, a £4.4 million saving compared to the baseline.
Table 37: Option 7 total net costs (Partnership)

Gross Collection Cost

Baseline
£18,428,500

Option 7
£27,468,000

Garden Waste Income

-£5,528,500

£0

Dry Recycling Income

-£483,500

-£3,472,200

Treatment & Disposal Cost

£16,987,700

£12,843,000

Whole System Cost

£29,404,300

£36,838,800

Within the latest round of consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England was a
commitment from Government to cover the net cost of any ‘new burden’ faced by Local Authorities as a
result of any proposed (and implemented) reforms to recycling and waste management services.
Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to estimate the potential cost to LWP of meeting the
requirements of the national R&WS where packaging producers contribute to the cost of managing
packaging waste and central Government covers the costs of free garden waste collections and separate
food waste collections. See Section 3.11.3 for more detail.

3.9.3 Carbon (WRATE) analysis
The results of the WRATE modelling for option 7 is shown in Figure 18. This option results in the highest
carbon emissions of all the options within this appraisal. This option has an increase in emissions of
nearly 4,000t CO2-eq when compared to the baseline. This is due to increased transport emissions

86

There is also a sensitivity analysis undertaken which is used to determine the impacts of moving to a higher level of energy
recovery
87
This assumption has been made for the purposes of this options appraisal and would be subject to forthcoming legislation
and funding mechanisms.
88
As reported on Lets Recycle

50

114

associated with a kerbside sort option and decreased overall recycling. There are also more emissions
from the residual and treatment options when compared to the other options.
3,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000

kg CO2-eq

0
-1,000,000
-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000
Blaby

Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley &
Bosworth

Option 7

Melton

NW
Leicestershire

Oadby &
Wigston

HWRC

Baseline

Figure 18: Option 7 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service

51

115

3.10 Option 8 – Three-steam recycling
3.10.1 Kerbside Collection
In Option 8, all WCAs move to a three-stream recycling service, which is collected on a fortnightly basis
via 3 boxes. The materials are collected as follows:
-

Box 1 – Plastics (bottles, PTT and film), cartons and metals
Box 2 – Glass
Box 3 – Paper and Card

Blue italics are used to signify changes from the current collection in types of containers used and green
italics are used to show where the frequency of collections have changed. Where both the containers
and the frequency have changed, black italics are used.
Table 38: Option 8 container requirements and collection frequency

Frequency
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC

Dry recycling

Food waste

Garden waste

Residual

Fortnightly

Weekly

Fortnightly

3 x boxes
3 x boxes
3 x boxes
3 x boxes
3 x boxes
3 x boxes
3 x boxes

Small kerbside food
waste bin + kitchen
caddy

240L WHB (free)

As per current
service
140L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
180L/240L WHB
140L WHB

It is assumed that dry recycling will be collected by two types of vehicles; a Rear End Loader (REL) with a
pod, and a standard Refuse Collection Vehicle (RCV). It is modelled that the REL with pod will collect
paper and card in the rear compartment and glass will be collected in the pod. A dedicated RCV will
operate fortnightly to collect mixed plastics, cartons and cans. Residents will be provided with 3
containers to separate out their dry recycling into these three streams. In addition, food waste will be
collected weekly via dedicated collection vehicles and garden waste is collected free of charge. Residual
waste is assumed to be collected as per the current collection service. As noted previously for other
options with a free garden waste service, it is assumed that all households within the WCA will be
covered, and the service will result in a set out rate of 60% and participation rate of 65%. The free
garden waste service is based on a fortnightly collection which operates for 40 weeks of the year.
We have assumed either a ‘low’ or ‘medium’ food waste yield from the WRAP ready reckoner,
consistent with option 3. This is determined based on the average weekly residual waste capacity. Based
on evidence from WRAP food waste collection trials, a set out rate of between 45% and 55% and a
participation rate of between 55% and 65% was applied. For all WCAs, it is assumed food waste is
collected by dedicated 7.5t food waste vehicles89.

89

It has been assumed that these vehicles will be used, however, more cost-effective ways of collecting this may be available
for some WCAs.

52

116

Collecting dry recycling via a three-stream collection (two vehicles) is estimated to cost (collectively)
approximately £10 million per annum more than the baseline, resulting in a total indicative annual gross
collection cost of £28.5 million, as shown in Table 39.
Table 39: Option 8 annualised collection costs and recycling performance

Total gross collection cost for Option 8
Baseline gross collection cost
Difference in collection costs compared to baseline
Kerbside recycling rate90
Cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling
performance

£28,509,300
£18,428,500
+£10,080,700
55.8% (+9.4%)
£1,073,600

Option 8 is modelled to increase LWP’s kerbside recycling rate by 9.4% to 55.8%. This equates to the
highest cost per 1% increase in kerbside recycling performance of all options modelled. A breakdown of
the kerbside recycling rates (right axis) for each WCA is provided in Figure 19, alongside the annualised
gross collection cost (left axis).
£7,000,000

70%

£6,000,000

60%

£5,000,000

50%

£4,000,000

40%

£3,000,000

30%

£2,000,000

20%

£1,000,000

10%

£0

0%
Blaby DC

Charnwood BC Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Annualised gross collection cost

Melton BC

NW
Oadby &
Leicestershire Wigston BC
DC

Kerbside recycling rate (%)

Figure 19: Option 8 annualised gross collection cost vs recycling performance
Table 40: Option 8 kerbside collected tonnage

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston
BC

WCA total

18,296

8,433

15,187

6,699

97,471

6,840

3,946

5,880

3,476

45,335

3,318

1,530

4,003

1,556

22,294

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Residual

14,511

22,715

11,629

Dry recycling

6,183

12,328

6,682

Food

2,960

5,144

Option 8

3,783

90

Note that this is not the total Local Authority Recycling rate which also includes the performance of Bring Banks, the HWRCs
and other collection activity, but is purely the performance of the main collection systems from households

53

117

Garden
91

Contamination
Kerbside
recycling rate

7,967

13,644

8,692

11,409

4,559

10,702

3,835

60,808

670

1,186

757

417

155

903

339

4,428

52.99%

56.56%

60.73%

53.54%

53.88%

56.13%

55.75%

55.76%

The total tonnage collected at the kerbside in option 8 is shown in Table 40. The total amount of dry
recycling collected per WCA is joint lowest, with option 7. This is because the more complex a recycling
system is (e.g. the greater separation the householder is required to undertake) will generally yield
lower levels of recycling. It does, however, have a positive impact on the contamination rate, with this
option showing the equal (with option 7) lowest amount of contamination of recyclables of all options
modelled.
The total gross collection cost per household for option 8 is presented in Table 41. All WCAs see a
significant increase in the cost of the service per household, with option 8 having the highest average
cost per household of all options modelled in this appraisal up to £54.64 per household above the
baseline. HBBC is the exception here with a much smaller increase of c.£8 per household. This is because
HBBC achieve savings made on the residual waste collection service in this option which helps to offset
cost increases on other areas of the collection service. This effect is not seen across all WCAs in this
option.
Table 41: Total annual gross collection cost per household - Option 8

Option 8 total
annualised
gross
collection cost

Option 8 cost
per HH
Baseline cost
per HH

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth BC

Melton BC

NW
Leicestershire
DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£4,160,000

£6,202,500

£3,783,000

£3,522,300

£2,513,400

£6,342,000

£2,600,100

£98.65

£81.32

£94.32

£70.01

£106.68

£120.95

£111.49

£55.32

£58.03

£57.11

£62.35

£59.46

£66.31

£72.94

3.10.2 Treatment & Disposal
LCC are responsible for allocating the treatment / disposal point for the dry recycling, garden and
residual waste collected. Under the current arrangement, the commingled dry recycling is processed at
a MRF. The exception to this is NWLDC who operate under a direction from LCC but process their own
recycling. Through their current arrangement NWLDC go out to the market every two months for
materials collected at the kerbside (commonly referred to as ‘spot pricing’). In this option, there are no
changes to this arrangement assumed. However, in this option it is assumed that the WCAs within the
Partnership will go out to market to sell the separately collected dry recycling. As per the other options,
residual waste is treated by a combination of energy recovery (mainly incineration with some refuse
91

This tonnage relates to the contamination collected across the dry recycling, food and garden collections.

54

118

derived fuel (RDF) processing) and landfill, this assumption is applied to all options in this appraisal92. It
is assumed that the separately collected food waste will be sent for processing at an Anaerobic
Digestion facility.
For the purposes of the Options Appraisal, it is assumed that WCAs will gain revenue for the kerbside
sort dry recycling, much as is the case with NWLDC at present93. It is assumed that no material will be
processed at the MRF. Material revenues for the kerbside sort material is based on 3-year averages
market prices94.
Table 42: Option 8 total net costs (Partnership)

Baseline
£18,428,500

Option 8
£28,509,300

Garden Waste Income
Dry Recycling Income

-£5,528,500

£0

-£483,500

-£3,471,500

Treatment & Disposal Cost

£16,987,700

£12,843,000

Whole System Cost

£29,404,300

£37,880,800

Gross Collection Cost

Within the latest round of consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England was a
commitment from Government to cover the net cost of any ‘new burden’ faced by Local Authorities as a
result of any proposed (and implemented) reforms to recycling and waste management services.
Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to estimate the potential cost to LWP of meeting the
requirements of the national R&WS where Packaging producers contribute to the cost of managing
Packaging waste and central Government covers the costs of free garden waste collections and separate
food waste collections. See Section 3.11.3 for more detail.

3.10.3 Carbon (WRATE) analysis
The results of the WRATE modelling for option 8 is shown in Figure 20. This option is the 2nd worst
performing (in terms of carbon emissions) of the Options Appraisal, at 2,900 tonnes CO2-eq emissions higher emissions than the baseline.
There are increased transport emissions due to operating two rounds on the dry recycling. This
combined with decreased recycling emissions savings and more emissions on the residual and treatment
options when compared to the other options. This option has the joint lowest carbon saving from
recycling activity.

92

There is also a sensitivity analysis undertaken which is used to determine the impacts of moving to a higher level of energy
recovery
93
This assumption has been made for the purposes of this options appraisal and would be subject to forthcoming legislation
and funding mechanisms.
94
As reported on Lets Recycle

55

119

2,000,000
1,000,000

kg CO2-eq

0
-1,000,000
-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000
Blaby

Charnwood Harborough

Hinckley &
Bosworth

Option 8

Melton

NW
Leicestershire

Oadby &
Wigston

HWRC

Baseline

Figure 20: Option 8 carbon emissions by WCA & the HWRC service

56

120

3.11 Sensitivity Analysis
This section sits outside of the main Options Appraisal process but explores some sub-options or
sensitivities in the LR&WS or how operations may be delivered, to have some understanding of impacts.
Aspects of this have also informed the Environmental Assessment, which is a separate process running
in parallel to the Options Appraisal and supporting the development of the LR&WS.

3.11.1 Residual waste treatment sensitivity
Residual waste collected across Leicestershire is currently sent to a combination of Energy Recovery, via
Energy from Waste Facilities (c.40%) and the remainder to landfill (c.60%)95. The County Council intends
to move away from landfill as a disposal option and therefore this sensitivity analysis considers the
carbon performance of option 3 for all the WCAs, under different residual waste treatment
arrangements. Two sensitivities have been modelled through WRATE; these are as follows:
a) Reducing the amount of residual waste sent to landfill to 10%. The remaining 90% is sent to
conventional EfW with a gross electrical efficiency of 25%.
b) Reducing the amount of residual waste sent to landfill to 10%. The remaining 90% is sent to EfW
with Combined Heat and Power (CHP) at a ratio of 25% gross electrical efficiency and 10% heat
recovery. The amount of heat recovery is modest; however it reflects the relatively low use of
heat96 from EfW in the UK.
Energy from waste is a more preferred option than landfill according to the waste hierarchy, which is
one of the guiding themes of this LR&WS. It is preferred because it conserves resources and increases
material productivity - in the form of supplying energy and recovering aggregate and metals from the
ash for recycling. It has also been a higher performer than landfill in carbon terms. More recently, as the
electricity grid has become ‘cleaner’, i.e. a larger proportion of the electricity comes from renewables or
nuclear (low carbon sources), then electricity from EfW facilities becomes less attractive in carbon
terms. This is because (depending on the residual waste composition) a significant proportion of the
heat generated in an EfW plant is derived from burning plastics (‘fossil’ carbon, which is equivalent to
burning oil) with the remainder from burning biogenic carbon (paper, card, wood, garden waste etc.).
Energy from biogenic carbon is considered renewable and low carbon. The balance of the electricity grid
is now such that energy from a typical EfW plant is a net emitter of carbon, whereas in the past (when
the electricity grid was more dominated by fossil fuels) it was a net saver of carbon. The sensitivity
analysis below confirms this. In Table 43 the amount of carbon emissions increases when 90% of the
residual waste is sent to standard EfW. However, when a proportion of the heat is recovered (in the CHP
sensitivity), there is a substantial carbon improvement against the current disposal arrangement, similar
to that achieved by the best recycling scenarios. The reason for this is that heat is generally supplied by
gas or oil, both of which are 100% fossil sources and damaging for climate change. The heat supplied by
CHP facilities will be part renewable and therefore offsets (reduces) carbon emissions.

95

Based on total residual waste, not just kerbside waste
It should be noted that one of the current facilities used by Leicestershire County Council has a CHP enabled system, the
Coventry Energy from Waste plant.
96

57

121

Table 43: Residual treatment carbon sensitivity

tCO2-Eq
Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley & Bosworth BC
Melton BC
North West Leicestershire DC
Oadby & Wigston BC
Total (WCA only)

Baseline

Option 397

43
-741
19
570
571
1,342
-145
1,659

210
-734
-331
706
499
1,122
-164
1,308

Option 3
(increased
EfW)
358
-448
26
908
631
1,426
-75
2,707

Option 3 (EfW
with CHP)
-735
-2,156
-922
-436
-76
199
-581
-4,823

These results indicate that Leicestershire, where seeking EfW for residual waste will create the best
carbon performance if they do one or all of the following:•
•
•
•

Reduce the amount of plastics in residual waste to improve the carbon intensity98 of the energy
produced
Recover heat wherever possible and a secure demand is available
Seek facilities with a higher electrical energy efficiency, at around 27% it is similar to the landfill
impact and >27% it would be notably better than landfill (using 2021 electricity grid mixes)
When commercially available and logistically suitable, seek to use facilities with Carbon Capture
and Storage technology (see below) as this effectively removes emissions making it a low carbon
energy source.

Carbon capture, utilisation and storage (CCUS) or carbon capture and sequestration (CCS) technology is
an area of increasing interest as a method of reducing emissions and mitigating climate change. It is the
process of capturing carbon dioxide (CO2) that would otherwise be emitted into the atmosphere. The
process of CCUS has potential applications for any process that produces large amounts of carbon
dioxide, e.g. natural gas in power stations. CO2 is captured, liquified and prepared for storage (i.e.
underground injection) or for secondary use. Storage takes place in suitable geological formations, for
example, in exhausted oil and gas fields or reservoirs, deep saline formations and coal fields. The use of
CCS process requires a considerable amount of heat and also electricity to operate, but this could be
supplied by the facility itself.

97

The difference in carbon impacts between the baseline and option 3 are subtle and vary between small beneficial impacts to
small detrimental impacts primarily as a result of the relative balance between recycling benefits and collection/transport
emissions. This can vary based on local circumstance.
98
This is a measure of the amount of carbon considered to be added to the atmosphere per kilowatt hour of electricity
produced. A lower number for an EfW process, reflects more biogenic carbon and less fossil carbon sourced energy = cleaner
emissions in climate terms

58

122

There are wider reasons to avoid landfilling of municipal waste. There are policy drivers (e.g. the
Resources and Waste Strategy for England and the Circular Economy Package99) with targets for
reducing waste to landfill. Furthermore, there are potential environmental impacts arising from leachate
from landfills and finally the landfilling of waste passes on the responsibility for managing environmental
impacts of the landfills onto future generations which is contrary to sustainable development.
Table 44 provides a comparison of the typical average gate fees for landfill and energy from waste.
There are significant variations in the treatment cost per tonne for each treatment method as shown by
the reported low and high gate fees. However, based on the median reported figure, the cost of landfill
(for the treatment of non-hazardous municipal waste) is generally more expensive than sending for
energy recovery via an EfW facility.
Table 44: Residual waste treatment gate fee comparison, 2019/20100

Treatment method
Energy from Waste
(post-2000 facilities)
Landfill
(Non-hazardous waste including landfill
tax at 2019/20 rate of £91.35/tonne)

Low
£48

Gate Fee 2019/20
High
£150

Median
£93

£93

£187

£116

3.11.2 Electric vehicles fleet sensitivity
Several refuse collection vehicle (RCV) manufacturers are rolling out electric RCVs to local authorities
across the UK. Blaby District Council conducted a trial in October 2021. Performance trials by Dennis
Eagle on power consumption suggest that their fleet of eRCVs are consuming c.150 kW per day,
travelling c.154km. It is expected that the battery will last the life of the vehicle.101
A cost-benefit analysis exercise was undertaken by Eunomia in 2020 to look at the environmental and
cost differential between diesel and electric RCVs102. The research shows that replacing all diesel RCVs in
the UK with electric equivalents could provide a carbon saving of 290 kilotonnes of carbon-dioxideequivalent per annum (ktCO2e/yr). From a cost perspective, the results indicate that the higher initial
capital costs of an eRCV are largely offset by cheaper operational costs (but not fully), however once the
impact of emissions is included (monetised as ‘externalities’), the eRCVs result in a saving of over
£12,000 per vehicle.
The focus of waste vehicle electrification has predominantly been on RCVs. It is understood that
manufacturers are developing and trialling spilt body system vehicles, however the total range will likely
be adversely impacted based on the system requirements for operating twin-bodies. Kerbside Sort

99

Targets set out within the Resources & Waste Strategy for England and Circular Economy Package include recycling 65% of
municipal waste by 2035 and to have no more than 10% municipal waste going to landfill by 2035.
100
Source: WRAP Gate Fees Report (2021). Available here: https://wrap.org.uk/resources/report/gate-fees-report-2020
exl.VAT
101 Source: Webinar (2021) Freight in the City – Electrification of waste and recycling vehicles. Presentation by Dennis Eagle
102 Source: Eunomia (2020) Ditching Diesel – A cost-benefit analysis of electric refuse collection vehicles

59

123

vehicles are also becoming available in electric only options, and food waste vehicles are currently
available as hybrids.
Table 45: Cost benefit analysis – eRCV vs diesel RCV. Source: Eunomia (2020) Ditching Diesel

Category

Environmental Impact (ktCO2e/yr)
Capital Cost (£)
Operational Cost (£)
Total (exc. Externalities) (£)
Externalities (£)
Total (£)

Electric RCV

Diesel RCV

40
365,374
237,331
602,705
7,979
610,684

330
163,791
409,306
573,097
49,952
623,049

Net Cost / Impact
of eRCV compared
to diesel RCV
-290
+201,583
-171,975
29,608
-41,973
-12,365

The capital costs indicated in Table 45 are consistent with market intelligence recently gathered by Frith
Resource Management (FRM) which shows the following anticipated costs for the types of vehicles used
in the Options Appraisal for LWP:
•
•
•

Standard (24m3) RCV – c.2.5-3 times the cost for an electric equivalent compared to diesel
A multi-compartment (also known as kerbside sort) vehicle (i.e., Romaquip) – c.2-2.5 times the
cost for an electric equivalent
7.5t food waste vehicle – c.1.75 times the cost for a hybrid equivalent

As technology develops, the capital cost of electric vehicles is likely to reduce. FRM has noted that
waste management contractors are reluctant to propose a whole fleet of electric vehicles to service a
contract unless the procuring authority is explicit in its requirement. This is a reflection of the evolving
technology, the current perceived concerns over limitations in vehicle range (driving distance between
charging)103 and the high capital cost.
In addition to the increased capital cost of the vehicles, investment is likely to be required for charging
capacity at depots. The cost of this is dependent on local circumstances, the size of the fleet and the
charging type required. However, as an indication, the City of London Council104 has reported a cost of
£250k for the installation of a new electrical substation at the depot to handle the charging of its full
fleet of seven electric RCVs. This figure could easily double depend on the specific requirements. The
electrical charging infrastructure is considered likely to last for several vehicle lifespans, so should not
need replacing alongside the vehicle fleet, however care needs to be taken to match the charging
infrastructure to the vehicle type in order to conserve battery life.
The operational cost of electric vehicles is lower than for diesel equivalents, as shown in Table 45. This
covers not only the cost of the fuel (or electricity) but also that electric powered vehicles are exempt
from Vehicle Excise Duty, which is reported to save over £600 per vehicle per year. A presentation by

103

It should be noted that Dennis Eagle, who manufacture the E-Collect electric RCV have tested the vehicle on several
authorities and examples we have seen showed a full collection round completed with >20% battery life remaining. This will
vary by transport distance, however.
104 http://www.transportengineer.org.uk/transport-engineer-features/municipal-vehicles-juice-for-refuse/227649

60

124

Dennis Eagle105 highlighted the importance of the electricity tariff in calculating opex106 relative to diesel
vehicles; at current rates there would need to be a tariff of c.5p / kWh to match overall diesel equivalent
costs after 8 years. Any higher and it is likely to be more expensive (subject to diesel prices).
There is limited information in the public domain regarding the lifespan of electric RCVs. Traditionally, a
lifespan of 7 years has been used as the working assumption for diesel RCVs; this is now being extended
to 8-9 years, and in some cases 10 years, as a result of smoother driving from reduced landfill activity.
There is a discussion that the life of electric batteries may be the limiting factor, and currently likely have
a shorter life than the vehicle body. However, there is also the argument that electric vehicles offer a
smoother drive and simpler motor than their diesel counterparts, which prolongs the life of the chassis.
The Ditching the Diesel report107 mentions that manufacturers are estimating a 10-year lifespan for
electric vehicles, while in Denmark, operators are working on the assumption that the vehicles will last
for 10-12 years. If this is the case, the 20% increase in vehicle life will serve to offset a proportion of the
initial capital cost.
At present, the industry is experiencing increased lead times for waste collection vehicles of all types.
Anecdotally, FRM is hearing that lead times for electric vehicles are typically longer than diesel, which is
likely to be due to reduced production volume as well as a reported shortage of semiconductor
computer chips.
Electric vehicles have the direct benefit of eliminating localised air pollution from waste operations, i.e.
there are no tail pipe emissions from eRCV as no fuel is burned. Furthermore, Dennis Eagle has reported
that its eRCVs are half as noisy when compacting waste in comparison to the diesel equivalents. There is
also reduced noise pollution from electric engines when driving, improving the working conditions for
collection crews and householders during collection rounds.
From an operational perspective, there are a number of key considerations. These include, but are not
limited to:
-

Space for parking and charging infrastructure
Charging capability (i.e. grid capacity, potential requirement for substation or local upgrades to
the electricity grid)
Increased torque for vehicle movements / operations
Size and geography of the collection round
Recharging time
Load / bay management
Skills and training for drivers and maintenance staff
Supply chain for eRCVs

Other alternatives to diesel and electric vehicles are also being developed, including hydrogen and
hydrotreated vegetable oil. Regarding hydrogen, it is important to know where hydrogen is coming
from when considering GHG emissions. There is a growing market for hydrotreated vegetable oil fuelled

105

Let’s Recycle Live event, 2021
Operating costs
107 Ditching Diesel – A cost-benefit analysis of electric refuse collection vehicles. Eunomia (2020).
106

61

125

RCVs, this fuel can be a direct ‘drop in’ fuel replacement for RCVs, with 90-92% reduction in GHG
emissions108.
3.11.2.1 Sensitivity Results
A sensitivity analysis was undertaken to estimate the carbon performance of using electric vehicles
instead of the current diesel counterpart. This sensitivity has been applied to option 3. The operational
aspects of option are as discussed in Section 3.4 in terms of the service provided and resource
requirements.
The impact of electric vehicles was applied using a generalised assumption from the Eunomia Cost
Benefit Analysis ‘Ditching the Diesel’ report109. This report states that switching to electric RCVs would
yield around 12.1% of the carbon impact of using diesel RCVs (across the UK). This benefit is only
indicative as limited detail of the methodology applied within the study is published. It would also be
dependent on the source of electricity used. Discussion with electric RCV suppliers reports significant
variation in performance by local dynamics (number of bin lifts versus travel time, loads collected, hills
and general travel conditions). Therefore, the approach adopted to deliver indicative carbon savings was
to separate out the carbon impacts of transport from diesel collection vehicles (from the WRATE
outputs) and reduce their carbon impact to 12.1% of that figure to estimate the carbon impacts
associated with operating electric vehicles. This is therefore a high-level estimate.
These assumptions have been applied to all vehicle types used in option 3. The findings of the WRATE
modelling are shown in Figure 21 and Table 46.

108

Source: Webinar (2021) Freight in the City – Electrification of waste and recycling vehicles. Presentation by
Zemo Partnership
109
January 2020

62

126

1,500,000
1,000,000

kg CO2-eq emissions

500,000
0
-500,000
-1,000,000
-1,500,000
-2,000,000
-2,500,000
-3,000,000
-3,500,000
Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley &
Bosworth

Option 3 with EVs

Melton

NWL

Oadby &
Wigston

Option 3

Figure 21: Electric vehicle sensitivity modelling (WRATE) – Option 3

If LWP were to replace all the vehicles collecting recyclables and waste from the kerbside modelled in
option 3, with electric equivalents, but otherwise maintain the other elements of the waste
management service, the carbon impact from the service could improve by c.6,800 tonnes. This is
equivalent to taking 2,400 cars off the road in comparison to option 3. This would result in a total
modelled carbon performance of 11,471 tonnes of CO2 equivalent emissions saved. This is a product of
the total vehicles and miles travelled in each option and avoided equivalent diesel emissions. The
transport aspect (mileage) in option 3 is significantly further than the Baseline in order to provide a
dedicated weekly food waste collection and the free garden waste service, and therefore, the avoided
emissions (savings) of moving to electric vehicles are higher than the baseline, the results of which are
provided below for comparison. This performance improvement is a high-level estimate and should be
treated as such, some vehicle types used in the options have not yet been demonstrated in a battery
powered form. This is an area of intense development across the industry at this time.
Table 46: Electric vehicle sensitivity results

Emissions (tCO2-Eq)
Total emissions with Current vehicles (tCO2-Eq)
Total emissions with eRCVs (tCO2-Eq)
Difference on transport emissions110 (tCO2-Eq)
Approximate distance
travelled (km)

110

Baseline
-4,370
-9,937
5,567
2,974,835

Option 3
-4,585
-11,456
6,872
4,093,617

Increased CO2-Eq savings

63

127

3.11.3 Estimated impacts of Policy Reforms
The requirements within the Environment Act and Resources and Waste Strategy for England pose some
of the most significant reforms to the management of waste and recycling that the industry has
experienced over the last 50 years. Although much of the detail of these reforms is yet to be confirmed,
the impact of the reforms proposed for Local Authority costs and operations is considerable. As such, as
part of our analysis of the Options Appraisal we have applied a sensitivity analysis comprising some highlevel cost modelling to estimate how collection and disposal costs might look for the Partnership, based
on some of the proposals within the national Strategy. This includes consideration of:
1. Full net cost recovery of obligated packaging material through the Extended Producer
Responsibility (EPR) producer pays principle
2. Proposed Government commitment to cover any net new burdens placed on local government
as a result of strategy obligations
3. Potential income from the capture of unredeemed deposits from the Deposit Return Scheme
(DRS), within the kerbside collected waste.
The potential cost implications of each are presented as follows:
EPR
As part of the proposals for reforming Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR), Government are
proposing that from the beginning of 2024111, packaging producers will be responsible for covering the
full net recovery costs of packaging items placed on the market. For Local Authorities, it is assumed that
this includes the cost of collecting, transporting, recycling and treating/disposing of materials obligated
within the reformed EPR schemes. Although the detail on how the financing arrangements will
ultimately be determined is yet to be known, high-level cost modelling has been applied to all options to
estimate the potential proportion of Local Authority costs (both at a WCA and WDA level) that could be
covered by producers through the EPR schemes.
The potential collection costs covered by EPR has been estimated based the proportion of dry recycling
and residual waste which is classed as ‘obligated EPR material’. On disposal and treatment, it is assumed
that any revenue accrued from the onward sale of obligated EPR materials is provided to producers to
reflect their net costs.
Our modelling is based on a series of assumptions derived from information within the latest round of
consultation documents on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England. Any figures quoted are based
on assumptions which may require update following the publication of the 2nd round of consultation
responses (expected early 2022). These cost estimates have been applied and are indicative only.
New Burdens
As part of the reforms to the waste and recycling industry, the Government has also committed to fully
fund all net new burdens placed on local authorities arising from the Environment Act. This is in
recognition of the financial pressures on local authorities and to ensure that any additional costs arising

111

Subject to consultation. This timeline is as per latest proposals from the Resources & Waste Strategy

64

128

from new statutory duties will be covered. It includes changes that may necessitate additional
equipment or resourcing, covering capital and operating costs.
This analysis includes a high-level assessment of the potential costs covered by the new burdens’
doctrine, focusing on impacts on food waste and garden waste collection. The duration of how long
these costs will be covered, remains to be seen, however Defra have confirmed that government will be
funding local authorities for the operation of a separate food waste collection, even where there are
existing food waste collections.
The detail regarding the calculation of a net burden for local authorities has not yet been published by
government. Therefore, for the purposes of this modelling, we have presented two potential methods in
which new burdens may be calculated for operating a free garden waste service:
-

-

Option A – where Government pays the additional collection (operational) costs. This means
covering the additional cost for an authority to move from a charged service to a free service.
This includes any additional resourcing, containers, vehicles required over and above a charged
garden service. In this scenario the new burden cost covered by government also reimburses the
loss of garden waste income.
Option B – where Government covers the total collection cost of a free garden waste collection
(i.e., any previous subscription costs would not be reimbursed).

Our modelling indicates that in option A, a new burdens doctrine could cover up to £8.4m per annum for
the WCAs across the partnership, based on the purchase of additional containers, any new vehicles or
operating costs and by reimbursing each WCA (except NWLDC) for any lost subscription revenue. Should
the Government choose to cover the whole collection cost of the service, but not any lost revenue
(option B) instead, this could equate to c.£6m per annum. This is c.£2.4m cheaper than option A,
including the cost of NWLDC service, which is already free and so is not included in option A as there are
no ‘new’ changes associated to that service. It is possible, due to the emphasis on ‘net’ costs that
Government may reduce the payment to Waste Collection Authorities based on an assumption that
some of the garden waste was diverted out of residual waste (yielding a disposal cost saving as green
waste composting is significantly cheaper than residual waste disposal), however there is limited
information on this and the saving would be to the WDA whilst the costs incurred by the WCAs. This has
not been included in the assessment here.
Table 47: New burdens calculations –garden waste collections

Cost Element

Garden waste collection costs covered by new burdens (all
Options moving to free garden waste service)
Option A

Option B

Additional cost of free garden

£2,863,370

Loss of garden waste income

£5,528,500

Not covered in this
circumstance

Gross collection Cost

Total

£8,391,870

£5,980,546
£5,980,546

To estimate the ‘new burdens’ cost of a food waste service, we have assumed that all authorities will
implement a dedicated food waste collection, and the annualised collection cost from KAT has been
65

129

used. The total new burdens covered by the Government for the new food waste service is shown in
Table 48. However, it should be noted that the collection costs for food waste can vary significantly
depending on the collection arrangement, i.e. separate dedicated food waste or co-collected with other
materials such as a split-back vehicle with a pod, or via a kerbside sort vehicle (e.g. Terberg or
Romaquip).
Table 48: New burdens calculations – food waste collections

Partnership
Summary
Total cost of
food waste
collection

Option 3

Option 4

£4.9
million

£4.9
million

Option 5A

Option 5B

£5.2
million

£5.2
million

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

£4.9
million

£4.9
million

£4.9
million

As mentioned, Defra have confirmed that government funding for local authorities will cover the total
collection cost and total net112 disposal cost of a separate food waste collection, even where there are
existing food waste collections at present. The disposal of organics is cheaper than the alternative
treatment method (residual waste disposal). Furthermore, it is unclear from the definition of 'net costs'
whether any savings would be deducted from additional collection costs or not and how this will work in
two-tier authority areas. As such we have excluded this element of the costings and are these not
included as part of this modelling.
Net impact of EPR payments and New Burdens
A summary of the potential net impacts of EPR and New Burdens payments is provided in Table 49 and
The light purple rows in Table 50 provide a detailed breakdown of where cost difference arises from (i.e.
which costs will be covered by EPR or new burdens payments).
Table 50Error! Reference source not found.. The costs are presented after the impacts of EPR payment
have been applied, detailing the cost for the collection authorities (WCA cost), treatment and disposal
cost (WDA cost) and the net cost for the Partnership. Revenues to the collection authorities have been
separately identified. In the baseline and option 3 to 6, it is assumed that the County Council would
incur the cost of processing material at the MRF (and the revenue for separately collected paper and
card in option 6). This is included in the treatment and disposal cost identified. The exception to this is
NWLDC where the revenue for their kerbside sort option is presented. In option 7 and 8, it is assumed
for the purpose of the modelling that all WCAs will receive an income from the onward sale of the
recyclables collected through the modelled kerbside sort variation. The revenue received is presented as
a Partnership total.
It is estimated that on collection, EPR payments from producers could reduce the WCAs kerbside gross
collection costs by c.£5m across the Partnership in the baseline scenario. This is based on producers
112

Our interpretation of ‘net costs’ covers the total difference in net disposal costs between sending food for Anaerobic
Digestion and sending to EfW (as if food waste remains in the residual waste stream) – equivalent to £58/t.

66

130

covering the cost of obligated materials within the kerbside collection scheme (packaging within the dry
recycling and residual waste streams). In alternative collection options this ranges from £4.65m to
£6.8m.
Where free garden waste collections are introduced, under the new burdens’ doctrine, it is assumed
that the government will cover the total kerbside collection costs113. This cost covers the cost of vehicles
(capital expenditure, operational expenditure and maintenance costs), collection crew and container
provision. The cost to the Partnership is just under £6m in all options. Similarly, on the same basis, it is
also assumed that government will cover the total kerbside collection cost of a separate food waste
collection service. Our modelling estimates this could cost in between £4.9m and £5.2m per annum.
Combined with the additional savings that could be achieved through the new burdens’ payments for
garden waste (in all alternative options except option 4) and food waste (all alternative options), the
total annual gross collection costs for the WCAs could reduce by between £10m and £17.8m, depending
on the alternative collection arrangement.
Our sensitivity analysis estimates that the total treatment costs could reduce by between £3.4 million
and £6.4 million per annum, on account of EPR. As a total net (Partnership) cost, savings of
approximately £5.3 million per annum have been estimated against the current baseline service. In the
alternative option this range increases significantly on account of the government proposals to cover
food and garden waste collection with savings ranging from £9 million (option 4) to £20.4 million (option
5A).
Any revenue or disposal costs of items not covered by EPR (i.e., small WEEE or textiles) are not
considered as part of this modelling.

113

A sensitivity has also been applied to explore an alternate option which was also considered as discussed under New
Burdens, (previously in this section) whereby subscription monies were reimbursed and the cost of changing from a charged
garden waste collection to a free service was paid by Central Government instead. This delivered a higher payment from
Government (by c. £2.2m per annum) according to the modelling.

67

Table 49: EPR sensitivity – Total Partnership costs

Total Net Partnership
cost
(as per collection
modelling)
Total Net Partnership
cost
(If EPR and new
burdens payments are
received)
Difference

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option 5A

Option 5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

£29.4 million

£38.3 million

£31.9 million

£37.9 million

£36.9 million

£39.9 million

£36.8 million

£37.9 million

£23.9 million

£17.9 million

£22.9 million

£17.4 million

£16.7 million

£18.8 million

£19.2 million

£19.8 million

-£5.4 million

-£20.4 million

-£9 million

-£20.5 million

-£20.2 million

-£21.1 million

-£17.6 million

-£18 million

131

The light purple rows in Table 50 provide a detailed breakdown of where cost difference arises from (i.e. which costs will be covered by EPR or
new burdens payments).114
Table 50: Breakdown of EPR Sensitivity

Saving arising
from

Gross Collection Costs
after EPR & new
burdens (WCA cost)
Kerbside dry and
residual collection
cost covered by EPR
Garden cost covered
by new burdens
(total cost)

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option 5A

Option 5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

£13.4 million

£8.3 million

£13.4 million

£8.2 million

£7.5 million

£10.2 million

£10 million

£10.7 million

-£5 million

-£16.1 million

-£10.1 million

-£16.5 million

-£16 million

-£17.7 million

-£17.4 million

-£17.8 million

£5 million

£5 million

£5 million

£5 million

£4.7 million

£6.6 million

£6.4 million

£6.8 million

-

£6 million

-

£6 million

£6 million

£6 million

£6 million

£6 million

114 This table is to show the potential impacts EPR and the new burdens doctrine could have on the modelled costs in each option (the differences are highlighted in green).
There are additional revenues which are not impacted by EPR and the new burdens doctrine which are not presented in this table but are taken into account in the total net
Partnership costs presented in Table 49.

68

Food cost covered by
new burdens
(total cost)
Dry Recycling
Revenue (NWLDC
only)
Dry Recycling
Revenue (all WCAs)

Total Treatment &
disposal (WDA cost)115

-

£4.9 million

£4.8 million

£5.2 million

£5.2 million

£4.9 million

-£90,000

-£97,000

-£93,000

-£97,000

-£99,500

£0

£4.9 million

£4.9 million

-£937,000

-£937,800

£10.6 million

£9.6 million

£9.5 million

£9.2 million

£9.2 million

£8.5 million

£9.2 million

£9.2 million

-£6.4 million

-£5 million

-£5 million

-£4.7 million

-£4.7 million

-£3.4 million

-£3.4 million

-£3.4 million

132

115

This includes MRF costs in the baseline and options 3 – 6. In option 7 and 8 it is assumed there are no MRF costs and WCAs will receive any revenue from the onward sale of
recyclables. Note that some of the savings to the WDA (for example from diverting organics from the residual waste stream) could in theory be offset against monies given to
the WCAs for organics collections. This has not been included here as it is unclear how and if Government would apply these to new burdens calculations.

69

133

In option 7 and 8 the WCAs get the benefit of the material revenue, so as such would see the impact of
EPR effects here.
DRS – Value of unredeemed deposits
The Government are also currently consulting on what will happen to unredeemed deposits i.e., those
packaging items that are covered by the Deposit Return Scheme but that are not returned by a Reverse
Vending Machine (RVM) or similar mechanism, and as such fall into the management of Local
Authorities (either through kerbside collection or street cleansing of litter). Within the latest round of
consultation on the Resources and Waste Strategy for England, it is proposed that unredeemed deposits
will form one of the funding mechanisms for the Deposit Management Organisation (for example
through the value of unredeemed deposits, revenue from the sale of materials and a producer fee).
However, the Government are also considering a funding mechanism for Local Authorities to pay them
for any material left within kerbside collections.
An estimation of the potential value of unredeemed deposits has been made for each WCA, assuming
that Local Authorities can capture a third of the unredeemed DRS obligated materials (this is equivalent
to c.5% of all in-scope DRS material). Based on this estimation, across the Partnership, the WCAs could
receive in the region of £2.4 million by way of income from unredeemed deposits. It should be noted
that this is a very high-level assessment.
Table 51: Estimated value of unredeemed deposits

Value of
unredeemed
deposits116
Total

Blaby DC

Charnwood
BC

Harborough
DC

Hinckley &
Bosworth
BC

Melton
BC

North West
Leicestershir
e DC

Oadby &
Wigston BC

£354,000

£609,000

£317,600

£423,300

£191,100

£356,300

£176,400

£2,428,000

116

Assuming that each WCA could capture one third of all redeemed (c.5% of all DRS obligated materials) and are funded the
full value of the deposit.

70

134

4 Comparison of headline results across all options
The summary table (Table 53) overleaf provides a comparison of the results across all options. Each
option has been modelled to determine the collection cost, kerbside recycling performance, treatment
and disposal costs (including material revenues) and its environmental performance (carbon equivalent
savings). Cost information has been amalgamated to show the total Partnership costs; however it is
important to note that the degree to which these costs are impacted varies across options (i.e. where
any cost increases or savings sit across the service) and whether the cost or saving falls upon either the
WCAs or County Council or is shared across the Partnership.
The criteria with which each of the options are assessed was agreed at the first Partnership workshop,
which took place on 9th June 2021. The agreed criteria and their associated weighting are outlined in
Table 52.
Table 52: Agreed criteria and associated weighting

Criteria
Carbon
Recycling performance / reuse performance / waste prevention performance
Cost
Residual waste arisings
Educational / awareness raising
Alignment with National Policy
Public acceptability
Social value
Operational flexibility
Resource use

Weighting
4.7
4.3
4.3
4.1
4.1
4.0
3.9
3.5
3.4
3.2

These appraisal criteria were applied to all collection options (Baseline and options 3 – 8). Options 1 and
2 (waste prevention and reuse) are activities that all should undertake and vary widely in terms of their
outputs and impacts. We have explored different initiatives that the Partnership currently undertake
and additional ideas that could be explored. The best reuse and prevention initiatives will be subject to
the resource available and the need in a particular area or point in time. We have therefore not scored
options 1 and 2 within the Options Appraisal report but have identified good practice and the types of
initiative that LWP could deliver which are included in the draft Headline Strategy.
The first four criteria are quantitative (can be directly measured using models as part of this appraisal),
and the remainder are qualitative, albeit that some aspects (e.g. the employment aspect of Social Value)
may be informed by numbers. All results (including the qualitative criteria) are scored 1-5 (highest is
best) against each criterion and then weighted to deliver the total option score. The total option score is
used to apply a ranking of options.
A description of the criteria banding is provided in Appendix A.

71

Table 53: Evaluation of Options

Criteria

Weighting

1
Worst performing

2

As Option 3,
with retained
charged
garden

As Option 3,
plus restricted
residual (140L
WHB)

Option 3, plus
restricted
residual (3weekly
collection)

As Option 3,
plus
fortnightly
twin stream
collection of
dry recycling

As Option 3,
plus kerbside
sort collection
of dry
recycling

As Option 3,
plus threestream
recycling

Baseline
3

Option 3
3

Option 4
3

Option 5A
5

Option 5B
5

Option 6
1

Option 7
1

Option 8
1

1

4

3

5

5

4

4

4

5

1

4

2

2

1

2

2

1

4

4

5

5

4

4

4

1

4

3

4

4

3

4

4

2

3

2

3

2

4

5

5

3

5

4

2

1

4

3

3

2

4

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

5

5

5

2

3

2

4

2

3

3

5

5

3

3

3

94.8

140.5

133.6

153.8

135.7

120.3

125.4

132.2

4

5

3

135

Carbon
4.7
Recycling performance
4.3
Cost
4.3
Residual waste arisings
4.1
Educational /
Awareness Raising
4.1
Alignment with National
Policy
4.0
Public Acceptability
3.9
Social Value
3.5
Operational Flexibility
3.4
Resource Use
3.2
Total Score (with weighting applied)
Highest Number = Best Option
Key

Business as
Usual

Revised
Baseline with
Consistent
Collection
measures,
EPR & DRS

Best performing

72

4.1 Carbon
The results of the WRATE modelling for each option are presented in Table 54. A key outcome of WRATE, as a waste management Life Cycle
Assessment tool, is the avoided environmental impact as a result of recycling (in particular) offsetting carbon impacts that would have occurred
through virgin material extraction, processing and logistics.
It should be noted that each Waste Collection Authority has a bespoke waste composition and baseline operating performance, this influences
the relative changes for each option in carbon terms.
Table 54: Summary of WRATE modelled (carbon equivalent savings), Baseline – plus Options 3 – 8.

Carbon savings
(kg CO2-eq)

Option 3
210,112
-734,457
-330,592

Option 4
283,576
-664,378
-226,508

Option 5A
-360,018
-2,193,429
-654,093

Option 5B
-549,009
-1,822,558
-799,191

Option 6
324,246
824,445
-86,313

Option 7
542,482
1,188,254
106,073

Option 8
544,794
568,289
69,813

570,265
628,716

705,789
616,850

878,264
662,354

-341,969
33,098

-89,660
159,459

1,342,573
730,700

1,653,038
791,359

1,149,312
758,541

1,342,287

1,122,455

1,122,455

888,465

752,707

1,446,303

1,122,455

1,327,255

-144,818
-6,086,548
-4,369,767

-163,561
-6,011,223
-4,584,627

-34,585
-6,086,548
-4,065,370

-370,884
-6,011,223
-9,010,053

-485,567
-6,011,223
-8,845,042

7,136
-6,011,223
-1,422,133

134,423
-6,011,223
-473,139

86,772
-6,011,223
-1,506,447

136

Blaby DC
Charnwood BC
Harborough DC
Hinckley &
Bosworth
BC
Melton BC
NW Leicestershire
DC
Oadby & Wigston
BC
HWRC
Total

Baseline
42,623
-740,830
18,538

73

137

Option 3

Option 4

Option 5a

Option 5b

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

0
-1,000,000

kg CO2-eq emissions

-2,000,000
-3,000,000
-4,000,000
-5,000,000
-6,000,000
-7,000,000
-8,000,000
-9,000,000
-10,000,000
Options Modelled

Baseline

Figure 22: Summary of WRATE modelled (carbon equivalent savings), Baseline against Options 3 – 8

The carbon savings per option have been ranked from 1 – 5, based on their score relative to the lowest
and highest score.
Option 3 results in marginally better environmental performance than the baseline (c.215 tonnes of CO2eq). This demonstrates the impact of DRS in particular (as a detrimental impact on the WCA carbon
performance), balanced out by improved management of food waste, the collection of small WEEE,
batteries and textiles at the kerbside combined with a move to a free garden waste collection service.
Option 5A results in the largest carbon saving of all collection options with c.9,010 CO2 equivalents per
annum, over double the baseline emission savings. There is a combination of factors attributed to this
reduction. There are reduced treatment and landfill emissions on account of additional garden waste
diverted from the residual waste to composting. More significantly, the restriction on residual capacity
incentivises households to recycle more (both dry recycling and food waste) which has a significant
carbon benefit where this material is diverted from energy recovery or landfill. There is also a slight
reduction in carbon performance from the HWRCs in this scenario as some of the increased garden
waste is assumed diverted from the Household Waste Recycling Centres into the kerbside collection
scheme. Option 5B has comparable levels of carbon performance for similar reasons.
Option 7 results in the highest carbon emissions of all the options within this appraisal with only a
modest saving in carbon emissions of c. 470tonnes CO2 eq. per annum. The lower performance is due to
increased transport emissions associated with a kerbside sort option and decreased total recycling
(although some recycling such as glass has higher carbon benefits per tonne as it has higher quality and

74

138

so can be sent to remelt applications). There are also higher impacts from the residual and treatment
options when compared to the other options. This is followed by option 6 and 8 which has carbon
savings of c.1,400 and c.1,500 tonnes CO2-eq, respectively.
In all options the emissions from landfill and waste treatment are reduced due to the separate collection
of food waste, and in the majority of options moving from a charged to a free garden waste collection.
The overall carbon benefit from dry recycling decreases in all options in comparison to the baseline. The
level of savings reduction is due in part to the removal of recycling material from the introduction of
DRS, and in the cases of option 6, 7 and 8 which see the collection service change, decreasing the
potential yield of dry recycling collected. However, the DRS scheme should result in greater carbon
benefits overall, but the recycling is not taking place via the WCA services and so it falls outside of this
appraisal.

75

139

4.2 Recycling performance
As shown in Table 55 and Figure 23, all options result in an increase in kerbside recycling rate for the
collection authorities as a whole; ranging from an increase of 8.1% to 15.6% percentage points.
Option 5A results in the highest kerbside recycling rate at almost 62%. This is close to the national 65%
municipal recycling target for 2035. In this option dry recycling is collected as per the current service
with the addition of cartons and film for NWLDC. Food waste is separately collected (as per all other
options), garden waste is collected free of charge and residual waste is restricted to a 140L WHB. This
performance level is followed closely by option 5B which is estimated to have a 61.3% kerbside
recycling. This option mirrors option 5A however option 5B models residual waste collected over three
weeks.
Option 5A and 5B are also the most cost-effective option in terms of collection cost per 1% increase in
kerbside recycling performance, however in this regard, option 5B is most cost effective at £336,500.
Option 4 results in the lowest kerbside recycling rate. This is primarily because it is the only alternative
collection option which models the garden waste collection retaining a charged garden service (as per
the baseline).
All other options model a free garden waste collection (alongside a separate food waste collection). Of
those options that operate free garden waste collections, option 7 and 8 result in the (joint) lowest
kerbside recycling performance. Option 7 and 8 model different variations a on a kerbside sort
collection; whereby option 7 models the dry recycling material collected via a specialist vehicle with
multiple compartments (e.g. a Romaquip) and option 8 models this collected via two vehicles (a Rear
End Loader with a pod, and a standard Refuse Collection Vehicle). The small decrease in recycling
performance is based on the assumption that providing households with more containers to separate
recyclables into, results in lower capture rates. However, our modelling (and evidence from NWDLC)
shows that separating materials generally provides higher quality recycling, as is seen in the level of
contamination across the options. A standard box-based system has been applied in the modelling,
other alternative collection systems are available (e.g. stackable box – trolley systems) which may yield
householder benefits in terms of storage and mobility but would also entail additional capital costs.
NWLDC are currently trialling two types of recycling trolleys (including the triplestack which is widely
used in Wales).
Option 8 has the highest cost per 1% improvement at over £1million per 1% increase in kerbside
recycling performance. This is due to a high kerbside collection cost to operate a three-stream dry
recycling (requiring two dry recycling vehicle types) and also a lower kerbside recycling rate; which is
common when moving from a fully commingled service (which is the case for 6 of the LWP members) to
a kerbside sort arrangement.

76

140

Table 55: Comparison of recycling performance, Baseline and Option 3 – 8.

£30,000,000

Gross Collection Costs

£25,000,000

Collection cost per 1% increase in
kerbside recycling performance118

£559,400
£632,300
£405,800
£346,200
£913,000
£962,700
£1,073,600

56.76%

61.97% 61.32%

55.76%

55.76%

57.12%

70%
60%

54.47%

50%
£20,000,000
40%
£15,000,000
30%
£10,000,000
20%
£5,000,000

Kerbside Recycling Rate (%)

Baseline (current service)
Option 3
Option 4
Option 5A
Option 5B
Option 6
Option 7
Option 8

Kerbside recycling
rate117
46.37%
57.12%
54.47%
61.97%
61.32%
56.76%
55.76%
55.76%

10%

£-

0%
Option 3

Option 4

Option 5A

Option 5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

Blaby DC collection costs

Charnwood BC collection costs

Harborough DC collection costs

Hinckley & Bosworth BC collection costs

Melton BC collection costs

NW Leicestershire DC collection costs

Oadby & Wigston BC collection costs

Baseline Partnership KS recycling rate

Partnership KS recycling rate
Figure 23: Comparison of headline results across all scenarios

117

The total WCA recycling rate would also include the waste flows from the Bring Banks and other household waste streams
not collected via the standard kerbside collection service. Therefore, for example, if a system in this report shows a +5% uplift in
‘kerbside recycling rate’, it would be envisaged that this would be a lower uplift in the total WCA recycling rate (e.g. it could be
+3 or +4% depending on other factors within the WCA).

77

141

4.3 Costs
Table 56 provides a summary of the total collection, revenue and treatment and disposal costs for all
options, compared against the baseline. A subtotal of ‘revenues’ is provided to show the total income
generated by each of the WCAs, followed by a subtotal of the total treatment and haulage costs for the
County Council. In this regard, it is assumed that LCC cover the cost of processing dry recycling in option
3 to 6 and as such is included in the treatment and disposal costs presented. However, in option 7 and 8
where material is sorted at the kerbside, it is assumed that WCAs will receive revenue from the sale of
this material.
All options have a greater cost in collection terms than the baseline. This is driven, in part, by the
introduction of a dedicated food waste collection service in all options, adding approximately £5 million
(collectively) to the kerbside collection costs for the Partnership. In all options, except option 4, the
garden waste service is delivered free and as such incurs slightly higher costs on account of providing
containers and operating the service to all households.
Option 5B is the lowest cost alternative option (in collection terms) for the WCAs collectively. In this
option, residual waste is collected three-weekly, reducing the residual waste collection costs for the
Partnership.
The option with the greatest annual collection cost for the Waste Collection Authorities (collectively) is
option 8. This option models a three-stream dry recycling collection, whereby a Rear End Loader (REL)
vehicle with a pod is used to collect and paper and card in the main compartment and glass in the pod of
the vehicle. A dedicated RCV is operated to collect plastic and metals. Option 8 is modelled to cost
(collectively) an additional £10 million per annum in collection costs, this is due to the number of
additional vehicles and crew required to operate this service
This is followed closely by option 6 (at c. £9.5 million) and option 7 (at c.£9 million above the baseline),
respectively. Option 6 models a twin-stream collection service for all WCAs. Option 7 models a kerbside
sort collection, which although is the same container configuration as option 8, requires only one vehicle
(Romaquip) to collect the dry recycling. In this option, dedicated food waste vehicles are selected,
however some optimisation may be achieved by co-collecting food with the dry recycling every other
week, or by increasing the dry recycling collection frequency to weekly.
Option 4 is the only collection system (besides the baseline) which retains the charged garden waste
service, therefore this option includes the revenue from garden waste subscriptions, as shown below.
The revenues shown for option 5A and 5B relate to NWLDC material revenue from their kerbside sort
system. There is no revenue for the WCAs in option 6 (twin-stream) as it is assumed the WCAs would
likely deposit the DMR and paper and card at the same facility, and LCC would receive the revenue for
the sale of paper and card. In option 7 and 8 however, where the WCAs operate variations of a kerbside
sort system, it is assumed the WCAs receive the revenue from material collection. These revenues
therefore offset against the higher gross collection costs, making them more comparable to the other
options which don’t see a change to the dry recycling collection. In this case, option 6 would have the
highest (collective) gross collection costs.
In terms of treatment and disposal costs for the County Council, all options provide a saving against the
baseline. Option 6 is the most-cost effective option for LCC. This option models a twin-stream collection
system. Part of the reason for this is it is assumed that the LCC will receive any income from the sale of
78

142

paper and card and as such provides a small revenue to offset against the cost to process the remaining
dry mixed recycling through a materials recycling facility.
Options 6, 7 and 8 reduce the total treatment costs for the WDA where material is separately collected,
and as such does not require processing at a Materials Recycling Facility, thereby incurring a gate fee. In
option 6, paper and card are collected separately, and so a smaller proportion of dry mixed recycling
requires sorting and processing. In options 7 and 8 material is presented separately at the kerbside by
residents and therefore not does require a MRF to process any of the material. In reality, some
additional sorting may be required, for example at a depot or other site, however this would not require
the same degree of separation and would therefore not incur the same level of costs for processing.119
The difference from the baseline for each option is presented in italics. Green indicates a cost saving,
whilst red indicates an additional cost.
Table 56: Total Partnership costs

Baseline
Gross
Collection
Cost (KAT)

£18.4
million

Option
3

Option
4

Option
5A

Option
5B

Option
6

Option
7

Option
8

£24.4
million

£23.5
million
£5.1
million
-£5.98
million

£24.7
million
£6.3
million

£23.6
million
£5.2
million

£27.9
million
£9.5
million

£27.5
million

-£480K

-£490K

-£602K

£5.5
million
£13.9
million

£12.6
million

-£3.5
million
£2.5
million
£12.8
million

£28.5
million
£10
million
-£3.5
million
£2.5
million
£12.8
million

£6 million
-£464K

Revenues
Total

-£6 million

Treatment
and
Disposal
Cost
Net
Partnership
cost

£17 million

£29.4
million

£9 million

£5.5
million
£14.4
million

£14.4
million

£5.5
million
£13.6
million

-£2.6
million

-£2.6
million

-£3.4
million

-£3
million

-£4.4
million

-£4.2
million

-£4.2
million

£38.3
million
£8.9
million

£31.9
million
£2.5
million

£37.9
million
£8.5
million

£36.9
million
£7.5
million

£39.9
million
£10.5
million

£36.8
million
£7.4
million

£37.9
million
£8.5
million

£23K

£6 million

The costs/savings and recycling figures estimated in this report are indicative and based on a number of
assumptions for modelling purposes only and are subject to forthcoming legislation and future funding
mechanisms. Therefore, they should not be used directly to justify specific cost of service change.

4.4 Residual waste arisings
Table 57 shows the total tonnage of residual waste collected in each of the options modelled through
KAT, and the evaluation score. The scores follow a similar pattern to the recycling performance,
whereby the highest recycling options also result in the lower residual waste tonnages. In comparison to
the baseline, all options result in a significant reduction in tonnage. The impacts of DRS and EPR are
estimated to reduce the total residual waste yield by c. 3%, which is modelled in all of the alternative
collection options. Broadly, options 3, 4, 6, 7 and 8 and result in similar levels of residual waste arisings.
The most significant reductions are seen in options 5A and 5B where a restriction of the residual waste

119

This evaluation is based on assumptions which will be subject to forthcoming legislation and funding mechanisms.

79

143

capacity (by bin size or collection frequency) is modelled. Restricting the size of the residual waste bin
results in the lowest overall residual waste arisings, however it should be noted that the individual
results for each WCA may vary depending on the size of container chosen by each authority for option
5B (three-weekly collection). For example, if BDC chose to collect residual waste via 180L WHB every
three weeks, this equates to a lower average bin capacity than collecting a 140L WHB every two weeks;
therefore it is likely for BDC that three-weekly collection would have a lower residual waste tonnage
than option 5A.
Table 57: Comparison of results: Residual waste arisings

Criteria
Residual waste
arisings
(tonnes)120

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option
5A

Option
5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

129,454

98,768

101,445

87,598

89,101

99,589

101,897

101,899

An overview of the total waste arisings, for comparison purposes, is shown in Table 58.
Table 58: Total waste arisings

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option
5A

Option
5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

Residual

129,454

98,768

101,445

87,598

89,101

99,589

101,897

101,899

Dry recycling

61,141

48,471

48,292

52,064

52,124

47,644

45,335

45,335

0

22,294

22,294

29,865

28,302

22,294

22,294

22,294

50,787

60,809

50,786

60,809

60,809

60,808

60,809

60,808

7,689

7,986

7,606

8,728

8,637

6,558

4,428

4,428

241,382

230,343

222,817

230,336

230,336

230,336

230,336

230,336

Food
Garden
Contamination
121

Total

4.5 Educational / awareness raising
The options within this appraisal are scored in Table 59 below based on how well they raise additional
awareness of waste and recycling; ranging from ‘no additional awareness raising’ to ‘strong additional
awareness raising’. In this regard, the baseline has been ranked lowest, as this the business as usual
case, with no changes to the service. The scoring system is included in Appendix A.
Option 3 is considered to bring strong awareness raising as in this option the breadth of recycling is
expanded to the consistent collections agenda proposed by government, but also includes the kerbside

120
121

Excluding contamination
This includes dry recycling, garden and food waste.

80

144

collection of batteries, small WEEE and textiles. This is in addition to the introduction of a dedicated
food waste collection and free garden waste collection.
Option 4 has limited additional awareness raising as although food waste collections are introduced,
garden waste is retained as a charged service, and it is considered that this would have limited
awareness raising. Options 5A, 5B, 7 and 8 also score high in this regard; option 5A and 5B as it is
assumed that presented with smaller or lower frequency collection on residual waste, residents would
think more carefully about the amount of waste generated in their household. Similarly, with option 7
and 8 where residents would be required to sort material at the household this would raise awareness
of which materials can be recycled, more so than in a commingled option.
Table 59: Comparison of results: Educational / awareness raising

Criteria
Educational
/
Awareness
Raising

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

1

4

3

Option
5A
4

Option
5B
4

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

3

4

4

4.6 Alignment with National Policy
As regards alignment, the options have been scored based on their anticipated alignment with the
Resources and Waste Strategy for England. Although this is still under consultation, there are aspects of
the national strategy which are highly likely to be introduced (mandatory food waste collections and
consistent collections agenda) with other areas requiring further insight (such as providing free garden
waste collections). The scoring system is included in Appendix A. Options 7 and 8 are ranked highest
(green) as it is anticipated that these options would be fully aligned with the Resources and Waste
Strategy for England (providing a free garden waste service, consistent collections via a kerbside sort
collection, food waste collection).
Option 5B has been ranked lower than option 3 and 5A as although it meets the proposed requirements
on providing a free garden waste service and food waste, the latest round of the national Resources &
Waste Strategy consultations document suggests that the preferred method for collection of residual
waste should be ‘at least fortnightly’ and as dry recycling for this option is retained at its current
configuration, predominantly commingled, this is the least preferable method (likely to be not aligned)
for collecting dry recycling (based on the capture of high quality material).
The baseline and option 4 are ranked lowest, as it is considered that charged garden will not be aligned
with the national Resources and Waste Strategy in the future; however further clarification on this may
arise from the results of the latest round of consultations which are due in Spring 2022.
Option 6 has been ranked below option 7 and 8 as this is technically in alignment with the national
R&WS, however this is subject to a TEEP122 (or equivalent) assessment. Option 3 is scored ‘amber’ as

122

A Technical, Economic and Environmental assessment of Practicability (TEEP) for alternative collection
approaches.

81

145

each WCA collects food, however garden waste collections are retained as a charged service and not all
recyclables are collected, as per the consistent collections requirements.
Table 60: Comparison of results: Alignment with National Policy

Criteria
Alignment
with
National
Policy

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

1

3

2

Option
5A
3

Option
5B
2

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

4

5

5

4.7 Public Acceptability
In terms of public acceptability, option 3 is ranked the equal highest as this requires the smallest amount
of change; no change to configuration, only increased dry recycling materials collected at the kerbside,
and the introduction of a free garden waste service and food waste collection. Although the baseline
(business as usual) requires no change to the household, it does not have food waste collection and
residents must subscribe to a garden waste collection (for 6 out of 7 of the WCAs) to have their garden
waste collected.
The scoring system is included in Appendix A. Option 4 is ranked second highest as this provides
households with the widest service with a minimum level of change. Garden waste is retained as
charged service which ranks this lower than option 3, however no other significant behaviour changes
are required.
Options 5A and 5B require a residual waste bin container or frequency change for all WCAs and as such
are considered to score lowest in terms of public acceptability. Option 7 and 8 are considered amber as
they require the most significant change from household in terms of dry recycling collection
configuration (with the exception of NWLDC).
Table 61: Comparison of results: Public Acceptability

Criteria
Public
Acceptability

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option
5a

3

5

4

2

Option
5B
3

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

4

3

3

4.8 Social Value
Each option has been ranked based on its anticipated social value. The scoring system is included in
Appendix A. The creation (and retention) of jobs, community well-being and wider health benefits have
all been considered when evaluating the score of each option. Options 3, 6, 7 and 8 score most highly in
terms of community well-being as these options provide collection for the greatest range of recyclables,
enabling residents and business to contribute more. In terms of employment, all options require more
staff than the baseline. However, the creation of a jobs is a trade-off for more general health impacts
(e.g. air quality) as typically where those services provide a higher number of jobs this is due to more
resource being required to operate the kerbside collection service (i.e. more vehicles require more
82

146

drivers and crew, however this means more transport miles are required and higher levels of air
pollution).
Table 62: Comparison of results: Social Value

Criteria
Social
Value

Baseline

Option 3

2

5

Option 4

Option 5A

Option 5B

3

3

3

Option 6

Option 7

4

Option 8

4

4

4.9 Operational flexibility
Table 63 shows how the options have been scored for operational flexibility. This relates to how well the
WCAs could deliver the service based on the resources required to deliver each option. For example
option 3, 4 and 5A score well against this evaluation criteria, as all waste services (with the exception of
NWLDC) are operated by standard Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs), therefore there is potential scope
for flexibility should demands and waste tonnages require temporary shift in delivery.
Option 5B ranks lowest here, as a three weekly collection scheme can be inherently complex to cooperate with other service which operate on a fortnightly or weekly basis. Option 7 ranks joint lowest in
this as all WCAs move to a kerbside collection system which sees the use of compartmentalised vehicles
(e.g. Romaquips) which are designed for kerbside sort collections and could not be used for other
services such as garden or residual waste. Option 6 and 8 rank slightly better as although there are
different vehicle configurations in these options, there is some flexibility in these vehicles to be used for
other services.
Table 63: Comparison of results: Operational flexibility

Criteria

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option
5A

Option
5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

Operational
Flexibility

3

5

5

5

2

3

2

4

4.10 Resource Use
Resource use has been scored based a combination of the following:
-

-

Amount of resource depletion of abiotic resources (kg antimony-Eq) – this relates to the
extraction of raw materials and resources. An abiotic depletion factor is determined for each
mineral or fossil fuel based on the rate of extraction and the available global resource reserves.
Reduction / increase in kg of material recycled

The scoring system is included in Appendix A. Option 5A and 5B both see a substantial increase in the
kg/hh/yr material recycled (dry recycling, food and garden combined), with a minor reduction in kg of
antimony measure.
All of the alternative options have a reduction in the kg of antimony-eq compared to the baseline. This is
due to the estimated effect of a DRS and enhanced EPR measures, whereby a proportion of the dry
recycling and residual waste is removed from the kerbside service, either designed out of ‘waste’ by
83

147

EPR, or collected through reverse vending machines in the case of DRS obligated material (plastic and
glass bottles and cans). Options 4, 5A and 5B have the largest reduction in kg of antimony-eq, (at over
10% reduction) however option 4 ranks lower as the kg of recycling collected per HH is the lowest of all
options as free garden waste collection is not offered. This scores option 4 in the same category of
option 3, 6, 7 and 8, which each have higher kg/recycling/hh than option 4, but a lower reduction in kg
of antimony-eq.
Table 64: Comparison of results: Resource Use

Criteria

Baseline

Option 3

Option 4

Option
5A

Option 5B

Option 6

Option 7

Option 8

Resource
Use

2

2

2

5

5

3

3

3

84

148

5 Conclusions
This Options Appraisal applies criteria agreed with Councillors and Officers from across the LWP
authorities123. These include quantitative assessments, using industry standard models and assumptions;
it also applies judgements on more qualitative criteria which are discussed in the report. The appraisal
informs the draft R&WS for Leicestershire, and the ranking of options reflects the impact across the
Partnership as a whole.
Options 1 and 2 (waste prevention and reuse) are activities that all local authorities should undertake
and vary widely in terms of their outputs and impacts. We have explored different initiatives that the
Partnership currently undertake and additional ideas that could be explored. The best reuse and
prevention initiatives will be subject to the resource available and the need in a particular area or point
in time. We have therefore not scored options 1 and 2 within the Options Appraisal report but have
identified good practice and the types of initiative that the Partnership could deliver which are included
in the draft Headline Strategy.
The alternative options (options 3 – 8) were selected to explore the collection cost implications and
impacts upon performance of potential service changes (including disposal impacts), as agreed by the
Partnership. Subject to consultation, key service changes could include mandatory separate food waste
collections, free garden waste collections and a move towards a ‘consistent collection’ approach across
all Local Authorities in England.
The key results and ranking for the Baseline and options 3 – 8 are shown in Table 65, and the scoring
system is included in Appendix A.

123

Leicester City is not a member of the partnership and has its own collection and disposal arrangements as a unitary
authority, however the LWP do work with Leicester City on overlapping issues.

85

Table 65: Evaluation of Options

Business
as Usual

Baseline
3

Option 3
3

As Option 3,
with retained
charged
garden

Option 4
3

As Option 3,
plus restricted
residual (140L
WHB)

Option 3, plus
restricted
residual (3weekly
collection)

As Option 3, plus
fortnightly twin
stream collection
of dry recycling

As Option 3,
plus kerbside
sort
collection of
dry recycling

Option 5A
5

Option 5B
5

Option 6
1

Option 7
1

As Option 3,
plus threestream
recycling

Option 8
1

1

4

3

5

5

4

4

4

5

1

4

2

2

1

2

2

1

4

4

5

5

4

4

4

1

4

3

4

4

3

4

4

2

3

2

3

2

4

5

5

3

5

4

2

1

4

3

3

2

4

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

5

5

5

2

3

2

4

2

3

3

5

5

3

3

3

94.8

140.5

133.6

153.8

135.7

120.3

125.4

132.2

149

Criteria
Weighting
Carbon
4.7
Recycling
performance
4.3
Cost
4.3
Residual waste
arisings
4.1
Educational /
Awareness
Raising
4.1
Alignment
with National
Policy
4.0
Public
Acceptability
3.9
Social Value
3.5
Operational
Flexibility
3.4
Resource Use
3.2
Total Score (with
weighting)
Highest no. = Best Option

Revised
Baseline with
Consistent
Collection
measures, EPR
& DRS

Key
1
Worst performing

2

3

4

5
Best performing

86

150

None of the 7 alternative collection options provide a collection cost saving to the Partnership, incurring
additional modelled costs ranging from £5.1 million (option 4) to £10 million (option 8). Option 4 is the
lowest cost option (in collection terms) for the Partnership; however this is the only option where
garden waste collection remains as a charged service. This option is similar to the Baseline with a
dedicated food waste collection service added.
Option 5B is the lowest cost option (in collection terms) where garden waste is collected as a free
service. In this option, along with the introduction of food waste and free garden waste collections, the
frequency of residual waste collection is reduced to three-weekly. Dry recycling is collected in the same
way as the baseline in this option.
All options result in an increase in the kerbside recycling rate for the Partnership. Option 5A provides the
highest recycling rate for the Partnership (61.97%), with an increase of 15.6% from the baseline (46.4%).
Option 5A models a residual waste restriction whereby all collection authorities use 140L WHB,
collected fortnightly.
Options 7 and 8 model different variations a on a kerbside sort collection; option 7 models the dry
recycling material collected via a specialist compartmentalised vehicle and option 8 models this
collected via two vehicles (a Rear End Loader with a pod, and a standard Refuse Collection Vehicle).
Excluding option 4, which does not include a free garden waste service, options 7 and 8 result in the
(joint) lowest kerbside recycling performance. The small decrease in recycling performance is based on
the assumption that households provided with more containers to separate into, results in lower
capture rates. Moving to a kerbside sort system requires a significant increase in collection cost on
account of the additional resource (vehicle capex and opex) that is required to ensure that all vehicles
are serviced (option 7 and 8).
Retaining a commingled collection (along with other measures) helps to achieve the highest kerbside
recycling rate however this should be evaluated in conjunction with other factors, including alignment
with the Resources & Waste Strategy for England where the preferred method is kerbside sort collection
(or similar).
In terms of treatment and disposal costs for the County Council, all options provide a saving against the
baseline. Option 6 is the most-cost effective option for LCC. This option models a twin-stream collection
system. It is assumed that LCC will receive any income from the sale of paper and card and as such
provides a small revenue to offset against the cost to process the remaining dry mixed recycling through
a materials recycling facility.
Options 6, 7 and 8 reduce the total treatment costs for the County Council (WDA) where material is
separately collected, and as such does not require processing at a Materials Recycling Facility, thereby
incurring a gate fee (as at present). In option 6, paper and card are collected separately from the
remaining dry mixed recycling (DMR), and so a smaller proportion of DMR requires sorting and
processing. In options 7 and 8 material is collected separately at the kerbside by residents and therefore
it is assumed that this not does require a MRF to process any of the material.
All options incur an additional cost for the Partnership when considering the total net costs (including
collection, recycling, treatment and disposal). Overall, the total net cost to the Partnership of moving to
a twin-stream collection system, with free garden waste collections and food waste collections results

87

151

in the highest total cost of all options modelled (£39.9 million). Alignment of a twin-stream recycling
service with the Resources and Waste Strategy for England is likely to be determined through a TEEP124
(or equivalent) assessment. Option 5A results in the 3rd highest overall net cost to the Partnership
(including collection, treatment and disposal) at £38.1 million, £8.7 million over the baseline. This does
not however include the cost of rolling out the new service (i.e. purchase of new smaller bins plus any
income or cost of disposing the old, redundant, large bins, plus the delivery and collection of the bins).
This option does, however, result in the highest kerbside recycling rate. Option 5B (three-weekly
residual) is considered the most cost effective with the lowest additional cost per 1% improvement in
kerbside recycling rate.
Service changes are required to help Local Authorities work towards supporting England in achieving the
national municipal solid waste (MSW) recycling target of 65% by 2035. Reaching these higher targets
means more investment is required, and the Government has stated a commitment to covering the
additional costs to Local Authorities for both capital and operational costs from new required measures.
Furthermore, Government is also intending to mandate Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) on
packaging materials. A requirement of EPR is that the producers would be accountable for 100% of the
collection / recycling / disposal costs of the packaging handled by local authorities. The detail of this
aspect is yet to be determined but could go some way to support local authorities, as will the additional
cost burden of new policy measures committed by central Government. A high-level estimate of these
funding streams is included in the sensitivity analysis for this appraisal.
The introduction of a DRS is modelled to reduce the total kerbside recycling tonnage by an average of
21%125, and an average of 3% from residual waste across the WCAs. The materials within the dry
recycling most impacted by a DRS are glass, plastic and metals. The modelling suggests that EPR will
improve the recyclability of packaging (predominantly plastic and metals), moving material from the
residual waste stream to recycling.126 The residual waste restriction also helps to drive up the kerbside
recycling rate, but this does not compensate for the overall material lost to a DRS and as such all options
result in a reduction in dry recycling tonnage, in comparison to the baseline. There are discussions
regarding to the implementation of a digital DRS whereby obligated DRS material carry a barcode which
would allow them to be put through the kerbside collection service. For the purposes of this report we
have assumed that DRS material would be returned via designated return points (i.e. supermarkets /
other shops).
The changing composition as a result of DRS and EPR also has an impact on the carbon performance of
the kerbside dry recycling collection service as there are less dry recyclable materials being collected and
sent for reprocessing. The reduction in carbon performance of each option as a result of DRS / EPR is
often outweighed by savings from separate food and free garden waste collections. However, the aims
of a DRS are to encourage recycling at a wider (national) level, therefore it is important to recognise that
there will be greater carbon benefits when evaluating the environmental performance of these policy
measures, outside of the Local Authority service.

124

A Technical, Economic and Environmental assessment of Practicability (TEEP) for alternative collection approaches .
So if a WCA recycled 100 tonnes of dry recycling prior to DRS / EPR, this would be 79tonnes afterwards.
126
As modelled using the RAWPIC tool and waste composition analysis provided by the Partnership for this project. These
figures are estimations only based on assumptions regarding DRS configuration, capture rate and composition data.
125

88

152

Although there are aspects of the Resources and Waste Strategy for England that are yet to be
determined, there are parts of the national strategy which are likely to be introduced. For example,
mandatory food waste collections and the consistent collection requirements. Against the criteria of
‘alignment with the national R&WS’, options 7 and 8 score highest as they include separate food
collection, free garden waste collection and most closely follows the consistent collections guidance
with a kerbside sort or three stream collection for dry recycling. Alignment of a twin-stream (option 6)
with the Resources and Waste Strategy for England is likely to be determined through a TEEP127 (or
equivalent) assessment, as would all other options that contain commingled recycling collections.
Restricting residual waste capacity has a positive impact on a number of the criteria; carbon, recycling
performance, residual waste arisings and awareness raising. However, we are awaiting further guidance
as to the Government’s position on residual waste collection. The latest round of consultation indicated
a minimum collection frequency of fortnightly, which means that against the Alignment criteria option
5B ranks amongst the lowest of the options.
The results of this Options Appraisal score the baseline (current service) lowest against recycling
performance, residual waste arisings, alignment with National Policy, social value criteria. When scored
using the agreed weighting, the baseline results in the lowest ranked score. The highest ranked score is
option 5A, which delivers the best recycling rate and carbon performance.
Finally, the costs/savings and recycling figures estimated in this report are indicative and are based on a
number of assumptions for modelling purposes only. They provide a reasonable guide to the magnitude
of changes that might be expected and are subject to forthcoming legislation and future funding
mechanisms. Therefore, they should not be used directly to justify specific cost of service change. They
are modelled in comparison to the Partnership’s estimated baseline costs and on an annualised basis. If
the Partnership is minded to pursue any of the above changes, they are advised to undertake a more
bespoke assessment of any particular option, potentially including re-routing and asset reallocation, in
order to satisfy themselves that any improvements in recycling or efficiencies can be realised in practice.

89

153

Appendix A – Scoring System
The following scoring approach has been applied to the Evaluation Criteria for the Options Appraisal.
There is a 1-5 scoring system as follows:
Criteria Banding
Carbon

Recycling performance
Cost
Residual waste arisings

Unit

1

2

3

4

5

-550t - 2,260t

-2,261t - 4,030t

-4,031t - 5,680t

-5,681t - 7,370t

-7,371t - 9,100t

46.36% 49.49%

49.5% 52.61%

52.62% 55.73%

55.74% 58.85%

58.86% 61.97%

£

£37.8 - £40
million

£35.6 - £37.8
million

£33.4 - £35.6
million

£31.2 - £33.4
million

£29 - £31.2
million

tonnes

121,001 129,500

112,501 121,000

104,001 112,500

95,501 104,000

87,000 95,500

No additional
awareness
raising

Limited
additional
awareness
raising

Moderate
additional
awareness
raising

Good
additional
awareness
raising

Strong
additional
awareness
raising

No aspects
align with
R&WS

2-3 aspects
do not align
with R&WS

1 aspect does
not align
with R&WS

Likely to align
with R&WS

Anticipated
to fully align
with R&WS

Poor public
acceptability

Potential for
public
acceptability
concerns

Broadly
neutral
acceptability
from the
public

Positive
public
acceptability

Strong public
acceptability

Little or no
anticipated
social value

Potential for
some social
value
benefits

Moderate
social value
benefits

Good social
value
benefits

Strong social
value
benefits

Little or no
operational
flexibility

Some
operational
flexibility

Moderate
operational
flexibility

Good
operational
flexibility

Strong
operational
flexibility

Reduction in
kg recycled
and notable
reduction
(>10%) in kg
of Antimony
measure

Broadly
neutral in kg
recycled and
notable
reduction
(>10%) in kg
of Antimony
measure

Notable
increase in kg
recycled and
substantial
reduction
(>10%) in kg
of Antimony
measure

Significant
increase in kg
recycled and
minor
reduction
(<10%) in kg
of Antimony
measure

Substantial
increase in kg
recycled and
minor
reduction
(<10%) in kg
of Antimony
measure

kg CO2/eq
Kerbside
recycling
rate

Educational /
Awareness Raising
Alignment with
National Policy

R&WS
compliance

Public Acceptability

Social Value

Operational Flexibility

Resource Use

90

This page is intentionally left blank

155

26-Jan-22

Appendix C

156

Acknowledgements:
Frith Resource Management would like to thank the essential contributions from waste management officers at Leicestershire
County Council, the District and Borough Councils of Leicestershire (Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough Council,
Harborough District Council, Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council, Melton Borough Council, North West Leicestershire District
Council and Oadby & Wigston Borough Council) and the stakeholders that attended workshops for their support in developing
the Environmental Report.

Disclaimer:
Frith Resource Management Ltd (FRM) is an independent waste and resource management consultancy providing advice in
accordance with the project brief. FRM has taken all reasonable care and diligence in the preparation of this report to ensure
that all facts and analysis presented are as accurate as possible within the scope of the project. However no guarantee is
provided in respect of the information presented, and FRM is not responsible for decisions or actions taken on the basis of the
content of this report.

1

157

Non-Technical Summary
Introduction
This is the non-technical summary of the draft Environmental Report that documents the Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) for Leicestershire Waste Partnership’s1 review of the joint
Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy (LR&WS, or ‘the Strategy’)2. The Strategy review provides
the objectives, policies, actions and pledges to be delivered relating to Local Authority Collected Waste
(LACW) management.
This SEA involves a review of key central and local Government plans and strategies that have the
potential to influence the management of waste, as a basis for considering the appropriateness of the
Strategy. The assessment also considers the local environmental, social, and economic context of
Leicestershire insofar as that is relevant to the waste management services and their impacts. This is
described as the ‘Baseline’ within the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).
The key parts of the draft Strategy are assessed against a wide range of (mostly environmental) criteria,
known as SEA sustainability objectives, to ensure an appropriate Strategy is developed. All of these
aspects have been subject to consultation and this draft Environmental Report represents the public
consultation stage of the SEA process.
Descriptions of Waste Streams Referred to in this Document
Household Waste
Household waste includes household collection rounds (‘bin’ waste), other household collections
such as bulky waste collections, waste from services such as litter collections, waste from
Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) and wastes separately collected for recycling or
composting through bring/drop off schemes and kerbside schemes.
Local Authority Collected Waste
Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) is that which comes under the possession or control of
the local authority and includes household waste and other wastes collected by a waste collection
authority or its agents, such as municipal parks and gardens waste, potentially some commercial
or industrial waste, and waste resulting from the clearance of fly-tipped materials. This should
not be confused with the broader term ‘Municipal Waste’ which also includes wastes of a similar
composition which may be collected by commercial operators.
The focus of this part of the consultation is the method by which the Strategy has been assessed in
terms of its impact on the environment.

1

The Leicestershire Waste Partnership consists of Leicestershire County Council and the seven District and Borough Councils of
Leicestershire. It does not include Leicester City Council which is a Unitary Authority and has its own Strategy and manages both
collection and management / disposal of waste and recycling from its area.
2
Previously referred to as the Leicestershire Municipal Waste Management Strategy (LMWMS)

2

158

The consultation takes place alongside the draft Strategy consultation exercise which allows interested
parties to voice their opinions on the proposed Strategy.

Methodology
The SEA process adopted for the review of the Strategy is illustrated in the timeline below. A workshop
was undertaken early in the process in order to identify key local issues and ensure that the SEA Scoping
Report and Environmental Report are as accurate and balanced as possible. The workshop was attended
by officers from the council. The chart below illustrates this process.

Internal
Consultation and
Workshops

June 2021
Workshops involving councillors and officers from Leicestershire
County Council and the seven district and borough councils, were held
to help inform and develop the strategy objectives.

Scoping Report

July 2021
The Scoping Report was issued to the statutory consultees in July
2021, including details of the environmental baseline, proposed
strategy objectives, SEA sustainability objectives, strategy options and
any relevant plans or programmes.

Scoping
Consultation
Responses

September 2021
Scoping opinions were received from Natural England, Historic
England, and the Environment Agency. Responses were considered
and incorporated as appropriate into the Environmental Report.
Further details in Appendix D and E.

Draft
Environmental
Report

November 2021
This draft Environmental Report is issued in November 2021. The
report has been informed by the consultation process to date and
includes independent testing and impact assessment of the Strategy
objectives and approach, and potential alternatives, against the SEA
sustainability objectives. The report also considers mitigation of any
potential adverse effects and identifies monitoring criteria to observe
any environmental impacts.

Environmental
Report
Consultation
Environmental
Report

January 2022
A 12-week public consultation period for members of the public, and
stakeholders, to review and comment on the proposed Strategy and
SEA draft Environmental Report (this document).

Summer 2022
Following feedback from the public and consultees the Environmental
Report will be finalised and published with the final LR&WS.

3

159

The Context of this Strategic Environmental Assessment
All central and local Government plans and strategies that can have a significant effect on the
environment are required to be assessed regarding how they contribute to sustainable development.
This is usually done by means of an SEA. The requirements for an SEA are defined in the ‘Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes (SEA) Regulations 2004’3.
The UK Government’s Sustainable Development Strategy4 states that:
‘The goal of sustainable development is to enable all people throughout the world to satisfy
their basic needs and enjoy a better quality of life without compromising the quality of life
of future generations.’
An early stage of an SEA is to scope out the key ‘sustainability’ issues relevant to a plan or strategy and
the particular area in which that plan, or strategy is due to be implemented. This was contained in the
Scoping Report of the SEA. These aspects have been subject to consultation with statutory consultees.
Key aspects of the Scoping Report, and subsequently this draft Environmental Report, have been
informed by two workshops which were held in June 2021 and November 2021. The workshops
involved local authority officers covering topics such as climate change, biodiversity and waste
management, and were designed to raise awareness and seek views on:
•

Draft LR&WS / Strategy aims & objectives, options and assessment criteria

•

Sustainability issues for Leicestershire from a review of the baseline

•

Key influencing Programmes & Plans

•

Sustainability Objectives

•

Proposed mitigation of options

•

Monitoring

This Environmental Report is for wider (public) consultation and includes the following aspects:

3
4

•

Baseline Position (Chapter 2)

•

Key Sustainability Issues and Interrelationships (Chapter 3)

•

Draft Sustainability Objectives and Criteria (Chapter 4)

•

Draft Strategy Aims & Objectives (Chapter 5)

•

Strategy Waste Management Options (Chapter 6)

•

SEA Conclusions and Mitigation (Chapter 7)

•

Monitoring (Chapter 8)

•

Consultation Process (Chapter 9)

SI 2004 No. 1633
‘Securing the Future: The UK Government Sustainable Development Strategy’, HM Government, March 2005

160

Sustainability Issues
As part of developing the SEA for the review of the Strategy it is important to consider the local
environmental, social, and economic circumstances, known as the ‘baseline’. An assessment of the
baseline position for Leicestershire has been carried out as part of the SEA. From this exercise, the key
sustainability issues identified for the Strategy review include climate change, local environmental
quality, air quality, economic development, biodiversity and transport, amongst others. All have been
assessed as part of the appraisal.
It is also important to take account of interrelationships between issues of climate change and natural
resources. Products that we consume and then discard, end up as a waste stream that needs to be
managed / disposed of, whilst also using up potentially scarce natural resources (energy and materials)
in their production. The waste services that are provided could have impacts in terms of climate
change, air quality and employment / economic development and these are tested through the SEA.
Key sustainability issues identified from the baseline assessment are:

5

•

Mitigating climate change by reducing the carbon impact of resources and wastes management.

•

Adapting to climate change, e.g. potential weather related and flooding issues

•

Effective waste management through the application of the waste hierarchy5

•

Changing waste streams (after Covid-19) and as part of lifestyle changes and Government policy

•

Landfill diversion

•

Reducing fly-tipping and litter

•

Reducing local air pollution

•

Supporting the circular economy (reducing / avoiding resource use in the economy/extending
the life of materials already in use for as long as possible)6

•

Providing services for a growing (and aging) population

•

Addressing environmental impacts including harm to human health and natural environment

•

Managing the impact of food waste and garden waste

The waste hierarchy is to firstly seek to reduce waste arising, then to repair / reuse waste that does occur, followed by recycling materials,
then to recover energy from residual wastes (after waste prevention, reuse and recycling), and finally to dispose of to landfill.
6
As defined by the European Commission, a circular economy aims to maintain the value of products, materials and resources for as long as
possible by returning them into the product cycle at the end of their use, while minimising the generation of waste. The fewer products we
discard, the less materials we extract, the better for our environment. This process starts at the very beginning of a product’s lifecycle: smart
product design and production processes can help save resources, avoid inefficient waste management and create new business opportunities.

161

SEA Sustainability Objectives
Sustainability issues are used to inform the SEA Sustainability Objectives, by which the strategy options
for delivery are assessed. The SEA Sustainability Objectives have been derived from:
•

Review of Programmes and Plans – this gives rise to the identification of key themes

•

The Baseline review & sustainability issues for Leicestershire

•

The Environmental Assessment of Programmes & Plans Regulations for England (2004)

•

Consultation with officers and councillors

•

The Scoping Report Consultation undertaken as part of this SEA process, during which the
wording of the objectives was refined in response to comments

The Sustainability Objectives applied in this Assessment are:Sustainability Objectives for draft Leicestershire Resource & Waste Strategy
1. To increase the positive carbon impacts and reduce the negative carbon (and other greenhouse
gases) impacts of the waste collection, recycling, treatment and disposal service
2. To reduce the use of fossil fuel energy through the use of clean renewable fuels and low carbon
or renewable energy
3. To reduce resource use
4. To divert waste away from landfill
5. To maintain and enhance good air quality for all
6. To promote sustainable economic growth and employment
7. To protect and enhance the quality of water and soils
8. To protect and increase biodiversity, flora and fauna
9. To protect and enhance the landscape and geodiversity of Leicestershire
10. To protect the significance of heritage assets of archaeological, cultural and historic value

The Sustainability Objectives are used to assess the alternative options for delivery of the Strategy.
These are distinct from the Strategy Vision and Objectives which set the direction for the services over
the period of the Strategy.

6

162

Strategy Vision and Objectives
The proposed vision and strategic objectives of the (Resources and Waste) Strategy were informed by a
review of key strategy and policy across Leicestershire. They were also part of the SEA Scoping Report
consultation issued in Summer 2021.
The draft Vision is as follows:
To work towards a circular economy and contribute to achieving net zero carbon by 2050 in
Leicestershire. This means fully embracing the waste hierarchy by preventing waste and keeping
resources in circulation for as long as possible, through reuse, repair and recycling, to realise their
maximum value whilst minimising environmental impacts.
The draft Strategy objectives to deliver this vision are as follows, grouped into themes:

Proposed LR&WS objectives
Deliver services in accordance with circular economy principles
Objective 1: Manage materials in accordance with circular economy principles, except where costs
are prohibitive, or where the environmental consequences can be demonstrated to be negative.
Objective 2: As local authorities, set an example by preventing, reducing, reusing, recycling and
composting our own waste and use our buying power to positively encourage sustainable resource
use.
Reduce the climate change / carbon impact of waste services in Leicestershire
Objective 3: Reduce carbon emissions from Leicestershire’s waste management services.
Deliver services that are financially sustainable and equitable across the Partnership
Objective 4: Consider the whole life financial, social and environmental impact, and deliver quality
services designed to allow flexibility, innovation and improvement.
Objective 5: Promote the economic and employment opportunities of sustainable waste
management where this is consistent with circular economy principles. Consider local / regional
supply chain and markets for recyclate and other secondary raw materials.
Delivery of high quality waste services for residents of Leicestershire
Objective 6: Work together to adapt and deliver coordinated services and infrastructure for waste
services with lower environmental impacts.
Objective 7: Aim to reduce and manage residual waste within the County where this is consistent
with the proximity principle and to manage all other waste at the nearest appropriate facility by the
most appropriate method or technology.
Work in partnership with local communities across Leicestershire
Objective 8: Work with the community and businesses to raise awareness about environmental
matters (including climate change, energy and resource management) and increase participation in
waste prevention, reuse and recycling initiatives and link to national campaigns.
7

163

Objective 9: Lobby and work with others, in pursuit of the Partnership’s vision of sustainable waste
and resource management.

The Strategy also includes a number of pledges setting out specific actions to support and achieve these
objectives.

Strategy Options for Delivery
A number of options were produced as mechanisms to deliver elements of the Strategy Objectives.
These were discussed in workshops with councillors and officers from Leicestershire County Council and
the seven district and borough councils, and through consultation with external stakeholders. The
following represents the options considered important for detailed consideration as part of the Strategy
development. They are listed and briefly described in the order of the waste hierarchy7.
Option
Baseline
Option 1: Waste
minimisation
Option 2: Reuse and repair
Option 3: Revised Baseline
with Consistent Collection
measures, EPR & DRS

Option 4: Retained charged
garden

Option 5A: Restricted
residual waste
Option 5B: Restricted
residual waste

Description
Current service – please see Table 7 for more detail
Focus on waste awareness / education / waste reduction /
recycling and prevention initiatives
Focus on facilitating or promoting reuse / repair activities across
Leicestershire
As Baseline8 kerbside collection service, except:
• Recycling collection consistent with materials indicated in
national consistent collections consultation (e.g. plastic
film, cartons etc.) where not currently collected)
• ‘Free’ garden waste collection
• Separate weekly food waste collection
• New national measures (extended producer responsibility,
EPR, and a deposit return scheme, DRS), come into effect
as set out in the national consultation
• Also, this option only, includes batteries, textiles, small
waste electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)
collections
As Option 3, except:
• Garden waste collection is retained as a charged service
for all Councils that currently operate a subscription
service
As Option 3, except:
Residual waste collected fortnightly in 140L wheeled bins
As Option 3, except:

7

The waste hierarchy, as set out by the Waste Framework Directive (Directive 2008/98/EC), ranks waste management options
according to what is best for the environment. It’s first priority is to prevent waste from generating in the first place, and when
waste is created, gives first priority to reuse, then recycling, then recovery, and finally disposal (i.e. landfill).
8
Commingled for all district and borough councils, except NWL (kerbside sort)

8

164

Option

Description
•

Option 6: Twin stream
recycling, fibre out (paper
and card)
Option 7: Kerbside sort

Option 8: Three-stream
recycling

Residual waste collected three-weekly in 240L/180L
wheeled bins
As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly twin stream collection of dry recycling: paper and
card in one box; plastics, glass and cans together in a wheeled
bin
As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly kerbside sort collection of dry recycling (collecting
recyclables in different boxes and bags and collection crew sort
them into different compartments on a specialist recycling
vehicle)
As Option 3, except
• Fortnightly three-stream collection of dry recycling: paper and
card in box 1, glass in box 2, plastic and cans in box 3. These
are collected in two different vehicles.

Assessment of Options
The various strategic options have been assessed against the SEA Sustainability Objectives and analysed
according to an impact/effect appraisal scale. The nature of impacts will vary between the options being
considered and not all measures will be relevant in each case. Impacts on the environment can vary
from those that have a direct impact to those exhibiting indirect, cumulative, or one-off, temporary,
permanent, and short/medium/long term impacts and these are summarised in accompanying
assessments within the report.

Scope of the Assessment
The geographical scope of the assessment is limited to Leicestershire however some environmental
impacts (e.g. global warming impacts) will clearly exhibit impacts wider than the area covered by the
Strategy, and these are measured where practicable. The Strategy considers a number of options for
dealing with waste management in the future, through on-going service changes, potential behaviour
change and infrastructure.

SEA Conclusions and Mitigations
The following points are the key conclusions and mitigation issues arising from this SEA of the draft
Strategy. The Strategy seeks to improve on the baseline situation through improved resource
management and continued movement of waste management practices in Leicestershire up the waste
hierarchy. This is consistent with good practice in the area of resource and waste management.
The Strategic Environmental Assessment (as documented in this draft Environmental Report) identifies a
number of areas to be considered in the draft Strategy and its implementation. These are described as
‘mitigations’ as they aim to reduce or avoid potential negative impacts of the Strategy and improve on
any potential positive impacts. Specific points arising from the assessment are:

9

165

•

To deliver campaigns and communications activity that will engender strong and sustained
participation in waste minimisation, reuse or recycling systems.

•

To focus communications and resource / waste services on preventing, reusing or recycling
waste streams with the highest environmental impact (or best environmental savings). Examples
include food waste, metals, textiles and waste electrical equipment.

•

The waste hierarchy is a useful guide in terms of the preferred approach to reduce
environmental impacts (i.e. prevent waste in the first instance, then reusing ‘usable’ items or
packaging, recycling other material resources and recovering energy, with landfill as the least
desirable option).

•

Providing a dedicated food waste collection significantly increases the recycling performance of
the Partnership. The best food waste treatment option, in carbon terms, is to send the waste to
Anaerobic Digestion facilities with efficient energy recovery. The energy is classified as
renewable and is low carbon.

•

Compost and digestates applied to land should be managed in a way that reduces impacts on
water and in accordance with good practice. There is the potential to offer compost back to
households for domestic horticulture and raise awareness of the benefits of the garden waste
service.

•

Establishing good communications around effective separation of organics, will improve the
quality of resultant compost and digestates applied to land e.g. lower contamination.
Appropriate alignment of food waste collection liners with the anaerobic digestion facility will
help to reduce contamination of digestate and consequent impacts on land and soil.

•

Whilst some residual waste is inevitable, seek to minimise this and reduce the amount sent to
landfill as far as practicable.

•

Where residual waste is sent to Energy from Waste (EfW) facilities, higher efficiency plants
should be used where available and a pro-active approach (for reasons of reducing climate
change impacts) taken for the removal of plastics from the residual waste. The potential for
carbon capture & storage (CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW plants should be preferred when
this technology becomes available.

•

The carbon impact of Strategy actions should be measured and considered holistically to ensure
that the service contributes effectively towards net zero carbon targets and climate
emergencies of respective partners.

•

To reduce emissions to air from vehicle movements, particularly in areas where there are local
pollution hotpots (e.g. Air Quality Management Areas) alternative fuels should be considered for
collection and transport of waste.

10

166

•

Where infrastructure is required under the Strategy activities, reusing existing buildings or
infrastructure should be considered, to maximise the use of existing resources and reduce
additional environmental burdens. Appropriate planning and regulatory practice must be
observed, including (where applicable) Best Available Techniques (BAT), Biodiversity Net Gain
requirements and good practice in terms of facility design for visual amenity and operations
management for local amenity (noise, odour etc.).

•

The Partnership has a role in supporting the circular economy by enabling collection systems
that can readily extract usable resources from waste and helping facilitate or signpost to other
circular economy initiatives (such as waste prevention, remanufacture, repair, reuse and
prevention activity).

•

The Partnership can support upskilling for aspects like repair and refurbishment activities to
support a circular economy.

•

The Partnership can lead by example to manage its consumption and management of resources
and waste to reduce environmental impacts and support behaviour change.

•

By promoting linkages between waste / resource management activities and other
environmental impacts (e.g. biodiversity), the Strategy can exhibit broader environmental
benefits.

These elements should be applied in the Strategy and its implementation in order to reduce negative
impacts and enhance positive impacts, as identified by this Strategic Environmental Assessment.

Consultation
This draft report is available for consultation, the details of which are included in Section 9.

11

167

Abbreviations / Acronyms
AD
AQMA
BEIS
BAP
CH4
CHP
CO2
DEFRA
EA
EU ETS
GHG
GWP
HPA
IoD
HWRC
LACW
LATS
MBT
MHCLG
MRF
MWMS
NOx
NO2
PO4
RDF
SEA
SO2
SPA’s
SPZ’s
SSSI
WEEE
WRAP
WRATE

Anaerobic Digestion
Air Quality Management Area
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy
Biodiversity Action Plan
Methane
Combined Heat and Power
Carbon dioxide
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
Environment Agency
EU Emission Trading System
Greenhouse Gases
Global Warming Potential
Health Protection Agency
Indices of deprivation
Household Waste Recycling Centre
Local Authority Collected Waste
Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme
Mechanical Biological Treatment
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Materials Recovery Facility
Municipal Waste Management Strategy
Nitrous Oxides
Nitrogen Dioxide
Phosphates
Refuse Derived Fuel
Strategic Environmental Assessment
Sulphur Dioxide
Special Protection Area’s
Source Protection Zones
Site of Special Scientific Interest
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
Waste and Resources Action Programme
Waste and Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment

12

168

Contents
Non-Technical Summary .............................................................................................................................. 2
1

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 17

2

Baseline Position ................................................................................................................................ 19
2.1

Climate Change ........................................................................................................................... 19

2.2

Waste Management ................................................................................................................... 25

2.2.1

Overview of Waste Arisings and Management .................................................................. 25

2.2.2

Recycling and Composting Performance ............................................................................ 28

2.2.3

Residual Waste and Recycling Collections .......................................................................... 28

2.2.4

Trade Waste Services .......................................................................................................... 32

2.2.5

Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) ................................................................... 33

2.2.6

Other Services ..................................................................................................................... 34

2.2.7

Voluntary Group Activity..................................................................................................... 35

2.2.8

Concluding Comments ........................................................................................................ 35

2.3

Health and Communities ............................................................................................................ 36

2.3.1
2.4

Population and Households ........................................................................................................ 37

2.4.1
2.5

Human Health ..................................................................................................................... 36

Population demographics ................................................................................................... 39

Local Environment Quality .......................................................................................................... 40

2.5.1

Fly-Tipping ........................................................................................................................... 40

2.5.2

Water .................................................................................................................................. 42

2.5.3

Land and Soil ....................................................................................................................... 47

2.5.4

Air Quality ........................................................................................................................... 49

2.6

Economics ................................................................................................................................... 51

2.6.1

Employment / Unemployment ........................................................................................... 51

2.6.2

Deprivation.......................................................................................................................... 52

2.7

Transport..................................................................................................................................... 52

2.7.1

Road .................................................................................................................................... 52

2.7.2

Rail....................................................................................................................................... 53

2.7.3

Bus ....................................................................................................................................... 53

2.7.4

Air ........................................................................................................................................ 53

2.7.5

Transport Priorities ............................................................................................................. 53

2.8

Biodiversity & Conservation........................................................................................................ 54
13

169

2.9

Natural Resources ....................................................................................................................... 55

2.10

Buildings, Heritage and Landscape ............................................................................................. 55

2.10.1

Cultural Heritage ................................................................................................................. 55

2.10.2

Landscape............................................................................................................................ 56

3

Key Sustainability Issues and Interrelationships ............................................................................... 57

4

Draft Sustainability Objectives and Criteria ...................................................................................... 62
4.1

Sustainability Objectives ............................................................................................................. 62

4.1

Key themes.................................................................................................................................. 65

5

Draft Strategy Aims and Objectives ................................................................................................... 67

6

Strategy Waste Management Options .............................................................................................. 69
6.1

Options Appraisal and SEA .......................................................................................................... 69

6.2

Assessment Criteria .................................................................................................................... 70

6.3

Scope of the Assessment ............................................................................................................ 71

6.4

Strategy Options Assessment Matrix .......................................................................................... 72

7

SEA Conclusions and Mitigation ........................................................................................................ 74

8

Monitoring .......................................................................................................................................... 77

9

Consultation Process .......................................................................................................................... 79

Appendix A – Review of relevant plans and programmes .......................................................................... 81
1

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 82
1.1

2

Report Background ..................................................................................................................... 82

Waste Policy and Legislation Review .................................................................................................. 82
2.1

Guidance on applying the Waste Hierarchy, 2011 ..................................................................... 82

2.2

UK Plans for Shipments of Waste, 2012 ..................................................................................... 82

2.3

National Policy Statement for Hazardous Waste, 2013 .............................................................. 83

2.4

Prevention is better than cure – Waste Prevention Programme for England, 2013 .................. 83

2.5

Energy from Waste – A guide to the debate, 2014 .................................................................... 84

2.6

National Planning Policy for Waste, 2014................................................................................... 84

2.7

Fly-tipping Partnership Framework, 2014 .................................................................................. 85

2.8

Litter Strategy for England, 2017 ................................................................................................ 85

2.9

Clean Growth Strategy, 2017 ...................................................................................................... 86

2.10

A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment, 2018 ...................................... 86

2.11

Resources and Waste Strategy, 2018 ......................................................................................... 87

2.12

Waste Management Plan for England, 2021 .............................................................................. 88
14

170

2.13

Build Back Better: Our plan for growth, 2021............................................................................. 89

2.14 Environmental Services Association (ESA): A net-zero greenhouse gas emissions strategy for
the UK recycling and waste sector, 2021 ................................................................................................ 89
2.15

3

Upcoming policy / legislation ...................................................................................................... 90

2.15.1

Proposed Measures in the Resources and Waste Strategy (RWS) for England .................. 90

2.15.2

Environment Act ................................................................................................................. 92

Relevant County and District/Borough Level policies / strategies / documents ................................ 93
3.1

Leicestershire County Council policies / strategies / documents ............................................... 93

3.1.1

Strategic Plan (2018-2022) .................................................................................................. 93

3.1.2

Environment Strategy (2018-2030)..................................................................................... 93

3.1.3

Strategic Growth Plan (up to 2050) .................................................................................... 95

3.1.4

Communities Strategy ......................................................................................................... 95

3.1.5

Leicestershire and Leicester Waste Development Framework (up to 2021) ..................... 96

3.1.6

Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (up to 2031) ............................................... 96

3.1.7

Medium Term Financial Strategy ........................................................................................ 96

3.1.8

Waste Disposal Authority Plan (2018-2030) ....................................................................... 97

3.1.9

Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2018 – 2021) ........................................ 97

3.1.10

Leicestershire Local Transport Plan 3 (2011-2026) ............................................................. 98

3.1.11

Action for Nature: Strategic Approach to Biodiversity, Habitat and the Local Environment
98

3.1.12

Leicestershire Food Plan / Leicestershire Good Food Charter ........................................... 99

3.1.13 Leicester and Leicestershire LEP: Low Carbon Environmental Goods and Services Market
Snapshot 99
3.2

District/Borough Level policies / strategies / documents........................................................... 99

3.2.1

Local Plans ........................................................................................................................... 99

3.2.2

Climate Change Strategies ................................................................................................ 100

3.2.3

Litter Strategies ................................................................................................................. 100

3.2.4

Medium Term Financial Strategies ................................................................................... 100

3.2.5

Transport Plans ................................................................................................................. 100

3.2.6

Green Infrastructure Strategies ........................................................................................ 101

3.2.7

Other plans........................................................................................................................ 101

Appendix B – Options Assessment Matrix ................................................................................................ 102
Cumulative, Synergistic, Direct, Indirect Impacts ................................................................................. 134
Appendix C – Indicator and measurements used for SEA objective scoring ............................................ 135
15

171

Appendix D – Responses from Statutory Consultees ............................................................................... 138
Appendix E – Responses to Statutory Consultees .................................................................................... 142

16

172

1 Introduction
Leicestershire Waste Partnership (LWP) are reviewing their Waste Management Strategy and waste
collection arrangements. The first Leicestershire Municipal Waste Management Strategy (now known as
the Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy, hereto referred to as the ‘Strategy’ or ‘LR&WS’) was
created in 2002, and this was reviewed in 2006 to cover the period up to 2020, a further update also
took place in 2011. The Strategy review will establish objectives, policies, actions and pledges relating to
waste management up to 2050. It should be noted that this strategy sets policies for waste management
for the LWP but does not identify sites and is distinct from the planning process documents (e.g. Waste
Local Plans).
All central and local government plans and strategies that can have a significant effect on the
environment can be assessed regarding how they contribute to Sustainable Development.
The UK Government’s Sustainable Development Strategy states that:
‘The goal of sustainable development is to enable all people throughout the world to satisfy their basic
needs and enjoy a better quality of life without compromising the quality of life of future generations.’
An assessment of how the strategy and new collection arrangements meet the aims of sustainable
development can be delivered through an approach known as Strategic Environmental Assessment
(SEA). This is a statutory process for this as defined in the ‘Environmental Assessment of Plans and
Programmes (SEA) Regulations 2004’9. In this case the SEA will provide an analysis of the revised LR&WS
and the options for delivery of the strategy, considered against agreed sustainability objectives and
criteria.
The first stage of the SEA process is to scope out the key ‘sustainability’ issues relevant to a plan or
strategy and appropriate to the particular geographical area in which that plan, or strategy is due to be
implemented. This scoping exercise is recorded in a scoping report as part of the SEA process (this
document). The identified sustainability aspects are subject to consultation from statutory consultees
and other parties where appropriate.
This Draft Environmental Plan is for wider consultation to statutory bodies and interested parties, and
includes the following material:

9

•

Baseline Position (Chapter 2)

•

Key Sustainability Issues and Interrelationships (Chapter 3)

•

SEA Sustainability Criteria and Objectives (Chapter 4)

•

Strategy Aims & Objectives (Chapter 5)

•

Strategy Waste Management Options (Chapter 6)

•

SEA Conclusions of Appraisal & Mitigations (Chapter 7)

SI 2004 No. 1633

17

173

•

Monitoring (Chapter 8)

•

Consultation Process (Chapter 9)

•

Review of relevant plans and programmes (Appendix A)

•

Options Assessment Matrix (Appendix B)

•

Indicator and measurements used for SEA objective scoring (Appendix C)

•

Responses from Statutory Consultees (Appendix D)

•

Responses to Statutory Consultees (Appendix E)

The Consultees are invited to comment on any or all of these aspects.

18

174

2 Baseline Position
To ensure that the SEA addresses the potential environmental effects of the LR&WS it is important to
consider the local environmental baseline.
An assessment of the baseline position for Leicestershire has been carried out as part of the scoping
phase of the SEA. This report summarises this baseline position and identifies a number of key
sustainability issues in the context of the waste management service in Leicestershire.
The baseline position has been assessed in terms of the key topic areas set out in the SEA guidance10 and
provides the relevant environmental, social, and economic context for the SEA Scoping Report.

2.1 Climate Change
Waste management activities can generate significant quantities of carbon dioxide and methane11,
which are both greenhouse gases. Materials within the household waste stream such as kitchen waste,
garden waste and paper contain carbon based organic matter. The treatment and disposal of these
wastes has an impact on the emission of greenhouse gases. When biodegradable materials are broken
down in the presence of air, carbon dioxide is released. Methane is produced when the biodegradable
material is broken down in the absence of air. The absence of air at landfill sites causes methane to be
generated as waste breaks down. Methane is at least 2812 times more potent than carbon dioxide as a
greenhouse gas measured by global warming potential over a 100-year timeframe. Releasing 1 kg of
Methane (CH4) is equivalent to releasing at least 28 kgs of Carbon Dioxide (CO2). At an international
level, CH4 concentrations were stable for approximately one decade from the late 1990’s, however since
2007 concentrations have progressively increased.13
Similarly, our consumption and management of plastics has a direct impact on the emission of
greenhouse gases. As plastics are fossil-derived, there is a ‘cradle to grave’ burden associated with
plastics, from the initial extraction of oil to manufacture products through to the final disposal method.
Conservation of resources through minimisation, reuse and recycling are key to reducing emissions
associated with recycling. For example, in terms of carbon benefit, removing plastic films from a residual
waste stream for recycling can have a substantial carbon benefit where it is diverted away from an
Energy from Waste facility (avoiding incineration of fossil-derived products).
Extreme weather events will impact on the operation of waste management facilities, notably landfill
and composting, for example in high winds. This could also be a factor to consider when considering
containers for kerbside collections. It is evident from overseas practice in warmer climates, that waste
and recycling collection is more frequent, and often at earlier times, in particular for putrescible waste
streams.

‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive (Practical guidance on applying European Directive
2001/42/EC “on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and progress on the environment”)’, Office of the Deputy Prime
Minister, September 2005
11 Waste incineration processes can also generate Nitrous Oxide (N 0), also a greenhouse gas.
2
12 US EPA. The IPCC Working Group 5th Assessment (2013) models an impact 34 times that of CO over a 100 year timeframe
2
13 IPPC, 2014, Climate Change 2014 Synthesis Report (on-line). Contribution of Working Groups I,II,III to the Fifth Assessment
Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
10

175

In 1990 waste management accounted for 8.3% of UK greenhouse gas emissions, by 2019 this figure had
reduced to 4%14. In 2019, 1.5% of waste management greenhouse gas emissions were attributable to
incineration; 13.9% to wastewater handling; 6.2% to organic waste treatment, 3.7% to mechanical
biological treatment; and 75% to landfill.
In 2019/2020, 8.5% of all local authority collected waste in England was sent to landfill, an improvement
on the 10.8% recorded in 2018/201915. Since 1990 total greenhouse gas emissions in the waste sector
have decreased by 69%16. This is primarily due to reductions in emissions from landfilled waste driven
by a combination of factors including improvements in the standards of landfilling, changes in the
composition of waste going to landfill (i.e. reducing the amount of biodegradable waste), increased
diversion from landfill through recycling and energy from waste and an increase in the amount of landfill
gas being used for energy. The reduction in emissions from the waste sector is responsible for 57% of
the total decrease in methane emissions in the UK since 1990. In 2018, methane emissions from waste
management accounted for 37% of all UK methane emissions.
Transport accounted for 28% of total UK greenhouse gas emissions in 2018. Although there are climate
change impacts associated with transport of waste, these are relatively small in comparison to the
impacts from the landfilling of waste described above17. Reducing the amount of biodegradable waste
landfilled and increasing recycling and composting activity are two prime methods of reducing
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Others include carbon capture and storage from point sources (e.g.
waste incineration18) and reducing the amount of plastics waste sent to combustion processes.
The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) publish local authority estimates of
carbon dioxide emissions. The data is sourced from the UK National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory
and BEIS’s National Statistics of energy consumption for local authority areas. Total carbon dioxide
emissions data for the seven district and borough councils of Leicestershire are provided in

14

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS), 2019, www.gov.uk/government/statistics/final-uk-greenhousegas-emissions-national-statistics-1990-to-2019 and
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/957687/2019_Final_emis
sions_statistics_one_page_summary.pdf
15 Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, 2019, Statistics on waste managed by local authorities in England in
2018/19.
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/918853/201819_Stats_No
tice_FINAL_accessible.pdf
16 National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory (NAEI) (2020) (on-line), Overview of greenhouse gases,
http://naei.beis.gov.uk/overview/ghg-overview (accessed by public user, June 2021)
17 As part of this strategy, a carbon assessment has been undertaken on a suite of waste collection services. This identifies the
GWP in carbon terms, for waste collection, transportation, treatment and disposal. In the baseline scenario, waste transport
accounted for c.13% of the waste management carbon emissions produced by the County. However, through recycling
activities, this impact is offset.
18 This is still an emerging technology for waste treatment processes, and its viability is subject to questions of economics and
finding a suitable reservoir / storage environment, proximal to any facility.

20

176

Table 1 along with carbon dioxide per capita emissions. Information for England and Leicestershire has
also been provided for context.

Table 1: Total CO2 emissions estimates (ktonnes) for England, Leicestershire and the seven district/borough councils of Leicestershire, and total CO2 tonnes per capita for the
seven district/borough councils of Leicestershire for 2006-2019.

Total CO2 emissions (ktonnes)
England
Leicestershire
Blaby

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

432,659

423,047

411,805

372,231

384,734

353,070

371,060

361,945

329,795

319,320

300,445

290,233

286,989

276,090

5,944

5,762

5,606

5,141

5,328

4,852

5,027

5,016

4,694

4,610

4,493

4,334

4,319

4,176

806

782

767

709

740

685

711

715

664

651

636

627

612

588

1,222
808
924

1,196
790
874

1,175
773
840

1,062
721
746

1,111
741
783

987
683
714

1,012
707
757

1,015
707
743

944
669
702

917
645
691

893
631
676

857
607
650

846
596
637

809
575
611

427
1,465

415
1,422

419
1,349

389
1,262

400
1,294

354
1,197

384
1,206

382
1,216

349
1,160

338
1,167

320
1,147

299
1,113

299
1,148

289
1,130

291

282

283

253

258

231

250

238

208

201

191

181

182

174

Per capita emissions
Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

8.7
7.8
9.9
9.0

8.4
7.5
9.6
8.5

8.2
7.3
9.3
8.1

7.6
6.5
8.6
7.1

7.9
6.8
8.7
7.5

7.3
6.0
8.0
6.8

7.5
6.0
8.2
7.1

7.5
6.0
8.1
7.0

6.9
5.5
7.6
6.5

6.7
5.2
7.2
6.4

6.5
5.0
7.0
6.1

6.3
4.7
6.6
5.8

6.1
4.6
6.4
5.7

5.8
4.4
6.1
5.4

8.8
16.2

8.4
15.5

8.5
14.6

7.9
13.6

8.0
13.9

7.0
12.8

7.6
12.8

7.5
12.8

6.8
12.1

6.6
12.0

6.3
11.7

5.9
11.1

5.8
11.2

5.6
10.9

5.2

5.0

5.0

4.6

4.7

4.1

4.5

4.2

3.7

3.6

3.4

3.2

3.2

3.1

Source: Local Authority CO₂ emissions estimates 2005-2019 (kt CO2) – Full dataset, Gov.uk19

Note that the emissions data do not include aviation, shipping, and military transport emissions as there is no obvious basis for allocating these
emissions to local areas.

19

BEIS: UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 and 2019 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regionalcarbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019

177

Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

2006

178

Total CO2 emissions (ktonne)

1600
1400
1200
1000
800
600
400
200
0
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Year
Blaby
Hinckley and Bosworth
Oadby and Wigston

Charnwood
Melton

Harborough
North West Leicestershire

Figure 1: Total CO2 emissions (ktonne) for each of the seven district/borough councils in Leicestershire between 2006 and 2019

The main drivers for more recent reduction in UK emissions is a change in the electricity energy mix,
with an increase in the proportion of renewables, a decrease in the use of coal and a reduction in
industrial activities. Estimates show there has been a similar steady, and ongoing reduction in the total
emissions from Leicestershire since 2006, as seen in Figure 1.
Alongside the full dataset, BEIS also published a subset which represents carbon dioxide emissions
within the scope of influence of local authorities. The full dataset includes all the emissions that occur
within the boundaries of each local authority; however, the dataset of emissions within the scope of
local authorities excludes emissions that local authorities do not have direct influence over. The
emissions that are removed from the full dataset are:
•

Motorways – all emissions from the “Transport (motorways)” sector;

•

EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS) sites – these emissions have been removed from the
“Large industrial installations” sector, with the exception of energy suppliers (e.g. power
stations), whose emissions are indirectly included via the end-user estimates for electricity use.
Note that not all the emissions from the “Large Industrial Installations” sector are produced by
EU ETS installations, hence there are emissions remaining from the sector in the subset.

•

Diesel railways – all emissions from the “Diesel Railways” sector;

•

Land Use, Land Use Change, and Forestry – all emissions belonging to the “LULUCF Net
Emissions” sector.

Local Authority CO2 emissions estimates within the scope of influence of Local Authorities from 20062019 are presented in

179

Table 2 below.

Table 2: Total CO2 emissions estimates (ktonnes) within the scope of Local Authorities for England, Leicestershire and the seven district/borough councils of Leicestershire, and
total CO2 tonnes per capita for the seven district/borough councils of Leicestershire for 2006-2019

Total CO2 emissions (ktonnes)
England
Leicestershire20
Blaby

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

358,751

349,388

343,512

312,815

328,805

298,458

314,115

305,285

275,001

264,802

250,980

241,266

239,715

229,917

4,996

4,838

4,751

4,339

4,500

4,056

4,239

4,212

3,875

3,814

3,677

3,509

3,518

3,375

540

538

489

513

471

500

495

446

431

411

389

386

367

1,138
603
772

1,114
590
719

1,097
595
696

987
548
620

1,035
572
649

911
518
581

937
545
627

942
537
614

866
499
566

853
481
556

827
464
535

791
441
514

783
440
508

745
426
485

422
1,222

412
1,184

416
1,127

387
1,057

399
1,076

354
990

385
997

384
1,003

351
942

342
951

324
925

305
890

305
916

293
886

290

280

282

252

257

230

248

236

207

200

190

180

181

174

Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

6.0
7.2
7.4
7.5

5.8
7.0
7.1
7.0

5.8
6.8
7.1
6.7

5.2
6.1
6.5
5.9

5.5
6.3
6.7
6.2

5.0
5.5
6.0
5.5

5.3
5.6
6.3
5.9

5.2
5.5
6.1
5.8

4.7
5.0
5.7
5.3

4.5
4.9
5.4
5.1

4.2
4.7
5.1
4.9

3.9
4.4
4.8
4.6

3.8
4.3
4.8
4.5

3.6
4.0
4.5
4.3

8.7
13.5

8.4
12.9

8.4
12.2

7.8
11.4

8.0
11.6

7.0
10.6

7.6
10.6

7.6
10.6

6.9
9.8

6.7
9.8

6.4
9.4

6.0
8.9

6.0
9.0

5.7
8.6

5.1

5.0

5.0

4.5

4.7

4.1

4.4

4.2

3.7

3.6

3.4

3.2

3.2

3.0

Per capita emissions

Source: Local Authority CO₂ emissions estimates 2005-2019 (kt CO2) – Full dataset, Gov.uk21

20

This is the sum of the constituent District / Borough emissions data
BEIS: UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005 to 2019 (2020) https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-andregional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2019
21

180

550

Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

181

Total CO2 emissions (ktonne)

1400
1200
1000
800
600
400
200
0
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Year
Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley and Bosworth

Melton

North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston
Figure 2: Total CO2 emissions estimates (ktonne) within the scope of influence of Local Authorities for England, for each of the
seven district/borough councils in Leicestershire between 2006 and 2019.

The total CO2 emissions within the scope of influence of Leicestershire local authorities has decreased
steadily between 2006 and 2019, in line with similar reductions seen for England as outlined in

182

Table 2.
In 2019, Leicestershire County Council (LCC or ‘The County Council’) declared a climate emergency and
have pledged to achieve carbon neutrality for its own operations by 2030 and across Leicestershire by
2045. Within their 2018-2030 Environment Strategy, they outlined a range of commitments in support
of both their climate emergency declaration and government targets. These commitments are as
follows:
-

A 64% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from LCC operations by 2025 (compared to 20162017 baseline levels).

-

A 100% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions (net carbon neutral) from LCC operations by
2030.

-

Continuous improvement in reducing the number of climate change risks with a high-risk score
(15 or more).

-

100% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions (net carbon neutral) for Leicestershire by 2050.
Note, since the publication of their Environment Strategy in 2018, Leicestershire County Council
have brought this target forward so that their aim is to reach net zero carbon across the County
by 204522.

In addition to the Leicestershire County Council declaring a climate emergency, a number of the district
and borough councils have also taken this step. Those include Harborough District Council, Hinckley and
Bosworth Borough Council, Melton Borough Council and North West Leicestershire District Council, who
all declared a climate emergency between June and July 2019 whilst Blaby District Council have a
Climate Change Strategy setting out its ambitions to make the Council carbon neutral by 2030 and the
district by 2050.
Four of the seven district and borough councils have declared a climate emergency; however it is clear
that alternative climate commitments have been made by all. Each have either developed, or are in the
process of developing, climate change / environment strategies.

2.2 Waste Management
Understanding the current waste arisings, trends, sources and flows in Leicestershire is a key part of the
LR&WS and important to this SEA process. The following sub-chapter summarises the key services
provided by the Councils.

2.2.1 Overview of Waste Arisings and Management
A summary of the total Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) arisings for all Leicestershire district and
borough councils are shown in Figure 3, this covers five years’ worth of available data. LACW includes
household waste and other wastes collected by or on behalf of the waste collections authorities
(including trade waste, fly-tipped waste etc.). The graph shows that collected waste in all seven of the
district and borough councils has remained relatively stable with mostly minor fluctuations. The most
notable fluctuations are an increase of 2,359 tonnes of waste collected in Charnwood from 2015/2016
to 2016/2017, followed by an 1,828 tonne decrease the following year, and a decrease in collected
22

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/news/leicestershire-makes-ambitious-net-zero-pledge (Accessed June 2021)

183

waste by 2,332 tonnes in Harborough District between 2015/2016 and 2016/2017. In both cases a
charged garden waste collection was introduced over this period most likely contributing to the fall in
arisings.
70,000
60,000

Tonnes

50,000
40,000
30,000
20,000
10,000
0
2014-2015

2015-2016

Blaby
Hinckley and Bosworth
Oadby and Wigston

2016-2017
Charnwood
Melton

2017-2018

Year

2018-2019

2019-2020

Harborough
North West Leicestershire

Figure 3: Total Authority collected waste for the seven district/borough councils within Leicestershire, 2014/2015-2019/2020
(tonnes).

Table 3: Total Authority collected waste for the seven district/boroughs within Leicestershire, 2014/2015-2019/202023 (tonnes).

District
Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

2014-2015
37,469
60,834
40,050
45,080

2015-2016
37,240
61,755
40,757
45,335

2016-2017
37,986
64,114
38,425
44,920

2017-2018
37,602
62,286
38,083
44,982

2018-2019
36,040
61,092
37,964
45,548

2019-2020
36,812
61,770
38,380
46,551

20,398
41,888

20,478
42,656

20,974
44,022

20,409
43,460

20,371
43,725

20,819
44,128

16,113

15,838

16,729

16,362

16,113

17,261

When observing general trends within this data, Blaby and Harborough have reported decreased
quantities of waste collected in 2019/2020 compared to 2014/2015. All other authorities have reported
increased quantities of collected waste.
The total amount of LACW classed as household waste arisings, are illustrated in Table 4.

23

Source: Defra. Local Authority Collected Waste 2019/20

28

184

Table 4: Household collected waste for the seven district/boroughs within Leicestershire, 2014/2015-2019/2020 (tonnes).

District
Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

2014-2015
36,676
60,346
36,510
43,241

2015-2016
36,189
61,261
36,857
43,417

2016-2017
37,053
63,349
34,468
42,594

2017-2018
36,743
61,444
34,106
42,589

2018-2019
34,912
60,251
34,051
42,665

2019-2020
35,563
60,679
34,457
44,206

20,134
39,506

20,313
40,351

20,737
41,739

20,186
41,131

20,198
41,457

20,643
41,553

16,109

15,748

16,724

16,356

16,050

17,199

The management routes for LACW for the seven district and borough councils within Leicestershire is
summarised in Figure 4 and are presented as tonnages with a percentage breakdown in Table 5. This
shows how Leicestershire County Council, the Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) for these district and
borough councils, disposes of the waste.

400,000
350,000

Tonnes

300,000
250,000
200,000
150,000
100,000
50,000
0
2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/2018

2018/2019

2019/20

Year
Landfilled

Incineration with EfW

Incineration without EfW

Recycled / Composted

Other

Figure 4: Management of LACW (tonnes) by Leicestershire County Council, 2014/2015 – 2019/2020
Table 5: Management of LACW (tonnes) by Leicestershire County Council, 2014/2015 – 2019/2020

Landfilled
Incineration
with EfW

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

99,676
28.2%
63,866
18%
0

96,487
26.7%
80,866
22.4%
354

100,029
28.9%
74,125
21.4%
186

109,864
33.1%
68,614
20.7%
378

110,163
33.4%
70,308
21.3%
422

106,333
31.8%
76,559
22.9%
546

England
Average
(2019/20)
17,782
8.5%
93,839
44.8%
1,513

29

185

Incineration
without EfW
Recycled /
Composted
Other
Total

0%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.1%

0.7%

160,550
45.3%
29,929
8.5%
354,021

164,700
45.6%
18,854
5.2%
361,261

157,954
45.6%
13,830
4.0%
346,123

143,036
43.1%
9,856
3.0%
331,748

141,519
43%
7,287
2.2%
329,699

144,602
43.2%
6,858
2.0%
334,898

89,747
42.8%
6,691
3.2%
209,572

Notes:
1. Other includes waste treated/disposed through other unspecified treatment processes as well as process and moisture
loss.
2.

Total Local Authority collected waste managed may not match total Local Authority collected waste collected as reported
in Table 5 due to stockpiling of waste between reporting periods.

3.

Inputs to intermediate plants e.g. MBT, Residual MRFs, RDF and other plants prior to treatment and disposal and included
in the final treatment and disposal figures.

Source: Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs

Waste management can potentially provide different forms of energy (gas, heat, electricity) if needed to
support changing energy demands. This could include conversion of biogas from Anaerobic Digestion
facilities to electricity, or energy recovery from EfW facilities to generate electricity, which can feed into
the National Grid; provide heat or power to local networks, or to nearby communities or industrial users
(district heat networks).

2.2.2 Recycling and Composting Performance
For 2019/20, the combined recycling and composting activity of household waste in Leicestershire is
45.5%, short of the UK’s target to recycle 50% of household waste by 2020. The average for England
within the same period was 43.8%, meaning that Leicestershire are slightly above the average. However
it must be noted that Leicestershire’s performance is significantly lower than in the early 2010’s when
rates of over 55% were being reached. This reduction will have been a factor of many things including
reclassification of street sweeping and wood waste, stopping them from being composted,
implementation of charged garden waste services, ‘light weighting’ trends on packaging mass and the
closure of a Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) plant which allowed a proportion of recyclables to
be extracted from residual waste prior to disposal. A full summary of recycling rates is demonstrated
below in Table 6, alongside average figures for England.
Table 6: Household waste recycling rates between 2010/11 and 2019/20

Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire

2010/11
45.7%
46.1%
58.1%
50.6%

2011/12
51.3%
49.0%
61.6%
53.9%

2012/13
49.9%
48.7%
56.7%
55.5%

50.3%
45.7%

49.9%
46.1%

44.7%
46.5%

Household waste recycling (%)
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
50.6%
48.8%
49.1%
47.9%
49.1%
48.4%
48.4%
48.4%
57.3%
57.5%
57.5%
53.6%
56.1%
52.7%
51.6%
49.4%
46.6%
46.4%

46.6%
46.6%

47.6%
46.5%

47.7%
46.7%

2017/18
42.4%
45.5%
47.3%
43.9%

2018/19
42.0%
44.9%
45.7%
42.2%

2019/20
42.3%
43.7%
47.3%
43.9%

46.0%
45.9%

44.0%
45.0%

44.7%
46.3%

30

186

Oadby and
Wigston

45.3%

51.1%

52.7%

50.3%

48.8%

48.6%

48.3%

45.1%

43.4%

44.3%

Leicestershire
County
Council
England
average

54.0%

56.2%

55.5%

53.0%

50.5%

49.7%

49.7%

45.8%

45.3%

45.5%

41.5%

43.0%

43.2%

43.5%

43.7%

43.0%

43.7%

43.2%

43.5%

43.8%

Leicestershire County Council and the district and borough councils have attempted to increase
recycling rates by decreasing contamination through the use of campaigns, with their most recent being
‘Don’t let your recycling go to waste!’ which was launched in August 2018. In the previous year, 5,500
tonnes of recyclable material were rejected due to contamination and therefore, this campaign aimed to
give clear advice to residents about what can and cannot be recycled.

2.2.3 Residual Waste and Recycling Collections
All seven district and borough councils within Leicestershire are waste collection authorities, responsible
for collecting waste from households, while Leicestershire County Council is the waste disposal
authority, responsible for disposing of the collected waste. A summary of the services for each district
and borough councils is shown in Table 7. Note that at present there are no separate district wide food
waste collection services (North West Leicestershire are trialling food waste collections from 4,000
households)24, however following consultations on Defra’s Resources and Waste Strategy, all local
authorities are likely to be required to introduce this and make further changes to collection systems.
Table 7: Current residual waste and recycling collection services

Local
Authority
Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley and
Bosworth

24

Waste
Stream
Residual
Recycling
(comingled)
Garden

Households
served
42,168

Residual
Recycling
(comingled)
Garden
Residual
Recycling
(comingled)
Garden

76,629

Residual
Recycling
(comingled)
Garden

50,310

Container
140L /
240L WHB

Collection
frequency
Fortnightly

Operator
In-house

Operational
days /wk
5
5
5

40,110

180L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
180L WHB
240L WHB

Fortnightly

Serco

Fortnightly

FCC

240L WHB

240L WHB
240L WHB

4
4
5
4
4
4

Fortnightly

140L /
240L WHB

In-house

5
5
5

Other info
MRF
contract
from
01/06/18
MRF
contract
from
12/05/18
MRF
contract
from
01/04/18

MRF
contract
from
01/04/18

Excepting a food waste collection trial underway in North West Leicestershire

31

187

Local
Authority
Melton

North West
Leicestershire

Oadby and
Wigston

Waste
Stream
Residual
Recycling
(comingled)
Garden
Residual
Recycling
(multistream)
Garden
Residual
Recycling
(comingled)
Garden

Households
served
23,560

47,332

23,350

Container
240L WHB

180L/240L
WHB
2 boxes
and 2 bags

Collection
frequency
Fortnightly

Operator

Fortnightly

In-house

Biffa

Operational
days /wk
5
5
5
4

Other info
MRF
contract
from
01/10/18

4

240L WHB
140L WHB
240L WHB

Weekly
Weekly

240L WHB

Fortnightly

In-house

4
5
5
5

MRF
contract
from
01/04/18

Dry Recycling Management
All district and borough councils within Leicestershire, with the exception of North West Leicestershire,
offer a ‘commingled’ recycling service. This means multiple material types are collected together, mixed
within a collection vehicle and subsequently sorted at a Materials Recycling Facility (MRF). Dry recycling
from these six authorities is processed at an MRF. The recyclate from North West Leicestershire is
collected via a ‘kerbside sort’ system, where individual material types are sorted by collection crew into
different compartments on a specialist vehicle, and there is no requirement for an MRF. This latter
approach delivers higher quality recycling in general because the materials are separated at source and
included in different compartments on the collection vehicles, enabling ‘cleaner’ material separation.
The current destinations for materials collected for recycling in the MRF, as well as arrangements for dry
recycling from North West Leicestershire, are summarised below in Table 8.
Table 8: Material destinations

WCA

Waste Stream

Blaby,
Charnwood,
Harborough,
Hinckley and
Bosworth,
Melton,
Oadby and
Wigston 26

Mixed papers
Cardboard
Glass
Steel
Aluminium
PET bottles and
trays
HDPE natural
Mixed plastics

Intermediate
Facility
MRF

Final Destination (May 2021)25
Multiple destinations
(India/UK/France/Netherlands/Germany)
Turkey
UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Thailand
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK/Belgium

25

Information on the final destination for materials sorted at the MRF is reported to WasteDataFlow (WDF) on a quarterly
basis, available here: https://www.wastedataflow.org/. Where a final destination is clear this has been provided, however there
is a wide variety of destinations for plastic and metal streams processed at the MRF. Information correct as of May 2021.
26 http://www.lesswaste.org.uk/recycle/what-happens-to-your-kerbside-recycling/

32

188

North West
Leicestershire
27

LDPE/Mixed films
Post-sort residue
Plastics
Aluminium
Glass
Steel
Cardboard
Paper

NW Leicestershire
Depot

Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK
Multiple destinations, UK

Garden Waste Management
All district and borough councils within Leicestershire provide a charged garden waste collection, with
the exception of North West Leicestershire who offer this collection free of charge28. A full summary of
the charges per district are illustrated in Table 9.

27

Note. NWLDC award recyclables to reprocessor using two monthly fixed contracts.
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/recycling_information
28
NWLDC offer additional garden bins at a charge of £45

33

189

Table 9: Garden waste service and annual costs for each district/borough council (2021/22)

WCA
Blaby
Charnwood

Bin size
140L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB

Harborough
Hinckley and Bosworth
Melton
North West Leicestershire
Oadby and Wigston

240L WHB
140L or 240L WHB
240L WHB
240L WHB
240L or 2 x 140L WHB

Annual cost
£25.60
£37.90
£40 - £45 (dependent on
payment method)
£55
£30
£70.92 or £5.91 monthly
No charge
£50

Residual Waste Management
Residual waste collected through the household waste services are treated at a variety of waste
treatment and disposal facilities, including Energy from Waste plants and landfill. A full summary of
residual waste tonnages can be seen in Table 10.
Table 10: Local Authority Collected Waste for all seven WCAs in Leicestershire, 2014/15-2019/20. Household - waste not sent for
recycling (tonnes)29

Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

2014/15
18,764
31,119
15,519
20,434

2015/16
18,438
31,614
15,673
21,013

2016/17
19,295
32,706
15,998
21,574

2017/18
21,165
33,495
17,981
23,913

2018/19
20,255
33,198
18,477
24,655

2019/20
20,508
34,168
18,170
24,787

10,754
21,111

10,643
21,596

10,840
22,230

10,901
22,272

11,303
22,791

11,417
22,328

8,242

8,099

8,654

8,977

9,092

9,580

Landfill
Table 11: Management of all local authority collected waste (LACW), comparison to region, and England average (2019/20) 30

% of total
Leicestershire County
Council33
East Midlands
England average

Landfill

Incineration31

Recycled /
composted

Other32

31.8%

23.0%

43.2%

2.0%

14.9%

39.2%

44%

1.9%

8.5%

45.5%

42.8%

3.2%

29

Source: Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, Local Authority Collected Waste Statistics
Source: Defra MSW Statistics & Waste Data Flow PI reports. Accessed June 2021.
31 Incineration includes incineration with energy recovery / without energy recovery. This includes incinerator bottom ash (IBA)
and metals from IBA.
32 includes waste treated/disposed of through other unspecified methods as well as process and
moisture loss.
33 Source: Waste Data Flow. PI reports accessed June 2021
30

34

190

Table 11 illustrates the management of all Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) by Leicestershire
County Council, in comparison to the East Midlands at a regional level, and England at a national level.
Statistics from Defra show that Leicestershire County Council have a LACW recycling rate broadly
consistent with figures from East Midlands and England. The percentage of LACW sent to landfill in
2019/20 is higher than both the regional and national average, at 31.8%
Note. LACW recycling is separate from the ‘household recycling rate’ for Leicestershire County Council
which for 2019/20 was 45.5%. LACW management includes the waste consisting of all ‘waste from
households’, street sweepings, municipal parks and garden waste, beach cleansing waste and waste
resulting from the clearance of fly-tipped materials plus some commercial and/or industrial waste.
LACW figures for Leicestershire County Council have been used to allow comparison against regional
and national data.
Nationally waste sent for incineration has increased from 3.8% in 2018/19 to 45.5% in 2019/20.
Conversely the amount of waste sent to landfill has decreased to 8.5%, down from 21.3% in 2018/19.34

2.2.4 Trade Waste Services
In addition to operating a household waste collection service, some of the local authorities also provide
a trade waste collection service for businesses / commercial customers in their Council area. The
available collection services provided are included in Table 12 below.
Table 12: Leicestershire WCA trade waste services

WCA
Blaby

Is trade waste
collected?
Yes

Charnwood

Yes

Harborough

Yes

Hinckley and Bosworth

Yes

Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and Wigston

No
Yes

How is it collected?
Range of container sizes
(charges vary depending on
this).
Wheeled bins (1,100L, 660L
or 240L)
Wheeled bins (1,280L, 1,100L,
770L, 360L or 240L) and
refuse sacks
Wheeled bins (1,100L, 660L
or 240L)
Range of container sizes

Which materials are
collected?
Mixed recycling and
general waste

Mixed recycling and
general waste
Mixed recycling and
general waste
Refuse and recycling
collections

No

Businesses can also take some types of business and commercial waste to the Whetstone Transfer
Station, which is located next to Whetstone Household Waste Recycling Centre, see below. Businesses
and commercial organisations can apply for a trade waste account with Leicestershire County Council

34

Source: Defra (2021) Statistics on waste managed by local authorities in England in 2019/20.

35

191

and dispose of waste via the weighbridge. The charge for disposal varies based on the type of waste
disposed. Pricing information is updated regularly via Leicestershire County Council’s website.35

2.2.5 Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs)
There are fourteen HWRCs (formerly known as Recycling & Household Waste Sites, RHWS) across the
Leicestershire area where residents can take household waste to be reused, recycled, or disposed of.
Permits are available for vans, pick-ups and cars with trailers, and any vehicle bringing asbestos,
chemicals or liquid paint. The HWRC’s are operated by Leicestershire County Council, their location in
relation to the seven district and borough councils is shown in Table 13.
Table 13: HWRCs across Leicestershire36

Local Authority Location
Blaby

Site
Whetstone Household Waste
Recycling Centre

Address
Enderby Road, Whetstone,
LE8 6JL

Charnwood

Mountsorrel Household Waste
Recycling Centre
Shepshed Household Waste Recycling
Centre
Loughborough Household Waste
Recycling Centre
Market Harborough Household Waste
Recycling Centre
Kibworth Household Waste Recycling
Centre
Lutterworth Household Waste
Recycling Centre
Barwell Household Waste Recycling
Centre
Somerby Household Waste Recycling
Centre
Melton Mowbray Household Waste
Recycling Centre
Bottesford Household Waste
Recycling Centre
Lount Household Waste Recycling
Centre
Coalville Household Waste Recycling
Centre
Oadby Household Waste Recycling
Centre

20 Granite Way,
Mountsorrel, LE12 7TZ
Hathern Road, Shepshed,
LE12 9RP
Railway Terrace,
Loughborough, LE11 1HW
Riverside, Market
Harborough, LE16 7PT
Kibworth, LE8 0EX

Harborough

Hinckley and Bosworth
Melton

North West Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston

Moorbarns Lane,
Lutterworth, LE17 4QJ
Stapleton Lane, Barwell, LE9
8HE
Knossington Road, Somerby,
LE14 2QP
Lake Terrace, Melton
Mowbray, LE13 0BZ
Normanton Lane, Bottesford,
NG13 0EL
Nottingham Road, Lount,
LE65 1SD
Linden Way, Coalville, LE67
3LA
Wigston Road, Oadby, LE2
5JE

35

Source: Where you can take business or commercial waste | Leicestershire County Council
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/environment-and-planning/waste-and-recycling/find-a-recycling-and-household-wastesite
36

36

192

Just over 58,000 tonnes of waste were collected across the 14 RHWS’ during 2019/20. A breakdown of
the tonnages by waste category is provided in Error! Reference source not found.. Household mixed
waste, green waste and wood are the three most significant arisings, respectively.
Table 14: Total HWRC tonnage (2019/20)

Waste Category

Tonnage

Waste Category

Tonnage

Asbestos
Batteries - Car
Batteries - Household
Bicycles
Bric-a-brac
Cardboard
Gas Bottles
Glass
Green
Household mixed (black bag)
Metals - Ferrous
Metals - Non-Ferrous
Oil - Cooking
Oil - Mineral

47
74
18
51
249
2,421
21
271
13,241
15,465
3,752
14
11
105

Other Materials
Paper
Plasterboard
Plastics
Rubble
Textiles
WEEE - CRT
WEEE tubes
WEEE Fridge
WEEE Large
WEEE Small
Wood

94
747
287
71
2,719
691
317
6
832
785
1,778
13,952

Total

58,151

2.2.6 Other Services
Bulky waste collection services are provided on a district-by-district basis, details of the services and
associated charges are included in Table 15.
Table 15: Bulky waste collection services available in the districts of Leicestershire

WCA
Blaby37

Is a bulky waste
service provided?
Yes

Charnwood38
Harborough 39

Yes
Yes

Hinckley and Bosworth40

Yes

Melton 41

Yes

What is the cost of this service?
1-2 large items: £22.30
3-4 large items: £30.80
5-6 large items: £42.50
£20 charge per three items
£35.04 for up to three items
1-3 items: £20
4-5 items: £33
1 item: £19.60
2-5 items: £32.60
5+ items: £32.60 + £11.70 for each additional item
1 white good collection: £26.70

37

https://www.blaby.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/special-collections/order-bulky-item-collection/. Accessed April 2021.
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/pages/special_collections . Accessed April 2021.
39 https://www.harborough.gov.uk/info/20007/bins_and_recycling/29/large_waste_items_for_collection. Accessed April 2021.
40 https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/largeitem. Accessed April 2021.
41 http://www.melton.gov.uk/info/200084/bins_recycling_and_rubbish/47/dispose_of_a_large_or_bulky_item. Accessed April
2021.
38

37

193

WCA
North West Leicestershire

Is a bulky waste
service provided?
Yes

42

Oadby and Wigston 43

Yes

What is the cost of this service?
1-3 items: £26
4-6 items: £5 per additional item
£22 for one item and £4.10 for each additional item

2.2.7 Voluntary Group Activity
The Leicestershire Waste Partnership are responsible for running the ‘Less Waste’ website, which offers
advice to residents about waste prevention and recycling44. Volunteering opportunities can also be
accessed via this website where Environment Action Volunteers, who can get involved in range of
activities, including establishing community events focusing on topics related to waste, the environment
and sustainability and supporting community fridges, are advertised.
All of the district and borough councils support community action groups and volunteers with provisions
for litter picking with strong community engagement over recent years. Funding has been provided by
Leicestershire County Council to support this. The main task group is ‘South Leicestershire Wombles’
however there are equivalent groups across each district or borough.

2.2.8 Concluding Comments
The waste management service in Leicestershire currently performs above the national average in
recycling terms which has strong carbon benefits, however recycling has exhibited a significant decline
in recycling rates since 2014/15. This reduction will have been a factor of many things including
reclassification of street sweeping and wood waste, stopping them from being composted,
implementation of charged garden waste services, ‘light weighting’ trends reducing packaging weight
and the closure of a MBT plant which allowed a proportion of recyclables to be extracted prior to
disposal.
The County Council (2019/20) landfills a significantly higher proportion of municipal waste than the
national average and this has detrimental carbon impacts.
There are a variety of changes that are likely to impact on the service over the coming 3 – 7 years as a
result of major national policy changes governing collection, funding and management of wastes. The
changes for Leicestershire would be anticipated to include: the introduction of weekly food waste
collections; potential re-introduction of free garden waste collections (where a charge is in place); the
collection of additional dry recycling streams (e.g. plastic film for one Council); and the implementation
of deposit return scheme on single use drinks containers and extended producer responsibility on all
packaging goods.

42https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/bulky_waste#:~:text=To%20arrange%20a%20collection%20of,you%20will%20be%20leavi

ng%20them. Accessed April 2021.
43 https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/pages/bulky_waste_collection. Accessed April 2021.
44

38

194

2.3 Health and Communities
2.3.1 Human Health
Much work has been undertaken to consider the impacts of waste management facilities and practices
on human health and to date no specific links have been proven. Reports by Defra and WRAP have
concluded that present day practices for managing municipal waste in the UK have at most a minor
effect on human health and the environment when compared to everyday activities45. The Health
Protection Agency (HPA) has also reviewed research on the linkages between emissions from municipal
waste incinerators and effects on health and provides advice to government, stakeholders, and the
public46. These reports considered alternate weekly collections and various waste disposal and
treatment operations. The report concluded that whilst it cannot be ruled out, adverse health effects
from well-regulated incinerators are likely to be very small, if detectable, for those living close-by.
Between 2012 and 2014, the average life expectancy in England was 79.6 for males and 83.2 for
females. According to data published by the Office for National Statistics for this same period, the
average life expectancy for the seven district and borough councils within Leicestershire was 80.4 for
males and 84.0 for females, a full breakdown can be observed in Table 16. Therefore, on average the
seven district and borough councils of Leicestershire have a life expectancy above the average for
England.
Table 16: Life expectancies for males and females within the seven district and boroughs of Leicestershire (2012-2014)47

Blaby

Charnwood

Harborough

Melton

North West
Leicestershire

80.8

Hinckley
and
Bosworth
80.4

Male

80.6

80.6

Female

84.7

83.4

Average

79.2

Oadby
and
Wigston
80.6

80.9

84.5

84.7

83.4

83.3

84.5

84.0

80.4

When analysing the available data for the life expectancies of men within these district and borough
councils, it is evident that all district and boroughs either achieve the life expectancy age for England or
above. This is with the exception of North West Leicestershire who have an average life expectancy of
79.2 years for males. For females, more district and boroughs fail to meet or exceed the national
average life expectancy of 84.0 years. The districts and boroughs achieving or exceeding this include
Blaby, Harborough, Hinckley and Bosworth, and Oadby and Wigston, while Charnwood, Melton and
North West Leicestershire all fall below the national average.

45

‘Review of Environmental and Health Effects of Waste Management: Municipal Solid Waste and Similar Wastes’, DEFRA, May
2004;
‘Health Impact Assessment of Alternate Week Waste Collections of Biodegradable Waste’, DEFRA, March 2007;
‘Scoping Study of Potential Health Effects of Fortnightly Residual Waste Collection and Related Changes to Domestic Waste
Systems’, WRAP, July 2009
46 ‘The Impact on Health of Emissions to Air from Municipal Waste Incinerators’, Health Protection Agency (HPA), 2009
47 Office for National Statistics (2012-2014).
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/lifeexpectancies/datasets/lifeexpectancy
atbirthandatage65bylocalareasinenglandandwalesreferencetable1

39

195

Table 17: Population describing themselves as having a limiting long-term illness (2011).48

Area

Population

Percentage of population living
with a long-term health
problem or disability (limited a
lot)

Percentage of population living
with a long-term health problem
or disability (limited a little)

England

53,012,456

Blaby

93,915

Charnwood

166,100

Harborough

85,382

Hinckley and Bosworth

105,078

Melton

50,376

North West
Leicestershire

93,468

4,405,394
8.31%
6,464
6.88%
11,143
6.7%
5,048
5.91%
7,845
7.47%
3,165
6.28%
7,837

4,947,192
9.33%
8,334
8.87%
14,726
8.87%
7,376
8.64%
9,987
9.50%
4,684
9.30%
9,093

8.38%

9.73%

Oadby and Wigston

56,170

4,309
7.67%

5,412
9.64%

As illustrated in Table 17, less than one tenth of residents in the seven district and borough councils of
Leicestershire describe themselves as having a limiting long-term illness; these rates mirror statistics for
England as a whole.
The health and safety of the public and waste operators is an important consideration in all waste
management operations and is a standard consideration in all day-to-day operations. The potential
health effects of waste management facilities are considered at a site-specific level through the planning
and permitting processes.
Some health impacts could be derived from air emissions associated with the transport of waste as part
of the collection and disposal system. This will be considered in the SEA assessment as part of air quality
considerations.
The impact of the current Covid-19 pandemic may require medium or long-term changes to the service,
in particular for vulnerable residents. Assisted collections and good practice health and safety measures
may be enhanced while such risks exist, for example, from those who are advised or wish to shield.

2.4 Population and Households
The number of people living in the Leicestershire area, combined with the number of persons in each
household, will have an impact on the amount of waste produced in Leicestershire and therefore
requiring management.

48

Office for National Statistics (2011).
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/qs303ew

40

196

Based on Office of National Statistics (ONS) classifications, districts within Leicestershire vary between
being ‘Mainly Rural’ to ‘Urban with City and Town’, a full summary is provided in Table 1849.
Table 18: Summary of rural / urban classifications for the seven district and boroughs of Leicestershire (2011)

Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and Bosworth
Melton
North West Leicestershire
Oadby and Wigston

ONS Classification
Urban with city and town
Urban with city and town
Mainly rural
Largely rural
Mainly rural
Largely rural
Urban with city and town

Urban %
80%
86%
6%
49%
0%
42%
-

Rural %
20%
14%
94%
51%
100%
58%
-

Table 19 provides population estimates from the 2018-based ONS Subnational Population Projects for
Local Authorities in England. Looking ahead, the anticipated population growth rate for all district and
borough councils within Leicestershire is relatively high and above the projected national average, with
the exception of Melton which has a growth rate of 2.72%, below the expected national average of
5.07%.
Table 19: ONS population estimates

England
Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

Population
(Mid-year
2019)50

Population estimates
(2018 based)51

Change
2022-2035

2022

2025

2030

2035

56,286,961
101,526
185,851
93,807
113,136

57,282,105
106,810
191,635
96,758
117,611

58,060,235
110,934
197,771
99,706
121,248

59,181,798
116,779
207,655
104,016
126,825

60,183,914
121,801
215,256
107,931
131,933

2,901,809
14,991
23,621
11,173
14,322

%
Change
20222035
5.07%
14.04%
12.33%
11.55%
12.18%

51,209
103,611

51,497
109,075

51,827
113,874

52,352
121,257

52,898
127,864

1,401
18,789

2.72%
17.23%

57,015

57,529

58,351

59,708

60,564

3,035

5.28%

49

Source:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/591466/Local_Authority_
Districts_ranked_by_rural_and_rural-related_populations_with_Rural_Urban_Classification.pdf
50 Office for National Statistics (2020). Source:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populatione
stimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
51 Office for National Statistics (2020). Source:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/subnation
alpopulationprojectionsforengland/2018based/relateddata

41

197

2.4.1 Population demographics
The number of people aged 65 and over is predicted to increase by 40% by 2035. This change means
that 1 in 4.5 of the population will be aged 65 and over by 2035, rather than the current 1 in 5.7. This
could have implications for waste management services in a variety of respects. This might include
increased demands for assisted collections52. There may be enhanced issues regarding vulnerability as
highlighted by the current Covid-19 pandemic and noted previously. It may also change the composition
of the waste, for example a potential reduced nappy waste.
Just under 200,000 new homes are set to be built in the City and County of Leicestershire by 205053.
Population growth for the majority of districts and boroughs within Leicestershire is projected to be
much higher than the average growth estimated for England. Therefore, it will be greatly important for
planning guidance to be provided for developments so that sufficient space is provided for recycling
within new homes and externally for the storage of containers for recycling and refuse.
An increase in population and households could lead to an increase in local authority collected waste
(LACW) and may lead to a potential change in the composition of waste, i.e. changing demographic of
population can lead to an increase/decrease in Absorbent Hygiene Products54 (AHP).
There are three universities within Leicestershire – University of Leicester, De Montfort University and
Loughborough University. The latter of the three is located in Charnwood, the only one to be within the
Leicestershire County area. This means that high quantities of student populations are typically present
here. Although the University of Leicester and De Montfort University are not located within any of the
District areas, those which are located close to Leicester City, such as Oadby and Wigston, also see an
increase in student populations. This transient population can add some challenges in communications
and effective use of waste-related services, which can have a direct impact on the recycling performance
of the area. Additionally, it can pose issues during clear-out of student households at the end of term
time, such as increases in bulky waste etc.
Table 20: Ethnicity across Leicestershire, Census 2011

East Midlands
Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston

Asian
6.5%

Black
1.8%

Mixed
1.9%

White
89.3%

Other
0.6%

6.1%
9.72%
3%
2.14%

0.96%
0.80%
0.38%
0.25%

1.6%
1.55%
1.14%
0.98%

90.99%
87.37%
95.24%
96.47%

0.36%
0.57%
0.24
0.17%

1.03%
1.15%

0.19%
0.22%

0.82%
0.94%

97.9%
97.56%

0.06%
0.13%

22.29%

1.19%

2.09%

73.01%

1.41%

52

Where the collection crew collect bins from the property and return them to the property (rather than a kerbside collection)
due to the inability of the householder to move the container/s.
53 Source: https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/news/council-plans-for-growth-in-population-and-economy
54 AHP refers to nappies, feminine hygiene products, incontinence pads.

42

198

Table 20 shows the ethnicities of the Leicestershire districts and boroughs, in comparison to the average
for the East Midlands, as recorded in the 2011 census.
However, it is important to note that ethnic identity does not provide a clear indication of the assistance
required to engage in Local Authority service, such as waste management. For example, many ethnic
minority residents will have been born in the UK or lived in the UK for a number of years. For example,
the 2011 Census shows that a higher proportion of the population reports a British national identity
then reported White British ethnic identity. The 2011 Census therefore provides some information
around English language proficiency.
According to the 2011 Census, of those that reported a main language other than English, 1.3% of the
population in East Midlands cannot speak English ‘well’, and 0.3% cannot speak English.
An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will be undertaken as part of the LR&WS
review. An EHRIA aims to identify whether a new policy, procedure or service (in this instance the
LR&WS) may have any adverse equality and human rights implications. The assessment ensures that any
impact (positive or negative) on different groups or protected characteristics within a community are
identified, any barriers that might have a detrimental impact on any communities or groups are also
considered and ensure that these are mitigated against or avoided. The EHRIA will be used to consider
the impact or likely impact of the Strategy in relation to all areas of equality, diversity and human rights,
as outlined in Leicestershire County Council’s Equality Strategy.
Potential barriers around accessing waste management services can be mitigated against through
translation services, providing communications in different formats (e.g. braille, audio or large print),
encouragement through community engagement and ensuring appropriate accessibility provisions for
any services and events.

2.5 Local Environment Quality
The quality of a local environment can be measured via a variety of parameters, ranging from the
amount of waste fly-tipped, to the air quality measured across the district (see section 2.5.4). This
section considers the implications of waste on the local environment; the cause and effect that natural
systems play on the local environment and how human activity can exacerbate environmental issues.

2.5.1 Fly-Tipping
Approximately 1 million (1,072,000) incidents of fly-tipping were dealt with in England in 2018/19. This
was an increase of 8% from 2017/18 (998,000 incidents). 62% of the fly tips involved household waste,
an increase of 2% from the previous year and the most common locations of fly tipping was on highways
(pavements or roads). The cost of clearance to Local Authorities in England for 2018/19 was estimated
at £12.9 million for large fly-tipping incidents, an increase from £12.2 million in 2017/1855.

55

Defra (2019) Fly-tipping statistics for England. There may be more than one enforcement action associated with one incident.

43

199

Table 21: Number of reported fly tipping incidents and actions taken across the seven district and boroughs of Leicestershire56.

District

Year

No. Incidents reported

No. Enforcement Actions
reported

Blaby

2016/17

531

466 (87.8%)

2017/18

588

460 (78.2%)

2018/19

689

556 (80.7%)

2019/20

676

586 (86.7%)

2016/17

603

1047 (173.6%)

2017/18

673

1061 (157.7%)

2018/19

852

1334 (156.6%)

2019/20

924

1476 (159.7%)

2016/17

653

381 (58.3%)

2017/18

608

518 (85.2%)

2018/19

728

534 (73.4%)

2019/20

484

539 (111.4%)

2016/17

754

841 (111.5%)

2017/18

731

312 (42.7%)

2018/19

844

427 (50.6%)

2019/20

791

879 (111.1%)

2016/17

387

29 (4.9%)

2017/18

410

24 (5.9%)

2018/19

382

12 (3.1%)

2019/20

343

5 (1.5%)

2016/17

884

767 (85.6%)

2017/18

731

838 (114.6%)

2018/19

716

773 (108.0%)

2019/20

695

739 (106.3%)

2016/17

17

15 (88.2%)

2017/18

8

7 (87.5%)

2018/19

17

17 (100%)

2019/20

4

3 (75%)

Charnwood

Harborough

Hinckley and Bosworth

Melton

North West
Leicestershire

Oadby and Wigston

Table 21 shows the number of reported fly-tipping incidents and actions across the seven district and
borough councils of Leicestershire. Some districts, such as Blaby, Charnwood, Harborough and Hinckley
and Bosworth have seen an increase in fly-tipping incidents since 2016/17 while others such as Melton,
North West Leicestershire and Oadby and Wigston have experienced a reduction. Oadby and Wigston

56

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/env24-fly-tipping-incidents-and-actions-taken-in-england

44

200

reported the same level of fly tipping incidents in 2016/17 as they did in 2018/19, despite a stated
reduction in 2017/18.
According to Keep Britain Tidy’s Litter in England survey57 (2017-2018), smoking-related litter was the
most commonly found type of litter (79% of sites), followed secondly by confectionery packaging (60%
of sites) and alcoholic drinks related sites (52% of sites). One aspect of the national Resources and
Waste Strategy proposes the introduction of a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) for England, Wales, and
Northern Ireland. As well as the aim to boost the quantity and quality of key recyclables, a DRS also aims
to reduce the amount of littering. Litter affects how clean an area is and can impact people’s willingness
to drop litter. Therefore, based on the theory that a DRS could reduce the number of drinks containers
in particular, it may also have a positive impact on materials littered outside of the scope of a DRS.
Service restrictions brought about by the Covid-19 pandemic and the social distancing / lockdown
restrictions created the opportunity for increases in fly-tipping. It is important that services and
enforcement are appropriately delivered to manage unintended negative environmental consequences
such as fly-tipping in abnormal operating circumstances.

2.5.2 Water
River Quality
The River Soar is the principal river of Leicestershire with a length of over 24 miles and is a large
tributary of the River Trent. The source of the river is between Hinckley and Lutterworth, Harborough,
and it flows north through Leicester where it is joined by the Grand Union Canal.
As observed in Figure 5, the majority of the County area is within the catchment area of the River Soar.
However, Northern areas of the County, including parts of North West Leicestershire and Melton, are
within the Lower Trent and Erewash Catchment, while large areas of Hinckley are Bosworth and parts of
North West Leicestershire fall into the Tame, Anker and Mease catchment to the west. In the South, a
large proportion of the Harborough District falls into either the Warwickshire Avon or Welland and Nene
catchment areas, with small areas of Eastern Melton falling into the Witham, Steeping Great Eau and
Long Eau catchment.

57

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/litter-and-littering-in-england-data-dashboard/litter-and-littering-in-england2017-to-2018

45

201

Figure 5: Catchment areas within Leicestershire58

At a national level, river water quality has not greatly improved in recent years, demonstrating a lack of
progress towards the target of 100% healthy waters by 202759. In 2020, just 14% of rivers met the
criteria for ‘good ecological status’, which shows no improvement from the data published in 201660. A
range of pollutants, including sewage discharge, chemicals and agriculture, were suggested to be having
this damaging impact on river quality.
In terms of the River Soar itself, soil erosion is causing blocked pipes and culverts which makes the river
more susceptible to flooding, while also diminishing water quality. These sediments carry particle
pollutants which catalyse the process of eutrophication and decrease the quality of the river’s waters
further. Overall, 87% of the water bodies within the Soar catchment area failing to achieve good
ecological status61.
The Water Framework Directive (WFD) was adopted and enacted in 2000 to provide a legislative
framework for the protection of rivers, lake, transitional waste (e.g. estuarine), coastal waste and

58

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, Appendix 5 (2014). Leicestershire County Council.
https://www.wcl.org.uk/not-one-river-in-england-in-good-health.asp
60 https://deframedia.blog.gov.uk/2020/09/18/latest-water-classifications-results-published/ (Accessed June 2021)
61 WaterLIFE (n.d.) River Soar – Fact sheet.
59

46

202

groundwater across the UK. This directive has been transposed into English and Welsh Law through The
Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 2017.
Flood Risk
As Lead Local Flood Authority, Leicestershire County Council coordinate the management of local flood
risk, which includes surface water flooding, ordinary watercourse flooding and groundwater flooding. A
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy was developed in 2015. This aspect links to climate change
(section 2.1) in terms of adaptation to the effects of climate change, due to increased precipitation and
extreme weather events. Flooding events may also entail a significant clean-up effort, generating waste
(from silt deposits, water damage etc).
As part of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, 40 areas were identified as a ‘Priority Settlement’,
meaning that more than 100 properties were shown to be at risk of Surface Water Flooding. As part of
this, an Action Plan was developed where a number of actions are listed for each of the seven
objectives. A number of mitigation measures are outlined within this which include improving channel
capacity through de-culverting and providing property level protection to those identified as being at
risk. The 5 settlements with the highest number of properties at risk are shown in Table 22 below.
Table 22: 5 settlements within Leicestershire with the most properties at risk for a 1 in 100 surface water flood62

Settlement

1 in 100 Surface Water Flood Risk: Number of
properties at risk

Loughborough
Blaby, Narborough & Whetstone
Market Harborough
Wigston
Hinckley and Burbage

2,743
1,702
2,310
1,849
1,496

Flood risk from all sources needs to be considered when planning for new developments or facilities.
This includes flood risk from rivers or the sea, for which there are three different flood zones:
•
•
•

Flood zone 1: Less than 0.1% chance of flooding in any year from rivers or sea
Flood zone 2: 0.1% to 1% chance of flooding from rivers in any year, or 0.1% to 0.5% chance of
flooding from the sea in any year
Flood zone 3: 1% or greater chance of flooding from rivers, or 0.5% or greater chance of flooding
from the sea

Figure 6 below outlines the different flood zones which are present within Leicestershire.

62

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2015). Leicestershire County Council.

47

203

Figure 6: Flood zone map of Leicestershire63

Waste management facilities have the potential to contribute to, and intensify, the consequences
experienced during a flood event. Therefore, it is of great importance that when the location of new
facilities are being decided, that the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is considered
throughout. This is discussed further in Chapter 3, where key sustainability issues are outlined.
This aspect also links to climate change (section 2.1) in terms of adaptation to the effects of climate
change.

63

https://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk/

48

204

Groundwater
There are small scale, Zone 1 and Zone 2 Groundwater Source Protection Zones (SPZs) across
Leicestershire, which are designed to protect the groundwater supplies. SPZs are monitored by the EA
under the Groundwater Protection Policy. According to Leicestershire County Council’s Local Flood Risk
Management Strategy (2015), it was concluded that Leicestershire is at low risk of groundwater
flooding, due to the majority of the County being sited on strata. However, as visible in Figure 7, there
are some areas which were highlighted as being vulnerable. These include small areas of North West
Leicestershire and Melton which were classified as having a very high vulnerability, as well as large areas
of Harborough and small areas of Charnwood and Melton which were identified as having a moderate
vulnerability. Again, this aspect also links to climate change (section 2.1) in terms of adaptation to the
effects of climate change, due to increased precipitation and extreme weather events and potential for
raised groundwater levels as a consequence of these effects.

Figure 7: Groundwater Flood Risk and Vulnerability from bedrock Sources across Leicestershire64

In England, the EA report that groundwater provides over a third of drinking water. Groundwater is
susceptible to contamination from agriculture, mining, transport, housing etc. and cannot be cleaned
easily. The SPZs across Leicestershire are shown in Figure 8.

64

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, Appendix 5 (2014). Leicestershire County Council.

49

205

Figure 8: Groundwater Source Protection Zones across Leicestershire65

The potential impact of waste management on water quality will be primarily a site-specific issue.
Different facility types may have the potential for impacts on water courses or SPZ, e.g. windrow
composting sites have the potential for run-off into surface water and contribution to eutrophication or
landfill leachate could percolate into the groundwater causing contamination of groundwater. Waste
management activities are controlled by strict regulation designed to minimise potential environmental
impacts, with locations controlled through the planning process and facility design and operation
through the Environmental Permitting system rather than at a waste strategy level.

2.5.3 Land and Soil
Geology
As observed in Figure 9, the bedrock geology for the majority of Leicestershire’s geographical area is
Mudstone, Siltstone, Limestone and Sandstone. This combination of Lias grouped bedrock (marine
derived bedrock found in large areas of Western Europe from approximately 200 to 178 million years
ago) is more prevalent in the East of the County. In the West, it is evident that Triassic bedrock (from

65

Defra MAGIC Map Tool (Accessed June 2021)

50

206

approximately 250 to 200 million years ago) is more common, with Mudstone, Siltstone and Sandstone
present here.

Figure 9: Bedrock geology of the Leicestershire area66

66

British Geological Survey, Geology of Britain Viewer:
https://mapapps.bgs.ac.uk/geologyofbritain/home.html?&_ga=2.250595782.1788148322.1624981824581421268.1623841110

51

207

Soils

Figure 10: Soilscape (Magic Map), Defra

On the whole, loamy and clayey soils make up the majority of the soil profile for Leicestershire, which
can be seen in Figure 10 in dark green. The orange/green areas which are most prevalent in the East,
signify lime-rich loamy and clayey soils with impeding drainage. Clayey soils are also present in much of
the Northern areas; however the loamy soils are slightly acidic (dark brown in Figure 10). In many parts
of the West, free draining and slightly acidic loamy soils are present, noted by the pink areas within the
map.

2.5.4 Air Quality
Road transport emissions accounted for 33% of nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions across the UK in 201967.
The impact of waste management activity on local air quality is most likely to arise through transport
impacts, for example, through vehicle movements for household waste collections and the transport of
waste and recyclables to transfer/recycling/treatment/disposal facilities.
District and borough Councils are responsible for reviewing local air quality in accordance with the
Environment Act 1995. This involves measuring air pollution and predicting how it will change in the
future with a view to ensuring that local air quality objectives are achieved and where these are not met
67

National Statistics Release:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/960193/Figure07_NOx_sect
or.csv/preview

52

208

then Local Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) can be declared. In such circumstances local
authorities are required to put together a plan to improve Local Air Quality Road transport is the main
source of air pollution in the majority of AQMAs.
District and borough councils regularly review and assess pollution levels across their designated areas.
As stated in the National Air Quality Strategy, which is under the Environment Act 1995, the 8 pollutants
which are recommended to be monitored include: Benzene, 1-3 Butadiene, Carbon Monoxide, Sulphur
Dioxide, Lead, Particulates, Nitrogen Dioxide and Ozone. However, the three which are most
consistently monitored include Sulphur Dioxide, Nitrogen Oxide and Particulates (PM10). There are
currently 15 AQMA’s within Leicestershire.
An Air Quality and Health Partnership is in place which consists of District / Borough Councils, LCC and
Public Health, who work to improve air quality in the area.
Table 23: AQMA's within the Leicestershire area.

District
Blaby68

Location
Cause
A5460 Narborough Road South
Nitrogen Dioxide
M1 corridor in Enderby and
Nitrogen Dioxide
Narborough
M1 corridor between Thorpe
Nitrogen Dioxide
Astley and Kirby Muxloe
Enderby Road, Whetstone
Nitrogen Dioxide
B582 on Mill Hill, Enderby
Nitrogen Dioxide
69
Charnwood
Loughborough
Nitrogen Dioxide
Syston
Nitrogen Dioxide
Mountsorrel
Particulate matter (PM10)
Great Central Railway
Sulphur Dioxide
Harborough70
A6 Leicester Road
Nitrogen Dioxide
Lutterworth Town Centre
Nitrogen Dioxide
71
North West Leicestershire
High Street, Kegworth
Nitrogen Dioxide
Stephenson Way, Coalville
Nitrogen Dioxide
High Street/Bondgate Castle
Nitrogen Dioxide
Donnington
Copt Oak Road, Copt Oak
Nitrogen Dioxide
Note – there are currently no AQMA’s reported in Hinckley and Bosworth, Melton or Oadby and Wigston.

The impact of waste management activities on air quality is considered on a local rather than national
level. Waste management activities may have site specific impacts related to air quality that would be
considered through the planning and permitting process. In addition to this the impact of traffic
movements associated with changes to waste management activity as part of the strategy review should

68

Blaby District Council: https://www.blaby.gov.uk/environmental-issue/waste-and-environment/air-quality/ (Accessed Feb
2021)
69 Charnwood Borough Council: https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/pages/landandpropertiesinairqualityman (Accessed Feb 2021)
70 Harborough District Council: https://www.harborough.gov.uk/info/20025/environmental_health/101/air_quality (Accessed
Feb 2021)
71 North West Leicestershire District Council: https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/air_quality (Accessed Feb 2021)

53

209

be considered in the assessment as traffic movements can be a major contributor to local air quality
emissions, particularly in urban / sensitive areas. Transport is also considered in Section 2.7 below.

2.6 Economics
Leicester and Leicestershire are the largest economy in the East Midlands, with a GVA of £23 billion. The
economy here predominantly consists of SMEs of which there are over 42,000, with 98% of businesses
in the area employing fewer than 50 people72. There is a higher concentration of micro businesses and
lower concentration of medium and large businesses in Leicestershire than the regional average.

2.6.1 Employment / Unemployment
Rates of employment and unemployment for those of the working age are outlined within Table 24.
Table 24: Employment statistics for the seven districts and boroughs of Leicestershire73

Population
– 2019

Blaby

101,500

Working age
population:
aged 16-64
(2019)
61,500

Charnwood

185,900

120,600

Harborough

93,800

56,000

Hinckley and
Bosworth

113,100

68,000

Melton

51,200

30,400

North West
Leicestershire

103,600

63,800

Oadby and
Wigston

57,000

34,100

Employment and unemployment (Jan 2020 – Dec 2020) *
Employed

Unemployed (Model-based)

46,900
(76.3%)
100,800
(83.6%)
48,000
(85.7%)
57,700
(84.9%)

1, 700
(2.8%)
3,600
(3.0%)
1,700
(3.0%)
2,300
(3.4%)

24,300
(79.9%)
48,000
(75.2%)

1,100
(3.6%)
2,400
(3.8%)

26,800
(78.6%)

1,000
(2.9%)

* Percentage figures are a % of ‘All people aged 16-64’ (2019)
Note. The remaining proportion of people between 16-64 include students, retirees, those unable to work due to temporary
or long-term sickness or looking after family/home

From taking an average of employment and unemployment rates published by ONS, between January
2020 and December 2020, the UK average employment rate was 75.8%74. This means that during the
same period all district and borough councils were performing above this, with the exception of North
West Leicestershire. The UK unemployment rate for the same period was 4.4%, which is higher than any

72

Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership: https://llep.org.uk/oureconomy/#:~:text=Leicester%20and%20Leicestershire%20is%20the,within%20a%2045%20minute%20drive. (Accessed Feb
2021)
73 Nomis Official Labour Market Statistics: https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/contents.aspx (Accessed June 2021)
74 ONS (2021). Employment in the UK: February 2021:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/employmenti
ntheuk/february2021 Accessed June 2021 (May 2020, August 2020 and November 2020 datasets were also used to create this
statistic).

54

210

of the model-based estimates for any of the seven district and borough councils, as observed in Table
24.

2.6.2 Deprivation
Indices of Deprivation (IoD) are produced by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) as a means of comparing different areas of England by a variety of deprivation
measurements. Data is ranked such that the lower the score, the greater the deprivation. The most
deprived local authority ranks 1 and the least deprived 317. The indices are made up of seven
deprivation elements, relating to income, employment, health and disability, education, barriers to
housing and services, living environment and crime.
Table 25: Indices of deprivation75

Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West
Leicestershire
Oadby and
Wigston
Partnership
average

Income

Employment

Education

Health

Crime

Living
environment

Local
Authority
Rank

270
197
289

Barriers
to
housing
&
services
293
252
234

260
232
304

253
240
302

161
171
265

219
204
303

193
168
266

231

212

127

206

182

236

263

232

262

261

227

230

242

177

125

248

204

177

125

163

204

274

256

216

214

214

191

170

229

296

251

249

244

237

181

214

212

248

239

254

281
244
308

Overall, all district and borough councils within Leicestershire perform relatively well on the IoD, with
rankings of 200+ being achieved for the majority of categories. The lowest performing Council area is
North West Leicestershire with a ranking of 216, with lower scores being attained in the employment,
education and health elements. In terms of the best performance, Harborough placed 308 out of a
possible 317, with high rankings within the income, employment and health categories. On average
across the LWP, the worst performing category is education, while living environment is the best.

2.7 Transport
2.7.1 Road
Within Leicestershire there are a number of major roads and transport links, including the M1 which
runs north-south through the sub-region and to the west of Leicester, and the M69 which runs from the
M1 Junction 21 via Hinckley to the M6 at Coventry.

75

IoD 2019 Local Authority Focus Interactive Dashboard:
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiOTdjYzIyNTMtMTcxNi00YmQ2LWI1YzgtMTUyYzMxOWQ3NzQ2IiwidCI6ImJmMzQ2OD
EwLTljN2QtNDNkZS1hODcyLTI0YTJlZjM5OTVhOCJ9

55

211

2.7.2 Rail
Services to and from Leicester are operated by East Midlands Trains and Cross County Trains. There are
four main lines which provide transport to and from Leicester, these are as follows:
•

The Midland Mainline – runs north-south between London St. Pancras and Nottingham, Derby
and Sheffield

•

The South Leicestershire Line – runs east-west from Nuneaton to Leicester

•

The Syston & Peterborough Line – runs east-west from Leicester to Peterborough

•

The Leicester & Burton line – runs north-west from Leicester to Burton-upon-Trent

As part of the HS2 development, the Eastern leg of Phase 2B from West Midlands to Leeds will come
past Leicestershire. Approximately 30km of this route will pass through Leicestershire, in the north of
the County. The East Midlands Hub, situated in Toton, will become one of the best serviced stations on
the high-speed network and Midlands Engine Rail, and as outlined below, have plans so that Leicester
will have good access to this.
Midlands Engine Rail is a £3.5 billion plan which consists of seven projects from the East to West
Midlands where up to 60 locations, including Leicester, could receive faster and more frequent rail
services. These plans work alongside the HS2 development, with the aim to fully integrate these projects
so that services would be available to link Leicester to the new high-speed network.

2.7.3 Bus
Within Leicester and Leicestershire, there are 75 main bus service routes offering an hourly or better
daytime frequency from Monday to Saturday. Bus routes during evenings, Sundays and Bank Holidays
are greatly reduced, with only 26 services running hourly or better.

2.7.4 Air
East Midlands Airport lies within the north of the County and is home to the UK’s largest dedicated air
cargo operation76. Passenger travel also takes place here, with a large catchment area of 10.6 million
people who are within a ninety-minute drive.

2.7.5 Transport Priorities
Overall, the transport links in and around Leicestershire are relatively good, with substantial road, rail,
bus and air infrastructure. However, more sustainable methods such as walking, and cycling should
continue to be promoted while some of the more rural districts may benefit from improved transport
systems. According to the Leicestershire County Council Local Transport Plan 3, there are six Strategic
Transport Goals which aim to be worked towards. This document is explored in further detail in Section
3.1.10.
The LWP area comprises all areas of the Leicestershire county excluding the Leicester City region which
sits centrally within the county. Therefore, the vehicle and waste movements between Leicester and the
rest of the County of Leicestershire will have an environmental impact, consequently some

76

https://www.eastmidlandsairport.com/about-us/cargo/

56

212

consideration of the transport plans for Leicester are relevant for the wider implications for
Leicestershire.

2.8 Biodiversity & Conservation
There are many different types of Protected Area across the UK, established either through National
legislation (for example Sites/Areas of Special Scientific Interest, SSSI), at a European level through
European Union Directives of initiatives (for example, Special Areas of Conservation or Special Protected
Area), or areas set under Global Agreements (for example Ramsar sites). Protected Areas are designated
for areas for conservation, nature, landscape and amenity value.77
Within Leicestershire there are 76 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), 58 of which are biological, 12
geological and 6 both biological and geological. An assessment of these SSSI’s which was undertaken by
Natural England in 201978 showed that:
•

52.38% were in Unfavourable recovering condition

•

7.27% were in Unfavourable condition – no change

•

6.69% were in Unfavourable condition - declining

There are no Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) within Leicestershire, however there is one
Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The SAC within the County is the River Mease, which has a variety of
important habitats including neutral grasslands, wet meadows and rivers and streams. In addition to
this, there are also some species of international importance within this area, including the bullhead
fish. Conservation objectives have been set for the SAC site to ensure the site is maintained / restored as
appropriate and ‘ensure that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable Conservation Status of its
Qualifying Features’. 79
The Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (NERC ACT 2006) states that 'Every public body
must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those
functions, to the purpose of conserving biodiversity’. This is not a site-specific plan and therefore local
biodiversity impacts are considered as outside the control of this plan. In a wider sense, and at a
national or international level, waste management will impact on biodiversity as the amount of material
recycled displaces primary materials extracted for use. Local biodiversity issues should be considered at
individual sites through the planning and permitting processes.
In 2016, a Biodiversity Action Plan was developed for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland which covers
the period 2016-2026. Within this, Species Action Plans were developed for sixteen species, including
the Barn Owl, Bats, Otters, Water Voles and White-clawed Crayfish. 19 Habitat Action Plans have been
developed for priority habitats across Leicestershire and Rutland, a further plan for Rivers is currently
being prepared. For each Habitat Action Plan there is a summary which includes guidance for

77

See UK Protected Areas | JNCC - Adviser to Government on Nature Conservation for information
Leicestershire County Council (2021). Action for Nature: A Strategic Approach to Biodiversity, Habitat and the Local
Environment for Leicestershire County Council.
79
European Site Conservation Objectives for River Mease SAC. Available here:
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6217720043405312
78

57

213

conservation measures, an explanation of the link to Local Wildlife Site criteria and the status of the
habitat.
More recently, ‘Action for Nature: A Strategic Approach to Biodiversity, Habitat and the Local
Environment’, has been published by Leicestershire County Council which builds on aims relating to
biodiversity, habitats and the local environment (see Section 3.1.11 for more detail).

2.9 Natural Resources
Natural resource use is primarily a national rather than local issue as natural resources such as minerals
and sources of energy are consumed locally but often derived from non-local sources. Natural resource
use is also linked to the consumption of goods and services by the population of a particular area.
The Ecological Footprint is a monitor of human demand on ecosystems. It shows that humanity is
already using nearly 50% more natural resources than the Earth can replenish and by 2050 it is
estimated that humans will be using twice as many natural resources than the Earth can replenish. For
an individual, a sustainable ecological footprint would be less than two hectares, however in the UK this
is over 580.
Resource consumption is an issue at both a national and local level. The waste strategy review provides
an opportunity to look at how activity in Leicestershire can reduce the impact on resources depletion.
Waste prevention, reuse, repair and increased or decreased recycling levels can contribute to preserving
or recovering resources and so will be considered as part of an overall assessment on the impact of
natural resources. Activity that promotes the waste hierarchy will be an important part of the
assessment.

2.10 Buildings, Heritage and Landscape
2.10.1 Cultural Heritage
Table 26: Number of listed buildings, monuments and heritage assets81

Grade II*

Grade II

Conservation
areas

World Heritage
Sites

Battlefields

Protected
Wrecks

0
0
0
0

0
5
6
0

11
38
62
29

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
1

0
0
0
0

626
611

716
658

36
23

0
0

1
2

1
1

44
22

0
0

0
0

0
0

8
39
105
36

183
741

26
7

64
40

1,154

Scheduled
Monuments

0
0
0
0

3
12
22
8

Total

306

16
22
65
22

Grade II

Grade I

Registered Parks and
Gardens

194
792
1,281
350

Grade II*

Blaby
Charnwood
Harborough
Hinckley and
Bosworth
Melton
North West

Listed Buildings

Grade I

Authority

Leicestershire

80

https://cat.org.uk/info-resources/free-information-service/green-living/carbon-calculators-ecological-footprints/ (Accessed
June 2021)
81 https://historicengland.org.uk/listing/the-list/ (Accessed June 2021)

58

214

Oadby and
Wigston

1

4

33

38

0

0

0

0

10

0

0

0

As observed in Table 26, there are a large number of heritage sites within the seven district and borough
councils of Leicestershire which will all require protection. Large numbers of Listed Buildings are present
in Charnwood, Harborough and Melton, with Harborough also having the highest quantity of Registered
Parks & Gardens and Conservation Areas. None of the district and borough councils have World Heritage
Sites (or Protected Wrecks), however there is one Battlefield within Hinckley and Bosworth which is the
Bosworth Battlefield.

2.10.2 Landscape
There are 159 National Character Areas (NCAs), across England, as defined by Natural England. They are
classified as a natural subdivision of England based on the landscape, history, biodiversity, geodiversity,
and economic activity82. The boundaries of NCAs follow natural lines, as opposed to administrative
boundaries. There are many NCAs which intersect the Leicestershire area, these include:
• NCA 48: Trent and Belvoir Vales
• NCA 69: Trent Valley Washlands
• NCA 70: Melbourne Parklands
• NCA 71: Leicestershire & South Derbyshire Coalfield
• NCA 72: Mease / Sence Lowlands
• NCA 73: Charnwood
• NCA 74: Leicestershire and Nottinghamshire Wolds
• NCA 75: Kesteven Uplands
• NCA 89: Northamptonshire Vales
• NCA 93: High Leicestershire
• NCA 94: Leicestershire Vales
• NCA 95: Northamptonshire Uplands
It should be noted that the Resources & Waste Strategy is not a planning document and doesn’t address
site specific aspects, and therefore the relationship of buildings, the landscape and site-specific issues is
not directly related to this Strategy but will be relevant to the waste local plan and associated planning
permissions and also environmental permits for waste management facilities and activities.

82

Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making

59

215

3 Key Sustainability Issues and Interrelationships
As part of developing the SEA for the review of the LR&WS, it is important to consider the local
environmental baseline. An assessment of the baseline position for Leicestershire has been carried out
as part of the scoping phase of the SEA. From this review, the key sustainability issues identified for
Leicestershire and the LR&WS review include climate change, local environmental quality, air quality,
economics and natural resources. All will be assessed as part of the sustainability assessment. These
issues have been presented and discussed with a range of Council representatives covering climate
change officers, planning and waste management officers. This took place at a number of workshops,
the first of which took place on 9th June 2021 and focussed on draft strategy aims and objectives,
options and assessment criteria, and the second was held on 23rd June 2021 and focussed on the SEA
process. Draft findings from the Strategy and initial draft Environmental Report were discussed at a
second set of workshops on the 29th October and 9th November. The results in this Environmental
Report take account of the workshop outcomes and have been subject to further consultation with the
district, borough and County Councils prior to inclusion in this document.
It will also be important to take account of interrelationships between issues, for example between
climate change and natural resources, as the products that we consume and then discard end up as
waste that needs to be managed and disposed of whilst also using up scarce natural resources in their
production. The waste services that are provided locally, depending on waste systems and sites for the
facilities, could have impacts in terms of environmental quality, air quality and economics that need to
be tested through the sustainability assessment.
The key sustainability issues identified from the baseline assessment and initial consultations are:
Climate Change
•

Total CO2 emissions for Leicestershire as a whole and all seven district and borough councils
have reduced from their 2006 levels, however there is a substantial challenge to reach 2045
ambitions of net zero carbon across Leicestershire (and the respective climate ambitions of the
individual Councils, which have each developed their approach through local strategies).

•

Preparing for changing climate, or climate adaptation. Identifying areas at risk across
Leicestershire will be important to ensure adequate measures are put in place to mitigate
against the impact of climate change. Extreme weather events could impact on the operation of
waste management facilities, notably landfill and composting, for example in high winds. This
could also be a factor to consider when considering containers for kerbside collections. It is
evident from overseas practice in warmer climates, that waste and recycling collection is more
frequent, and often at earlier times, in particular for putrescible waste streams.

•

More widely, Leicestershire County Council’s Local Flood Risk Management Plan identified 40
areas as Priority Settlements for flooding, which are particularly sensitive to the impacts of
climate change. As part of this, an Action Plan was developed where a range of actions are listed
for each of the seven objectives. A number of mitigation measures are outlined within this
which include improving channel capacity through de-culverting and providing property level
protection to those identified as being at risk. Flooding events may also entail a significant cleanup effort, generating waste (from silt deposits, water damage etc).

216

•

Waste management can potentially provide different forms of energy (gas, heat, electricity,
transport fuel) if needed to support changing energy demands.

•

Effective waste management, through application of the waste hierarchy principles (see below)
generally have strong climate change benefits.

Waste
•

Local Authority collected waste has remained relatively stable between 2014- 2019/20. Councils
have reported a rise in domestic waste and recycling and a fall in commercial waste arisings as a
result of the Covid-19 pandemic (as reported nationally). New waste streams have been
introduced and the composition has changed as a result of changed behaviour (e.g. takeaway
food packaging, DIY waste, office-type waste from homeworking). The longevity of these effects
/ systems is currently unknown.

•

Compared to the 2019-20 England average for waste landfilled (8.5%), Leicestershire had a rate
of 31.8% in 2019-20, an increase from the 28.2% of waste they sent to landfill in 2014-15. This is
high and will contribute to both climate change impacts (notably from biodegradable waste) and
resource loss.

•

Compared to the 2019-20 England average for recycling / composting (42.8%), Leicestershire
had a marginally higher rate of 45.5%. However, this is a decrease on rates ten years ago of
>50%. There is a need to reverse this trend in order to realise national targets of 65% recycling /
reuse by 2035. Recycling has strong carbon / climate change benefits for most materials.

•

Garden waste is a charged service in the majority of district and borough councils, which is
contrary to the direction of national policy; efforts could also be made on waste minimisation
through home or community composting. Leicestershire County Council have supported home
composting for a number of years through campaigns and subsidised compost bins.

•

There is a high proportion of food waste in the residual stream83 due to a lack of separate food
waste collections (excepting a trial in NW Leicestershire), this is contrary to the direction of
national policy and the Environment Act84. Recycling food waste via Anaerobic Digestion has
strong climate change benefits.

•

All district and borough councils support community action groups and volunteers with
provisions for litter picking.

Health
•

On average across the seven district and borough councils, the average life expectancy is above
the average for England.

83

Nearly 30% (by weight) of residual household waste is food waste, source: Integrated Skills (2018) Waste Composition
Analysis for Leicestershire County Council
84

The Environmental Act is legislation which will improve air and water quality, tackle waste, increase recycling, halt the decline
of species and improve our natural environment. This is detailed further in Appendix A, Section 2.15.2.

61

217

•

Percentage of population living with a long-term health problem or disability are marginally
above the England average for most district and borough councils.

•

There is a longer-term uncertainty regarding Covid impacts, and the proportions of the
population affected by variants, and potential long term effects (e.g. long covid) with possible
impacts on waste service demands.

•

Issues of accessibility and inclusion are factors for those with health / disability issues.

•

Dietary health and food waste are a nationwide issue. Leicestershire’s Good Food Charter aims
to make Leicestershire a healthier and more sustainable County.

Population
•

Large areas of population growth include NW Leicestershire, Blaby, Charnwood, Hinckley and
Bosworth and Oadby and Wigston, therefore requiring sufficient waste management
infrastructure and systems (domestic and centralised). There are other areas of growth outside
urban areas, such as the Lutterworth East new town planned for Harborough.

•

The most urban areas are Blaby and Charnwood, then Hinckley and Bosworth, NW
Leicestershire and Oadby and Wigston, this is followed by Harborough and Melton which are
largely rural. Increased rurality impacts on waste management services by raising costs /
reducing collection efficiency. Urban environments may have different waste management
challenges such as a lack of storage for bins / containers and specialist requirements for multioccupancy dwellings; this is particularly relevant for potential future food waste collections.

•

The transient (e.g. student) population also creates challenges with waste services / messages.
Ethnicity and language barriers are also a factor, as is inconsistent product / package
recyclability labelling.

•

The number of people aged 65 and over is predicted to increase by 40% by 2035. This change
means that 1 in 4.5 of the population will be aged 65 and over by 2035, rather than the current
1 in 5.7. This could have implications for waste management services in a variety of respects.
This might for example include increased demands for assisted collections and impact on waste
composition.

•

The unitary authority of Leicester City sits outside the LWP area85, but is located centrally within
Leicestershire; the vehicle and waste movements between Leicester and the rest of the County
of Leicestershire will have an environmental impact.

Local Environment Quality & Air
•

Comparing number of fly tipping incidents from 2016/17 to 2019/20, Blaby, Charnwood,
Harborough and Hinckley and Bosworth have all seen an increase in the number of incidents
reported. This can impact on local pollution and recreational blight.

85

The LWP area comprises all areas of the Leicestershire county excluding the Leicester City region which sits centrally within
the county.

62

218

•

Local air pollution can also impact on local environment quality. There are 15 Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMAs) within Leicestershire, 13 of which are caused by high levels of
Nitrogen Dioxide. 5 AQMAs are in Blaby, 4 in Charnwood and NW Leicestershire and 2 in
Harborough.

•

Refuse Collection Vehicles (RCVs) and other waste collection and transportation vehicles which
are typically diesel fuelled can contribute to NOx and particulates (in addition to carbon dioxide
and other pollutants); exacerbated by collections typically taking place when the roads are at
their busiest.

•

Domestic vehicles carrying waste (for example to the HWRCs) can also contribute to detrimental
impacts to air.

•

Waste management processes (e.g. transfer stations, composting sites, etc) can impact on local
air quality through vehicle movements and / or operations.

•

Monitoring and improving local environmental quality has a significant role in protecting local
amenity. Amenity is an important consideration for effective waste management operations
(particularly in reference to noise, dust and odour etc).

Water
•

Majority of Leicestershire is within the catchment area of the River Soar. Other rivers that pass
through the County area include the Trent, Mease and Sence. It is important to be aware of
flooding from main rivers, which are typically large Rivers and Brooks of strategic drainage
importance (an example of this would be the River Soar), which could put many properties and
facilities at risk of flooding.

•

Within LCC’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (2015), flood modelling was undertaken and
found that for a 1 in 100 Surface Water Flood Risk, more than 1,400 properties were at risk in:
Loughborough (2,743); Blaby, Narborough & Whetstone (1,702); Market Harborough (2,310);
Wigston (1,849), and Hinckley and Burbage (1,496). There are a range of flood management
projects in these areas.

•

The risk of groundwater flooding is relatively low in the majority of the County, however there is
moderate risk in the south of the County and very high risk in areas of the North West (including
areas of NW Leicestershire).

Biodiversity
•

Biodiversity Action Plan for Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland was developed in 2016 which
runs to 2026.
o

16 Species Action Plans were developed

o

19 Habitat Action Plans were developed (1 further plan for Rivers is currently being
developed)

63

219

•

76 SSSIs within Leicestershire (58 biological, 12 geological and 6 both biological and geological),
which should be protected. This links to Leicestershire’s Action for Nature strategy, see Section
2.8 for more detail.

Transport

86

•

HS2 – The Eastern leg of Phase 2B from West Midlands to Leeds will run past Leicestershire.
Approximately 30km of this route will pass through Leicestershire, in the north of the County.

•

The East Midlands hub and the Leicester Midlands Engine Rail proposals will influence
commuter travel patterns

•

Good variety of transport links are evident across the County – road, rail, bus, air, while cycle
and footway usage should be promoted. However, rural areas may benefit from improved
public transport links; this is being addressed through various plans, such as the Bus Service
Improvement Plan86.

•

Six transport priorities have been identified within the Leicestershire County Council Local
Transport Plan 3. This includes working towards a transport system which will help to reduce the
carbon footprint of Leicestershire. The district and borough councils have local sustainable
transport plans in place.

•

Alternative vehicle fuelling infrastructure (Hydrogen, natural gas, electric) is in development and
needs to be increased to meet future demand.

•

Broadband connectivity is expected to be in continued demand throughout Leicestershire.

National Bus Strategy.pdf (leics.gov.uk)

64

220

4 Draft Sustainability Objectives and Criteria
4.1 Sustainability Objectives
The original objectives from Leicestershire’s previous waste strategy and the more recent Sustainability
Appraisal (SA) of the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan have been reviewed, along with the
information within this Scoping Report to determine a list of draft Sustainability Objectives and
associated criteria. These are contained in Table 27 alongside a Proposed Measurement Indicator, SEA
Regulations Themes and Rationale for inclusion. The objectives and indicators / criteria for
measurement were presented at a workshop (with officers from all Council’s present) and have been
subject to further consultation with the Partnership prior to inclusion in this consultation phase.
Table 27: Sustainability Objectives

Sustainability Objectives for
draft Resources & Waste
Strategy

1. To increase the positive
carbon impacts and reduce
the negative carbon (and
other greenhouse gases)
impacts of the waste
collection, recycling,
treatment and disposal
service

Draft Measurement
Indicator

SEA
Regulations
Themes

Net carbon impact of
waste collection and
management (GWP100
kg CO2 eq.87)

Links to SO no.5 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
Climate
Factors

Key driver for Councils and a
Sustainability Issue for
Leicestershire
Many of the district and
borough councils have
committed to become net
zero.

MJ of Energy recovered

2. To reduce the use of fossil
fuel energy through the use
of clean renewable fuels and
low carbon or renewable
energy

Rationale

Net carbon impact of
waste collection /
transportation
(GWP100 kg CO2 eq.)

Links to SO nos. 4, 5 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
Climate
Factors /
Resources &
Material
Assets / Air

The Strategy will consider
energy generation and
alternative fuels. Links to
Sustainability issues on Air,
Transport and Climate Change
Requirement for HGVs to move
away from Diesel by 2040
(2035 for HGVs up to 26 tonne)

87

In the workshop it was questioned whether the BEIS tool could be used for carbon impacts, but this does not go into the
detail required for this assessment.

65

221

Sustainability Objectives for
draft Resources & Waste
Strategy

Draft Measurement
Indicator

SEA
Regulations
Themes

Waste arisings
(kg/hh/year AND
kg/person/year)
3. To reduce resource use

Reduce / Repair / Reuse
/ recycling (kg/hh/yr
AND kg/person/year)

Links to SO no 1 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
Resources &
Material
Assets

Resource Depletion
measure (Av. Euro
person equivalent)

4. To divert waste away from
landfill

Residual waste to
landfill (kg/hh/yr AND
kg/person/year)

Resources
and
Material
Assets /
Climate
Factors

NOx impacts from
collection / transport
(kg NOx)
5. To maintain and enhance
good air quality for all

Particulates from
collection / transport
(PM, µg m–3)

Rationale

A key objective of the LCC
Environment Strategy
A Sustainability Issue for the
Strategy & the service

Links to SO no 4 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan

A Sustainability Issue for
Leicestershire and the service
Links to SO no 5 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan.

Air / Human
Health

A Sustainability Issue for
Leicestershire and the service

Human Toxicity
measure (kg 1,4-DCBEq)

6. To promote sustainable
economic growth and
employment

Semi-qualitative
assessment of
employment using
collection modelling /
case study information

Links to SO no 10 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
Population
and socio
Economics

A Sustainability Issue for
Leicestershire and the service

Potential supply chain /
circular economy
benefits

66

222

Sustainability Objectives for
draft Resources & Waste
Strategy

Draft Measurement
Indicator

SEA
Regulations
Themes

Freshwater Aquatic
Toxicity (kg 1, 4 – DCB
eq.)
7. To protect and enhance
the quality of water and soils

Eutrophication (PO4 kg
eq.)

Links to SO no 1 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
Water &
Soil

Links to the Action for Nature
Document

Basket of environmental
indices:-

Links to SO nos. 3 & 8 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
A key objective of the LCC
Environment Strategy

Eutrophication (PO4 kg
eq.)
Freshwater Aquatic
Toxicity (kg 1, 4 – DCB
eq.)

Biodiversity,
Flora and
Fauna

Climate Change impacts
(GWP100 kg CO2 eq.)

9. To protect and enhance
the landscape and
geodiversity of Leicestershire

A key objective of the LCC
Environment Strategy

Quantity of compost /
digestate added
(kg/year)

Acidification (kg SO2 eq.)

8. To protect and increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

Rationale

Qualitative /
comparative
assessment, not a sitespecific plan
Land take (ha)

Geodiversity
and
Landscape

Links to the Action for Nature
Document
[A basket of indices to reflect
general impacts on the natural
environment. It was queried
during consultation (and it is
agreed) that it is not an ideal
representation of impacts on
Biodiversity, however no more
suitable alternative measures
have been proposed]
Links to SO nos. 3, 6 & 8 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
A key objective of the LCC
Environment Strategy
Links to the Action for Nature
Document

67

223

Sustainability Objectives for
draft Resources & Waste
Strategy

10. To protect the
significance of heritage
assets of archaeological,
cultural and historic value

Draft Measurement
Indicator

SEA
Regulations
Themes

Qualitative
/comparative
assessment, not a sitespecific plan
Land take (ha)

Rationale

Links to SO no 7 from
Leicestershire Minerals and
Waste Local Plan
Cultural
Heritage

A key objective of the LCC
Environment Strategy
Links to the Action for Nature
Document

4.1 Key themes
The review of programmes and plans (Appendix A) highlights a number of key themes of relevance to
LR&WS and the sustainability objectives above. Key themes are included in Table 28 below.
Table 28: Consolidated list of themes for consideration in the revised R&WS

Key Themes

Comments

Waste prevention

Landfill diversion

Whilst these themes could be combined under the theme of
the waste hierarchy, within the LR&WS it is important that
they are considered as individual themes. The elements of
waste hierarchy will also contribute to renewable energy
generation and the emerging theme of zero avoidable waste.

Reducing the carbon / greenhouse gas
impact of waste management to
achieve collective net zero ambitions

Covering climate change and including carbon / greenhouse
gas emissions from treatment / disposal options, low carbon
economy, renewable energy, reducing transport impacts.

Affordability

Including value for money and the potential for delivering
cost savings.

Circular economy

Encompassing resource efficiency / productivity, industrial
symbiosis, wider collaborative working, developing markets
for recyclable materials and sustainable procurement as a
means of completing the circle.

Sustainable transport

Waste management, in one sense, is a logistics operation
within a wider supply chain of production, consumption and
management of materials arising as wastes. Transport is
therefore a key aspect of waste management operations.

Limiting environmental impacts and
harm to human health

Including environmental protection, sustainable
communities.

Improving biodiversity

Whilst not a site-specific strategy waste management
operations can impact on biodiversity through emissions to
air, water and land.

Reuse, recycling and composting
Energy recovery from waste

68

224

Key Themes

Comments

Reducing fly-tipping and litter

Encompassing the quality of the local amenity and
contributing to green infrastructure.

Managing the impact of food waste

Two very topical themes, which could be considered under
different elements of the waste hierarchy and are specific
themes within the LR&WS.

Managing the impact of plastic wastes
Management of all municipal waste

With the emergence of municipal waste targets covering
commercial wastes similar in nature to household waste.

Raising waste awareness and
education

On-going behaviour change.

Developing clean infrastructure / Build
back better / Innovation

This has relevance for waste management strategy decisions
(e.g. food waste collection and treatment infrastructure) and
services (e.g. collections using electric vehicles).

69

225

5 Draft Strategy Aims and Objectives
The initial consultation phase of the Strategy development process has considered the new aim and
objectives of the LR&WS. A workshop was held on the 9th June with the district and borough councils
and County Council to review the previous aims and objectives of the Strategy, discuss their relevance
for the new Strategy and propose a new aim and accompanying objectives for statutory consultation.
This section below includes a proposed vision (or aim) for the Strategy and objectives as a result of the
discussion at the workshop.
Proposed Strategy Vision
To work towards a circular economy and contribute to achieving net zero carbon by 2050 in
Leicestershire. This means fully embracing the waste hierarchy by preventing waste and keeping
resources in circulation for as long as possible, through reuse, repair and recycling, to realise their
maximum value whilst minimising environmental impacts.
Strategy Objectives
The objectives have been grouped into themes. These are all important guiding principles for the service
as a whole and are not in order of priority.
Table 29: Strategy Objectives

Proposed LR&WS objectives
Deliver services in accordance with circular economy principles
Objective 1: Manage materials in accordance with circular economy principles, except where costs
are prohibitive, or where the environmental consequences can be demonstrated to be negative.
Objective 2: As local authorities, set an example by preventing, reusing, recycling and composting our
own waste and use our buying power to positively encourage sustainable resource use.
Reduce the climate change / carbon impact of waste services in Leicestershire
Objective 3: Reduce carbon emissions from Leicestershire’s waste management services.
Deliver services that are financially sustainable and equitable across the Partnership
Objective 4: Consider the whole life financial, social and environmental impact, and deliver quality
services designed to allow flexibility, innovation and improvement.
Objective 5: Promote the economic and employment opportunities of sustainable waste
management where this is consistent with circular economy principles. Consider local / regional
supply chain and markets for recyclate and other secondary raw materials.
Delivery of high-quality waste services for residents of Leicestershire
Objective 6: Work together to adapt and deliver coordinated services and infrastructure for waste
services with lower environmental impacts.

226

Objective 7: Aim to reduce and manage residual waste within the County where this is consistent
with the proximity principle and to manage all other waste at the nearest appropriate facility by the
most appropriate method or technology.
Work in partnership with local communities across Leicestershire
Objective 8: Work with the community and businesses to raise awareness about environmental
matters (including climate change, energy and resource management) and increase participation in
waste prevention, reuse and recycling initiatives and link to national campaigns.
Objective 8: Lobby and work with others, in pursuit of the Partnership’s vision of sustainable waste
and resource management.

The LR&WS also includes a number of pledges setting out specific actions to support and achieve these
objectives, these can be found in the draft LR&WS.

71

227

6 Strategy Waste Management Options
6.1 Options Appraisal and SEA
A Strategy requires an options appraisal to prioritise between alternative options for the purposes of
service delivery, procurement, and planning. The methodology for the options appraisal was discussed
at a workshop held in June 2021, and the results presented and discussed in a workshop on the 29th
October 2021.
Article 5.1 of the SEA Directive states:
“an environmental report shall be prepared in which the likely significant effects on the environment
of implementing the plan or programme, and reasonable alternatives taking into account the
objectives and the geographical scope of the plan or programme, are identified, described and
evaluated”
Each level of the waste hierarchy is considered in sequence as recommended in the Practice Guidance
for the Development of Municipal Waste Management Strategies88.
The initial consultation phase has also considered the alternative waste management options that have
been assessed as part of developing the LR&WS. Options across the waste hierarchy have been
considered in the waste strategy and SEA. The options also take account of future policy direction
including the Resources and Waste Strategy for England.
The options have been grouped to provide a rounded set of options for the strategy appraisal process.
The structure of these allows the effect of proposed national policies, residual waste restrictions,
different dry recycling schemes to be compared. A wide range of options were considered at workshop
held on the 9th June with the district and borough councils and the County Council.
The modelled options for the LR&WS are listed and briefly described below.
Table 30: Modelled options for the LR&WS

Option
Baseline
Option 1: Waste
minimisation
Option 2: Reuse and repair
Option 3: Revised Baseline
with Consistent Collection
measures, EPR & DRS

88

89

Description
Current service
Focus on waste awareness / education / waste reduction / recycling and
prevention initiatives
Focus on facilitating or promoting reuse / repair activities across
Leicestershire
As Baseline89 kerbside collection service, except:
• Recycling collection consistent with materials indicated in national
consistent collections consultation (e.g. plastic film, cartons etc)
where not currently collected
•
‘Free’ garden waste collection
• Separate weekly food waste collection

‘A Practice Guide for the Development of Municipal Waste Management Strategies’, DEFRA, November 2005
Commingled for all district and borough councils, except NWL (kerbside sort)

228

Option

Description
•

Option 4: Retained charged
garden
Option 5A: Restricted
residual waste
Option 5B: Restricted
residual waste
Option 6: Twin stream
recycling, fibre out (paper
and card)
Option 7: Kerbside sort

Option 8: Three-stream
recycling

New national measures (extended producer responsibility, EPR,
and a deposit return scheme, DRS) come into effect as set out in
the national consultation
• This option only, also includes batteries, textiles, small waste
electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE) collections
As Option 3, except:
• Garden waste collection is retained as a charged service for all
Councils that currently operate a subscription service
As Option 3, except:
• Residual waste collected fortnightly in 140L wheeled bins
As Option 3, except:
• Residual waste collected three-weekly in 240L/180L wheeled bins
As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly twin stream collection of dry recycling: paper and card
in one box; plastics, glass and cans together in a wheeled bin
As Option 3, except:
• Fortnightly kerbside sort collection of dry recycling (collecting
recyclables in different boxes and bags and collection crew sort
them into different compartments on a specialist recycling vehicle)
As Option 3, except
• Fortnightly three-stream collection of dry recycling: paper and
card in box 1, glass in box 2, plastic and cans in box 3. These are
collected in two different vehicles.

Three further sensitivities for the options were tested on option 3:
•
•
•

Electric vehicle sensitivity – (replacing all diesel collection vehicles with electric equivalent)
Reduced reliance on landfill and increased use of Energy from Waste for residual waste treatment
(electricity recovery only)
Reduced reliance on landfill and increased use of Energy from Waste with combined heat and
power recovery (CHP)

These sensitivities were to explore other aspects that could have a significant benefit to the options in
general. The implications are used to inform the scoring and mitigations that can be applied.
A detailed description of the appraisal process and results are included in the Options Appraisal Report
The results are used to inform the scoring in this report.

6.2 Assessment Criteria
The nine alternative options reflect national, regional, and local government policy and were developed
to reflect the needs of, and issues in, Leicestershire. The options of the draft LR&WS have been assessed
against the SEA sustainability objectives and analysed according to an impact/effect appraisal scale.
The nature of impacts will vary between the options being considered and not all measures will be
relevant in each case. Impacts can be indirect, cumulative, or one-off, temporary, or permanent and
73

229

short/medium/long term and these are appraised in Appendix B with some aspects included later in this
section.
Impacts against the SEA criteria are scored as to whether they exhibit a positive or a negative impact.
The nature of environmental impacts and this relatively high-level assessment means that in some cases
the options considered may exhibit effects that can be described using a number of these descriptions,
for example an option may have both positives and negative impacts against an objective. The criteria
used for this scoring exercise can be seen in Table 31 below.
Table 31: Scoring criteria

Major positive effect
Some positive & major positive effects
Positive / indirect positive effect
Neutral effect
Negative / indirect negative effect
Negative / major negative effect
Major negative effect
Possible positive & negative effects
Possible neutral & positive effects
Possible negative & neutral effects
Unknown
Unknown / positive
Unknown / negative

++
+/++
+
0
-/---/+
0/+
-/0
?
?/+
?/-

6.3 Scope of the Assessment
The geographical scope of the assessment is limited to Leicestershire; however, some environmental
impacts (e.g. global warming impacts) will clearly exhibit impacts wider than the area covered by the
LR&WS. The LR&WS considers a number of options for dealing with waste in the future, activities, and
facilities for which will ultimately require a site(s). Sites are not identified as part of this assessment and
therefore the issues of land use are assessed on a generic basis, with detailed consideration in the local
development documents associated with waste planning.
The assessment combines both quantitative and qualitative approaches. The qualitative assessment is
informed by technical judgement and the quantitative input has been informed by modelling work
undertaken to understand the impact of technologies on recycling rates and the diversion of
biodegradable waste from landfill. The Waste & Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment
(WRATE)90 has been used to assess certain environmental issues, where suitable. The results of the
WRATE modelling (which has been used for the evaluation of the SEA objectives) are included in
Appendix C.

90

A Life Cycle Assessment model, specifically developed for municipal waste management decision making, funded by the
Environment Agency and manged by Golder Associates.

74

230

6.4 Strategy Options Assessment Matrix
For further details on the analysis, including causes, mitigations, timescales and whether there are
cumulative / synergistic type impacts are provided in Appendix B.

75

Scenarios 1-8 have been assessed against the SEA objectives as detailed in Table 32.
Table 32: Summary assessment of all scenarios within the SEA

Option
1

3

4

5A

5B

6

7

8

Waste
minimisation

Reuse
and
repair

Revised
baseline
with
consistent
collection
measures,
EPR & DRS

Retained
charged
garden

Restricted
residual
waste
capacity

Restricted
residual
waste
collection
frequency

Twin
stream
recycling,
fibre out

Kerbside
sort

Threestream
recycling

+/++

+/++

+

+

++

++

0/+

0/+

0/+

0

0

++

++

++

++

++

++

++

To reduce resource use

++

++

++

++

++

++

++

++

++

To divert waste away from landfill

+

+

++

++

++

++

++

++

++

To maintain and enhance good air quality for all

?

?

-/--

-/--

-/--

-/--

-/--

-/--

-/--

To promote sustainable economic growth and
employment

?

?/+

+

+

+

+

+

+/++

+/++

To protect and enhance the quality of water and
soils

?

?

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

To protect and increase biodiversity, flora and
fauna

?

?

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

-/+

To protect and enhance the landscape and
geodiversity of Leicestershire

0

0

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

To protect the significance of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and historic value

0

0

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

0/+

SEA Objective

To increase the positive carbon impacts and
reduce the negative carbon (and other
greenhouse gases) impacts of the waste
collection, recycling, treatment and disposal
service
To reduce the use of fossil fuel energy through
the use of clean renewable fuels and low carbon
or renewable energy

231

2

232

7 SEA Conclusions and Mitigation
The following points are the key conclusions and mitigation issues arising from this SEA of the draft
LR&WS. The Strategy seeks to improve on the baseline situation through improved resource
management and continued movement of waste management practices in Leicestershire up the waste
hierarchy. This is consistent with good practice in the area of resource and waste management.
The analysis of the Strategy and alternate delivery approaches for the Strategy give rise to the following
mitigations for consideration in the Strategy review process:
•

To deliver campaigns and communications activity that will engender strong and sustained
participation in waste minimisation, reuse or recycling systems

•

To focus communications and resource / waste services on preventing, reusing/repairing or
recycling waste streams with the highest environmental impact (or best environmental savings).
Examples include food waste, metals, textiles and waste electrical equipment.

•

The waste hierarchy is a useful guide in terms of the preferred approach to reduce
environmental impacts (i.e. prevent waste in the first instance, then reusing ‘usable’ items or
packaging, recycling other material resources and recovering energy, with landfill as the least
desirable option).

•

Providing a dedicated food waste collection significantly increases the recycling performance of
the Partnership. The best food waste treatment option, in carbon terms, is to send the waste to
Anaerobic Digestion facilities with efficient energy recovery. The energy is classified as
renewable and is low carbon.

•

Compost and digestates applied to land should be managed in a way that reduces impacts on
water and in accordance with good practice. There is the potential to offer composts back to
households for domestic horticulture and raise awareness of the benefits of the garden waste
service.

•

Establishing good communications around effective separation of organics, will improve the
quality of resultant compost and digestates applied to land e.g. lower contamination.
Appropriate alignment of food waste collection liners with the anaerobic digestion facility will
help to reduce contamination of digestate and consequent impacts on land and soil.

•

Whilst some residual waste is inevitable, seek to minimise this and reduce the amount sent to
landfill as far as practicable.

•

Where residual waste is sent to Energy from Waste facilities, higher efficiency plants should be
used where available and a pro-active approach (for reasons of reducing climate change
impacts) take for the removal of plastics from the residual waste. The potential for carbon
capture & storage (CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW plants should be preferred when this
technology becomes available.

233

•

The carbon impact of the Leicestershire Resource and Waste Strategy actions should be
measured and considered holistically to ensure that the service contributes effectively towards
net zero carbon targets and climate emergencies of respective partners.

•

To reduce emissions to air from vehicle movements, particularly in areas where there are local
pollution hotpots (e.g. Air Quality Management Areas) alternative fuels should be considered for
collection and transport of waste.

•

Where infrastructure is required under the Strategy activities, reusing existing buildings or
infrastructure should be considered, to maximise the use of existing resources and reduce
additional environmental burdens. Appropriate planning and regulatory practice must be
observed, including (where applicable) Best Available Techniques (BAT), Biodiversity Net Gain
requirements and good practice in terms of facility design for visual amenity and operations
management for local amenity (noise, odour etc.).

•

The Partnership has a role in supporting the circular economy by enabling collection systems
that can readily extract usable resources from waste and helping facilitate or signpost to other
circular economy initiatives (such as waste prevention, remanufacture, repair, reuse and
prevention activity).

•

The Partnership can support upskilling for aspects like repair and refurbishment activities to
support a circular economy.

•

The Partnership can lead by example to manage its consumption and management of resources
and waste to reduce environmental impacts and support behaviour change.

•

By promoting linkages between waste / resource management activities and other
environmental impacts (e.g. biodiversity), the Strategy can exhibit broader environmental
benefits.

These elements should be applied in the Leicestershire Resources & Waste Strategy and its
implementation in order to reduce negative impacts and enhance positive impacts, as identified by this
Strategic Environmental Assessment.

78

234

79

8 Monitoring
The areas of particular sensitivity from waste management operations and initiatives should be subject to monitoring as part of the SEA process.
The proposed monitoring criteria are provided in Table 33 below.
Table 33: SEA monitoring criteria

Unit of
Measurement

Frequency of
Measurement

Target / Comment

Trigger Point/s

Responsibility

Waste Arisings

Kg of collected
household waste /
person / annum

Monitored annually
using Defra’s Local
Authority Collected
Waste Statistics

Benchmark against
comparable local
authorities to understand
variations that occur.

Where waste arisings are not in line with
expectations and increase beyond
anticipated levels relative to the previous
two-years; and this is not a trend
observed in the other benchmark local
authorities over the same period, the
reasons should be investigated and where
necessary remedial action taken.

Responsibility for any
remedial action will
depend on the reason for
the unanticipated changes
in waste arisings.

Delivery of the LR&WS
targets / pledges on
recycling and composting.

Where annual performance, committed
actions and forecasts shows the progress
is not in line with delivering the LR&WS
targets / pledges. The causes of this
should be investigated and where
appropriate remedial action taken.

Responsibility for any
remedial action will
depend on the reason for
the failure to meet
recycling / reuse
ambitions.

Kg of kerbside
residual waste/
household / annum

Monitored annually
using the WRAP’s Local
Authority Waste and
Recycling Portal91

235

Criteria

Analysed biennial (to
take account of shortterm variations)
Recycling/
Composting

91

% household waste
recycled /
composted

http://laportal.wrap.org.uk/

Annually using Defra’s
Local Authority
Collected Waste
Statistics

Unit of
Measurement

Frequency of
Measurement

Target / Comment

Trigger Point/s

Responsibility

Landfill
Diversion

% of LACW
landfilled

Annually using Defra’s
Local Authority
Collected Waste
Statistics

Delivery of the LR&WS
targets / pledges on
landfill diversion

Where annual performance, committed
actions and forecasts shows the progress
is not in line with delivering the LR&WS
targets / pledges. The causes of this
should be investigated and where
appropriate remedial action taken.

Responsibility for any
remedial action will
depend on the reason for
the failure to meet landfill
diversion ambitions.

Behaviour
Change

Yield of 'widely
recycled' materials
kg / household

Annually using the
WRAP’s Local
Authority Waste and
Recycling Portal

Benchmark against other
comparable local
authorities to understand
variations that occur.

Where yield per household, committed
actions and forecasts shows the progress
is not in line with delivering the LR&WS
targets / pledges. The causes of this
should be investigated and where
appropriate remedial action taken.

Responsibility for any
remedial action will
depend on the reason for
the failure to meet
anticipated yields.

Local Air
Quality

Annual waste
collection mileage

Biennial

Review changes in waste
collection mileage taking
account of changes to
collection services.

Where collection transport mileage is not
in line with anticipated changes based on
any changes to collection services, the
strategy may not be progressing as
intended and remedial action may be
required

Responsibility for any
remedial action will
depend on the reason for
the failure to achieve
anticipated collection
transport mileage.

Where the 5 yearly reviews does not show
anticipated reduction in carbon emissions
from the baseline, the strategy may not be
progressing as intended and remedial
action may be required.

Responsibility for any
remedial action will
depend on the reason for
the failure to achieve
anticipated carbon
performance.

Number of low /
zero emission
vehicles
Carbon Impact

Kg of CO2 equiv.

Uptake of low / zero
emission vehicles should
may a positive contribute
to local air quality.
Full carbon analysis at
strategy review (5
yearly)

Full carbon analysis will
determine position
relative to baseline.
The five yearly reviews
should show substantial
improvement in carbon
performance.

236

Criteria

81

237

9 Consultation Process
The consultation process is designed to provide the public and other consultees with an opportunity to
comment on the scope of the Strategic Environmental Assessment for the LR&WS.
This document forms the Strategic Environmental Assessment draft Environmental Report, designed for
external consultation to statutory bodies, the public and interested parties, and includes the following
material:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Baseline Position (Chapter 2)
Key Sustainability Issues and Interrelationships (Chapter 3)
SEA Sustainability Criteria and Objectives (Chapter 4)
Strategy Aims & Objectives (Chapter 5)
Strategy Waste Management Options (Chapter 6)
SEA Conclusions of Appraisal & Mitigations (Chapter 7)
Monitoring (Chapter 8)
Consultation Process (Chapter 9)
Review of relevant plans and programmes (Appendix A)
Options Assessment Matrix (Appendix B)
Indicator and measurements used for SEA objective scoring (Appendix C)
Responses from Statutory Consultees (Appendix D)
Responses to Statutory Consultees (Appendix E)

The Consultees are invited to comment on any or all of these aspects.
Please provide any comments or views on the Document to LessWaste@leics.gov.uk
Alternatively post to;
Waste Services Consultation/Env Report
Environment and Waste Management
Room 700
Leicestershire County Council
Have Your Say
FREEPOST NAT18685
Leicester
LE3 8XR
The deadline for responses is 25th April 2022

238

83

239

Appendix A – Review of relevant plans and programmes

84

240

1 Introduction
1.1 Report Background
The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of existing National, County and District/Borough
level policies which relate to the management of waste and environmental impacts. These documents
informed the consideration of Baseline issues (section 2), Sustainability issues (Section 3), Sustainability
Objectives and themes identified (section 4).

2 Waste Policy and Legislation Review
This section provides a summary of key waste policy and legislation over the last ten years and the
potential implications this may have for future local authority waste management in Leicestershire.

2.1 Guidance on applying the Waste Hierarchy, 2011
The Waste Hierarchy guidance was produced under Regulation 15(1) of the Waste (England and Wales)
Regulations 2011 and came into force on 29th March 2011. This document was created for use by any
businesses or public bodies who generate, handle or treat waste.
The guidance summarises the waste hierarchy and what it means for common materials and products,
legal obligations for business and public bodies and how the waste hierarchy can be applied. The
guidance on how to apply the waste hierarchy is based around the following questions:
•

How can my business / public body prevent any of this waste?

•

What do I currently do with my waste?

•

Could it be prepared for reuse?

•

Could my waste / more of my waste be recycled?

•

Is there anything else that could be extracted from my waste?

2.2 UK Plans for Shipments of Waste, 2012
UK Plan for Shipments of Waste sets out Government policy on shipments of waste for disposal to and
from the United Kingdom. Under the Waste Shipment Regulations and the UK Plan:
•

The shipment of non-hazardous wastes to and from the UK for disposal is prohibited (except in
specific circumstances e.g. emergency situations)

•

The shipment of hazardous waste from the UK for disposal is prohibited (expect in specific
circumstances)

•

With regards to shipments of waste for recovery there are two main policy objectives:
o

To encourage international trade in waste for recovery where this is of environmental
benefit in driving up levels of recovery at national, EU and global levels;

o

To prevent damage to human health or the environment occurring as a result of this
international trade.

241

2.3 National Policy Statement for Hazardous Waste, 2013
This National Policy Statement (NPS) sets out Government policy for the hazardous waste infrastructure.
It sets out the basis for granting development consent for hazardous waste infrastructure which is
defined as Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project. Nationally significant infrastructure for
hazardous waste covers the following types of activities and facilities:
•

The construction of a landfill or a deep storage facility with a capacity of 100,000 tonnes per
year or the alteration of such facilities which increase the capacity by more than 100,000 tonnes
per year; or

•

The construction of any other type of hazardous waste facility with a capacity of 30,000 tonnes
per year or the alteration of such facilities which increase the capacity by more than 30,000
tonnes per year.

2.4 Prevention is better than cure – Waste Prevention Programme for
England, 2013
The Programme sets out the Government’s view on how to reduce the amount of waste produced and
presents the key roles and actions which should be taken in moving towards a more resource efficient
economy. This Programme’s objectives were to:
•

Encourage businesses to contribute to a more sustainable economy by building waste reduction
into design, offering alternative business models and delivering new and improved products and
services;

•

Encourage a culture of valuing resources by making it easier for people and businesses to find
out how to reduce their waste, to use products for longer, repair broken items, and enable reuse
of items by others;

•

Help businesses recognise and act upon potential savings through better resource efficiency and
preventing waste, to realise opportunities for growth;

•

Support action by central and local government, businesses and civil society to capitalise on
these opportunities.

The Programme sets a series of actions for central government, the wider public sector and businesses.
Central government actions include setting a clear direction, leading by doing, driving innovation and
culture change, influencing other e.g. the European Commission, information and advice and developing
the evidence base. One of the most notable commitments from central government with the
Programme was to introduce a five pence charge on single use plastic carrier bags (for large retailers) in
England from autumn 2015.
For local authorities, the key actions linked to the development of future waste management plans are:
•

Develop a Waste Prevention Plan - All local authorities are encouraged to have a current waste
prevention plan, setting out a strategy for local action on preventing waste, which should be
reviewed every six years;

•

Measure progress - Locally-based aims and relevant indicators could be included in a Waste
Prevention Plan;
86

242

•

Educate and raise awareness - Raising the awareness of the opportunities for householders and
businesses is identified as a key role for local authorities

•

Procurement practices - designing procurement process to support low waste solutions, e.g.
through the supply of refurbished or upgradeable products, and the correct amount of materials
and reducing the use of disposable and single use products.

Government have recently completed a consultation period (March-June 2021) on a new Waste
Prevention Programme for England which will supersede this policy once published.

2.5 Energy from Waste – A guide to the debate, 2014
It is government policy that efficiently recovering energy from residual waste has a valuable role to play
in both diverting waste from landfill and energy generation. In 2014, the government published ‘Energy
from waste - A guide to the debate92’ which aims to inform discussions and decisions relating to energy
from waste for everyone who is interested in the topic.
The guide highlights key environmental, technical and economic issues associated with energy from
waste and identifies options that could be considered and some of the main points where decisions can
be influenced.
Some key points relevant to the development of a revised waste strategy are highlighted in the guide:
•

For local authorities, the decision-making process on whether energy from waste is right for
their circumstances would be part of the development of their waste strategies and local plans.

•

Coordination between different tiers of councils and neighbouring authorities is very important
in determining if energy from waste is the best solution;

•

The development and revision of local waste strategies and plans represents perhaps the most
important opportunity for the local community to be engaged in the process.

•

In developing waste strategies, the decision to use energy from waste should not be taken in
isolation but as part of a wider appraisal of options for the full waste management process.

•

Significant importance should be placed on local authorities having engagement with their
communities about the need and locations for waste management infrastructure (including
energy from waste) before, during and after options are selected and plans developed.

•

The proximity principle and the associated issues such as the scale of a facility and catchment
area of the feedstocks can have implications for any solution. Therefore ‘considering them in
the early stages of planning and waste policy development has the potential to deliver better
overall outcomes’.

2.6 National Planning Policy for Waste, 2014
The Government believes that positive planning plays a pivotal role in delivering this country’s waste
ambitions. The National Planning Policy for Waste sets out detailed waste planning policies which aim
to:

92

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-from-waste-a-guide-to-the-debate

87

243

•

Deliver sustainable development and resource efficiency by driving waste management up the
waste hierarchy;

•

Ensure that waste management is considered alongside other spatial planning concerns
recognising the positive contribution that waste management can make to the development of
sustainable communities;

•

Provide a framework in which communities and businesses are engaged with and take more
responsibility for their own waste, in line with the proximity principle

•

Help to secure the reuse, recovery or disposal of waste without endangering human health and
without harming the environment; and

•

Ensure the design and layout of new development and infrastructure complements sustainable
waste management, including the provision of appropriate storage and segregation facilities to
facilitate high quality collections of waste.

It sets out policies, which all local planning authorities should have regard to when discharging their
responsibilities:
•

Using a proportionate evidence base;

•

Identify need for waste management facilities;

•

Identifying suitable sites and areas; and

•

Determining planning applications for both waste and non-waste development

2.7 Fly-tipping Partnership Framework, 2014
Fly-Tipping Partnership Framework provides practical advice on how to prevent and tackle the problem
of fly-tipping. It sets out a combination of voluntary and non-binding principles and options around best
practice that may be used directly or adapted by local groups and partnerships to tackle fly-tipping in a
way that suits local circumstances.
The Framework recognises that tackling fly-tipping needs a range of central Government, local
government and stakeholder interventions if it is to be successful.

2.8 Litter Strategy for England, 2017
The strategy sets out how the government will work with communities and businesses to reduce litter.
The strategy intends to achieve this through ‘good infrastructure and clear social expectations,
supported by proportionate enforcement, which will help reinforce social pressure on everyone to do
the right thing’. Key measures include:
•

New Regulations giving local councils the power to fine the keeper of vehicles from which litter
is thrown;

•

Government to publish improved guidance for local councils on their enforcement functions;

•

Producing new guidance on “binfrastructure” (the design, number and location of public litter
bins and other items of street furniture) for local areas to help them reduce levels of litter.
88

244

2.9 Clean Growth Strategy, 2017
The aim of the Clean Growth Strategy93 (CGS) is to grow national income while cutting greenhouse gas
emissions. The strategy sets out policies and proposals that aim to accelerate the pace of ‘clean
growth’, i.e. deliver increased economic growth and decreased emissions, and achieve the commitments
in the Climate Change Act of reducing greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% by 2050 when
compared to 1990 levels.
The CGS highlights that the UK has achieved significant results in the power and waste sectors in hitting
the UK’s carbon budgets, with the large reduction in waste being sent to landfill contributing to
significant falls in emissions. In addition, the waste sector helped to generate 14% of UK renewable
electricity in 2015, enough to power 2.3 million homes.
Key policies and proposals in the strategy related to waste management include:
•

Work towards our ambition for zero avoidable waste94 by 2050, maximising the value extracted
from resources, and minimising the negative environmental and carbon impacts associated with
their extraction, use and disposal;

•

Explore new and innovative ways to manage emissions from landfill

•

Innovation: Invest £99 million in innovative technology and research for agri-tech, land use,
greenhouse gas removal technologies, waste and resource efficiency

There is also an ambition to reduce waste, with actions to divert more food waste than ever before from
landfill, to support resource productivity and avoid further emissions by preventing food waste in the
first place. There is an ambition to work towards zero food waste entering landfill by 2030.
With regards to waste to energy, the government plans to work with the waste sector to ensure that
different waste materials going into energy recovery processes are treated in the best possible way, to
minimise environmental impact and maximise their potential as a resource.
The CGS also highlights the importance of local leadership in driving emissions reduction through policy
on land, buildings, water, waste and transport.

2.10 A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment, 2018
The 25-Year Environment Plan95 sets out ‘goals for improving the environment, within a generation, and
leaving it in a better state than we found it’.
The Plan sets out ten 25-year goals, two of which are specifically related to waste management:
•

Using resources from nature more sustainably and efficiently; and

•

Minimising waste

93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy
Zero avoidable waste equates to eliminating all waste where it is technologically, environmentally and economically
practicable to do so
95 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
94

89

245

The 25-Year Plan identifies six areas around which actions will be focused and whilst effective waste
management has a role to play across all areas, it is area 4 on resource efficiency and waste, which has
the greatest implications for the revised LR&WS:
•

Using and managing land sustainably;

•

Recovering nature and enhancing the beauty of landscapes;

•

Connecting people with the environment to improve health and wellbeing;

•

Increasing resource efficiency, and reducing pollution and waste;

•

Securing clean, productive and biologically diverse seas and oceans;

•

Protecting and improving the global environment.

The 25-Year Plan goes on to set specific goals and targets under each area, the goals and targets under
‘Increasing resource efficiency, and reducing pollution and waste’ are:
•

Working towards our ambition of zero avoidable waste by 2050;

•

Working to a target of eliminating avoidable plastic waste by end of 2042;

•

Meeting all existing waste targets – including those on landfill, reuse and recycling – and
developing ambitious new future targets and milestones;

•

Seeking to eliminate waste crime and illegal waste sites over the lifetime of this Plan,
prioritising those of highest risk. Delivering a substantial reduction in litter and littering
behaviour;

•

Significantly reducing and where possible preventing all kinds of marine plastic pollution – in
particular material that came originally from land.

2.11 Resources and Waste Strategy, 2018
In December 2018, Defra published, the Resources and Waste Strategy entitled ‘Our Waste, Our
Resources: A Strategy for England’ (RWS), the first significant waste policy intervention by the
Government in over a decade, with the Circular Economy as a central strand.
The RWS sets out policy proposals under 8 key headings, aimed at giving a clear longer-term policy
direction in line with the 25 Year Environment Plan
•

Sustainable production, with measures related to:
o

The 'polluter pays' principle and extend producer responsibility for packaging, ensuring
that producers pay the full costs of disposal for packaging they place on the market;

o

Stimulating demand for recycled plastic by introducing a tax on plastic packaging with
less than 30% recycled plastic; and

o

Setting minimum requirements through eco-design to encourage resource efficient
product design.

90

246

•

Helping consumers take more considered actions, including providing consumers with better
information on the sustainability of their purchases and banning plastic products where there is
a clear case and alternatives exist.
o

Resource recovery and waste management, with measures on:

o

Ensuring a consistent set of dry recyclable materials is collected from all households and
businesses to improve recycling rates;

o

Reducing greenhouse gas emissions from landfill by ensuring that every householder
and appropriate businesses have a weekly separate food waste collection;

o

Working with business and local authorities to improve urban recycling rates;

o

Driving greater efficiency of Energy from Waste (EfW) plants.

•

Tackling waste crime, including increased awareness of waste regulations toughening penalties
for waste criminals.

•

Cutting down on food waste, including looking at more effective redistribute food and
consulting on legal powers to introduce food waste targets and surplus food redistribution
obligations.

•

International leadership, much of which is focused on managing the wider implications of
plastics in the environment.

•

Research and innovation, covering areas such as:

•

o

The development of standards for bio-based and biodegradable plastics

o

Support further investment in resource efficient technologies

Measuring progress: data, monitoring and evaluation, with measures related to
o

A new approach to data on resources and waste;

o

Moving away from weight-based towards impact-based targets and reporting, focusing
initially on carbon and natural capital accounting.

Alongside the RWS, various consultations were launched related to the legislative proposals to
implement a number of the key measures in the RWS. Many of the measures that will directly affect
local authorities are not expected to come into force until 2023 and are subject to on-going
consultations.

2.12 Waste Management Plan for England, 2021
In January 2021, Defra published a National Waste Management Plan for England to replace the
previous one from 2013. The Plan is a high-level document and provides an overview of waste
management in England. It explains the current waste management situation in England, the measures
being taken to improve waste management and an assessment of existing waste collection schemes.

91

247

2.13 Build Back Better: Our plan for growth, 2021
‘Build Back Better: our plan for growth’ is a government plan to support economic growth, it was
published in March 2021 and supersedes the UK’s Industrial Strategy. It is explained that there will be
£600 billion of gross public sector investment over the next five years, and this will be focussed on three
key areas. These are as follows:
•

Infrastructure – It is stated that this is crucial for economic growth, boosting productivity and
increasing competitiveness. For the 2021-2022 period, there will be £100 billion of capital
investment within this area.

•

Skills – A transformation in Further Education, encouraging learning through the Lifetime Skills
Guarantee and revolutionising apprenticeships is explained as being a process in which people’s
life chances can be improved through giving them the skills needed to succeed.

•

Innovation – The UK will become the best location in which businesses can be started and
grown. There is already a world-leading research base, which will be accelerated by increased
investment in Research & development, and the creation of the Advanced Research & Invention
Agency which will accommodate for high-risk, high-reward research.

2.14 Environmental Services Association (ESA): A net-zero greenhouse gas
emissions strategy for the UK recycling and waste sector, 2021
In 2021, the ESA published their net-zero emissions strategy which aims to achieve net-zero emissions
for the sector by 2040. This strategy has been developed in context of the Government targets and the
Sixth Carbon Budget produced by the Climate Change Committee. £10 billion for investment in recycling
infrastructure has been forecasted over the next decade, which will help to reach carbon neutrality.
The strategy sets out a number of objectives which were considered in the preparation of this
document, these are as follows:
•

Identify and develop a clear and consistent methodology to quantify GHG emissions for the
recycling and waste management sector

•

Enable accurate sector GHG emissions reporting for all organisations within the sector

•

Calculate the sector’s impacts upon UK GHG emissions and establish a credible but ambitious
target for decarbonisation of our sector

•

Define the sector’s potential contribution to the national transition to net zero by 2050

•

Assess and promote the key actions necessary for the sector to achieve net zero GHG emissions
by 2040

•

Introduce clear transitional targets and reporting to drive performance

•

Measure our contributions to the decarbonisation of the many sectors we serve

Amongst numerous targets which are set out within this strategy, three overarching priority actions for
decarbonising the sector are also outlined:

92

248

•

1 – Invest in new recycling infrastructure to make the recycling process more efficient and to
reduce associated emissions, while meeting the government’s 65% recycling target for
municipal waste. ESA members alone forecast a collective investment of more than £10 billion
in recycling over the next decade.

•

2 – Decarbonise non-recyclable waste treatment by removing organics from landfill by 2030 and
plastics from energy recovery facilities, while working with government to enable carbon
capture, utilisation and storage (CCUS) technology to mitigate remaining emissions.

•

3 – Transition vehicles and fuel use to zero emission sources.

2.15 Upcoming policy / legislation
2.15.1 Proposed Measures in the Resources and Waste Strategy (RWS) for England
The RWS published by Defra in December 2018, set out a series of policy measures that will have
implications for the waste management sector over the next ten to fifteen years. The principal proposed
measures, including:
•

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)

•

Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)

•

Consistency in household and business recycling collections in England

•

A plastic packaging tax

In February 2019, Defra launched a consultation on each these measures which set out the principles
that would underpin further legislation, as well as a second round of consultations which took place
from March 2021. Each of the proposed measures are summarised below.
Extended Producer Responsibility
EPR includes proposals to reform the packaging waste regulations and is UK-wide. The principles of the
proposals are that businesses should bear the full net cost of managing the packaging that they handle
at end of life (throughout the supply chain), and for better design of packaging to consider waste /
recycling obligations. As of July 2021, there have been two rounds of consultations.
The consultation concerns a ‘radical’ reform of the packaging producer responsibility system, including
PRNs / PERNs / compliance schemes, data management, and removal or lowering of the de minimis
thresholds for obligation. Fees raised by obligated businesses will be used to support management of
packaging waste and the achievement of recycling targets, including through supporting local authority
collection services for packaging in household waste and potentially collectors of household-like
business waste. Governance arrangements will need to be determined for the management and
distribution of funds generated through the reformed system, and several options are put forward in the
consultation, along with options for setting fees. The interfaces with a potential DRS (see below) and
consistent recycling collections for municipal waste are recognised within this EPR consultation.
The aim is to place responsibility on producers for the cost of managing their products once they reach
end of life and give producers an incentive to design their products to make it easier for them to be
reused or dismantled and recycled at end of their life. Under a reformed system, packaging placed on
93

249

the market and packaging waste recycled will have to be reported by producers by nation as well as for
the UK, and packaging waste recycling targets will need to be met by producers for each nation and for
the UK as a whole.
The Government’s intention, according to the second consultation document released in March 2021, is
to implement EPR through a phased approach which would commence from 2023.
Deposit Return Scheme
This consultation covers the options around introducing a DRS for single use drinks containers in
England, Wales and Northern Ireland as a means to increase recycling rates and to reduce litter. There
are two key options being considered: 1) an ‘all-in’ scheme which covers all in-scope drinks containers,
and 2) an ‘on-the-go’ scheme which covers in-scope containers up to 750ml capacity (considered to be
consumed outside of the home).
Broadly, the DRS would be based around consumers paying a deposit on the drink container at the point
of purchase, which can be redeemed via reverse vending machines or in-store take back by retailers.
The DRS would be managed by a governance organisation, and retailers reimbursed for deposits paid
plus a handling fee.
Drinks containers proposed to be in-scope are: PET bottles, steel cans, aluminium cans and glass bottles.
It is proposed that HEDPE bottles, cartons, sachets & pouches and disposable single-use cups would not
be included.
According to the second consultation document which was released in March 2021, it is anticipated that
the introduction of DRS in England, Wales and Northern Ireland would be in late 2024 at the earliest.
Consistent Collections
The UK government are also proposing the requirement for households and businesses to present dry
recyclables, food and garden waste separately from residual waste for collection and recycling; and on a
minimum service standard for local authority household waste collections. For households, this includes
collection of the same set of dry materials (including a consistent set of packaging materials) for
recycling, and to have a separate weekly collection of food waste (separate from garden waste where
practicable) from 2023. For businesses, this means segregation of dry recyclates and food waste,
measures to reduce costs and improve data capture /management.
The aim of the proposals is to incentivise quantity and quality of material collected to achieve higher
recycling levels, and to address householder confusion.
The proposals include consistency in the collection of the following materials for recycling from
households:
•

Paper and card (including cartons)

•

Plastics (including plastic film and pots, tubs and trays)

•

Metal and glass (including aluminium foil and aerosols)

94

250

It is understood that local authorities complying with the consistency framework would be reimbursed
for burdens in terms of capital costs, transition costs and operating costs, however details of this are not
clear.
Plastic Packaging Tax
HM Treasury is consulting on the introduction of a new tax on the production and import of plastic
packaging to the UK from April 2022. The tax is intended to provide a clear economic incentive for
businesses to use recycled material in the production of plastic packaging to drive demand for this
material. The tax will complement a reformed packaging producer responsibility system.
The tax will apply to businesses that produce (and sell in the UK) or import plastic packaging which uses
insufficient recycled content (less than 30%), taking effect from April 2022. For those materials which
don’t comply, there will be a tax incurred at a rate of £200 per metric tonne of plastic packaging that
contains less than 30% of recycled plastic.

2.15.2 Environment Act
The Environment Act is a government policy which aims to address key environmental issues such as air
and water quality, wildlife and climate. After the Bill was announced in July 2018, it received approval on
9th November 2021.
The first part of the Bill is to provide measures to address environmental governance gaps following
withdrawal from the EU and beyond. The Bill puts into legislation a series of environmental principles
and establishes an Office for Environmental Protection, which will have scrutiny, advice and
enforcement functions. It also makes provision for the setting of long-term, legally binding
environmental targets in four “priority areas” of air quality, water, biodiversity and resource efficiency
and waste reduction, along with the production of statutory Environmental Improvement Plans.
The Act will also be the primary legislation for a number of the key waste management measures in the
RWS. The provisions in the Bill introduce a revised extended packaging producer responsibility scheme,
the power to regulate for eco-design standards and resource efficiency information across a wider range
of products, and amendments to the responsibilities and powers for separating and recycling waste. It
also provides a framework for the deposit return scheme.

95

251

3 Relevant County and District/Borough Level policies / strategies /
documents
As well as the range of National policies which are outlined above, there are key documents from
Leicestershire County Council and all seven of the district and borough councils relating to the
environment, economy, waste, transport and biodiversity, amongst others, which must also be
considered.

3.1 Leicestershire County Council policies / strategies / documents
3.1.1 Strategic Plan (2018-2022)
Leicestershire County Council (LCC) adopted its Strategic Plan for 2018-2022 in December 2017. The
Strategic Plan illustrates the Council’s ‘Shared Vision’, which outlines what the Council wants for
Leicestershire over the next 20 years. The vision is supported by five strategic outcomes on which to
focus, these consist of :
•

Strong Economy

•

Wellbeing and Opportunity

•

Keeping People Safe

•

Great Communities

•

Affordable and Quality Homes

Each strategic outcome is accompanied by a set of supporting outcomes, each with a set of measures
against which to monitor progress.

3.1.2 Environment Strategy (2018-2030)
The impact of climate change on LCC’s operations is particularly important to waste operations, at a
local level, this is addressed strategically by LCC’s Environment Strategy. The strategy was adopted in
2018 and was updated in 2020. It is due to run up until 2030. LCC’s Environment Strategy focuses on the
environmental impact of the delivery of their services and also the wider impact in Leicestershire, where
the Council has control and influence.
The vision for the Environment Strategy is:
“Leicestershire County Council will minimise the environmental impacts of its own activities and will
improve the wider environment through local action. We will play our full part to protect the
environment of Leicestershire. We will tackle climate change and embed environmental sustainability
into what we do.”
The strategy has objectives relating to climate change to reduce carbon emissions from local authority
operations. There is also an objective to increase resilience to the predicted changes in climate. This is
particularly important to waste operations in terms of delivering the service against increased flooding
events and extreme weather (e.g. high winds, snow, heatwaves, etc.). LCC carries out a Climate Change
Resilience Review periodically to monitor progress and to identify priority actions across all Council

252

services. The Environment Strategy covers both aspects at an internal (LCC) level and external level
(where LCC has control and influence). The objectives relating to climate change are as follows:
Aims
Reduce our own greenhouse
gas emissions and those in the
wider County where we have
influence
Take action to adapt to climate
change and to minimise the
impacts of extreme weather
events across the County

Internal objectives
The Council’s greenhouse gas
emissions are reduced

External objectives
The Council contributes to the
reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions across the County

The Council increases its
resilience to the existing and
predicted changes in climate

The Council contributes to
increasing the resilience of the
County to the existing and
predicted changes in climate

More specifically, the revised Environment Strategy sets the following targets to contribute to the UK’s
long-term targets for climate change:
•

A 64% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from LCC operations by 2025 (compared to 20162017 baseline levels).

•

A 100% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions (net carbon neutral) from LCC operations by
2030.

•

Continuous improvement in reducing the number of climate change risks with a high-risk score.

•

100% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions (net carbon neutral) for Leicestershire by 2050.
Note, since the publication of their Environment Strategy in 2019, Leicestershire County Council
have brought this target forward so that their aim is to reach net zero carbon across the County
by 204596.

Moving waste up the hierarchy should reduce greenhouse gas emissions, but waste operations also
have an impact in terms of the types of vehicles and equipment used, and utilities used (source of
energy and efficiency). In addition to waste reduction targets at a national and local level, the
Environment Strategy includes the following objectives that have direct implications for the waste
operations:
•

96

Reduce the environmental impacts of travel and transport:
o

Reduced mileage;

o

Increased proportion of efficient and less polluting vehicles in the fleet;

•

Improved biodiversity value at all LCC sites;

•

Reduced pollution emissions and contamination from operations; and

•

Increased use and generation of low / zero carbon energy

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/news/leicestershire-makes-ambitious-net-zero-pledge (Accessed June 2021)

97

253

3.1.3 Strategic Growth Plan (up to 2050)
Leicestershire and Leicester’s Strategic Growth Plan forms a strategic planning framework by setting out
the amount and location of future growth in the area, covering housing, economic and infrastructure
growth up to 2050.
The Strategic Growth Plan helps to make it possible for Leicester and Leicestershire to jointly control:
•

how expected population and economic growth will be accommodated and supported;

•

how existing problems can be resolved;

•

what type of development is needed and by when;

•

what is the most appropriate location for these developments;

•

which environmental assets should be protected and enhanced; and

•

what investment in services and infrastructure is required where and by when?

The Strategic Growth Plan was developed by Leicestershire County Council, the seven district and
borough councils, Leicester City Council and the Local Enterprise Partnership. It was formally approved
and published in December 2018.

3.1.4 Communities Strategy
The Leicestershire Communities Strategy entitled ‘Working Together to Build Great Communities’
explores the aspiration to strengthen and empower communities, it covers the period from 2017-2021
and is due to be reviewed this year. The Communities Strategy focusses on developing assets for people
and places in Leicestershire, attempting to address local issues and improve quality of life. The strategy
is primarily focused on creating great communities, which is one of the outcomes that underpin LCC’s
overarching vision. The Communities Strategy sets out to:
•

Ensure that stretched resources are used effectively

•

Work in partnership will businesses who have an interest and shared commitment to
supporting communities

•

Ensure people are healthy, have choices and are safe

•

Maintain a strong economy which is growing and resilient

•

Allow the council to continue to be outward focussed and open to new ways of working

•

Challenge existing services to identify alternative delivery models and achieve better
outcomes for everyone

•

Encourage Corporate Social Responsibility across the region

By setting out these goals, LCC is attempting to build a strong and healthy community, both
economically and within the community.

98

254

3.1.5 Leicestershire and Leicester Waste Development Framework (up to 2021)
The Leicestershire and Leicester Waste Development Framework (WDF) sets out policies and proposals
for the development and use of land for waste management within the framework area and guides
decisions about planning applications. The current WDF runs to 2021.
The WDF comprises:
•

A Core Strategy which sets out the guiding principles of waste management development in the
area;

•

Development Control Policies which set out the criteria against which planning applications for
waste management must be assessed; and

•

A Site Allocation document which includes specific proposals for the provision of land for waste
management development.

The WDF covers all waste streams, including commercial and industrial (C&I) waste, construction and
demolition (C&D) waste, as well as municipal waste. It provides figures on the potential treatment and
disposal capacities for the different facilities required to deal with all waste streams, to estimate
indicative capacity shortfall or surplus.
The WDF identifies broad locations for strategic waste management sites around the Leicester area and
the area between Loughborough and Coalville.

3.1.6 Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (up to 2031)
The Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan will eventually replace the core strategy and
development controls policies in the WDF, covering the period up to 2031. The Local Plan does not cover
Leicester City but recognises the need for co-operation between County and Leicester City. The presubmission consultation ended in December 2017 and was adopted in September 2019.
The Local Plan is accompanied by a Sustainability Appraisal of the policies and strategies, which
incorporates a Strategic Environmental Assessment of significant environmental effects of the plan.
As for the WDF, waste management facility need (or otherwise) is strategically determined, and it is
deemed acceptable to locate strategic waste facilities close to the urban areas of Loughborough /
Shepshed, Hinckley / Burbage, Coalville and close to the urban area of Leicester. Smaller, non-strategic
waste facilities are also deemed to be suitable for these areas as well as around Melton Mowbray and
Market Harborough.

3.1.7 Medium Term Financial Strategy
The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) provides information on LCC’s financial planning for the
current financial year and provisional allocation for the subsequent three financial years. The MTFS
provides the revenue and capital budgets for each department along with targeted growth and savings
for each key service. The MTFS provides the envelope of budgetary resources within which each LCC
department must deliver the required services.
The latest MTFS is due to be published shortly (as of June 2021).

99

255

3.1.8 Waste Disposal Authority Plan (2018-2030)
Leicestershire County Council published a Waste Disposal Authority Plan (WDA Plan) in May 2018. The
WDA Plan sets out the overall ambition of LCC as regards its waste management duties in terms of a set
of priorities and supporting objectives. The WDA Plan takes on the strategy objectives relating to
Leicestershire’s waste disposal function in order to provide strategic direction to LCC’s decision-making
process. The WDA Plan runs from 2018 to 2030 to support the vision:
“Our aim is to deliver a waste management service that encourages prevention, reuse, recycling and
reduces waste to landfill, recognising the importance of value for money to Leicestershire residents.”
The WDA Plan sets out five key priorities to deliver the vision. These priorities cover the principal
functions of the Council as a Waste Disposal Authority and are supported by objectives which guide
WDA activities. The priorities are:
•

Priority 1: Resilience, Innovation and Change

•

Priority 2: Customer Service and Community Engagement

•

Priority 3: Environment – Consideration of Environmental Impacts

•

Priority 4: Joint / Partnership Working

•

Priority 5: Commissioning – Contract Management / Procurement Approach

It is recognised that all decisions will be made in accordance with LCC’s Commissioning & Procurement
Strategy, supported by a business case where appropriate. All decisions need to demonstrate value for
money, service efficiencies and cost optimisation for the Council in support of LCC’s over-arching vision.
The Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) forms the key basis for the WDA
Plan.

3.1.9 Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2018 – 2021)
The Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) explores the health needs of the local
population, with the aim to improve health and wellbeing within the area. The JNSA is made up of a
variety of different chapters which cover many topics, including the economy, local demographic,
housing, health and air quality. Some key points which arise from this assessment are as follows:
•

Between 2016 and 2041, the population of Leicestershire is projected to increase by 15.8%,
compared to the 12.1% for England as a whole. The greatest change is expected to occur in the
older age brackets, accounting for an additional 74,300 adults who are 65+ by the end of this
period.

•

There are projected to be 341,000 households in the County by 2041, an increase of over 21%.

•

Leicestershire is ranked 117th out of 152 upper tier local authorities, where 1st is most deprived.

•

In Leicestershire, 87% of those aged 85+ have more than one long-term condition, and 23% of
this age group having eight or more long-term conditions.

100

256

•

There are currently 14 AQMAs in Leicestershire, and it is estimated that 0.6% of Leicestershire’s
population live within one of these areas.

3.1.10 Leicestershire Local Transport Plan 3 (2011-2026)
Leicestershire County Council’s third Local Transport Plan (LTP3) outlines how the transport authority
will ensure that transport continues to play a key role in helping Leicestershire to become a thriving
County. The long-term vision for the course of the LTP3 is for:
‘Leicestershire to be recognised as a place that has, with the help of its residents and businesses, a firstclass transport system that enables economic and social travel in ways that improve people’s health,
safety and prosperity, as well as their environment and their quality of life’.
As part of this plan, six goals have been developed, and the delivery of which will be used to measure
the success of this strategy. The six goals are:
•

Goal 1: A transport system that supports a prosperous economy and provides successfully for
population growth.

•

Goal 2: An efficient, resilient and sustainable transport system that is well managed and
maintained.

•

Goal 3: A transport system that helps to reduce the carbon footprint of Leicestershire.

•

Goal 4: An accessible and integrated transport system that helps promote equality of
opportunity for all our residents.

•

Goal 5: A transport system that improves the safety, health and security of our residents.

•

Goal 6: A transport system that helps to improve the quality of life for our residents and makes
Leicestershire a more attractive place to live, work and visit.

Note, as of June 2021 there is a fourth Local Transport Plan (LTP4) which is being developed.

3.1.11 Action for Nature: Strategic Approach to Biodiversity, Habitat and the Local Environment
The Action for Nature document brings together the environmental aims and objectives within
Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan (Section 3.1.1) and Environment Strategy (3.1.2), which
focus on supporting and improving biodiversity, habitats and the local environment. While building on
and supporting these aims, ‘Action for Nature’ also:
•

Creates an understanding of the policies and legislation in which these aims, and objectives have
been developed within

•

Gives an outline of the current state of nature within Leicestershire

•

Identifies the key opportunities for action

•

Outlines a supporting Delivery Plan which gives greater detail of the actions which are
recommended to be taken

Alongside this document is also a Delivery Plan, which goes into greater detail about how the council will
work to achieve the aims and objectives.
101

257

3.1.12 Leicestershire Food Plan / Leicestershire Good Food Charter
Leicestershire County Council have developed a Good Food Charter, in which they set out how everyone
in the County can play their part in sustaining the local economy, help people towards better health and
have a reduced environmental impact. One of the three principles is ‘A food system which has a reduced
environmental impact’, this is then broken down into the following objectives:
•

Food waste is prevented and reduced where possible, with any waste produced being dealt with
responsibly through surplus being redistributed

•

Food production, processing, distribution and disposal has a reduced environmental footprint

•

The food system’s contribution to climate change and biodiversity loss is reduced.

3.1.13 Leicester and Leicestershire LEP: Low Carbon Environmental Goods and Services Market
Snapshot
In March 2021, Midlands Energy Hub published this evidence-based study which set out to understand
the current state of the Low Carbon Environmental Goods and Services (LCEGS) Sector in the Midlands,
and where support is needed to help grow this sector.
The report states that the LCEGS sector (consisting of Renewable Energy (41%), Low Carbon (37%) and
Environmental (22%) goods and services) was worth £2.8 billion to Leicester and Leicestershire LEP’s
economy in 2019/20, with this sector having grown year on year since 2017/18.
The top sub-sector strengths within the Leicester and Leicestershire LEP were identified as being Wind
(£474m), Building Technologies (£394m) and Alternative Fuels (£384m). Waste Management (£188m)
and Recovery and Recycling (£155m) were placed 7th and 8th respectively.
Some sub-sector weaknesses were named as Geothermal and Wave & Tidal services which both showed
weaker growth within this LEP area than UK, as well as having a below average market size. Therefore,
extra support may be needed in order to grow these sectors as the country works towards carbon
neutrality.

3.2 District/Borough Level policies / strategies / documents
3.2.1 Local Plans
All of the seven district and borough councils within Leicestershire have a Local Plan. A Local Plan gives
an overview of an area at present, the type of place it aspires to be at the end of the period, and the
objectives which can be worked towards in order to achieve this.
Some of the common environmental aims and objectives which feature in many of the district and
borough council’s Local Plans include:
•

To reduce contributions to climate change through the use of non-renewable sources and
encourage / develop renewable energy production.

•

To improve transport links while encouraging more sustainable forms of travel, such as walking,
cycling and public transport, and reducing the reliance on cars.

102

258

•

To protect, maintain and enhance the natural environment and all aspects of it, including the
biodiversity, geology, natural landscapes and conservation areas of a district or borough council.

•

To deliver infrastructure which meets the needs of local populations, while achieving higher
environmental standards within these development and respecting the local environment.

•

To minimise the risk of flooding for people and properties by locating new housing
developments in low-risk areas.

•

To protect the local heritage, character and historic environments.

•

To encourage reuse and recycling while decreasing the quantities of waste which are produced.

3.2.2 Climate Change Strategies
Although not all district and boroughs have declared a climate emergency, all have developed or are in
the process of developing climate change / environmental strategies. These documents outline many
aims and ways in which this is hoped to be achieved, some of the most common aims in regard to
addressing climate change include reducing carbon emissions and educating local residents in order to
increase engagement and encourage behavioural change. A number of the district and borough councils
have developed targets to become carbon neutral Councils by 2030, while all will play a part in
Leicestershire becoming a net zero County by 2045.

3.2.3 Litter Strategies
A litter strategy outlines the issues faced, what is currently being done to address this, as well as a plan
to meet litter challenges going forward. Oadby and Wigston Borough Council have recently developed a
Litter Strategy & Action plan which outlines what is currently being done to address these issues as well
as what will be done moving forward, including increased education and community engagement, good
infrastructure and continued enforcement. Note, North West Leicestershire District Council are also
currently developing a Litter Strategy.
In addition, many of the district and borough councils have supported local volunteer environmental
action groups by providing litter picking equipment and supporting campaigns. For example, in
Harborough there are ongoing litter campaigns with action days, to encourage as many people as
possible to get involved.

3.2.4 Medium Term Financial Strategies
As mentioned earlier, A Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a key financial document which
outlines the vision and priorities of a district/borough council, and how this will be afforded within the
available funds. As well as the County Council, all district and borough councils also have a MTFS in
place, with the majority lasting for 3 to 5 years.

3.2.5 Transport Plans
Despite transport plans being present on a County level, individual district and borough councils also
develop these to address more local priorities. For example, a South East Leicestershire Transport Plan is
currently in place, of which Harborough and Oadby and Wigston are a part of.

103

259

3.2.6 Green Infrastructure Strategies
Green Infrastructure (GI) refers to the network of green spaces and features which can deliver quality of
life and environmental benefits for communities. A number of the district and borough councils have
specific strategies for this, which typically include an introduction to GI and why it is needed, the
identification of GI issues within a given area, as well as opportunities for action. Examples of suggested
actions within these district/borough council documents include the re-wilding of road verges, the
expansion of woodland cover and ensuring spaces are managed for biodiversity.

3.2.7 Other plans
North West Leicestershire District Council has a recycling strategy entitled ‘Recycle More’, setting out
their steps to increase recycling to 50% of household waste97.

97

Recycle more - North West Leicestershire District Council (nwleics.gov.uk)

104

Appendix B – Options Assessment Matrix
Scenario 1: Waste minimisation
Table 34: Scenario 1 Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Impact98

Uncertainty

Duration99

Comment100

Mitigation
Higher carbon benefits will be
delivered through sustained waste
reduction initiatives and
communications that deliver long term
behaviour change. Focusing on waste
streams with high environmental
impacts, e.g. food waste.

No mitigation proposed.

+/++

Low/medium

Short to Long

Waste minimisation has significant
carbon benefits. The extent of this
will be dependent on the type of
waste/product avoided/reduced.

Objective 2 - To reduce the use of fossil
fuel energy through the use of clean
renewable fuels and low carbon or
renewable energy

0

Low/medium

Short to Long

Waste minimisation does not
generate clean renewable fuels.

Short to Long

Waste minimisation reduces
resource use across the supply
chain.

Short to Long

Waste prevention has carbon and
resource benefits but is likely to
have limited impact on total
tonnages sent for disposal.

Objective 3 - To reduce resource use

Objective 4 - To divert waste away from
landfill

98

⁺⁺

⁺

Low/medium

Low/medium

Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
100
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
99

260

Objective 1 - To increase the positive
carbon impacts and reduce the negative
carbon (and other greenhouse gases)
impacts of the waste collection,
recycling, treatment and disposal service

Greater resource benefits will be
achieved through sustained waste
reduction initiatives and
communications that deliver long term
behaviour change.
Greater landfill diversion will be
achieved through sustained waste
reduction initiatives and
communications that deliver long term
behaviour change.

Objective 5 - To maintain and enhance
good air quality for all

?

Medium/high

Short to Long

Waste minimisation prevention
initiatives could result in the removal
of a collection round and associated
air emissions. However, this is
uncertain and would requires
substantial behaviour change.

Any waste minimisation related to
transport activity would deliver lower
emissions to air if cleaner alternative
fuels were adopted.
Establish sustainable circular economy
business models, not reliant on
consumption and sale. The Partner
authorities should lead by example in
their procurement (consumption)
activities and in the management of
their resources and wastes.

?

Medium/high

Short to Long

Objective 7 - To protect and enhance
the quality of water and soils

?

Medium/high

Short to Long

Waste prevention is unlikely to
significantly affect water and soil
quality.

N/A

Promote linkages between prevention
activities and biodiversity protection,
e.g. making a wildlife garden using
home compost. Councils can also
promote biodiversity through verge
cutting regimes.

N/A

Objective 8 - To protect and increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

?

Medium/high

Short to Long

Some prevention type activities, for
example home composting or home
digestion or wormeries, could
deliver some benefits to flora and
biodiversity.

Objective 9 - To protect and enhance
the landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

0

Medium/high

Short to Long

Waste prevention is unlikely to
significantly affect the landscape and
geodiversity.

261

Objective 6 - To promote sustainable
economic growth and employment

Employment can be gained through
waste minimisation
communications, master home
composters etc. However, there may
be impacts on sale of goods and
associated employment.

106

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and historic
value

0

Medium/high

Short to Long

Waste prevention is unlikely to
significantly affect heritage assets.

Uncertainty

Duration102

Comment103

Mitigation
Identify areas that the partnership could
intervene to improve reuse, including
direct engagement, communications,
and sign posting to other initiatives. This
requires more support to get people
involved and potentially upskilled, for
example through repair workshops.

N/A

Scenario 2: Reuse and repair
Table 35: Scenario 2 Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Impact101

+/++

Low/medium

Short to Long

Reusing and repairing items
avoids the carbon impacts
associated with producing new
products. This has benefits across
the supply chain.

Objective 2 - To reduce the use of
fossil
fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

0

Low/medium

Short to Long

Reuse and repair does not
generate clean renewable fuels.

No mitigation proposed.

Short to Long

Reusing and repairing items
avoids the resource impacts
associated with producing new
products. This has benefits across
the supply chain.

Identify areas that the partnership could
intervene to improve reuse, including
direct engagement, communications,
and sign posting to other initiatives. This
requires more support to get people

Objective 3 - To reduce resource use

⁺⁺

Low/medium

262

Objective 1 - To increase the positive
carbon impacts and reduce the
negative carbon (and other
greenhouse gases) impacts of the
waste collection, recycling, treatment
and disposal service

101

Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
103
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
102

107

involved and potentially upskilled, for
example through repair workshops.
Objective 4 - To divert waste away
from
landfill

Objective 5 - To maintain and enhance
good air quality for all

⁺

?

Low/medium

Medium/high

Short to Long

Short to Long

?/+

Medium

Short to Long

Objective 7 - To protect and enhance
the
quality of water and soils

?

Medium/high

Short to Long

Objective 8 - To protect and increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

?

Medium/high

Short to Long

Reuse and repair initiatives could
result in the removal of a
collection round and associated
air emissions. However, this is
uncertain and would requires
substantial behaviour change.
Some employment can be gained
through reuse and repair
communications, furniture repair,
bike and lawn mower
refurbishment. However, there
may be some impacts on sale of
goods and associated
employment.

Greater landfill diversion will be
delivered through sustained reuse and
repair initiatives, and communications
that deliver long term behaviour
change.
Any reuse and repair related to
transport activity would deliver lower
emissions to air if clean alternative fuels
were adopted.
Establish sustainable circular economy
business models, not reliant on
consumption and sale. The Partner
authorities should lead by example in
their procurement (consumption)
activities and in the management of
their resources and wastes.

263

Objective 6 - To promote sustainable
economic growth and
employment

Whilst reuse and repair has
strong carbon and resource
benefits, it is likely to have a
smaller impact on total tonnages
sent for disposal.

Reuse and repair activities is
unlikely to significantly affect
water and soil quality.

N/A

Some reuse activities can have
positive impacts on biodiversity
and flora, such as repurposing
items to encourage habitat
restoration. Examples include
using waste materials as planters
or insect homes.

Promote linkages between reuse and
repair activities and biodiversity
protection, for example, promoting a
wildlife garden using reusable materials.
If any additional infrastructure locations
are required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements
and delivered in accordance with
regulatory requirements. Biodiversity
Net Gain requirements (in draft within
the Environment Bill) should be
implemented.

108

Objective 9 - To protect and enhance
the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire
Objective 10 - To protect the
significance
of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

0

Medium/high

Short to Long

Reuse and repair activities are
unlikely to significantly affect the
landscape and geodiversity.

N/A

0

Medium/high

Short to Long

Reuse and repair activities are
unlikely to significantly affect
heritage assets.

N/A

Scenario 3: Revised baseline with consistent collection measures, EPR and DRS.
Table 36: Scenario 3 Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Impact104

Uncertainty

Duration105

Comment106

⁺

Low

Short to Long

Objective 2 - To reduce the use of
fossil

⁺⁺

Low

Short to Long

The recovery of electricity from the
anaerobic digestion process of food

264

Objective 1 - To increase the
positive carbon impacts and reduce
the negative carbon (and other
greenhouse gases) impacts of the
waste collection, recycling,
treatment and disposal service

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed any changes are
maintained. Carbon impacts are
improved (reduced) through the
collection and recycling of additional
materials (textiles, batteries and
small WEEE) and through the
composting of additional garden
waste and digestion of food waste.

Mitigation
Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections
will enhance carbon performance.
For treatment of food waste, AD has
the greater carbon benefits.
Adoption of alternative fuels (e.g.
electric RCVs or hydrogen) can
substantially reduce transport
impacts. For residual waste the
potential for carbon capture &
storage (CCS) and recovery of heat
from EfW plants should be preferred
where viable.
Maximising the recovery of food for
AD treatment. Enhancing the

104

Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
106
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
105

109

fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

Objective 3 - To reduce resource
use

Objective 5 - To maintain and
enhance
good air quality for all

⁺⁺

-/--

Low

Low

Low

Short to Long

Short to Long

Short to Medium

efficiency of AD and/or EfW facilities
will increase low carbon or
renewable energy. Minimising the
proportion of plastics or other nonfossil waste sent to EfW plants (this
will lower the carbon intensity of the
energy generated). The potential for
carbon capture & storage (CCS) and
recovery of heat from EfW plants
should be preferred where viable.

All collection options (3 - 8) increase
recycling and will have a net effect
of increased resource use through a
combination of a national deposit
return scheme (DRS) and enhanced
kerbside separation.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections
will enhance resource recovery. The
addition of extra materials to the
kerbside collection offers further
opportunity for resource recovery.

Extended Producer Responsibility
(EPR) and the Deposit Return
Scheme (DRS) both remove waste
from the residual (disposal) stream.
Furthermore, separate collection of
food waste, greater recycling and
free garden waste will also reduce
residual waste sent to landfill.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables collections will reduce the
amount of residual waste sent to
landfill. Adopting alternative residual
waste treatment technologies (e.g.
EfW) will further reduce reliance on
landfill.

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed that the current vehicle
fleet (which results in the bulk of
local emissions) are retained at least
for the short term. Collection
operations create local air pollution
in the form of particulates, NOx and
other emissions.

265

Objective 4 - To divert waste away
from
landfill

⁺⁺

waste is renewable. There is also
energy produced from combustion
(EfW) of part of the residual waste
which is derived of fossil and nonfossil energy.

The impacts on local air quality from
transport can be substantially
reduced through adoption of
alternative fuels e.g. electric RCVs or
hydrogen.

110

Objective 6 - To promote
sustainable
economic growth and
employment

Objective 8 - To protect and
increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

⁻/ ⁺

⁻/ ⁺

Low

Low

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

Short to Long

Potential soil benefits arising from
the application of compost and
digestate to land. There are also
some benefits to freshwater quality
in a global sense from reduced
manufacturing and raw material
extraction. There are however some
detrimental impacts as regards
eutrophication of water bodies,
from the application of nutrients to
land.

In general, the environmental
indices used to measure impacts of

Additional employment could be
delivered through associated
activities such as reuse and
prevention. The Partner authorities
should lead by example in their
procurement (consumption)
activities and in the management of
their resources and wastes.

Compost and digestates applied to
land should be managed in a way
that reduces impacts on water and in
accordance with good practice.
Establishing good communications
around effective separation of
organics, to improve the quality of
resultant compost and digestates
applied to land e.g. lower
contamination. Appropriate
alignment of food waste collection
liners with the anaerobic digestion
facility to help reduce contamination
and consequent impacts on land and
soil.

266

Objective 7 - To protect and
enhance the
quality of water and soils

⁺

This option is modelled to deliver c.
100 additional jobs, as collection
crew or drivers.
Additional employment could be
created through associated activities
such as waste minimisation, and
reuse and repair.

Greater resource recovery will
increase the positive benefits of this
option. Compost and digestates
applied to land should be managed in

111

a way that reduces impacts on water
and in accordance with good
practice.
Provide compost back to residents
for use in horticulture.
If any additional infrastructure
locations are required, they should
be selected in accordance with
planning requirements and delivered
in accordance with regulatory
requirements including Best
Available Techniques (BAT) where
applicable. Biodiversity Net Gain
requirements (in draft within the
Environment Bill) should be
implemented.
If any additional infrastructure
locations are required, they should
be selected in accordance with
planning requirements. Good
practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government107 and should be applied
wherever feasible.
Assess opportunities for reusing
existing buildings and materials

Objective 9 - To protect and
enhance the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

0/⁺

Medium

Short to Long

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls
relative to the baseline (current)
service. This is primarily due to a
reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the
additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance

0/⁺

Medium

Short to Long

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls

267

107

this option are positive, primarily
due to reduced raw material
extraction and processing. These
activities can have substantial
impacts on biodiversity, flora and
fauna. A detrimental impact on
water comes from the
eutrophication measure arising from
excess nutrients flowing into water
courses from compost / digestate
applied to land.

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008

112

of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

relative to the baseline (current)
service. This is primarily due to a
reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the
additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.

(where appropriate) for any
additional infrastructure. If additional
infrastructure locations are required,
they should be selected in
accordance with planning
requirements. Good practice
guidance on design of waste facilities
has been developed by
Government108 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

Scenario 4: As option 3, with garden collections as per the baseline
Table 37: Scenario 4 Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Impact109

Uncertainty

Comment111

Mitigation
Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance carbon performance. For treatment
of food waste, AD has the greater carbon
benefits. Adoption of alternative fuels (e.g.
electric RCVs or hydrogen) can substantially
reduce transport impacts. For residual waste
the potential for carbon capture & storage
(CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW plants
should be preferred where viable.
Maximising the recovery of food for AD
treatment. Enhancing the efficiency of AD

Objective 1 - To increase the
positive carbon impacts and reduce
the negative carbon (and other
greenhouse gases) impacts of the
waste collection, recycling,
treatment and disposal service

⁺

Low

Short to Long

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed any changes are
maintained. Carbon impacts appear
slightly worse than the baseline due
to the increased collection impacts
outweighing the benefits of
additional recycling (food waste).

Objective 2 - To reduce the use of
fossil

⁺⁺

Low

Short to Long

The recovery of electricity from the
anaerobic digestion process of food

268

Duration110

108

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008
Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
110
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
111
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
109

113

fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

Objective 3 - To reduce resource
use

Objective 5 - To maintain and
enhance
good air quality for all

⁺⁺

-/--

Low

Short to Long

Low

Short to Long

Low

Short to
Medium

and/or EfW facilities will increase low carbon
or renewable energy. Minimising the
proportion of plastics or other non-fossil
waste sent to EfW plants (this will lower the
carbon intensity of the energy generated).
The potential for carbon capture & storage
(CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW plants
should be preferred where viable.

All collection options (3 - 8) increase
recycling and will have a net effect of
increased resource use through a
combination of a national deposit
return scheme (DRS) and enhanced
kerbside separation.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance resource recovery. The addition of
extra materials to the kerbside collection
offers further opportunity for resource
recovery.

Extended Producer Responsibility
(EPR) and the Deposit Return
Scheme (DRS) both remove some
waste from the residual (disposal)
stream. Furthermore, separate
collection of food waste and greater
recycling will also reduce the
amount of residual waste sent to
landfill.
Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed that the current vehicle
fleet (which results in the bulk of
local emissions) are retained at least

269

Objective 4 - To divert waste away
from
landfill

⁺⁺

waste is renewable. There is also
energy produced from combustion
(EfW) of part of the residual waste
which is derived of fossil and nonfossil energy.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables collections will reduce the
amount of residual waste sent to landfill.
Adopting alternative residual waste
treatment technologies (e.g. EfW) will
further reduce reliance on landfill.

The impacts on local air quality from
transport can be substantially reduced
through adoption of alternative fuels e.g.
electric RCVs or hydrogen.

114

for the short term. Collection
operations create local air pollution
in the form of particulates, NOx and
other emissions.

Objective 6 - To promote
sustainable
economic growth and
employment

⁺

Low

Short to Long

Additional employment could be delivered
through associated activities such as reuse
and prevention. The Partner authorities
should lead by example in their procurement
(consumption) activities and in the
management of their resources and wastes.

Potential soil benefits arising from
the application of compost and
digestate to land. There are also
some benefits to freshwater quality
in a global sense from reduced
manufacturing and raw material
extraction. There are however some
detrimental impacts as regards
eutrophication of water bodies, from
the application of nutrients to land.

Compost and digestates applied to land
should be managed in a way that reduces
impacts on water and in accordance with
good practice. Establishing good
communications around effective separation
of organics, to improve the quality of
resultant compost and digestates applied to
land e.g. lower contamination. Appropriate
alignment of food waste collection liners
with the anaerobic digestion facility to help
reduce contamination and consequent
impacts on land and soil.

In general, the environmental indices
used to measure impacts of this

Greater resource recovery will increase the
positive benefits of this option. Compost and

270

This option is modelled to deliver c.
100 additional jobs, as collection
crew or drivers. Additional
employment could be created
through associated activities such as
waste minimisation, and reuse and
repair.

Objective 7 - To protect and
enhance the
quality of water and soils

⁻/ ⁺

Low

Short to Long

⁻/ ⁺

Medium

Short to Long

115

option are positive. This is primarily
due to the benefit of reduced raw
material extraction and processing.
These activities can have substantial
impacts on biodiversity, flora and
fauna. A detrimental impact on
water comes from the
eutrophication measure arising from
excess nutrients flowing into water
courses from compost / digestate
applied to land.

Objective 8 - To protect and
increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance
of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

112

0/⁺

0/⁺

Medium

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements.
Good practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government112 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

271

`Objective 9 - To protect and
enhance the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls
relative to the baseline (current)
service. This is primarily due to a
reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the
additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.
The measurement of land use
required with this option falls
relative to the baseline (current)
service. This is primarily due to a
reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the

digestates applied to land should be
managed in a way that reduces impacts on
water and in accordance with good practice.
Provide compost back to residents for use in
horticulture.
If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements and
delivered in accordance with regulatory
requirements including Best Available
Techniques (BAT) where applicable.
Biodiversity Net Gain requirements (in draft
within the Environment Bill) should be
implemented.

Assess opportunities for reusing existing
buildings and materials (where appropriate)
for any additional infrastructure. If additional
infrastructure locations are required, they
should be selected in accordance with
planning requirements. Good practice

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008

116

additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.

guidance on design of waste facilities has
been developed by Government113 and
should be applied wherever feasible.

Scenario 5A: Restricted residual waste (140L fortnightly)
Table 38: Scenario 5A Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Impact114

Uncertainty

Comment116

Mitigation
Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance carbon performance. For treatment
of food waste, AD has the greater carbon
benefits. Adoption of alternative fuels (e.g.
electric RCVs or hydrogen) can substantially
reduce transport impacts. For residual waste
the potential for carbon capture & storage
(CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW plants
should be preferred where viable.
Maximising the recovery of food for AD
treatment. Enhancing the efficiency of AD

Objective 1 - To increase the
positive carbon impacts and
reduce the negative carbon
(and other greenhouse gases)
impacts of the waste collection,
recycling, treatment and
disposal service

⁺⁺

Low

Short to Long

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed any changes are maintained.
Carbon impacts are improved
significantly (reduced) through the
collection and recycling of a greater
proportion of materials (due to the
restriction of residual waste capacity)
and through the composting of
additional garden waste and digestion
of food waste.

Objective 2 - To reduce the use
of fossil

⁺⁺

Low

Short to Long

The recovery of electricity from the
anaerobic digestion process of food

272

Duration115

113

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008
Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
115
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
116
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
114

117

fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

Objective 3 - To reduce
resource use

⁺⁺

Low

and/or EfW facilities will increase low carbon
or renewable energy. Minimising the
proportion of plastics or other non-fossil waste
sent to EfW plants (this will lower the carbon
intensity of the energy generated). The
potential for carbon capture & storage (CCS)
and recovery of heat from EfW plants should
be preferred where viable.

Short to Long

All collection options (3 - 8) increase
recycling and will have a net effect of
increased resource use through a
combination of a national deposit
return scheme (DRS) and enhanced
kerbside separation.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance resource recovery. The addition of
extra materials to the kerbside collection
offers further opportunity for resource
recovery.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables collections will reduce the amount
of residual waste sent to landfill. Adopting
alternative residual waste treatment
technologies (e.g. EfW) will further reduce
reliance on landfill.

The impacts on local air quality from transport
can be substantially reduced through adoption

Objective 4 - To divert waste
away from
landfill

⁺⁺

Low

Short to Long

Extended Producer Responsibility
(EPR) and the Deposit Return Scheme
(DRS) both remove some waste from
the residual (disposal) stream.
Furthermore, separate collection of
food waste, greater recycling and free
garden waste also reduce the amount
of residual waste sent to landfill.

Objective 5 - To maintain and
enhance
good air quality for all

-/--

Low

Short to Medium

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed that the current vehicle fleet

273

waste is renewable. There is also
energy produced from combustion
(EfW) of part of the residual waste
which is derived of fossil and nonfossil energy.

118

Objective 6 - To promote
sustainable
economic growth and
employment

⁺

Low

Short to Long

⁻/ ⁺

Low

Short to Long

Objective 8 - To protect and
increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

⁻/ ⁺

Medium

Short to Long

of alternative fuels e.g. electric RCVs or
hydrogen.

This option is modelled to deliver c.
100 additional jobs, as collection crew
or drivers. Additional employment
could be created through associated
activities such as waste minimisation,
and reuse and repair.

Additional employment could be delivered
through associated activities such as reuse and
prevention. The Partner authorities should
lead by example in their procurement
(consumption) activities and in the
management of their resources and wastes.

Potential soil benefits arising from the
application of compost and digestate
to land. There are also some benefits
to freshwater quality in a global sense
from reduced manufacturing and raw
material extraction. There are
however some detrimental impacts as
regards eutrophication of water
bodies, from the application of
nutrients to land.

In general, the environmental indices
used to measure impacts of this
option are positive. This is primarily

Compost and digestates applied to land should
be managed in a way that reduces impacts on
water and in accordance with good practice.
Establishing good communications around
effective separation of organics, would
improve the quality of resultant compost and
digestates applied to land e.g. lower
contamination. Appropriate alignment of food
waste collection liners with the anaerobic
digestion facility will also help reduce
contamination and consequent impacts on
land and soil.

274

Objective 7 - To protect and
enhance the
quality of water and soils

(which results in the bulk of local
emissions) are retained at least for the
short term. Collection operations
create local air pollution in the form of
particulates, NOx and other emissions.

Greater resource recovery will increase the
positive benefits of this option. Compost and
digestates applied to land should be managed

119

due to the benefit of reduced raw
material extraction and processing.
These activities can have substantial
impacts on biodiversity, flora and
fauna. A detrimental impact on water
comes from the eutrophication
measure arising from excess nutrients
flowing into water courses from
compost / digestate applied to land.

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance
of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

117
118

0/⁺

0/⁺

Medium

Medium

Short to Long

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls relative
to the baseline (current) service. This
is primarily due to a reduced reliance
on landfill. This requirement more
than offsets the additional recycling /
organic treatment infrastructure
required.

If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements. Good
practice guidance on design of waste facilities
has been developed by Government117 and
should be applied wherever feasible.

Short to Long

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls relative
to the baseline (current) service. This
is primarily due to a reduced reliance
on landfill. This requirement more
than offsets the additional recycling /
organic treatment infrastructure
required.

Assess opportunities for reusing existing
buildings and materials (where appropriate)
for any additional infrastructure. If additional
infrastructure locations are required, they
should be selected in accordance with
planning requirements. Good practice
guidance on design of waste facilities has been
developed by Government118 and should be
applied wherever feasible.

275

Objective 9 - To protect and
enhance the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

in a way that reduces impacts on water and in
accordance with good practice.
Provide compost back to residents for use in
horticulture.
If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements and
delivered in accordance with regulatory
requirements including Best Available
Techniques (BAT) where applicable.
Biodiversity Net Gain requirements (in draft
within the Environment Bill) should be
implemented.

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008
Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008

120

Scenario 5B: Three-weekly residual collection (180L or 240L)
Table 39: Scenario 5B Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Objective 1 - To increase the
positive carbon impacts and
reduce the negative carbon
(and other greenhouse gases)
impacts of the waste collection,
recycling, treatment and
disposal service

Objective 3 - To reduce
resource use

⁺⁺

⁺⁺

⁺⁺

Uncertainty

Low

Low

Low

Duration120

Comment121

Mitigation

Short to Long

Collection contracts are typically seven to
ten years, so we have assumed any
changes are maintained. Carbon impacts
are improved significantly (reduced)
through the collection and recycling of a
greater proportion of materials (due to
the restriction of residual waste capacity)
and through the composting of additional
garden waste and digestion of food
waste.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance carbon performance. For
treatment of food waste, AD has the
greater carbon benefits. Adoption of
alternative fuels (e.g. electric RCVs or
hydrogen) can substantially reduce
transport impacts. For residual waste the
potential for carbon capture & storage
(CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW plants
should be preferred where viable.

Short to Long

The recovery of electricity from the
anaerobic digestion process of food waste
is renewable. There is also energy
produced from combustion (EfW) of part
of the residual waste which is derived of
fossil and non-fossil energy.

Short to Long

All collection options (3 - 8) increase
recycling and will have a net effect of
increased resource use through a
combination of a national deposit return

Maximising the recovery of food for AD
treatment. Enhancing the efficiency of AD
and/or EfW facilities will increase low
carbon or renewable energy. Minimising
the proportion of plastics or other nonfossil waste sent to EfW plants (this will
lower the carbon intensity of the energy
generated). The potential for carbon
capture & storage (CCS) and recovery of
heat from EfW plants should be preferred
where viable.
Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance resource recovery. The addition of
extra materials to the kerbside collection

276

Objective 2 - To reduce the use
of fossil
fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

Impact119

119

Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
121
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
120

121

Objective 4 - To divert waste
away from
landfill

Objective 6 - To promote
sustainable
economic growth and
employment

-/--

⁺

Low

Low

Low

offers further opportunity for resource
recovery.

Short to Long

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)
and the Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)
both remove some waste from the
residual (disposal) stream. Furthermore,
separate collection of food waste, greater
recycling and free garden waste also
reduce the amount of residual waste sent
to landfill.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables collections will reduce the
amount of residual waste sent to landfill.
Adopting alternative residual waste
treatment technologies (e.g. EfW) will
further reduce reliance on landfill.

Short to Medium

Collection contracts are typically seven to
ten years, so we have assumed that the
current vehicle fleet (which results in the
bulk of local emissions) are retained at
least for the short term. Collection
operations create local air pollution in the
form of particulates, NOx and other
emissions.

The impacts on local air quality from
transport can be substantially reduced
through adoption of alternative fuels e.g.
electric RCVs or hydrogen.

Short to Long

This option is modelled to deliver c. 100
additional jobs, as collection crew or
drivers. Additional employment could be
created through associated activities such
as waste minimisation, and reuse and
repair.

Additional employment could be delivered
through associated activities such as reuse
and prevention. The Partner authorities
should lead by example in their
procurement (consumption) activities and
in the management of their resources and
wastes.

277

Objective 5 - To maintain and
enhance
good air quality for all

⁺⁺

scheme (DRS) and enhanced kerbside
separation.

122

Objective 7 - To protect and
enhance the
quality of water and soils

⁻/ ⁺

Low

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

In general, the environmental indices
used to measure impacts of this option
are positive. This is primarily due to the
benefit of reduced raw material
extraction and processing. These activities
can have substantial impacts on
biodiversity, flora and fauna. A
detrimental impact on water comes from
the eutrophication measure arising from
excess nutrients flowing into water
courses from compost / digestate applied
to land.

Greater resource recovery will increase the
positive benefits of this option. Compost
and digestates applied to land should be
managed in a way that reduces impacts on
water and in accordance with good
practice.
Provide compost back to residents for use
in horticulture.
If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements and
delivered in accordance with regulatory
requirements including Best Available
Techniques (BAT) where applicable.
Biodiversity Net Gain requirements (in draft
within the Environment Bill) should be
implemented.

278

Objective 8 - To protect and
increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

⁻/ ⁺

Potential soil benefits arising from the
application of compost and digestate to
land. There are also some benefits to
freshwater quality in a global sense from
reduced manufacturing and raw material
extraction. There are however some
detrimental impacts as regards
eutrophication of water bodies, from the
application of nutrients to land.

Compost and digestates applied to land
should be managed in a way that reduces
impacts on water and in accordance with
good practice. Establishing good
communications around effective
separation of organics, would improve the
quality of resultant compost and digestates
applied to land e.g. lower contamination.
Appropriate alignment of food waste
collection liners with the anaerobic
digestion facility will also help reduce
contamination and consequent impacts on
land and soil.

123

Objective 9 - To protect and
enhance the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance
of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

123

0/⁺

Medium

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements.
Good practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government122 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

The measurement of land use required
with this option falls relative to the
baseline (current) service. This is primarily
due to a reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the
additional recycling / organic treatment
infrastructure required.

Assess opportunities for reusing existing
buildings and materials (where appropriate)
for any additional infrastructure. If
additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements.
Good practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government123 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

279

122

0/⁺

The measurement of land use required
with this option falls relative to the
baseline (current) service. This is primarily
due to a reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the
additional recycling / organic treatment
infrastructure required.

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008
Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008

124

Scenario 6: Twin-stream recycling
Table 40: Scenario 6 Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Objective 1 - To increase the
positive carbon impacts and
reduce the negative carbon (and
other greenhouse gases) impacts
of the waste collection, recycling,
treatment and disposal service

Objective 3 - To reduce resource
use

0/⁺

⁺⁺

⁺⁺

Uncertainty

Low/medium

Low

Low

Duration125

Comment126

Short to Long

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed any changes are
maintained. Carbon impacts are
worse than the baseline through less
recycling and increased transport of
waste within this option.

Short to Long

The recovery of electricity from the
anaerobic digestion process of food
waste is renewable. There is also
energy produced from combustion
(EfW) of part of the residual waste
which is derived of fossil and nonfossil energy.

Short to Long

All collection options (3 - 8) increase
recycling and will have a net effect of
increased resource use through a
combination of a national deposit

Mitigation
Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance carbon performance. For
treatment of food waste, AD has the
greater carbon benefits. Adoption of
alternative fuels (e.g. electric RCVs or
hydrogen) can substantially reduce
transport impacts. For residual waste the
potential for carbon capture & storage
(CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW
plants should be preferred where viable.
Maximising the recovery of food for AD
treatment. Enhancing the efficiency of AD
and/or EfW facilities will increase low
carbon or renewable energy. Minimising
the proportion of plastics or other nonfossil waste sent to EfW plants (this will
lower the carbon intensity of the energy
generated). The potential for carbon
capture & storage (CCS) and recovery of
heat from EfW plants should be preferred
where viable.

280

Objective 2 - To reduce the use
of fossil
fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

Impact124

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance resource recovery. The addition
of extra materials to the kerbside

124

Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
126
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
125

125

Objective 4 - To divert waste
away from
landfill

Objective 6 - To promote
sustainable
economic growth and
employment

-/--

⁺

Low

Low

Low

collection offers further opportunity for
resource recovery.

Short to Long

Extended Producer Responsibility
(EPR) and the Deposit Return Scheme
(DRS) both remove some waste from
the residual (disposal) stream.
Furthermore, separate collection of
food waste, greater recycling and free
garden waste also reduce the amount
of residual waste sent to landfill.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables collections will reduce the
amount of residual waste sent to landfill.
Adopting alternative residual waste
treatment technologies (e.g. EfW) will
further reduce reliance on landfill.

Short to Medium

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed that the current vehicle
fleet (which results in the bulk of local
emissions) are retained at least for
the short term. Collection operations
create local air pollution in the form
of particulates, NOx and other
emissions.

The impacts on local air quality from
transport can be substantially reduced
through adoption of alternative fuels e.g.
electric RCVs or hydrogen.

Short to Long

This option is modelled to deliver c.
100 additional jobs, as collection crew
or drivers. Additional employment
could be created through associated
activities such as waste minimisation,
and reuse and repair.

Additional employment could be delivered
through associated activities such as reuse
and prevention. The Partner authorities
should lead by example in their
procurement (consumption) activities and
in the management of their resources and
wastes.

281

Objective 5 - To maintain and
enhance
good air quality for all

⁺⁺

return scheme (DRS) and enhanced
kerbside separation.

126

Objective 7 - To protect and
enhance the
quality of water and soils

⁻/ ⁺

Low

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

In general, the environmental indices
used to measure impacts of this
option are positive. This is primarily
due to the benefit of reduced raw
material extraction and processing.
These activities can have substantial
impacts on biodiversity, flora and
fauna. A detrimental impact on water
comes from the eutrophication
measure arising from excess nutrients
flowing into water courses from
compost / digestate applied to land.

Greater resource recovery will increase the
positive benefits of this option. Compost
and digestates applied to land should be
managed in a way that reduces impacts on
water and in accordance with good
practice.
Provide compost back to residents for use
in horticulture.
If any additional infrastructure locations
are required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements
and delivered in accordance with
regulatory requirements including Best
Available Techniques (BAT) where
applicable. Biodiversity Net Gain
requirements (in draft within the
Environment Bill) should be implemented.

282

Objective 8 - To protect and
increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

⁻/ ⁺

Potential soil benefits arising from
the application of compost and
digestate to land. There are also
some benefits to freshwater quality
in a global sense from reduced
manufacturing and raw material
extraction. There are however some
detrimental impacts as regards
eutrophication of water bodies, from
the application of nutrients to land.

Compost and digestates applied to land
should be managed in a way that reduces
impacts on water and in accordance with
good practice. Establishing good
communications around effective
separation of organics, would improve the
quality of resultant compost and
digestates applied to land e.g. lower
contamination. Appropriate alignment of
food waste collection liners with the
anaerobic digestion facility will also help
reduce contamination and consequent
impacts on land and soil.

127

Objective 9 - To protect and
enhance the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

127
128

0/⁺

Medium

Medium

Short to Long

If any additional infrastructure locations
are required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements.
Good practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government127 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

Short to Long

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls relative
to the baseline (current) service. This
is primarily due to a reduced reliance
on landfill. This requirement more
than offsets the additional recycling /
organic treatment infrastructure
required.

Assess opportunities for reusing existing
buildings and materials (where
appropriate) for any additional
infrastructure. If additional infrastructure
locations are required, they should be
selected in accordance with planning
requirements. Good practice guidance on
design of waste facilities has been
developed by Government128 and should
be applied wherever feasible.

283

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance
of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

0/⁺

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls relative
to the baseline (current) service. This
is primarily due to a reduced reliance
on landfill. This requirement more
than offsets the additional recycling /
organic treatment infrastructure
required.

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008
Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008

128

Scenario 7: Kerbside sort recycling
Table 41: Scenario 7 Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Objective 1 - To increase the
positive carbon impacts and reduce
the negative carbon (and other
greenhouse gases) impacts of the
waste collection, recycling,
treatment and disposal service

Impact129

0/⁺

Uncertainty

Low/mediu
m

Duration130

Short to Long

Mitigation

Collection contracts are typically seven
to ten years, so we have assumed any
changes are maintained. Carbon impacts
are worse than the baseline through less
recycling and increased transport of
waste within this option.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance carbon performance. For
treatment of food waste, AD has the
greater carbon benefits. Adoption of
alternative fuels (e.g. electric RCVs or
hydrogen) can substantially reduce
transport impacts. For residual waste the
potential for carbon capture & storage
(CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW plants
should be preferred where viable.

The recovery of electricity from the
anaerobic digestion process of food
waste is renewable. There is also energy
produced from combustion (EfW) of part
of the residual waste which is derived of
fossil and non-fossil energy.

Maximising the recovery of food for AD
treatment. Enhancing the efficiency of AD
and/or EfW facilities will increase low
carbon or renewable energy. Minimising
the proportion of plastics or other nonfossil waste sent to EfW plants (this will
lower the carbon intensity of the energy
generated). The potential for carbon
capture & storage (CCS) and recovery of
heat from EfW plants should be preferred
where viable.

284

Comment131

Objective 2 - To reduce the use of
fossil
fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

⁺⁺

Low

Short to Long

129

Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
131
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
130

129

Objective 3 - To reduce resource
use

Objective 4 - To divert waste away
from
landfill

⁺⁺

-/--

Low

Low

Low

Short to Long

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance resource recovery. The addition of
extra materials to the kerbside collection
offers further opportunity for resource
recovery.

Short to Long

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)
and the Deposit Return Scheme (DRS)
both remove some waste from the
residual (disposal) stream. Furthermore,
separate collection of food waste,
greater recycling and free garden waste
also reduce the amount of residual
waste sent to landfill.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables collections will reduce the
amount of residual waste sent to landfill.
Adopting alternative residual waste
treatment technologies (e.g. EfW) will
further reduce reliance on landfill.

Short to
Medium

Collection contracts are typically seven
to ten years, so we have assumed that
the current vehicle fleet (which results in
the bulk of local emissions) are retained
at least for the short term. Collection
operations create local air pollution in
the form of particulates, NOx and other
emissions.

The impacts on local air quality from
transport can be substantially reduced
through adoption of alternative fuels e.g.
electric RCVs or hydrogen.

285

Objective 5 - To maintain and
enhance
good air quality for all

⁺⁺

All collection options (3 - 8) increase
recycling and will have a net effect of
increased resource use through a
combination of a national deposit return
scheme (DRS) and enhanced kerbside
separation.

130

Objective 6 - To promote
sustainable
economic growth and
employment

Objective 8 - To protect and
increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

⁻/ ⁺

⁻/ ⁺

Low

Low

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

Short to Long

Potential soil benefits arising from the
application of compost and digestate to
land. There are also some benefits to
freshwater quality in a global sense from
reduced manufacturing and raw
material extraction. There are however
some detrimental impacts as regards
eutrophication of water bodies, from
the application of nutrients to land.

In general, the environmental indices
used to measure impacts of this option
are positive. This is primarily due to the
benefit of reduced raw material
extraction and processing. These
activities can have substantial impacts

Additional employment could be delivered
through associated activities such as reuse
and prevention. The Partner authorities
should lead by example in their
procurement (consumption) activities and
in the management of their resources and
wastes.

Compost and digestates applied to land
should be managed in a way that reduces
impacts on water and in accordance with
good practice. Establishing good
communications around effective
separation of organics, would improve the
quality of resultant compost and digestates
applied to land e.g. lower contamination.
Appropriate alignment of food waste
collection liners with the anaerobic
digestion facility will also help reduce
contamination and consequent impacts on
land and soil.

286

Objective 7 - To protect and
enhance the
quality of water and soils

+/++

This option is modelled to deliver c. 150
additional jobs, as collection crew or
drivers. Additional employment could be
created through associated activities
such as waste minimisation, and reuse
and repair.

Greater resource recovery will increase the
positive benefits of this option. Compost
and digestates applied to land should be
managed in a way that reduces impacts on
water and in accordance with good
practice.

131

Objective 9 - To protect and
enhance the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

132
133

0/⁺

Medium

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

Provide compost back to residents for use
in horticulture.
If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements and
delivered in accordance with regulatory
requirements including Best Available
Techniques (BAT) where applicable.
Biodiversity Net Gain requirements (in draft
within the Environment Bill) should be
implemented.

The measurement of land use required
with this option falls relative to the
baseline (current) service. This is
primarily due to a reduced reliance on
landfill. This requirement more than
offsets the additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.

If any additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements.
Good practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government132 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

The measurement of land use required
with this option falls relative to the
baseline (current) service. This is
primarily due to a reduced reliance on
landfill. This requirement more than
offsets the additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.

Assess opportunities for reusing existing
buildings and materials (where appropriate)
for any additional infrastructure. If
additional infrastructure locations are
required, they should be selected in
accordance with planning requirements.
Good practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government133 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

287

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance
of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

0/⁺

on biodiversity, flora and fauna. A
detrimental impact on water comes
from the eutrophication measure arising
from excess nutrients flowing into water
courses from compost / digestate
applied to land.

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008
Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008

132

Scenario 8: Three-stream recycling
Table 42: Scenario 8 Options Appraisal Results

SEA Criteria

Objective 1 - To increase the positive
carbon impacts and reduce the negative
carbon (and other greenhouse gases)
impacts of the waste collection,
recycling, treatment and disposal service

Impact134

0/⁺

Uncertainty

Low/medium

Duration135

Short to Long

Mitigation

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed any changes are
maintained. Carbon impacts are
worse than the baseline through
less recycling and increased
transport of waste within this
option.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance carbon performance. For
treatment of food waste, AD has the
greater carbon benefits. Adoption of
alternative fuels (e.g. electric RCVs or
hydrogen) can substantially reduce
transport impacts. For residual waste
the potential for carbon capture &
storage (CCS) and recovery of heat
from EfW plants should be preferred
where viable.

The recovery of electricity from
the anaerobic digestion process of
food waste is renewable. There is
also energy produced from
combustion (EfW) of part of the
residual waste which is derived of
fossil and non-fossil energy.

Maximising the recovery of food for AD
treatment. Enhancing the efficiency of
AD and/or EfW facilities will increase
low carbon or renewable energy.
Minimising the proportion of plastics or
other non-fossil waste sent to EfW
plants (this will lower the carbon
intensity of the energy generated). The
potential for carbon capture & storage
(CCS) and recovery of heat from EfW
plants should be preferred where
viable.

288

Comment136

Objective 2 - To reduce the use of fossil
fuel energy through the use of
clean renewable fuels and low
carbon or renewable energy

⁺⁺

Low

Short to Long

134

Impact scoring scheme is presented in Table 31
Duration is dependent on whether and the extent mitigation / initiatives are implemented and sustained
136
The Strategy provides a generic approach, and therefore is a non-site specific plan.
135

133

Objective 3 - To reduce resource use

Objective 4 - To divert waste away from
landfill

⁺⁺

Low

Low

Short to Long

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables and organics collections will
enhance resource recovery. The
addition of extra materials to the
kerbside collection offers further
opportunity for resource recovery.

Short to Long

Extended Producer Responsibility
(EPR) and the Deposit Return
Scheme (DRS) both remove some
waste from the residual (disposal)
stream. Furthermore, separate
collection of food waste, greater
recycling and free garden waste
also reduce the amount of residual
waste sent to landfill.

Greater participation in the separate
recyclables collections will reduce the
amount of residual waste sent to
landfill. Adopting alternative residual
waste treatment technologies (e.g.
EfW) will further reduce reliance on
landfill.

The impacts on local air quality from
transport can be substantially reduced
through adoption of alternative fuels
e.g. electric RCVs or hydrogen.

Additional employment could be
delivered through associated activities

-/--

Low

Short to Medium

Collection contracts are typically
seven to ten years, so we have
assumed that the current vehicle
fleet (which results in the bulk of
local emissions) are retained at
least for the short term. Collection
operations create local air
pollution in the form of
particulates, NOx and other
emissions.

+/++

Low

Short to Long

This option is modelled to deliver
c. 150 additional jobs, as collection

289

Objective 5 - To maintain and enhance
good air quality for all

⁺⁺

All collection options (3 - 8)
increase recycling and will have a
net effect of increased resource
use through a combination of a
national deposit return scheme
(DRS) and enhanced kerbside
separation.

134

crew or drivers. Additional
employment could be created
through associated activities such
as waste minimisation, and reuse
and repair.

Objective 6 - To promote sustainable
economic growth and
employment

Objective 7 - To protect and enhance
the
quality of water and soils

⁻/ ⁺

Low

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

In general, the environmental
indices used to measure impacts
of this option are positive. This is
primarily due to the benefit of
reduced raw material extraction
and processing. These activities
can have substantial impacts on
biodiversity, flora and fauna. A
detrimental impact on water
comes from the eutrophication

Compost and digestates applied to land
should be managed in a way that
reduces impacts on water and in
accordance with good practice.
Establishing good communications
around effective separation of
organics, would improve the quality of
resultant compost and digestates
applied to land e.g. lower
contamination. Appropriate alignment
of food waste collection liners with the
anaerobic digestion facility will also
help reduce contamination and
consequent impacts on land and soil.

290

Objective 8 - To protect and increase
biodiversity, flora and fauna

⁻/ ⁺

Potential soil benefits arising from
the application of compost and
digestate to land. There are also
some benefits to freshwater
quality in a global sense from
reduced manufacturing and raw
material extraction. There are
however some detrimental
impacts as regards eutrophication
of water bodies, from the
application of nutrients to land.

such as reuse and prevention. The
Partner authorities should lead by
example in their procurement
(consumption) activities and in the
management of their resources and
wastes.

Greater resource recovery will increase
the positive benefits of this option.
Compost and digestates applied to land
should be managed in a way that
reduces impacts on water and in
accordance with good practice.
Provide compost back to residents for
use in horticulture.
If any additional infrastructure
locations are required, they should be

135

measure arising from excess
nutrients flowing into water
courses from compost / digestate
applied to land.

Objective 9 - To protect and enhance
the
landscape and geodiversity of
Leicestershire

137
138

0/⁺

Medium

Medium

Short to Long

Short to Long

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls
relative to the baseline (current)
service. This is primarily due to a
reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the
additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.

If any additional infrastructure
locations are required, they should be
selected in accordance with planning
requirements. Good practice guidance
on design of waste facilities has been
developed by Government137 and
should be applied wherever feasible.

The measurement of land use
required with this option falls
relative to the baseline (current)
service. This is primarily due to a
reduced reliance on landfill. This
requirement more than offsets the
additional recycling / organic
treatment infrastructure required.

Assess opportunities for reusing
existing buildings and materials (where
appropriate) for any additional
infrastructure. If additional
infrastructure locations are required,
they should be selected in accordance
with planning requirements. Good
practice guidance on design of waste
facilities has been developed by
Government138 and should be applied
wherever feasible.

291

Objective 10 - To protect the
significance
of heritage assets of
archaeological, cultural and
historic value

0/⁺

selected in accordance with planning
requirements and delivered in
accordance with regulatory
requirements including Best Available
Techniques (BAT) where applicable.
Biodiversity Net Gain requirements (in
draft within the Environment Bill)
should be implemented.

Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008
Designing Waste Facilities – a guide to modern design in waste, Defra 2008

136

292

Cumulative, Synergistic, Direct, Indirect Impacts
Waste management impacts are often cumulative by nature. For example, waste deposited in landfill
can add to existing environmental burdens from the same source such as leachate generation and
potential for uncontrolled release. It should be noted that waste management services are often ‘fixed’
for a period of time in contracts. For example, collection contracts are usually between 7 and 10 years in
length (reflecting the operating ‘life’ of a new Refuse Collection Vehicle), whereas disposal contracts can
be up to 25 years. Therefore, sufficient flexibility should be built into contracts to enable environmental
or other improvements over the course of a contract where viable.
Some uncertainty regarding cumulative and secondary/ indirect impacts as results are dependent on
householder behaviours. A good degree of organic material separation will deliver high quantities of
compost or digestate which may be applied to land, potentially leading to improved crop yields and
better soil quality. This can also impact on Eutrophication however due to greater nutrient content in
runoff or ground waters. Conversely if the householder does not effectively separate non organic from
organic waste streams, then contamination may occur of the food waste or garden waste, potentially
creating issues for onward waste treatment, the possibility of rejected loads (sent for disposal) or the
application of compost / digestate to land containing contaminants (like plastic) which could adversely
affect fauna. The encouragement of home composting or use of compost from a central source (like the
HWRCs) could enable secondary benefits like improved local biodiversity from application to land in
gardens, or reduced food miles when used for growing food in gardens or allotments.
Becoming involved in waste prevention or reuse activity may engender wider environmental benefits
(indirectly) through lifestyle changes and supporting other environmental agendas.
Some waste services will create both positive and negative effects. Increased recycling or food waste
collections for example may exhibit carbon benefits but are also likely to increase transport impacting
on local air quality. More particulates in the air can affect those sensitive to respiratory impacts and be
cumulative and potentially secondary. These aspects can be mitigated through vehicle innovation
(alternate fuels) or reduced frequency of residual waste collection for example.
More recovery of material resources can provide secondary resources for the economy as well as
preserving raw materials and reducing carbon impacts. These secondary resources can help develop
domestic employment and manufacturing in the UK but potentially reduce overseas employment
through raw material extraction / processing.
Where energy is recovered, for example by an Energy from Waste plant or Anaerobic Digestion facilities,
there is the potential for generation of electricity (typically) or also to provide heat. In either case a
direct effect is local generating capacity and a contribution towards fuel security, having a point source
for emissions offers the future potential for carbon capture and storage potentially making these
processes net carbon sinks.
The carbon offset from recycling or reuse activities, or the carbon emission from waste transport, will
exhibit impacts related to global contributions of greenhouse gases and so be adding to a wider global
burden. The effects of global warming are secondary to the increase of ‘warming gases’, but a direct
effect of it. Synergistic effects include increased climate instability, flooding and rising water levels which
could have multiple impacts including on society, economics and the natural world.

Appendix C – Indicator and measurements used for SEA objective scoring
These scorings are subject to subtle changes as comments on the Options Appraisal report are incorporated however it is not envisaged that any
changes will exhibit a significant difference to the commentary or impact assessment.
SEA Criteria

Indicator

Objective 1 - To
increase the positive
carbon impacts and
reduce the negative
carbon (and other
greenhouse gases)
impacts of the waste
collection, recycling,
treatment and
disposal service

Objective 3 - To
reduce resource use

139

3

4

Net carbon
impact of
waste
collection and
management
(GWP100 kg
CO2 eq. 73)

-4,369,766

-4,659,954

-3,990,047

-9,085,382

-8,920,370

MJ of energy
recovered

158,960,633

171,039,865

172,864,556

172,745,620

-4,369,766

-4,659,954

-3,990,047

971

927

454

-484,569

Net carbon
impact of
waste
collection and
management
(GWP100 kg
CO2 eq. 73)
Total kerbside
+ HWRC
arisings139
(kg/hh/year)
Reduce /
reuse / repair
/ recycling
(kg/hh/yr)
Resource
Depletion
measure (Av.

7

8

-1,497,459

-548,466

-1,581,773

171,331,284

172,092,818

175,070,101

175,068,931

-9,085,382

-8,920,370

-1,497,459

-548,466

-1,581,773

910

927

927

927

927

927

510

485

547

542

508

500

500

-432,149

-436,244

-451,496

-454,078

-407,268

-403,634

-413,074

This figure is derived from kerbside collection modelling as part of the options appraisal exercise with the addition of HWRC tonnages (static across all options). This figure
will differ from data reported to WasteDataFlow by local authorities which also include additional waste streams such as bulky, trade waste and street sweepings.

293

Objective 2 - To
reduce the use of
fossil fuel energy
through the use of
clean renewable fuels
and low carbon or
renewable energy

Baseline and all modelled options (3-8)
5A
5B
6

Baseline

Objective 4 - To divert
waste away from
landfill

Objective 5 - To
maintain and enhance
good air quality for all

Objective 7 - To
protect and enhance
the quality of water
and soils

140
141

306.0

244.8

250.1

222.7

225.7

246.5

251.0

251.0

45,325

55,939

54,888

554,268

53,782

70,111

71,708

62,919

1,156

1,398

1,366

1,347

1,332

1,641

1,663

1,472

-98,556,808

-59,689,700

-60,342,212

-60,101,432

-60,357,498

-57,443,087

-56,989,710

-56,595,421

289

397

386

400

364

424

454

451

[qualitative141]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

-7,282,070

-3,944,895

-3,979,101

-3,925,987

-3,955,991

-3,774,600

-3,867,855

-3,846,844

294

Objective 6 - To
promote sustainable
economic growth and
employment

Euro person
equivalent)
Residual
waste to
landfill140
(kg/hh/yr)
NOx impacts
from
collection /
transport (kg
NOx)
Particulates
from
collection /
transport
(PM, µg m–3)
Human
Toxicity
measure (kg
1,4-DCB Eq)
Semiqualitative
assessment of
employment
using
collection
modelling /
case study
information
Potential
supply chain /
circular
economy
benefits
Freshwater
Aquatic
Toxicity (kg 1,
4 – DCB eq.)

This is kerbside residual only and used for the purposes of comparing options. This will differ from data reported to WasteDataFlow
Included in commentary under Objective 6

139

Objective 8 - To
protect and increase
biodiversity, flora and
fauna

Objective 10 - To
protect the
significance of
heritage assets of
archaeological,
cultural and historic
value

142
143

33,302

30,467

30,021

27,462

27,795

33,140

33,313

32,099

64,021

93,839

86,038

101,419

99,853

93,839

93,839

93,839

-182,827

-130,311

-130,225

-134,094

-136,258

-113,372

-110,509

-116,461

33,302

30,467

30,021

27,462

27,795

33,140

33,313

32,099

-7,282,070

-3,944,895

-3,979,101

-3,925,987

-3,955,991

-3,774,600

-3,867,855

-3,846,844

-4,369,766

-4,659,954

-3,990,047

-9,085,382

-8,920,370

-1,497,459

-548,466

-1,581,773

[qualitative]142

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

Land take (ha)

1.41

1.33

1.30

1.32

1.33

1.31

1.30

1.31

Qualitative /
comparative
assessment,
not a sitespecific plan

[qualitative]143

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

[qualitative]

Land take (ha)

1.4

1.33

1.30

1.32

1.33

1.31

1.30

1.31

295

Objective 9 - To
protect and enhance
the landscape and
geodiversity of
Leicestershire

Eutrophication
(PO4 kg eq.)
Quantity of
compost /
digestate
added
(kg/year)
Acidification
(kg SO2 eq.)
Eutrophication
(PO4 kg eq.)
Freshwater
Aquatic
Toxicity (kg 1,
4 – DCB eq.)
Climate
Change
impacts
(GWP100 kg
CO2 eq.)
Qualitative /
comparative
assessment,
not a sitespecific plan

Relevant points included in commentary
Relevant points included in commentary

140

296

Appendix D – Responses from Statutory Consultees
Natural England

297

Historic England

142

298

Environment Agency
Feedback received from Regulated Industry (waste) and Sustainable Places Team at the Environment
Agency as follows:

299

144

Appendix E – Responses to Statutory Consultees
Consultee

Natural England notes the review of relevant plans and
programmes in Appendix A. We welcome the reference to the

Action
Noted.
Actioned. We have incorporated further information on this
within the Baseline of the SEA, see section 2.8.

Actioned. We have incorporated further information on this
within the Baseline of the SEA, see section 2.8.

We recognise that the basket of indicators included for
Biodiversity are a broad measure and not as targeted as, for
example, the populations of specific indicator species. However
the latter is more appropriate for a site-specific plan where
particular impacts and baselines can be duly recorded and
alternative options measured. For a municipal waste
management strategy there will be no way of determining
whether a species in any given area will rise or fall subject to
decisions around waste and recycling collection systems from
households. We have therefore included the basket of
indicators to have a recognition that some options may have,
for example, greater emissions to air, land or water which could
deleteriously impact on biodiversity (as well as other receptors),
albeit we cannot predict in detail which species or where the
impacts may occur (some may be in County, some may be
national or international). This method has been applied to a
large number of waste strategy SEA in the past. Please note that
this is different to a Waste Local Plan which will be a sitespecific document, where alternate approaches may be
delivered.
Actioned. We have incorporated further information on this
within the Baseline of the SEA, see Section 3.1.14.

300

Natural England

Comment
We welcome the reference made to the SSSIs within
Leicestershire, as well as the River Mease SAC.
We advise that the hierarchy of nature conservation sites
should be made clearer. Further information on this can be
found here: UK Protected Areas | JNCC - Adviser to Government
on Nature Conservation.
Reference could also be made to the conservation objectives for
the River Mease, as well as it’s unfavourable condition
(unfavourable - no change). Further information on this can be
found here: Site list (naturalengland.org.uk).
We welcome Draft Sustainability Objective 8, ‘To protect and
increase biodiversity, flora and fauna’, however, the Draft
Measurement Indicators (Acidification, Eutrophication,
Freshwater Aquatic Toxicity, Climate Change Impacts) are not
directly representative of biodiversity; we therefore
recommend that further indicators could be investigated in
order to assess the strategy’s impact on biodiversity.

Historic England

Environment
Agency

Noted.

Actioned. These aspects have been included in the SEA as
mitigations of impacts and thank you for the points raised.
See Section 7.

Actioned – reference to amenity added in the sustainability
issues (Chapter 3).

301

25 Year Environment Plan, however we advise that you also
consider including relevant Green Infrastructure Strategies
within Leicestershire.
I am writing to advise that Historic England welcomes the
inclusion of Objective 10 relating to cultural heritage matters
(Section 4.1, Table 28).
In addition to the various aspects covered within the Scoping
report the SEA offers opportunity to highlight the synergy
between Local Authority aspirations for conserving or
enhancing designated and non-designated heritage assets in
relation to reducing carbon footprints. Particularly,
opportunities for the reuse of existing buildings rather than
demolition and new build, as well as the potential for reuse of
materials.
Regulated Industry’s main concern is that environmental impact
are considered but there is no mention of protecting amenity
which we would consider extremely important considering the
frequency with which we deal with dust, odour, noise etc.
Regulated Industry supports the draft sustainability objectives.
EA continues to work with the government to enable UK net
zero.
Waste partnership objectives that seek to protect and enhance
the quality of water and soils and maintain and enhance good
air quality are fundamental to regulating our permitted sites, so
we fully support this.
Embracing the waste hierarchy by preventing waste and
keeping resources in circulation, through reuse, repair and
recycling, to realise their maximum resource value whilst
minimising environmental impact will be supported by
regulation of permitted waste sites within the Leicestershire
area.
Section 2.1 (Baseline Position)
The Environment Agency welcomes the consideration and detail
provided within this section. The contribution which the waste
industry has on CO2 emissions appears to have been
demonstrated by a robust evidence base.

Noted.

Noted.

Noted.

Noted.

146

Actioned. See updated section 2.5.2 and reference in Chapter 3.

302

We welcome Leicestershire County Council’s decision to declare
a climate emergency in 2019 and the pledge to achieve carbon
neutrality for its operations and across the County by 2030 and
2045 respectively. We also support the decision of those district
and borough councils within the County which have also
declared a climate emergency.
2.5.2 Water (Baseline position)
River Quality - We welcome the inclusion of and discussion
within this section.
Flood Risk - This section is silent on the issue of flooding from
Main River watercourses (fluvial flooding). This issue should be
included within the baseline position; a (GIS) map showing the
location of Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3 within the County would also
be a useful inclusion. Waste management facilities which are
located within areas at risk of fluvial flooding from Main Rivers
(and ordinary watercourses) have the potential to contribute
and exacerbate both environmental and human consequences
during a flooding event. It is therefore important that when
deciding the location of new waste facilities a sequential
approach must be taken (in line with the requirements of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), steering the
development at areas at least risk of flooding (Flood Zone 1).
2.8 Biodiversity (Baseline position)
We welcome the inclusion of and discussion within this section.
2.9 Natural Resources (Baseline position)
We welcome the inclusion of and discussion within this section.
3 Key Sustainability Issues and Interrelationships
Climate Change
Regarding the 2nd bullet point, we consider that the distinction
between adaptation to climate change and mitigating climate
change. Adaptation is the process of adjusting to the current
and future effects of climate change. Mitigation is the process
of making the impacts of climate change less severe by
preventing and reducing emissions of greenhouse gases.
Regarding the 3rd bullet point, a significant omission, as
mentioned above is the issue of flooding from Main Rivers and
which is and will be just as important as the effects of flooding
from surface water, groundwater and ordinary watercourses.

Noted.
Noted.
Actioned – climate change paragraph amended in Chapter 3,
split out between climate change and mitigation.

147

Water
This section is silent on the number of properties potentially at
risk from flooding from Main Rivers and we consider this an
unfortunate omission.

Paragraph on flood risk from main rivers added (Section 2.5.2
and Chapter 3).

303

148

304

305

Appendix D

Draft Resources
and Waste Strategy
for Leicestershire
2022-2050
Summary Document

1

306

Why a Resources
and Waste Strategy?
The Strategy examines what happens to your waste and recycling and how this can help
reduce climate change and save raw materials. The way we view ‘waste’ has changed; it is
no longer something to just get rid of, but it is potentially a valuable resource, to be retained
and reused, or better still avoided altogether. Using the resources from waste can help to
reduce the raw materials we need for producing new goods, which in turn has environmental,
social, and financial benefits.

Who is the Strategy for?
The Strategy is for all the residents, businesses and communities of Leicestershire. It will be
delivered by the Leicestershire Waste Partnership (LWP)1 (comprising Leicestershire County
Council, Blaby District Council, Charnwood Borough Council, Harborough District Council,
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council, Melton Borough Council, North West Leicestershire
District Council and Oadby and Wigston Borough Council). The Partnership is seeking your
views to help shape our Resources and Waste Strategy.

What is the Strategy?
The Strategy is a document that sets out the vision for the county on what will happen to
your waste. It reflects global current thinking on achieving net zero climate change targets
and describes the recycling and waste management services which will be delivered in
Leicestershire from 2022 up to 2050.
The vision of the Strategy is:

To work towards a circular economy and contribute to achieving net zero
carbon by 2050 in Leicestershire. This means fully embracing the waste
hierarchy by preventing waste and keeping resources in circulation for
as long as possible, through reuse, repair and recycling, to realise their
maximum value whilst minimising environmental impacts.

1

2

Note that the Strategy does not cover Leicester City which is a unitary authority
with its own waste collection and disposal arrangements

307

It is supported by objectives and 11 pledges that sit alongside national policy changes setting the direction for long term management of material resources for the benefit of the
residents and communities of Leicestershire.
The focus is on waste prevention (avoiding waste generation in the first place) and developing
more initiatives on reuse of goods - both at the Household Waste and Recycling Centres
(HWRC) and in the community. The Strategy also sets out pledges to provide more recycling
services and divert more waste away from landfill. The draft pledges are set out in the
following table.

Draft Resources and Waste Strategy Pledges

Pledge 1

All Councils within the Partnership will review their purchasing activities
and internal waste management services to seek to promote waste
prevention, reuse and recycling to support the objectives of this Strategy
and lead by example.

Pledge 2

The Partnership pledge to support and encourage waste prevention
activity across Leicestershire. This will include working with
stakeholders, residents and communities to prevent unnecessary waste
arising, for example through food waste reduction campaigns such as
Love Food Hate Waste.

Pledge 3

The Partnership pledge to continue delivering reuse services and
expand activities where practicable, working in partnership with
other stakeholders and to signpost to places that advocate for waste
prevention and reuse, in support of developing a circular economy. This
includes a pledge to continue to improve the collection of items for reuse
at HWRCs and explore the development of re-use shops at suitable
sites.

Pledge 4

The Partnership will implement and promote separate food waste
collections to all households, subject to confirmation of Government
policy, legislation and the provision of funding. This will be as soon as
required and when contracts and circumstances dictate. The County
Council will procure Anaerobic Digestion capacity to treat the collected
food waste in a manner that contributes to effective carbon emissions
reduction across the county and improves soil quality.

Pledge 5

The Partnership will explore the use of alternative fuels for collection
vehicles and the transportation of waste and resources to further reduce
carbon emissions of the service and improve air quality.

3

308

Draft Resources and Waste Strategy Pledges

Pledge 6

4

The Partnership will continue to offer a garden waste collection system
to Leicestershire residents. This will follow Government guidelines
as to the form of the collection and will be subject to legislation and
total Government funding. The Partnership will continue to procure
composting capacity to treat the collected garden waste in a manner
that supports carbon reduction and improves soil quality.

Pledge 7

The Partnership shall ensure that the full range of recyclables (as
specified by Government and subject to funding) are collected from
residents (and businesses where applicable) across Leicestershire by
2025, or as soon as possible when contracts and circumstances dictate.

Pledge 8

The Partnership shall continue to explore the viability of adding extra
materials to recycling collections (e.g. for batteries, small electric goods
or clothing) aiming to keep Leicestershire’s performance above the
national average.

Pledge 9

The Partnership will put in place collection systems to contribute
towards the achievement of the national 65% recycling target by
2035, this may include restricting residual waste capacity to encourage
greater materials separation, carbon savings and resource recovery.
Improvements in materials recovery at Household Waste Recycling
Centres will also contribute towards the national target.

Pledge 10

The Partnership will continue to allocate a communications budget
sufficient to help promote good recycling behaviour and maximise
resource recovery to support the circular economy and low carbon
objectives of this Strategy.

Pledge 11

The County Council will reduce waste sent to landfill to less than 5% by
2025, well in advance of the 10% national target by 2030. The County
Council will undertake future procurement processes for residual waste
treatment (alternatives to landfill) in line with the vision and objectives
of this Strategy.

309

How has the draft
Strategy been prepared?
LWP has worked with independent specialists, Frith Resource Management, to prepare the
draft Strategy. The process has included undertaking an options appraisal and Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) which accompany this consultation.
The options appraisal has examined, by a modelling exercise, both the current and several
alternative ways of delivering the collection, recycling, treatment and disposal services.
The appraisal looks at costs and recycling rates as well as factors influencing local decision
making. It has also considered national policy and changes that are being considered by the
Government but are not yet in place. Key future considerations will be the implementation
of two schemes; Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR), which will make producers of
packaging pay for 100% of the collection / recycling / disposal cost of their materials and a
Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) for single use drinks containers (bottles and cans) aiming to
encourage recycling at a wider (national) level. There are also national policies around food
and garden waste collections.
The Options Appraisal is a background document providing evidence to support the draft
Leicestershire Resources and Waste Strategy.
The SEA of the Leicestershire Resource and Waste Strategy has been documented in an
Environmental Report. This report considers the environmental impacts of the alternative
ways of delivering the Strategy and how they sit within central and local policy and the local
environment. The key parts of the draft Strategy have been assessed against a wide range
of (mostly environmental) criteria, known as sustainability objectives, to ensure that an
appropriate strategy has been developed. The process has also involved input from statutory
consultees; Natural England, Historic England, and the Environment Agency.
The draft Environmental Report is available for comment from stakeholders and the public.
To provide feedback, please see Section 9 of the draft Environmental Report.
The Strategy has also involved undertaking an Equality and Human Rights Impact
Assessment (EHRIA), which considers any potential adverse impacts on a particular
community or group of people.
You can view the documents at www.leicestershire.gov.uk/have-your-say/current-engagement
For paper copies of the survey questions, please email lesswaste@leics.gov.uk or call
0116 3057005.

The closing date to complete the consultation survey is 25th April 2022.
You can find out more about reducing, reusing and recycling your waste at
www.lesswaste.org.uk

5

310

Glossary
Term

Acronym

Definition

Anaerobic
Digestion

AD

Anaerobic digestion is a process by which micro
organisms break down biodegradable material in the
absence of oxygen to produce biogas (consisting of
methane and carbon dioxide) which can be used to
generate energy. It is a common treatment method
used for food waste collected by Local Authorities.

Circular
Economy

CE

A circular economy aims to reach maximum
efficiency in the use of resources and materials.
This means moving away from an economic model
of ‘take-make-dispose’ and ensuring the life of a
product is extended by as much as reasonably
possible. Examples of good circular economy
practice include sharing, leasing, reusing, repairing,
refurbishing and recycling existing materials and
products for as long as possible to reduce and avoid
waste.

Deposit
Return
Scheme

DRS

A Deposit Return Scheme involves paying a deposit
for an item (added to the retail price at point of
purchase) which is then redeemed when it is
returned to a designated point.
Through the National Resources and Waste Strategy
for England, the Government has announced that a
DRS for England, Wales and Northern Ireland will
be introduced from 2025 for drinks containers.2
The aim of the scheme is to boost recycling rates,
reduce littering and improve the quality of material
collected for recycling.

2

6

Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) in England, Wales and Northern Ireland:
Executive summary and next steps - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

311

Term

Acronym

Definition

Equality
and Human
Rights Impact
Assessment

EHRIA

An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment is
a process designed to ensure that a policy, project or
scheme does not unlawfully discriminate against any
protected characteristic. These are as follows:
- Age
- Disability
- Gender reassignment
- Marriage and Civil Partnership
- Pregnancy and maternity
- Race
- Religion or belief
- Sex
- Sexual orientation

Extended
Producer
Responsibility

EPR

Extended Producer Responsibility is a policy tool
which requires producers to be responsible for the
packaging they place on the market at the end of
its life. It is intended to promote packaging design
which considers resource inputs and easier end of
life recovery (e.g. reuse or recycling) of the resources
within the packaging. The new EPR system
announced in the national Resources and Waste
Strategy (which is intended to be implemented from
2024) will require packaging producers to pay for
the full net costs of collecting, handling, recycling
and disposing of packaging waste.

Household
Waste
Recycling
Centres

HWRC

Household Waste Recycling Centres are facilities
operated by Local Authorities to provide a site for
residents wanting to dispose of their household
waste and recycle a wide range of materials, further
to the service provided at the kerbside.

Leicestershire
Waste
Partnership

LWP

Referred to as ‘the Partnership’, LWP comprises
Leicestershire County Council (the Waste Disposal
Authority) and the seven Leicestershire Waste
Collection Authorities (the District and Borough
Councils). Leicester City Council is an associate
member and manages its waste via separate
arrangements as a Unitary Authority.

7

312

Term

Acronym

Net Zero

Definition
Net Zero means achieving a balance between the
total greenhouse gas emissions produced and
subsequently released into the atmosphere, and the
total emissions removed from the environment (for
example through natural carbon sinks such as forest
and oceans).
The net zero target for the UK is defined as the
total greenhouse gas emissions released into the
atmosphere being equal to or less than the emissions
removed from the environment.3

Residual
Waste

Strategic
Environmental
Assessment

Waste
Hierarchy

The waste remaining after the separation of materials
for reuse, recycling, composting and/or anaerobic
digestion.
SEA

A Strategic Environmental Assessment is a
systematic decision support process, aiming to
ensure that environmental and possibly other
sustainability aspects are considered effectively in
policy, plan and program making.4
The waste hierarchy indicates an order of preference
for action to reduce and manage waste.
It suggests how waste should be managed with
the primary goal to prevent and minimise waste,
followed in turn by re-use, recycling and composting,
disposal with energy recovery and ending with
disposal without energy recovery (i.e. landfill) as the
least preferred option.

8

3

Net zero and the different official measures of the UK’s greenhouse gas emissions Office for National Statistics

4

Strategic environmental assessment and sustainability appraisal - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

313

Agenda Item 9

ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE CHANGE OVERVIEW AND
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 1 MARCH 2022
ENVIRONMENT AND WASTE PERFORMANCE
REPORT TO DECEMBER 2021
JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR OF
ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Environment and Climate Change
Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the latest performance update on the
key performance indicators that the Council is responsible for delivering against
the Council’s Strategic Plan.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The updates in this report reflect progress against the Council’s Strategic
Outcomes Framework within the Strategic Plan to 2022, and the Environment
performance framework and related high-level plans and strategies which
inform the current performance framework and indicators in this report.

Background
3.

This report highlights how a variety of Environment and Climate Change
performance indicators are performing against the Council’s key outcomes:
Strong Economy, Wellbeing, Keeping People Safe, Great Communities,
Affordable and Quality Homes and supporting corporate enablers.

4.

The performance dashboards include several indicators where the Council
does not have direct control of delivery, such as air and river quality and
biodiversity. The latter examples are pillars within the Environment Strategy but
are not directly delivered by the Council. They have been included to provide
greater oversight of the environment, inform policy making and help understand
what life is like in Leicestershire. They include a mixture of national and locally
developed performance indicators. Measuring these may highlight areas for
scrutiny of other departments and agencies delivery or the need for lobbying to
influence Government policy and funding. It is expected that action by a range
of agencies will improve a number of these metrics over time. Internal
indicators, where the Council has the most control, are identified with an ‘L’
within the performance dashboards.

314

5.

The Council monitors and assesses its performance by considering its RAG
rating, direction of travel (DOT) and quartile position when compared to other
English Counties.

6.

For each indicator reported, the dashboard shows information on the latest data
against the previous update and target (if available), the RAG rating (Red,
Amber or Green) if applicable (see definitions of RAG ratings in Appendix A),
the DOT, the trend, and the comparison quartile position, where available.

7.

Improvement or deterioration in performance is indicated by the DOT on the
performance dashboard. For example, if carbon emissions from Council
buildings decline, the DOT will show a green arrow pointing upwards
representing an improvement in performance. If the indicator does not have a
DOT arrow, this is because no update is available. This may be due to the time
taken to obtain data from third parties and calculate the results or because
some indicators are updated less frequently e.g. annually.

8.

The Council’s performance is benchmarked against 33 English authorities
which covers large, principally non-urban geographical areas. Where it is
available, the performance dashboards within Appendix B indicate which
quartile Leicestershire’s performance falls into. The Council’s quartile position
provides insight into how this indicator compares to other county councils in
England. The first quartile is defined as performance that falls within the top
25% of county councils. The fourth quartile is defined as performance that falls
within the bottom 25% of county councils. The comparison quartiles are
updated annually.

9.

The frequency in which the indicators are reported varies; some are quarterly,
others are annual, and some less frequent. Quarterly updates tend to have a
data lag of two quarters or more. For clarity, the time-periods the data covers
are contained in the performance dashboards (Appendix B).

Performance Update – latest data to December 2021
10. The quarterly performance dashboard shows Environment and Climate Change
performance up to December 2021. Overall, there are 29 performance
indicators included in this report which are aligned with the Council’s Strategic
Plan Outcomes. They are presented in the Environment and Climate Change
performance dashboards (Appendix B). This report focuses on the indicators
that have been updated, which is 12 this quarter. Where DOT is available: six
show performance improvements, two had declined and four remained the
same as the previous update.
11. The latest position shows that nine KPIs that have met target or are on track
(green), three amber (performance is currently not meeting the target or set to
miss the target by a narrow margin) and three KPIs that are rated red (where
performance is currently not meeting the target or set to miss the target).
12. Across all KPIs the Council has notably good performance for: ‘Carbon
emissions per capita (in LA influence)’, ‘NO2 exceedances for Leicestershire’

315

and ‘PM2.5 air pollution fine particulate matter.’ Most of these were positively
impacted during the pandemic as fewer people were on the roads and some
businesses had reduced activity during lockdowns, except for ‘Carbon
emissions per capita’ which refers to pre-pandemic data (2019).
13. Where comparative performance is available, the Council is in the top quartile
for one indicator, the ‘percentage of domestic properties with Energy
Performance Certificate rating C+ (new) and in the bottom quartile for two
indicators: ‘The percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill’ and ‘the
percentage of domestic properties with Energy Performance Certificate rating
C+ (existing)’.
14. The updates that follow focus on indicators that have been recently updated
that either haven’t met their target, have seen a decline in performance or show
notable good performance.
Strong Economy – Green Economy
15. This outcome includes indicators that support a greener economy. Within this
outcome three indicators were updated in quarter 3 (detailed in the following
paragraphs), all of which had seen an improvement in performance. Targets
haven’t been set for these indicators because the Authority has limited
influence over them.
16. ‘Electric vehicle charging locations per 100,000 population’ improved in
performance as charging locations increased by 9.9% from 29 locations per
100,000 in quarter 2 (2021/22) to 32 in quarter 3 (2021/22) and a huge 60.5%
increase since the same period last year, when the figure was 20. In terms of
comparison with other counties, Leicestershire has now moved up to the
second quartile for 2021 (above average) compared to its third quartile (below
average) last year.
17. ‘Electric vehicle ownership – Ultra low emission vehicles (ULEVs) rate/10,000
population’ also improved in performance by 12% as ownership increased from
68/10,000 in quarter 2 (2021/22) to 77/10,000 in quarter 3 (2021/22). This has
doubled since the same period last year, which was 38/10,000. This continues
to demonstrate a significant momentum of people moving from fossil fuelled
vehicles to more sustainable electric alternatives. However, Leicestershire
remains in the third quartile (below average) when compared to other counties
for 2021.
18. ‘Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) exceedances for Leicestershire’ declined from three in
2019 to two in 2020, suggesting an improvement in NO2 air quality
performance. Both exceedances were in North West Leicestershire (34
Bondgate and M1 Bridge Copt Oak). NO2 is a gas that is mainly produced
during the combustion of fossil fuels. This indicator is the number of times NO2
has exceeded 40 micrograms. It is published by district councils in their Air
Quality Annual Status Reports. During 2020 the Covid-19 pandemic greatly
reduced the number of vehicles on County roads during periods of lockdown

316

which is likely to have impacted this result along with the increased uptake of
electric vehicles.
Wellbeing – Air Quality
19. Inhalation of particulate pollution can have adverse health impacts. The biggest
impact of particulate air pollution on public health is understood to be from longterm exposure to fine particulate matter, also known as PM2.5. PM2.5 data
describes the annual concentration of human-made fine particulate matter at an
area level, adjusted to account for population exposure and is measured in
micrograms per cubic metre (µg/m3). The major sources of primary PM2.5 are
combustion in the energy industries, road transport (both exhaust and nonexhaust emissions), rail and air transport, residential sources, and small-scale
waste burning. Performance on this has improved as total PM2.5 decreased
from 9.92 µg/m3 in 2019 to 7 µg/m3 in 2020. Similarly, to NO2, this improvement
in performance is likely to have resulted from reduced traffic during lockdowns.
Levels of PM 2.5 are generally higher in the west of the County, in Blaby, North
West Leicestershire, Hinckley and Bosworth and along the M1 in Charnwood.
The M1, East Midlands Airport and various quarries appear to have the most
impact on levels. Leicestershire remains in the third quartile (below average)
when compared to other counties for 2020.
Keeping People Safe – Environmental risks
20. The Department continues to support the Keeping People Safe outcome
primarily through its environmental risks monitoring. There are no further
updates for this indicator and the Council’s ‘Environmental risks managed’
remain at a low rate of five.
Great Communities – Waste and Energy
21. The Department supports the Great Communities outcome through its waste
management and energy initiatives and evaluates performance through public
opinion and wider County indicators. Of the six indicators updated in quarter 3,
one indicator improved in performance, three indicators remained the same and
two declined, detailed below. Indicators with a green RAG rating include
‘Annual percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill’ and ‘Carbon emissions
per capita (in LA influence)’.
22. Of the eight comparable indicators, all performed below average when
compared to other English county councils, except for ‘Carbon emissions per
capita (in LA influence)’ and ‘Total fly-tipping incidents per 1,000 population’
(second quartile).
23. The ‘percentage of household waste sent by local authorities across
Leicestershire for reuse, recycling or composting’ remained similar to the
previous quarter, 44% in quarter 1 (data is two quarters in arrears) and missed
its 50% target, resulting in an amber rating. It lies within the third quartile
position (2020/21). This indicator has remained static over the past year. Over
recent years it has been particularly impacted by national issues, the pandemic,

317

seasonal fluctuations in garden waste, economic factors, as well as issues
specific to Leicestershire such as the closure of the Cotesbach Mechanical
Biological Treatment plant (MBT) and service changes across the County. Most
of the factors identified are beyond the sole control of the Council, limiting the
opportunity to mitigate the impacts. The Council is currently working with the
Leicestershire Waste Partnership to develop the Leicestershire Resources and
Waste Strategy which includes a draft pledge to put in place collection systems
to contribute towards the national target of 65% recycling by 2035.
24. The ‘annual percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill’ indicator met its
target of 30% (rated green). Performance has remained steady at 28% in
quarter 1 since the previous quarter (data is two quarters in arrears). In recent
years, performance against this indicator has been affected by a loss of
alternative (non-landfill) disposal points. The Authority has negotiated an
increase in the amount of waste delivered to alternative disposal points which
has begun to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill. Performance against
this indicator remains in the fourth quartile in 2020/21.
25. The ‘Total household waste per household (kg)’ indicator saw a slight (2%)
decline in performance as waste increased from 1,020 kg in quarter 4 2020/21
to 1,043 kg quarter 1 in 2021/22 (data is two quarters in arrears). This remains
in the third quartile for 2020/ 21 when compared to other English county
councils. The pandemic has impacted waste patterns and more home working
and lockdowns are likely to have led to more household waste during those
periods.
26. Total fly-tipping incidents per 1,000 population increased significantly from 5.5
during 2019/20 to 8.6 during 2020/21. Factors affecting fly tipping levels are
complex and the impact of the pandemic is not fully understood. National
research suggests that deprivation levels and urban-rural classification may
have significant association with levels of fly-tipping. This remains in the second
quartile for 2020/21 when compared to other English county councils.
27. The Council’s Community Insight Survey aims to understand public perceptions
across areas of importance to the Council. It is a telephone survey of 1,600
respondents annually. The quarterly reporting uses rolling 12-month results.
The latest survey results tell us that 98% of respondents agree that ‘protecting
the environment is important’ in the 12 months to quarter 2 (2021/22), while
64% of respondents think that the Council should do more to help protect the
environment (including carbon reduction and helping tackle climate change) in
the same period. Both results are statistically similar to the previous quarter’s
results.
Affordable and Quality Homes
28. As part of supporting the Council’s Affordable and Quality Homes outcome, the
Council monitors both the energy efficiency of new and existing homes within
the County. The latest data shows that 99.7% of new homes are energy
efficient (energy performance certificate rating C+) compared to older homes of
which only 40% are rated as energy efficient in quarter 2 (2021/22). Both new

318

and existing homes have seen a small improvement in performance since the
previous quarter. Comparisons (2020/21) with other English county council’s
show that the ‘Percentage of domestic properties with Energy Performance
certificate rating C+ (new homes)’ falls within the first (top) quartile and the
‘Percentage of domestic properties with Energy Performance certificate rating
C+ (existing homes)’ falls within the fourth (bottom) quartile, indicating that
existing homes in the County would benefit from more energy efficient
incentives. The Authority does not have direct control over this, and further
improvement may be contingent on national programmes such as grant
schemes to improve insulation and energy efficiency.
Corporate Enabler: County Council Environmental Impact
29. The Department supports the Corporate Enabler outcome largely through its
environmental initiatives. There are no new updates to report this quarter due to
staff capacity issues arising from difficulties in recruiting to a vacant post within
the Environment Policy and Strategy Team.
Background papers
Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Outcomes Framework and Strategic Plan
2018-22
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
Environment Strategy 2018-30
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2020/7/13/EnvironmentStrategy-2018-2030-delivering-a-better-future.pdf
Circulation under Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Equalities and Human Rights Implications
30. There are no specific equal opportunities implications to note as part of this
performance report.
Appendices
Appendix A - Definitions of RAG ratings
Appendix B - Strategic Plan Performance Dashboards by Outcomes (Environment
and Climate Change Performance) to December 2021
Officers to Contact
Ann Carruthers
Director, Environment and Transport Department
Tel: (0116) 305 7000
Email: Ann.Carruthers@leics.gov.uk

319

Nicola Truslove
Business Partner, Business Intelligence Service
Tel: (0116) 305 8302
Email: Nicola.Truslove@leics.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

321
9

Appendix A. Explanation of RAG Rating

Close monitoring or significant action required. This would normally be
triggered by any combination of the following:

RED



Performance is currently not meeting the target or set to miss the
target by a significant amount.



Actions in place are not believed to be enough to bring
performance fully back on track before the end of the target or
reporting period.



The issue requires further attention or action

Light touch monitoring required. This would normally be triggered by any
combination of the following:

AMBER

GREEN



Performance is currently not meeting the target or set to miss the
target by a narrow margin.



There are a set of actions in place that is expected to result in
performance coming closer to meeting the target by the end of the
target or reporting period.



May flag associated issues, risks and actions to be addressed to
ensure performance progresses.

. No action required. This would normally be triggered when performance
is currently meeting the target or on track to meet the target, no
significant issues are being flagged up and actions to progress performance
are in place

The degree to which performance is missing a target is open to debate. A common way of
overcoming this is to use a precise percentage threshold between current performance and
the target. However, a blanket approach (such as plus or minus 10%) is not appropriate due
to the varying ways that metrics are reported e.g. small numbers, rates per capita,
percentages.

1

322

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix B. Environment & Climate Change Performance dashboards Q3 2021/22
Strong Economy

323

Wellbeing

324

Keeping People Safe

Great Communities

325

Affordable & Quality Homes

326

Corporate Enablers

327

This page is intentionally left blank

